
 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR 
LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough Council East Lindsey District Council City of Lincoln Council Lincolnshire County Council 

North Kesteven District 
Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven District 
Council 

West Lindsey District Council 

 

Direct Dialling: 07385 463994 

E-Mail: katrina.cope@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Democratic Services 
Lincolnshire County Council 

County Offices 
Newland 

Lincoln  LN1 1YL 

 
 

A Meeting of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire will be held on Wednesday, 
15 June 2022 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln  

LN1 1YL  
 
 

M E M B E R S   O F   T H E   C O M M I T T E E 
 

County Councillors: C S Macey (Chairman), L Wootten (Vice-Chairman), M G Allan, 
R J Cleaver, S R Parkin, T J N Smith, Dr M E Thompson and R Wootten 

 
District Councillors: K Chalmers (Boston Borough Council), J Loffhagen (City of Lincoln 

Council), Mrs S Harrison (East Lindsey District Council), Mrs L Hagues (North Kesteven District 
Council), G P Scalese (South Holland District Council), M A Whittington (South Kesteven 

District Council) and Mrs A White (West Lindsey District Council) 
 

Healthwatch Lincolnshire: Dr B Wookey 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Item Title  Pages 
 
1  Election of Chairman  

 
 

2  Election of Vice-Chairman  
 

 

3  Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members  
 

 

4  Declarations of Members' Interest  
 

 

5  Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire meeting 
held on 18 May 2022  
 

5 - 12 

Public Document Pack



    
 

6  Chairman's Announcements  
 

13 - 14 

7  Reconfiguration of Four NHS Services in Lincolnshire: Orthopaedics; 
Urgent and Emergency Care; Acute Medicine; and Stroke Services  
(To receive a report from Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, which 
invites the Committee to consider the Clinical Board’s decision and its 
rationale for making the decision in relation to the reconfiguration of 
four NHS Services in Lincolnshire: Orthopaedics; Urgent and Emergency 
Care; Acute Medicine and Stroke Services. Pete Burnett, System 
Strategy and Planning Director, NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group will be in attendance for this item) 
 

15 - 328 

8  Engagement by the NHS in Lincolnshire on Lincolnshire's Second 
Community Diagnostic Centre  
(To receive a report from Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, which 
invites the Committee to consider a presentation on community 
diagnostic centres in Lincolnshire and to express a preference for one of 
three options for the second diagnostic centre.  Sarah Brinkworth, 
System Planned Care Programme Lead, NHS Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), Simon Evans, Chief Operating Officer, 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT), Clair Raybould, Director 
of Operations NHS Lincolnshire CCG and Claire Lloyd, Clinical 
Transformation Lead, ULHT will be in attendance for this item)   
 

329 - 348 

9  NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire  
(To receive a report from NHS England and NHS Improvement 
(Midlands) which invites the Committee to consider a report on NHS 
Dental Services in Lincolnshire.  Representatives from NHS England and 
NHS Improvement: Rose Lynch, Senior Commissioning Manager, Jane 
Green, Commissioning Manager, Adam Morby, Regional Chief Dentist 
for the Midlands, Kenny Hume, Lincolnshire Local Dental Network Chair 
and Jasmine Murphy, Consultant in Dental Public Health will be in 
attendance for this item) 
 

349 - 394 

10  Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment - Response of the 
Committee to the Consultation Draft  
(To receive a report from Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, which 
invites the Committee to consider its response to the consultation draft 
of the Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment) 
 

395 - 398 

11  Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire - Work Programme  
(To receive a report from Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, which 
invites the Committee to consider and comment on its forth coming 
work programme) 
 

399 - 404 

 
 
 
 
 



    
 

 
 
Debbie Barnes OBE 
Chief Executive 
7 June 2022 
 
 

 
Please note: This meeting will be broadcast live on the internet and access can be sought by 
accessing Agenda for Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire on Wednesday, 15th June, 
2022, 10.00 am (moderngov.co.uk)

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6173&Ver=4
https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6173&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



  1 

 
 HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR 

LINCOLNSHIRE 
 18 MAY 2022 

 

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR C S MACEY (CHAIRMAN) 
 
Lincolnshire County Council 
 
Councillors L Wootten (Vice-Chairman), M G Allan, R J Cleaver, S R Parkin, T J N Smith and 
Dr M E Thompson. 
 
Lincolnshire District Councils 
 
Councillors K Chalmers (Boston Borough Council), J Loffhagen (City of Lincoln Council), 
M A Whittington (South Kesteven District Council) and Mrs A White (West Lindsey District 
Council). 
 
Healthwatch Lincolnshire 
 
Dr B Wookey. 
 
Also in attendance 
 
Sarah Brinkworth (STP Planned Programme Lead, Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group), Katrina Cope (Senior Democratic Services Officer), Karen Dunderdale (Deputy Chief 
Executive and Director of Nursing, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust), Simon Evans 
(Chief Operating Officer, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust), Simon Evans (Health 
Scrutiny Officer) and Andrew Simpson (Consultant Urologist, United Lincolnshire Hospitals 
NHS Trust).  
 
The following representatives joined the meeting remotely, via Teams: 
 
Alison Christie (Programme Manager, Strategy and Development) and County Councillor 
C Matthews (Executive Support Councillor NHS Liaison, Community Engagement, 
Registration and Coroner’s Services) attended the meeting as observers. 
 
95     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs L Hagues (North Kesteven District 
Council), Mrs S Harrison (East Lindsey District Council), G P Scalese (South Holland District 
Council) and R Wootten. 
 
It was noted that Councillor T Boston (North Kesteven District Council) was the replacement 
member for Councillor Mrs L Hagues (North Kesteven District Council) for this meeting only. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 
18 MAY 2022 
 
 
An apology for absence was also received from Councillor Mrs S Woolley (Executive 
Councillor NHS Liaison, Community Engagement, Registration and Coroners). 
 
The Chairman also welcomed Councillors K Chalmers and J Loffhagen to their first meeting. 
 
96     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
No declaration of members’ interest were received at this stage of the proceedings. 
 
97     MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE MEETING 

HELD ON 13 APRIL 2022 
 

RESOLVED 
 

That the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire meeting held on 
13 April 2022 be agreed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
98     CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
Further to the Chairman’s announcements circulated with the agenda, the Chairman 
brought to the Committees attention the supplementary announcements circulated on 17 
May 2022.  The supplementary announcements referred to: 
 

 Membership information following the recent District Council elections; 

 Covid-19 Update, Appendix A to the supplementary announcements provided weekly 
briefing information prepared by Lincolnshire County Council Public Health; 

 Healthwatch Lincolnshire – latest findings on Access to Dental Services; 

 Draft guidance from NHS England and NHS Improvement entitled: Working in 
Partnership with People and Communities Draft Guidance; and 

 Extension of the United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust – Nuclear Medicine 
consultation period from 23 May to 6 June 2022. 

 
A short discussion ensued, from which reference was made to the problems encountered 
when trying to access dental services; the welcomed opening of the Grantham Community 
Diagnostic Centre; and problems encountered by some patients regarding pharmacy 
provision, following the recent transfer of the Stackyard Surgery to the East Leicestershire 
and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group.  The Chairman advised that this matter would be 
taken up with the Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
RESOLVED 
 

That the Supplementary announcements circulated on 17 May 2022 and the 
Chairman’s announcements as detailed on pages 17 to 26 of the report pack be 
noted. 

Page 6



3 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

18 MAY 2022 
 

 
99     UNITED LINCOLNSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS TRUST - ELECTIVE RECOVERY PLAN AND 

RESPONSE TO THE CARE QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION 
 

Consideration was given to a report from United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT), 
which invited the Committee to consider the Lincolnshire Elective Recovery Plan 2022/23 
and the response of ULHT to the inspection report by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
The Chairman invited the following representatives from United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS 
Trust: Simon Evans Chief Operating Officer, Karen Dunderdale, Director of Nursing and Sarah 
Brinkworth, Planned Programme Lead, Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning to present the 
item to the Committee. 
 
The following appendices were attached to the report for the Committee to consider: 
 

 Appendix A – provided a copy of the Lincolnshire Elective Recovery Plan 2022/23; 

 Appendix B – provided a copy of the Response to the Care Quality Commission 
Report; 

 Appendix C – provided a list of CQC ‘Must do’s’ & ‘Should do’s’; and 

 Appendix D –provided a copy of the CQC Improvement Action Plan. 
 
In guiding the Committee through the report, reference was made to: the response to the 
Care Quality Commission Inspection report, the CQC’s required actions following the 
inspection which were detailed at Appendix C; the five ‘Must-do’ actions that the Trust had 
to take action on in order to comply with its legal obligations, these were shown on pages 29 
to 30 of the report; the Trust’s CQC Improvement Action Plan, a copy of which was shown at 
Appendix D to the report; and Lincolnshire’s Elective Recovery Plan for 2022/23, which was 
detailed on pages 34 to 30 of the report. 
 
It was highlighted that the Trust Board would receive regular progress updates and that 
progress would be monitored using the Trust’s established Blue, Red, Amber and Green 
(BRAG) ratings and that any identified risks would be escalated to the Trust’s performance 
review meetings and reporting through Executive and Trust Leadership team meetings.  It 
was highlighted that a revised approach to obtaining assurance linked to the CQC had 
recently been approved and would be implemented for all elements of the Trust’s 
monitoring and management of actions in response to the 2022 inspection report.  Details of 
the approved process were shown on page 32 of the report pack. 
 
During discussion, the Committee raised some of the following comments: 
 

 Recruitment measures - The Committee was advised that since the Trust had left 
special measures, there had been an increase in the number of candidates applying 
for specialist positions in Lincolnshire, and that the Trust was marketing Lincolnshire, 
building on that positive news and to the fact that Lincolnshire was already managing 
to reduce its waiting lists.  It was highlighted that the Trust was also working with the 
University of Lincoln in respect of rotational posts and allied care worker positions, as 

Page 7



4 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 
18 MAY 2022 
 

well as looking into new emerging roles.  The Committee noted that the Trust had 
been successful in recruiting 220 health care support workers, some of whom were 
new to the care profession.  The Committee was advised that the number of student 
nurse placements had increased, and the benefit of these places would be seen in 
three years’ time.  The Trust also had apprenticeships and had introduced the role of 
Nursing Associate.  The Committee was advised that further information could be 
provided in this regard.  It was also confirmed that the Trust was not currently seeing 
a high level number of vacancies pertaining to non-clinical staff.  One member 
enquired as to what the current picture was regarding recruitment in the areas 
highlighted by the CQC report.  It was reported that there were very few nursing gaps 
regarding children and young people, and that two paediatricians had been recently 
recruited.  The Committee was advised that the Trust was currently in the process of 
recruiting student midwifes and that the Trust was in a good position in this regard. 
However, in relation to urgent and emergency care there were significant nursing 
shortages, and the Trust was relying on bank and agency staff to fill those vacancies.  
There was recognition that this situation had to be reversed as the Trust moved 
forward as there needed to be a more sustainable workforce; 

 Financial risks.  The Committee was advised that the national funding mechanism this 
year had reinforced that funding would be allocated to trusts where there had been a 
sizable reduction in waiting lists, and that there was an expectation for trust’s being 
as efficient as they could be, in line with the national scheme ‘Getting it Right First 
Time.’  It was felt that these two factors would help the Trust in balancing its books 
for the current year; 

 More information was requested as to how the Trust was dealing with the backlog 
and the impact this was having on waiting lists in Lincolnshire.  The Committee was 
reassured that further information could be provided to a future meeting.  The 
Committee was however advised that a huge amount of work was being done to 
alleviate the backlog and reference was made to some of the following: the provision 
of extra operating theatres at Grantham Hospital; extra scanners across Lincolnshire; 
recruiting additional staff; better use of IT resources i.e., remote consultations; 
developing services with primary care; and the provision of new equipment to help 
change procedures, such as robotic services; 

 Ambulance delays, caused by the lack of available in-patient beds.  The Committee 
noted that this was a national issue, as well as a local one, and that work was being 
done with care partners to help alleviate the situation;   

 Confirmation was given that the arrangements put into place relating to the children 
and young people provision at Pilgrim Hospital Boston were temporary.  It was 
highlighted that the arrangements had worked very well, and credit was extended to 
all staff working in this area; 

 Mandatory training for staff.  The Committee was advised that mandatory training 
had to be undertaken and completed as it was part of the contract with staff.  The 
Committee was advised further that the Trust was not aware of any cases where staff 
had not been engaged in the training; 

 Patient Choice regarding the type of treatment/surgery selected.  Confirmation was 
given that there was patient choice; 

Page 8



5 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

18 MAY 2022 
 

 Whether the provision of Nursing Associate posts represented deskilling.  The 
Committee noted that services were now provided in a less traditional way and that 
the post gave the opportunity to upskill to provide support, and then those at the 
next level were able to upskill into a more specific area.  The role enabled the Trust 
to have an enhancement of practices.  Reassurance was given that there was a 
robust skills framework which was aligned to the role, to make sure that competency 
levels were attained.  The provision of nursing associate roles enabled support to be 
given to the registered nursing workforce; 

 Clinical pathway to Community Diagnostic Centres (CDCs).  The Committee was 
advised that currently referrals were being made by GP’s, it was also highlighted that 
some patients in hospital requiring repeat tests would also be able access a CDC.  
Confirmation was also given that patients would be given the option of accessing a 
CDC of their choice; 

 Use of remote care.  The Committee noted that with digital innovation and the 
lessons learnt from Covid-19, more digital monitoring could now be done in some 
circumstances, without the patient needing to come into hospital; 

 Progress on the BRAG ratings detailed on page 47 of the report.  The Committee was 
advised that these were all on target, except for the ones affected by the impact of 
the recent fire at Lincoln County Hospital; and 

 How often was the CQC action plan going to be monitored by the ULHT Board.  It was 
reported that the Board Sub-Committees would review the plan monthly and that 
the Board would then oversee the CQC action plan on a quarterly basis.   

 
The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended his thanks to the presenters. 
   
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the information presented on the Lincolnshire Elective Recovery Plan and 
the Action Plan from United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust be noted. 

 
2. That a further update be received on the progress of the CQC Action Plan in six 

months’ time. 
 
100     UNITED LINCOLNSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS TRUST - RECONFIGURATION OF UROLOGY 

SERVICES UPDATE 
 

Consideration was given to a report from United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT), 
which provided the Committee with an update of the implementation of the new model for 
urology in Lincolnshire’s Hospitals. 
 
The Chairman invited Andrew Simpson, Consultant Urologist to present the item to the 
Committee.  Simon Evans, Chief Operating Officer ULHT, was also in attendance for this 
item. 
 
Whilst guiding the Committee through the report,  some reference was made to the 
challenges facing urology services in early 2021; the 12 week consultation period; the update 

Page 9



6 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 
18 MAY 2022 
 
provided to the Committee at its 16 February 2022 meeting regarding the reconfigured 
service; the case for change; evaluation of performance, it was noted that from patient 
feedback, the main area of concern highlighted had related to communication and access to 
appointments, with no concerns being raised relating to the service reconfiguration itself;  
public/patient engagement; and staff engagement; the elimination of cancellations, and the 
number of re-admissions had reduced; and the challenges of reducing the backlog.   
 
The Committee was advised that prior to the implementation of the new model, there had 
been a high reliance on agency medics.  As a result of investment into the service and the 
new model of working it was expected that there would be a cost improvement of 
approximately £160,000. 
 
Paragraph 7 on page 161 of the report highlighted the key risks and issues to the continued 
success of the programme, which included the retention of middle grade doctors, 
compliance with the new service model and the establishment of a urology-trauma hub. 
 
In conclusion, the Committee was advised that the model had now become embedded and 
accepted within the Trust as a safe and effective means of delivering urology services. There 
had been performance improvements, but these had been impacted by the significant 
urgent and emergency care pressures the Trust continued to experience. 
 
To ensure that performance remained on track, the urology department, along with 
information services, were monitoring and tracking the key expected benefits via a 
dedicated dashboard. 
 
It was also highlighted that a lessons learned exercise had been carried out by the project 
team to ensure knowledge transfer was shared across the Trust. 
 
Appendix A to the report presented provided a copy of the Quality Impact Assessment for 
the Urology Services reconfiguration for the Committee to consider. 
 
During consideration of this item, the Committee raised the following points: 
 

 One member extended his congratulations to staff within the urology services for 
providing an excellent service; 

 Transport concerns were raised for patients attending Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and 
then being transferred to Lincoln.  The Committee noted that there was three levels 
of patients accessing Pilgrim Hospital, the first level were those requiring minor 
intervention; the second level were those with significant problems for example an 
obstruction, they would receive their imagery and diagnostics at Boston, and such 
patients would then be transferred to Lincoln; the third level, would be patients who 
were critical, and for these patients there was a critical care team in attendance at 
Boston and an on call consultant, in this situation the patient would be dealt with at 
Boston; 

Page 10



7 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

18 MAY 2022 
 

 That no screening programme existed for prostate cancer.  One member gave his 
personal experience of trying to set up a screening programme.  The ULHT 
representative agreed to look into this matter outside of the meeting; and 

 If the risks identified on page 161 of the report were to intensify how the service 
would be impacted. The Committee was advised that regarding recruitment and 
retention, the service was seeing a good level of application for vacancies, it was felt 
that this would remain a low risk.  Regarding service compliance, it was reported if 
emergency department staff continued to be trained to deal with lower level 
presentation, the risk remained low. The only concern expressed was not having a 
dedicated assessment area, to ensure patient flow and timely treatment was 
provided, and as such this remained a significant risk.  The Committee noted that this 
matter had been raised at the Trust’s Capital Resource Group.  

 
The Chairman on behalf of the Committee extended thanks to the presenter.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the information presented on the urology services, including the 
significant reduction in same-day cancellations for non-clinical reasons be 
noted. 

 
2. That no further specific update on urology service be received, unless any 

performance concerns merited the Committee’s consideration. 
 
101     HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE - WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Chairman invited Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, to present the report, which 
invited the Committee to consider and comment on its work programme, as detailed on 
pages 177 to 179 of the report pack. 
 
The Committee noted that the Humber Acute Services Review item would now be 
considered by the Committee at its 13 July 2022 meeting. 
 
The Committee was advised that both the Quality Accounts Working Group and the 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Group were both on course, and that the remit of the 
Suicide Prevention and Mental Health Working Group was being considered and discussed 
by members of the working group, and that a meeting would be scheduled shortly.  
 
The Committee was also advised that the item ‘Staffing Challenges in Hospitals and NHS 
Lincolnshire People Plan’ scheduled for the 13 July 2022 meeting would answer some of 
comments raised by members earlier in the agenda regarding recruitment and retention. 
 
It was also reported that there would be a GP Services update item for the 12 October 2022 
meeting. 
  
During consideration of this item, the following suggestions/comments were put forward: 

Page 11



8 
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 
18 MAY 2022 
 
 

 Update on the Medical School at the University of Lincoln and its impact for 
Lincolnshire relating to recruitment and retention of staff, with a visit to the Medical 
School also suggested; and 

 To ensure that the Dental Services item, due to be considered on 15 June 2022, 
provided the necessary information for the Committee, the Chairman advised that he 
would be meeting representatives from NHS England to discuss the content of the 
item, including the potential of a dental school in Lincolnshire.  

 
RESOLVED 
 

That the Committee’s work programme as detailed on pages 177 to 179 of the report 
pack be received, subject to the comments/suggestions made above and the item 
agreed at minute number 99(2). 

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.05 pm 

Page 12



 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough Council 
East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln Council 
Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven District 
Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Report to 
 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 
 
15 June 2022 
 
Chairman's Announcements 

 
 

1.  Information Requested at Previous Meetings 
 
Woolsthorpe Prescription Deliveries 
 
The Woolsthorpe Branch Surgery, part of the Vale Medical Group, closed in April 2021 and 
arrangements were made for the delivery of prescriptions to the village.  A question on this 
was raised at the last meeting.  Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group has advised that 
following the closure, a pharmacy van was parked in the village for one hour every 
Wednesday.  However, as very few people used this service it was discontinued after eight 
weeks.  It was replaced with a weekly home delivery service.  Some people have taken up the 
offer of the home delivery service whilst others have chosen to go to the practice to collect 
their prescription.   
 
 

2.  NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board – Membership Update 
 
Further to my report at the last meeting, Lincolnshire County Council has nominated 
Councillor Wendy Bowkett, the Executive Councillor for Adult Care and Public Health, to 
become one of the partner members of the NHS Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board.   
 
  

3.  Powers of the Secretary of State on NHS Reconfigurations 
 
As reported to the Committee on 18 May 2022, the Health and Care Act 2022 includes 
provisions requiring local health systems to advise the Secretary of State of any ‘notifiable’ 
reconfigurations of NHS services.  The Secretary of State will be given powers to issue 
directions to local health systems, including a power to determine whether a given proposal 
should or should not proceed.  Regulations and guidance, which would provide more detail, 
including the definition of a notifiable reconfiguration, have not been issued.   
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham 
Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to 
 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 
 
15 June 2022 
 
Reconfiguration of Four NHS Services in Lincolnshire: Orthopaedics; 
Urgent and Emergency Care; Acute Medicine; and Stroke Services 

 

Summary  
 
On 24 May 2022, the Board of Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) unanimously 
approved changes to the following four NHS services in Lincolnshire: 
 

• Orthopaedics 

• Urgent and Emergency Care (Grantham and District Hospital) 

• Acute Medicine (Grantham and District Hospital) 

• Stroke Services 
 

The CCG Board’s decision followed its consideration of detailed documentation, which included 
a report on the consultation exercise; an independent report on the consultation outcomes; the 
clinical and operational considerations and response to the feedback from the public and 
stakeholders; all of which informed the production and development of the Decision Making 
Business Case.     

 
The purpose of this item is to consider the CCG Board’s decision and its rationale for making the 
decision.  A selection of the documentation considered by the CCG is attached to this report, 
with all the documentation available on the CCG’s website. 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Actions Required:  
 
(1) To note the information submitted to this Committee, as part of this item:  

 
(a) The Communications and Consultation Activity Report (Appendix A) 
(b) The Report to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board entitled: The Work Completed to 

Inform Recommendations on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services (Appendix B) 
(c) The Report to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board entitled: Decision Making Business 

Case on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services (Appendix C) 
(d) The Decision Making Business Case on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services 

(Appendix D) 
 

(2) To note the decision of the Board of Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group on 27 May 
2022 to approve changes to the following four NHS Services in Lincolnshire:  

 
(a) Orthopaedics: 

• consolidation of planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to 
establish a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire; and  

• establishment of a dedicated day-case centre at the County Hospital Louth for 
planned orthopaedic surgery. 
 

(b) Urgent and Emergency Care: 

• Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to become a 24/7 Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTC). 
 

(c) Acute Medicine: 

• development of integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and 
District Hospital, in place of the current acute medical beds. 

 
(d) Stroke Services: 

• consolidation of hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County 
Hospital site, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service. 

 
(3) To identify any further action.  

 

 
1. Background  

 
A consultation exercise was undertaken by Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
between 30 September and 23 December 2021 on the proposed reconfiguration of four NHS 
services in Lincolnshire: 
 
(1) Orthopaedics: the consolidation of planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and 

District Hospital, to establish a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire; and the 
establishment of a dedicated day-case centre at the County Hospital Louth for planned 
orthopaedic surgery. 

 

Page 16



(2) Urgent and Emergency Care: Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to 
become a 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre. 

 
(3) Acute Medicine: the development of integrated community/acute medical beds at 

Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the current acute medical beds. 
 
(4) Stroke Services: the consolidation of hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the 

Lincoln County Hospital site, supported by an enhanced community stroke 
rehabilitation service. 

 
2. Previous Committee Consideration 

 
The Lincolnshire Acute Services Review was given consideration by this Committee (or its 
working group) on the following dates: 
 

Date Item Summary of Outcome 

13 Oct 21 

Introduction 
to 

Consultation 
and 

Arrangements 
for Response 

The Committee considered an overview of the consultation 
documentation and agreed to consider two detailed 
elements at each of its November and December meetings. 

The Committee also accepted an offer from the CCG to 
finalise its response by 31 January 2022, rather than by 
23 December 2021 closing date for the public.   

A working group was also established to consider any detailed 
aspects and to draft the Committee’s response to the 
consultation. 

10 Nov 21 
Stroke 

Services 

The key points in the Committee’s consideration were:  

• speed of treatment of stroke patients on arrival in 
hospital, for example, scans and thrombolysis (where 
appropriate); 

• impact on stroke services in other acute hospital trusts; 

• the continuation of transient ischaemic attack clinics; 

• impacts on patients in the Eastern part of the county; 
and 

• a suggestion for a mobile stroke unit.  
 

Page 17



Date Item Summary of Outcome 

10 Nov 21 
Urgent and 
Emergency 

Care 

The key points in the Committee’s consideration were: 

• recruiting and retaining staff in urgent treatment 
centres; 

• overnight medical cover in urgent treatment centres;  

• services not currently provided at Grantham and District 
Hospital: 
➢ gynaecology; 
➢ obstetrics; 
➢ acute surgery; 
➢ acute orthopaedics; 
➢ ear, nose and throat; 
➢ stroke medicine; and 
➢ acute interventionalist cardiology.   

• a need to reflect the views of the residents of Grantham 
and the surrounding area; 

• the role of the County Council in public transport; 

• the importance of communications with the public on 
how to access urgent and emergency care; 

• the term ‘Urgent Treatment Centre Plus’; and 

• the application of the four-hour standard to urgent 
treatment centres. 

15 Dec 21 
Orthopaedic 

Surgery 

The key points in the Committee’s consideration were:  

• recruitment and retention of staff; 

• the importance of ‘showcasing’ orthopaedic services; 

• overall accessibility of Grantham and District Hospital; 

• a reduction in the percentage of cancelled operations 
from the current level of 30%; 

• the impacts of the proposal on:  
➢ neighbouring health systems; 
➢ the NHS’s use of the independent sector; 
➢ residents in the east of Lincolnshire; 
➢ patient travelling times; 

• the role of the non-emergency patient transport service; 
and 

• the surgeon undertaking the operation to review 
patients at subsequent outpatient appointments. 

Page 18



Date Item Summary of Outcome 

15 Dec 21 

Medical Beds 
at Grantham 
and District 

Hospital 

The key points in the Committee’s consideration were:  

• recruitment and retention of staff, with the proposal 
likely to be attractive to consultants and middle grade 
doctors and supported by the East Midlands Clinical 
Senate; 

• higher range of services at the proposed urgent 
treatment centre, compared to other urgent treatment 
centres;  

• the impact of any future withdrawal of services at the 
proposed urgent treatment centre; 

• GPs were unlikely to be involved on wards as part of the 
proposal; and 

• low attendance at a recent consultation event; 

• general links to the proposed urgent treatment centre. 

6 Jan 22 

Consideration 
of Details by 

Working 
Group 

The Committee’s working group worked through the detailed 
proposals and began drafting a response to on behalf of the 
Committee to the consultation questions.  

19 Jan 22 

Finalisation of 
the 

Committee’s 
Response to 
Consultation 

As part of its final response, the Committee accepted the case 
for change, but was not completely convinced that the 
proposals for stroke services; orthopaedics; and urgent and 
emergency care were right for the people of Lincolnshire.  
The Committee supported the proposals for acute medical 
beds at Grantham and District Hospital.   

The Committee identified the recruitment and retention of 
staff; travel and transport; and the impact on other health 
systems as key themes in its response.   

 
 

3. Consideration of Proposals by the NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group Board 
 
This section of this report advises of the documentation considered by the CCG’s Board on 
24 May 2022, when a decision was made unanimously to approve the four reconfigurations, 
summarised in section 1 of this report.  
 
Communications and Consultation Activity Report – May 2022 
 

 Attached at Appendix A to this report is the Communications and Consultation Activity Report 
(May 2022), which provides an overview of the public consultation and communications 
activities undertaken during the public consultation period.  It does not set out the results of 
the consultation, which are found in a separate report (see below).   
 

Page 19



The Work Completed to Inform Recommendations on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services 
 
The report to the Lincolnshire CCG Board on 24 May 2022, entitled: The Work Completed to 
Inform Recommendations on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services, is attached at Appendix B to 
this report.  Appendix B sets out the key findings of the consultation exercise, as well as work 
undertaken to develop the proposals that were outlined in the Pre-Consultation Business 
Case, as well as other work since the consultation closed and was analysed in preparation for 
the finalisation of the Decision Making Business Case.   

 
 The full report on the consultation outcomes was compiled by an independent company, 

Opinion Research Services (ORS).   The report of ORS is available on the CCG’s website: 
 
 https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-

meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12a/?layout=default 

 
Decision Making Business Case 
 
The report to the CCG Board on the Decision Making Business Case is attached at Appendix C, 
with the Decision Making Business Case (excluding its appendices) attached at Appendix D. 
 
Other Documentation Considered by the Lincolnshire CCG Board 
 
In addition to the documents set out above, the CCG Board also considered the following 
documents on 24 May 2022.   
 

➢ Equality Review of Consultation Process (19 pages) 
➢ Themed Detailed Consultation Feedback (6 pages) 
➢ Health Scrutiny Committee Response to Consultation (12 pages) 
➢ Consideration of Public Feedback by Subject Matter Expert Working Groups, 

comprising: 
o Orthopaedic Consultation Responses (58 pages) 
o Urgent and Emergency Care Responses (53 pages) 
o Acute Medicine Consultation Responses (74 pages) 
o Stroke Consultation Responses (81 pages) 

➢ Quality Impact Assessments (8 pages) 
➢ Equality Impact Assessments: 

o Introduction and Overview (16 pages) 

o Appendix 1 - Legal Considerations (3 pages) 

o Appendix 2 - Orthopaedic Surgery (31 pages) 

o Appendix 3 - Urgent and Emergency Care (32 pages) 

o Appendix 4 – Acute Medical Beds (30 pages) 

o Appendix 5 – Stroke Services (35 pages) 

➢ Travel and Transport Report (22 pages) 
➢ Recommendations of East Midlands Clinical Senate (82 pages) 
➢ Minutes of Joint meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub 

Group (46 pages) 
➢ Statements of Support from Providers (14 pages) 
➢ CCG Statement on Choice and Bed Closures (57 pages) 

Page 20

https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12a/?layout=default
https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12a/?layout=default


 
All the above documents can be found on the CCG’s website: 
 
https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-
meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12c/?layout=default 

 
4. Consultation 
 
 The four changes to NHS services in Lincolnshire were subject to public consultation between 

30 September and 23 December 2021.  The Health Scrutiny Committee considered each of 
the proposals between October and December 2021, and finalised its own response to the 
consultation on 19 January 2022.   

 
5. Conclusion 
 

The Committee is invited to note the information presented, including the decision of the CCG 
Board on 24 May to approve the reconfigurations of the four Lincolnshire NHS services, 
summarised in section 1 of this report; and to identify any further action.  
 

6. Appendices 
 
 These are listed below and attached to this report. 
  

Appendix A Communications and Consultation Activity Report 

Appendix B 
The Report to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board on 24 May 2022 
entitled: The Work Completed to Inform Recommendations on Four 
of Lincolnshire’s NHS Services 

Appendix C 
The Report to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board on 24 May 2022 
entitled: Decision Making Business Case on Four of Lincolnshire’s 
NHS Services 

Appendix D 
The Decision Making Business Case on Four of Lincolnshire’s NHS 
Services 

 
7. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government 

Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, who can be contacted on 
01522 553607 or simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 21

https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12c/?layout=default
https://lincolnshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/board-meeting-papers/board-meeting-papers-202223/board-meeting-papers-25-may-2022/lccg-public-board-papers-25-may-2022-agenda-item-12c/?layout=default
mailto:simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                       

Appendix A 

 

Communications and Consultation Activity Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

 

 

 

Page 23



 

Lincolnshire NHS public        
consultation on proposed 
changes to four services  

30 September—23 December 2021 

Communications and Consultation 
Activity Report May 2022 

Orthopaedic surgery in Lincolnshire 
Urgent and emergency care at Grantham and District Hospital 
Acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 
Stroke services in Lincolnshire  

Page 24



Contents 

3. Consultation launch and distribution 
3.1 Pre-launch materials 

3.2 Public consultation launch 

3.3 Initial distribution and communications 

3.4 Circulation of consultation materials 

1. Introduction 

2. Summary of activities 
2.1 Summary of consultation activities 

2.2 Summary of communications activities 

4. Consultation activities 
4.1 Questionnaire 

4.2 Events 

4.3 Staff and stakeholder meetings 

4.4 Out and about  

4.5 Support from our Involvement Champions 

4.6 Seldom heard and protected characteristics 

4.7 Other promotional  

5. Communications and promotions 
5.1 Press and Media  

5.2 Digital Activity  

5.3 Consultation website engagement  

5.4 Paid print and online advertising 

………………………………….  3 

………………………………….  5 

………………………………….  8 

………………………………….  20 

………………………………….  47 

 
  

6. Mid consultation and final stakeholder updates 

………………………………….  59 7. Ongoing adjustments 

8. Consultation Support 
………………………………….   62 

………………………………….  58 

Page 25



 

 3 

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the comprehensive public consultation and  

communications activities undertaken to promote and provide various opportunities to get involved and share 

views on the proposed services changes.  

NHS Lincolnshire CCG undertook a 12-week public consultation between 30 September 2021 and 23  

December 2021 on the future of four hospital services: 

• Orthopaedic surgery services in Lincolnshire 

• Urgent and emergency care at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Stroke services in Lincolnshire 

Public consultation promotes accountability and assists decision making; public bodies give an account of their 

plans or proposals and listen to feedback. Consultation has therefore been described as a dialogue, based on a 

genuine and purposeful exchange of views. It should be noted that consultations are not referenda or ’votes’ in 

which the loudest voices or the greatest numbers automatically determine the outcome.  

NHS Lincolnshire CCG undertook a vast range of activities to proactively gather as much feedback on our          

proposals as possible, and in particular, from those usually less likely to get involved. Our consultation was  

guided by our commitment to inform and listen, ensuring that our methods and approaches were inclusive and 

tailored to the people we want to reach so that they could have their say.   

The purpose of the consultation’s communications and engagement activity was to: 

• Raise awareness of and provide information on the changes being proposed 

• Involve all stakeholders in the consultation about the proposed changes, ensuring they have enough 

knowledge to make an informed contribution 

• Gather feedback which will inform the decision making about the future hospital services within the  

consultation 

• Ensure we meet our statutory duties set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2006 

• Ensure we pay due regard to our equality duty in our decision making with stakeholders to consider  

potential solutions to any issues raised.  

 

1. Introduction 

For full details of the results of this public consultation, please see the report by ORS:  

NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback- ORS Report May 2022 

Page 26



 

 4 

The feedback we have received will inform the CCG’s decision-making. No final decisions will be taken until all 

of the results have been collated, independently analysed, and reported to the CCG Board. 

Opinion Research Services (ORS), a company from Swansea University with a positive UK-wide reputation for 

social research and major statutory consultations, was appointed by NHS Lincolnshire to support consultation  

activities, and to independently analyse and report the outcomes of this public consultation programme with  

members of the public, clinicians and other NHS staff, and other stakeholders. 

 

 

For full details of the results of this public consultation, please see the report by ORS: 

NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback- ORS Report May 2022 

Page 27



  5 

 

 
 

2. Summary of activities  

The twelve-week consultation was widely promoted via stakeholder organisations, leaflet deliveries to  

households across Lincolnshire, posters and leaflets in GP practices and public locations, online and  

traditional media coverage and advertisement, and to United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT),  

Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust (LCHS) service users and Lincolnshire Partnership NHS 

Foundation Trust (LPFT), among others. 

This consultation was widely supported by our patient groups and Involvement Champions. 

During the consultation period, stakeholders were invited to provide feedback through: 

Independently facilitated engagement designed and conducted by ORS: 

• A telephone residents survey; and 

• Independently facilitated online focus groups and 1:1 in-depth interviews with members of the 

public (delivered by ORS); 

 

Engagement activities undertaken by NHS Lincolnshire CCG, including: 

• Face-to-face and online public events, and a ‘virtual’ 24/7 event; 

• Meetings with NHS staff members, stakeholders and services users; and 

• ‘Pop-up’ engagement activities at market days across Lincolnshire; 

 

At or following these opportunities, we received feedback via: 

 

• A consultation questionnaire for all residents, stakeholders and organisations: the questionnaire was 

available online (hosted by ORS) and paper questionnaires were widely circulated and  

available on request. An easy read version and translated documents were also available; 

• Verbal comments made at events; 

• Written or email submissions from residents, stakeholders and organisations; and 

• Petitions (organised by two local campaign groups and submitted to ORS). 

 

Feedback from all activities have been reported in the ORS report NHS Lincolnshire  

Public Consultation 2021 Feedback- ORS Report May 2022. This report outlines  

the consultation and communication activities undertaken by NHS Lincolnshire. 

Page 28



6 

 

• Telephone surveys and in-depth  
interviews carried out by ORS 

• Updates and information sent to  
PPGs, and attendance at patient 
group meetings including   
presentations given to ULHT patient 
panel 

• Leaflets, surveys, posters and  
summary documents displayed in  
clinics and receptions 

Seldom Heard Groups 

Involvement Champions 

Stakeholders 

Patients and public 

Public  and online events  

Staff Engagement 

Digital Engagement 

 

 

Have your say 

Public Consultation  

Relating to four of 

 Lincolnshire’s  

NHS Services  

• Recruitment and development 

of our own Involvement  

Champions to support the 

consultation by promoting and 

gathering views from seldom 

heard groups and those within 

their communities 

• Updates and discussions with various  
stakeholders  including District Councils, local 
MPs, campaign groups,  regulators, Stakeholder 
Board and briefings for lay members 

• Attendance at existing stakeholder meetings and 
events as well as formal attendance at Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to  
discuss proposals  

 

• Virtual staff engagement events held for all staff across 
ULHT, CCG, LCHS and LPFT. Additional events were 
also held by ULHT Clinical Support Services Division  

• Surveys, posters, leaflets and summary documents  
displayed in staff areas, as well as displayed on screens 
across the hospitals 

• Built on existing platforms across organisations to  
increase staff involvement via intranet, social media, and 
detailed staff briefings  

 

• Public events held across Lincolnshire including  
presentations from NHS Executives and clinicians  
and panel Q&As   

• Online events held on various days and times to suit all 
as well as a virtual event available 24/7 

• Market stalls and public stands at supermarkets,  
highstreets and shopping centres to promote the  
consultation and questionnaire 

• One central website created that 
housed all communications and  
engagement activity and  
background information, the pre 
consultation business case, FAQs, 
full consultation document,  
questionnaire etc. that was easily 
accessed by members of the  
public 

• 24/7 online event held on the  
website via Slido, providing the  
public the opportunity to hear the 
same information that was given at 
the main public/virtual events. 

• Regular messages and updates 
shared via social media such as 
Nextdoor, Facebook, Twitter and 
Instagram 
 

• Working with local organisations and key delivery   

partners to promote involvement opportunities and to 

support their groups and contacts to take part in our 

consultation via attendance at existing meetings 

• Promotion of ways to get involved displayed in  

specialist food shops, Polish cafes, factories and large 

employers across Lincolnshire. Translated materials 

and alternative formats were available. 

 

2.1 Summary of consultation activities  

 

Page 29



 7 

It was essential to make the consultation as 

accessible and visible as possible, using all 

established methods of communication and 

engagement such as printed materials in a 

range of formats, online, email and 

telephone contact through a dedicated team, 

as well as embarking on a range of channels 

of engagement through social media.  

 

Partnerships were also formed with local 

media organisations to maximise reach and 

raise awareness about the consultation. 

 

In addition to the communications  

directly controlled by Lincolnshire’s NHS 

which are summarised here, partners and 

relevant agencies across the county (such 

as the local authority) were asked to  

promote access to the consultation on their 

channels. 

The Public Consultation was supported by a comprehensive communication strategy.  

The reach of the consultation was extensive:   

 

2.2 Summary of communications activities  

Page 30



 

 

3. Consultation launch and distribution 

 8 

3.1 Pre-launch materials 

To fulfil the consultation objectives and ensure that people across Lincolnshire were alerted and then motivated 

to take part in the consultation, a targeted communication programme and supporting materials were  

developed. 

Key consultation products: 

1. Consultation website   

The public consultation website was created as an easy to navigate gateway for members of the public, staff 

and stakeholders to access information about the consultation and its proposals, as well as a portal to fill in the 

consultation questionnaire online and book onto events. This website was produced in accessible formats and 

was also made fully functional for mobile phone and tablet devices. 

Fig.1  Consultation website homepage (desktop/tablet) 

The website was divided into the following areas to ensure respondents were provided with full and robust  

information on which to make an informed decision when responding to the consultation: 

What is this public consultation about? 

This section of the site covered the following topics:  

• Who are we? 

• What is public consultation? 

• Why are we consulting? 

• Who are we consulting? 

• Does Lincolnshire NHS have a preferred way of improving? 

• What this consultation includes and what it does not 

Page 31



 

 
 9 

• What will happen with feedback? 

• How have we involved the public so far? 

• What impact has the public involvement had so far? 

• Why we need to change 

What services are included and why?  

• Focus on four NHS services 

• How we developed our change proposals 

• Overview of our change proposals 

• How these four NHS services are currently organised and how they could look in the future 

• Orthopaedic surgery 

• Urgent and emergency care at Grantham Hospital 

• Acute medical beds at Grantham Hospital 

• Stroke services 

Information to help you respond  

This section included a number of resources that could be viewed online and/or downloaded. 

• Pre-Consultation Business Case 

• Equality Impact Assessments/Quality Impact Assessments 

• East Midlands Clinical Senate Report 

• Lincolnshire’s Orthopaedic Surgery Pilot report 

• Healthy Conversations 2019 Final Report 

• People’s Partnership HC2019 Final Report 

• Glossary 

• Frequently Asked Questions  

How can I get involved?  

This section provided site visitors with clear options and instructions to engage with the consultation and  

complete the questionnaire. This included the ability to book places at consultation live and virtual events,  

join the consultation’s online 24/7 event, help to spread the word about the consultation by becoming an  

Involvement Champion or join the Citizen’s Panel  

• Attend an event – this page allowed members of the public to book a place at the scheduled  

consultation live and virtual events. Telephone and email contact details were provided for those who 

were unable to book online. Booking on events was essential to ensure management of numbers and 

social distancing during the Covid pandemic. 

• Online 24/7 event – this event was created for those unable to attend one of the consultation live or  

virtual events. It enabled members of the public to watch an online 24/7 event film and then post  

questions using the Slido app. 

Page 32



 

10 

• Become an Involvement Champion - The Involvement Champion programme strengthens the  

existing patient and public involvement channels within the NHS, by encouraging and supporting people 

to become trusted voices in their local area, so that they can help the NHS reach as many people from 

different communities as possible. 

• Join our Citizen's Panel – the Citizens’ Panel is a sample of residents who have volunteered to take 

part in regular research and questionnaires. 

• Help and support – this page provided users with information about how to request the consultation 

questionnaire in another language or format. It also signposted the consultation helpline  

(01522 421860) as a means to access support in completing the questionnaire or obtaining additional  

Information. The information on this page also appeared in nine other languages. 

• Contact us 

2. Public Consultation A5 Flyer 

Fig. 2  Public Consultation A5 flyer – front and reverse     

The Public Consultation A5 flyer was created to provide a versatile and tangible means to: 

• Awake and build awareness of the consultation. 

• Increase understanding of the proposed service changes. 

• Signpost/link people to the public consultation website and helpline phone and email.  

• Provide consultation team members with a means of engaging with and passing information to the 

public at live events, market days etc. 

• Commissioned Royal Mail to deliver leaflets to households across Lincolnshire 

Page 33



 

11 

The flyer included: 

• Calls to action – ‘HAVE YOUR SAY’, ‘We need your views’ and ‘Please help us to make the right  

choices to improve these services by completing our questionnaire and telling us what you think’. 

• An outline of the four service areas under consultation. 

• The suggested benefits of the proposed service changes. 

• Information on how to find out more and complete the questionnaire. 

• Helpline number and email address. 

• A QR code providing direct link to Public Consultation website. Information on this page also appeared 

in nine other languages. 

3. Key information document  

 

Fig. 3 Public Consultation Key Information document     

Accepting that not all members of the public would be motivated to read the full public consultation document 

due to the necessary length and detail within it, an 8-page key information document was developed as a 

quicker reference guide to the consultation in order to increase the number of people who engaged in an  

informed manner. It provided the narrative for and description of the proposed changes to each of the four  

service areas. It summarised the details in the full consultation document whilst also signposting to it and the 

website for those who wanted more detail and was available in a range of formats.  

The document included the following sections: 

What is this public consultation about? 

• What services are included in this consultation? 

• Why we need to change 

Overview of our change proposals 

• Orthopaedic surgery 

• Urgent and emergency care at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Stroke services 

Page 34



 
12 

 

Have your say 

This section provided information on how to get involved in the consultation and complete the questionnaire. 

The Key Information document was awarded the Crystal Mark accreditation by the Plain English Campaign for 

its clarity and the use of ‘plain English’. 

4. Full Consultation Document  

   

Fig. 4 Public Consultation Document – cover and interior     
 

In recognition that more detailed information would be required by some people, a 44-page Full  

Consultation Document was also produced. This document mirrored the comprehensive information that 

appeared on the consultation website and included the following sections: 

1. What is this public consultation about? 

• What is public consultation?  

• Why are we consulting? 

• Who are we consulting? 

• Does Lincolnshire NHS have a preferred way of 
improving? 

• What this consultation includes and what it does 
not. 

 

2. Why we need to change 

 

3. How to get involved 

• How can I get involved in this  
consultation? 

• What will happen with feedback? 

 

4. How have we involved the public so far? 

• Acute Service Review timeline summarised 

• Focus on four NHS services 

• What impact has the public involvement had so 
far? 

5. How we developed our change proposals 

• Identifying NHS services for improvement 

• How potential solutions for improving NHS  
services were developed and considered 

• Option evaluation criteria 

• Progressing the preferred option 

• Impact assessments 
 

6. Overview of our change proposals 
 
7. Sections on each of the four service areas for 
which changes are proposed: Orthopaedic  
Surgery, Urgent and emergency care at Grantham 
and District Hospital, Acute medical beds at  
Grantham and District Hospital and Stroke  
services. 

• What are we asking you to consider? 

• What are the services and how are they  
organised?  

• What are the challenges and opportunities? 

• The feedback from engagement and how we  
have used it 

• What is our proposal for change? 

• Impact analysis 

Page 35



 
13 

 

5. Public Consultation Easy Read booklet – ‘Changes to some hospital services in  

Lincolnshire. What do you think?’ 

The 16-page Public Consultation Easy Read booklet provided information about the consultation in an  

accessible, easy-to-understand format. This document was created to provide access to consultation 

information for people with learning difficulties and those with other conditions affecting how they process  

information. 

The information was presented in the following sections: 

• Introduction 

• Why Change 

• Our ideas for change 

• Tell us what you think 

• Descriptive images 

The document was available in a hard copy version (50 produced) and as a digital PDF, downloadable from the 

consultation website or emailed on request by the consultation helpline team. 

6. Translated Consultation documents 

Translated versions of the Public Consultation Questionnaire, A5 flyer and A4  

portrait poster were produced to provide access to consultation information for those 

for whom English is not their first language.  

These materials were produced in the following languages: 

• Bulgarian 

• Czech 

• Italian 

• Latvian 

• Lithuanian 

• Polish 

• Portuguese 

• Romanian 

• Russian  

These materials were produced in the following quantities, with a commitment to printing more as they were  

required: 

• Translated Public Consultation Questionnaire  450 (50 available in each of the 9 languages)  

• Translated A5 Flyer               450 (50 available in each of the 9 languages) 

• Translated A4 Poster               90 (10 available in each of the 9 languages) 

 

Healthwatch Readers Panel kindly supported us to develop the documentation and reviewed it prior to  

finalisation and publication. 

Page 36



 

14 

3.2 Launch  

Pre-launch communications management  

Media 

Local and regional media were sent an invitation to a media briefing session led by expert clinicians and  

executives, to take place on launch day, Thursday 30 September at 12 noon. This briefing event incorporated 

presentations about the proposed changes, opportunity for Q&As and then individual opportunities to explore 

them in further detail. Those who couldn’t attend were able to access the event online. The presentations given 

at the launch event were filmed and made available to those who couldn’t attend. Invited media included:  

Regional News 

BBC News – East Yorkshire & Lincolnshire 

BBC News – Look North 

ITV News – Calendar 

Capital Midlands News 

Central News East 

 

County News  

Lincolnshire Echo 

Lincs FM/Planet Radio 

Lincolnshire Live 

Lincolnshire Reporter 

Lincolnshire World 

Lincolnshire County Council News 

Lincolnshire UK News  

Local News  

Boston Standard 

Boston Target 

Boston VIBE 

Boston’s 107 Endeavour FM 

Bourne Local 

East Coast & Wolds Target 

Grantham Matters 

Grantham Nub News 

Gainsborough Standard 

Gainsborough Target 

Grantham Journal 

Grimsby Telegraph 

Horncastle News 

The Linc 

Lincoln City Radio 

The Lincolnite 

Louth Leader 

Market Rasen Mail 

Newark Advertiser 

North Lincoln Advertiser 

Peterborough Today 

Siren FM 

Skegness Standard 

Sleaford Standard 

 

Local News  

Sleaford Target 

Spalding & South Holland Voice 

Spalding Guardian 

Spalding Today 

Stamford Mercury 

Tulip FM 

Worksop Guardian 

Local authority news 

Boston Borough Council 

City of Lincoln Council 

East Lindsey District Council 

Gainsborough Town Council 

Lincolnshire County Council 

North Kesteven District Council 

Sleaford Town Council 

South Holland District Council 

South Kesteven District Council 

West Lindsey District Council 

Other 

Healthwatch News 

Infection Control News 

The Lowdown (NHS Support  federation) 

Mental Health Mail 

Press Association 

Page 37



 

15 

3.3 Initial Distribution and Communication 

Launch Day Communications  

Communications activity on Thursday 30 September included: 

• Staff briefing sessions across all Lincolnshire NHS organisations. 

• Distribution of a staff briefing newsletter to all NHS Lincolnshire staff by email, closed Facebook 

groups and internal communications channels. 

• Embargoed media briefing session thereafter at 12 noon 

• Direct contact and distribution of stakeholder briefing packs to a wide range of stakeholders  

(see detail below) 

• Media embargo lifted at 2pm and a press release was distributed to all media 

• Launch of NHS social media messaging via NHS Communications teams 

Coinciding with the stakeholder and media launch, and to make the consultation directly accessible to a range 

of patients and the public we disseminated a ‘consultation launch’ email to a range of people outlined in the 

below table.  

The email contained direct links to the consultation website where people could find further detail about the 

proposals, give feedback via the online questionnaire and see how they can get involved and what events are 

taking place across Lincolnshire. We also included phone and email details of our dedicated consultation  

hotline. 

To enable us to provide many more opportunities for the public and stakeholders to find out about the  

consultation and how they can get involved, we also asked partners and community organisations to share the 

materials and launch email with their members, groups and wider communities.  

General Distribution 
 

Audience Consultation Distribution 

Staff and internal LCHS 
ULHT 
LPFT 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG 
Governing Bodies inc. NEDs and Lay Members 
Primary Care Networks and Alliance 
GPs and Primary Care Staff 
PPGs 
Patient Council 
  

Provider  
memberships 

ULHT – 1,200 members, 30 patient panel members 
  
LPFT – 9429 members 

Unions Unison 
GMB 
Royal College of Nursing 

Page 38



 

16 

General Distribution 
 

Audience Consultation Distribution 

Health Partners Health Education England 
East Midlands Academic Health Science Network – shared via the Public Face 
Bulletin 
National Centre for Rural Health and Care 
STP Stakeholder Board 
Clinical Learning Network 
Local Medical Committee 
Local Pharmaceutical Committee 
Local Dental Committee 
Local Optometric Committee 
POD Committee 
EMAS 
Neighbouring CCGs including; 

• Bassetlaw CCG 
• Cambridge and Peterborough CCG 
• Doncaster CCG 
• East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 
• NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG 
• NHS North Lincolnshire CCG 
• NHS Nottingham and  Nottinghamshire CCG 
• Norfolk and Waveney CCG 

Neighbouring Trusts including; 
• University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust 
• North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust 
• Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn NHS Trust. 
• Doncaster & Bassetlaw NHS Trust 
• Notts Healthcare NHS Trust 
• North Lincs & Goole NHS Trust 

University of Lincoln 
CQC 
NHSEI 
Public Health England 
Boston Health and Wellbeing Board 
East Lindsey Quality of Life and Wellbeing Board 
Lincolnshire Resilience Forum 
DHU Healthcare 
  

Lincolnshire County 
Council inc. all staff 
and councillors 

Leaders 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Staff and members 

District Councils inc. 
all council staff and 
councillors 

City of Lincoln Council 
Boston Borough Council 
East Lindsey District Council 
West Lindsey District Council 
North Kesteven District Council 
South Kesteven District Council 
South Holland District Council 
  

Parish Councils Approx. 370 active parish councils across Lincolnshire sent via LALC 

Page 39



 

17 

General Distribution 
 

Audience Consultation Distribution 

Voluntary Engage-
ment Teams 

Age UK Lincoln and S Lincs 
Action for Children 
Active Lincolnshire 
Age UK Lindsey 
Lincs and Notts Air Ambulance 
Alzheimers UK 
Butterfly Hospice 
Children’s Links 
Community Lincs 
Development Plus 
Every-one 
Framework Housing 
Healthwatch 
LACE Housing 
Lincolnshire CVS 
Lincolnshire Home Independence Agency 
Lincolnshire Rural Stress Network 
Lincolnshire Voluntary Centre Services 
Linkage 
LIVES 
South Kesteven Blind Society 
St Barnabas Hospice 
Walnut Care 
YMCA 
Involving Lincs 
  

Local MPs Matt Warman, Skegness and Boston MP 
Caroline Johnson, Sleaford and North Hykeham MP 
Gareth Davies, Grantham and Stamford MP 
Victoria Atkins, Louth and Horncastle MP 
John Hayes, South Holland and The Deepings MP 
Karl McCartney, Lincoln MP 
Edward Leigh, Gainsborough and Market Rasen MP 
  

Local Employers GLLEP 
Visit Lincoln 
Bishop Grosseteste University 
Riseholme College 
Lincoln College 
University of Lincoln 
Anglian Water 
The Environment Agency 
Large private employers including: 

• Siemens 
• Co-Op 
• RAF 
• Stagecoach 
• East Midlands Trains 

Local Factories via LCHS Patient Experience Officer 
Published in Business NK’s Newsletter – reach 2000 businesses 
ELDC Economic Development Team – sharing in their business bulletin reach 
(7000) 
 

Page 40



 

18 

General Distribution 
 

Audience Consultation Distribution 

Public sector  
providers 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioners 
Lincolnshire Police 
Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 
Housing associations including: 

• ACIS Housing 
• Longhurst Housing Group 
• Platform 
• Anchor Housing 
• Stonewater 
• Lace Housing 
• Advance Housing and Support 
• Framework 

  
Education – Schools and Colleges via Lincolnshire County Council 
  

Campaign Groups SOS Pilgrim 
Fighting 4 Grantham 
Fighting 4 Louth 
Fighting 4 Life Lincs 
  

NHS Lincolnshire 
Peoples Panel 

Citizens Panel 
Viewpoint Panel 
Readers Panel 
  

Community  
Stakeholders inc.  
Volunteer groups, 
support groups etc. 

Community and voluntary groups 
Support groups 
LGBT communities 
BAME communities 
Disability groups (Physical and Mental) 
Older people groups 
Younger people groups 
Carers groups 
Supermarkets 
Eastern European community 
Traveller groups 
Faith and religious organisations 
  

Page 41



 

19 

3.4 Circulation of consultation materials 

The distribution of the Public Consultation materials was both thorough and considered. The distribution plan 

had three clear aims:  

1. To distribute materials widely, ensuring fair and inclusive coverage across the county, in urban, 

rural and coastal communities. 

2. To make considerable effort to reach areas and groups that would not usually take part in formal 

consultation, e.g., vulnerable and economically disadvantaged groups etc as generally speaking 

these groups are the heaviest users of healthcare services and ‘hardest to reach’. 

3. That the distribution of materials should be responsive. 

Distribution activity 

 

Royal Mail’s Door to Door service was procured with the brief to include the A5 consultation flyer alongside 

mail delivered to every consenting residential address in Lincolnshire (374,193). This activity was  

commissioned to further boost our efforts to inform every household in the county about the public consultation. 

On 28/01/22, Royal Mail provided confirmation that 99% of the commissioned mailing was completed  

(with delays in delivery confirmation from Royal Mail’s courier being responsible for them being unable to fully 

confirm that 1% of the total flyers were available for distribution from it’s Swindon bundling centre). 

 

NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Lincolnshire  

Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Lincolnshire Community Health Service NHS Trust received and  

displayed 400 consultation posters across their locations and properties for display in public and staff locations 

of high footfall. 

 

A pack of consultation promotional materials was sent to all 85 GP surgeries in Lincolnshire.  

The totalmaterials distributed were: 2550 A5 flyers, 850 A4 posters and 425 questionnaires. 

 

Public consultation packs, containing posters, flyers, key information documents, and  

questionnaires were distributed to 21 libraries across Lincolnshire. 

 

510 A5 leaflets and 240 A4 posters were sent to the Lincolnshire NHS CCG Involvement  

Champions to distribute and display in their communities.  

Page 42



 

20 

4. Consultation activities 

4.1 Questionnaire 

The online questionnaire was signposted as the prime feedback channel to ensure all views were considered 

within the full analysis of the consultation. It was available in different formats including paper copies as well as 

an online version on our website, a link to which was shared with all of our stakeholder database.   

The online questionnaire was regularly promoted through various channels including: 

• Social media (Twitter, Facebook and Instagram) across the CCG and Trust’s accounts as well as 

requests regularly being sent to Lincolnshire partners to share and extend the reach 

• NHS Lincolnshire Engagement Bulletin 

• At all face to face and online events  

• Hospital screens and in staff areas 

• Press releases  

• Next Door online forum  

• LPFT carers WhatsApp 

• Provider’s member databases 

In addition, 4447 friends and family tests (FFT) were sent via text message to patients attending Lincolnshire’s 

hospitals during the consultation. Each of these texts contained a direct link to the public consultation website 

information and a link to the questionnaire. 

The questionnaire and supporting consultation materials were also available in print, easy read, and translated 

into from English to Bulgarian, Polish, Czech, Portuguese, Italian, Romanian, Latvian, Russian, Lithuanian 

A freepost address was also provided to enable completed paper copies of the questionnaire to be returned  

directly to ORS free of charge. 

4.2 Events 

Throughout the consultation we incorporated a number of different activities to give as many people as  

possible the opportunity to get involved and share their views in a way that suits them. Since the consultation 

launch, we held 11 face to face events and 9 online events, advertised locally, online and across social media 

at a variety of locations and times as shown in the tables below. 

Face to face events  

Face to face events were bookable using Eventbrite or by contacting us directly via the dedicated email  

address and telephone number. This enabled monitoring of numbers attending to enable social distancing and 

the safe delivery of public events. Where it was Covid safe to do so we admitted those who hadn’t pre-booked 

events, such as we did at the first event held in Grantham. Throughout the consultation we did not turn anyone 

away from an event. 

Page 43



 

21 

These were hosted by a range of senior managers and clinicians; the latter always being in attendance in  

order to answer as many of the clinical enquiries the public had as immediately as possible. During the 

events, attendees were provided with overviews of each proposal, either presented by a clinician in  

attendance or via a pre-recorded video of the clinician to ensure consistency if some clinicians could not  

attend all events, which sometimes occurred due to the simultaneous ‘level four’ pressures the NHS was  

experiencing nationally at the time. During the events, attendees were able to ask questions and give  

feedback on the four service proposals.  

To ensure everyone was able to benefit from the sessions and to not exclude anyone, feedback and questions 

were able to be submitted in various ways including: 

• Directly asking questions to the panel  

• Paper feedback forms 

• Paper Q&A cards 

• Paper questionnaires with a freepost return address 

• Slido (Interactive Audience Software – submit questions directly to us from a phone or tablet) 

• Leaving an email address for us to respond to   

• Telephoning the dedicated consultation phone number or emailing the team 

Attendees were also advised during the events that any answers to questions not answered on the day would 

be provided in the FAQs section of the consultation website. 

Face to Face Public Events 

Date and time Location Venue 

  
Number of Attendees 
(number of people 
who booked) 

Tuesday 12 October 
10-12pm 

Boston Boston United Football 
Club 
Pilgrim Way 
Boston 
PE21 7NE 
  

5 (7) 

Thursday 14 October 
6.30-8.30pm 
  

Grantham Jubilee Church Life Centre 
5 London Road 
Grantham 
NG31 6EY 
  

42 (33) 

Saturday 16 October 
6.30-8.30pm 
  

Lincoln The Showroom 
Tritton Road 
Lincoln 
LN6 7QY 
  

0 (3) 

Monday 8 November 
6.30-8.30pm 
  

Gainsbor-
ough 

United Services Club 
136 Bridge Street 
Gainsborough 
DN21 1LP 

0 (1) 

Page 44



 

22 

Face to Face Public Events 

Date and time Location Venue 

  
Number of Attendees 
(number of people 
who booked) 

Thursday 11 November 
2-4pm 
  

Skegness The Storehouse 
North Parade 
Skegness 
PE25 1BY 
  

5 (10) 

Sunday 14 November  
2-4pm 

Sleaford The New Life Conference 
Centre, 25 Mareham Lane, 
Sleaford, NG34 7JP 

2 (4) 

Tuesday 16 November 
10-12pm 
  

Spalding The Red Lion Conference 
Quarter 
Red Lion Street 
Spalding 
PE11 1SX 
  

8 (8) 

Sunday 12 December 
2-4pm 
  

Grantham Grantham West 
Community Centre 
Trent Road 
Grantham 
NG31 7XW 
  

13 (32) 

Tuesday 14 December 
10-12pm 
  

Lincoln The Showroom 
Tritton Road 
Lincoln 
LN6 7QY 
  

1 (4) 

Tuesday 14 December 
6.30-8.30pm 

Louth The Mason Arm 
13 Corn Market 
Louth 
LN11 
  

3 (3) 

Saturday 18 December 
2-4pm 
  

Boston Len Medlock Centre 
St Georges Road  
Boston  
PE21 8YB 
  

12 (20) 

Page 45



 

23 

Online Events 

Date and Time Format Number of attendees (number of 
people who booked) 

Monday 18 October 
2-4pm 

Online 1 (1) 

Wednesday 20 October 
6.30-8.30pm 

Online 2 (2) 

Friday 22 October 
10-12pm 

Online 2 (2) 

Sunday 24 October 
2-4pm 

Online 0 (2) 

Thursday 18 November 
6.30-8.30pm 

Online 2 (4) 

Saturday 20 November 
2-4pm 

Online 1 (2) 

Thursday 16 December 
6.30-8.30pm 

Online 3 (9) 

Monday 20 December 
10-12pm 

Online 1 (2) 

Wednesday 22 December 
2-4pm 

Online 0 (2) 

Online events 

The online events were bookable via Eventbrite and had no limit on the number of people who could attend. 

The online events were run in the same format as the face-to-face events to deliver equitable access to  

information, and this was done via Microsoft Teams. Similarly, to the face-to-face events, these were also held 

on a variety of days at a number of different times to enable a higher rate of participation from the public.  

Any questions received would then be answered via the FAQs section on the website, continuously adding to 

the growing bank of public information and clarity to all. 

24/7 Online Event  

As well as the 9 online events, we also had a 24/7 accessible online event on the consultation website. This  

format presented videos of clinicians explaining the full range of information on the proposals that was available 

at the face-to-face events as well as the consultation document and questionnaire for completion. Questions or 

feedback could be submitted during the 24/7 video via Slido.  

Any questions received would then be answered via the FAQs section on the website, continuously adding to 

the growing bank of public information and clarity to all. 

Page 46



 

24 

4.3 Staff and Stakeholder meetings 

In order for the consultation to be successful we recognised the importance of proactively seeking and  

attending various existing meetings that were happening across Lincolnshire. Where possible we attended 

these events and promoted opportunities for involvement and discussed the consultation directly with  

individuals.  

 

Due to the situation with Covid at the time, some groups were not meeting regularly or did not want us to  

attend their groups. In those instances, we provided them with briefings to enable the stakeholders themselves 

to support their groups or organisations to understand the proposals in the consultation and get involved by 

completing the questionnaire or attending an event.  

 

Additional meetings and briefings were undertaken with staff as well as attendance at key stakeholder  

meetings such as Health Scrutiny Committee, Health and Wellbeing Board and Partner organisations. 

Date Activity Location Number of  
attendees 

30-Sep ULHT Staff briefing 
Virtual 25 

30-Sep ULHT Staff briefing 
Virtual 27 

4-Oct Grantham Rotary Club Talk 
Virtual   

5-Oct ULHT Staff Engagement Event ELT Live 
Virtual 35 

13-Oct 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee –  
Consultation Introduction 

Face to face 15 

27-Oct NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board meeting 
Virtual 18 

1-Nov Countywide PPG meeting 
Virtual 26 

9-Nov CCG Involvement Champions meeting 
Virtual 16 

10-Nov 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee –  
Deep dive into Urgent and Emergency Care 
at  
Grantham and District Hospital and Stroke  
Services 

Virtual 17 

24-Nov NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board meeting 
Virtual 24 

1-Dec Skegness Town Council Meeting 
Face to face 19 

1-Dec Voiceability – Voices for All 
Virtual 15 

6-Dec ULHT Patient Panel 
Virtual 14 

Page 47



 

25 

Date Activity Location Number of  
attendees 

7-Dec Lincolnshire Sensory Service – Boston 
Face 2 face 19 

7-Dec CCG Involvement Champions Meeting 
Virtual 9 

9-Dec Boston PCN Board Meeting 
Face 2 Face 12 

13-Dec 
Grantham Senior Citizens Club 1-1 meeting 
on behalf of members 

Telephone 1 

14-Dec 
NHS Staff Event - LCHS, LPFT and Primary 
Care 

Virtual 8 

15-Dec 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
Deep Dive on Acute Medical Beds at 
Grantham and Hospital and Orthopaedics 

Virtual 16 

16-Dec 
1-1 Meeting with member of Lincolnshire 
Neurological Alliance 

Telephone 1 

16-Dec 
1-1 Meeting with member of Polio Survivors 
Network 

Telephone 1 

21- Dec 1-1 Meeting Grantham Councillor 
Virtual 1 

21- Dec 1-1 Meeting Grantham Campaigner 
Virtual 1 

21- Dec 
1-1 Meeting Chief Executive Officer ULHT 
and Grantham A&E Sister 

Virtual 1 

ULHT Clinical Support Services division staff engagement events 

A number of virtual engagement events were held by the ULHT  

Clinical Support Services Division on the following dates: 

• 07 October 2021 

• 12 October 2021 

• 25 October 2021 

• 05 November 2021 

• 10 November 2021 

• 15 November 2021 

• 23 November 2021 

• 13 December 2021 

• 20 December 2021 

Page 48



 

26 

4.4 Out and about  

During the consultation we visited 19 locations across Lincolnshire where we spent time at local markets and 

speaking to members of the public. Leaflets were handed out to 976 people and printed questionnaires and 

key information documents were handed to 65 people who did not have access to the internet. 

Market Days 

Date and time Location Documentation distributed 

Monday 25 October 
7.30am onwards 

Sleaford Market • 5 leaflets  
• 7 key information documents and  
questionnaire 

Tuesday 26 October 
7.30am onwards 

Gainsborough Market • 37 leaflets 
• 4 key information documents and 
questionnaire 
  

Wednesday 27 October 
7.30am onwards 
  

Boston Market 
  

• 49 leaflets 
• key information documents and  
questionnaire 

Thursday 28 October 
7.30am onwards 

Mablethorpe Market • 45 leaflets  
• 7 key information documents and  
questionnaire 

Friday 29 October 
7.30am onwards 
  

Long Sutton Market • 25 leaflets  
• 5 key information documents and  
questionnaire 
  

Saturday 30th October 
7.30am onwards 

Grantham Market • Postponed to 27th November 

Tuesday 2 November 
7.30am onwards 

Market Rasen 
Market 

• 25 leaflets 

Wednesday 3 November 
9.00am onwards 

Lincoln Waterside  
Centre 

• 74 leaflets 

Saturday 6 November 
  

Louth Market • 120 leaflets 
• 20 key information documents and 

questionnaire 
• 2 Full consultation documents 

Friday 19 November 
7.30am onwards 
  

Wainfleet All Saints 
Market 

• 30 leaflets 
• 7 Key information documents and 

questionnaires 

Monday 22 November 
7.30am onwards 

Spilsby Market • 21 leaflets 
• 2 Key information documents 

Page 49



 

27 

Market Days 

Date and time Location Documentation distributed 

Thursday 25 November 
7.30am onwards 

Horncastle Market • 34 leaflets 

Friday 26 November 
7.30am onwards 

Crowland Market • 45 leaflets 
• 1 key information document and  

questionnaire 

Saturday 27 November 
7.30am onwards 

Caistor Market •  Cancelled due to adverse weather 

Saturday 27 November 
7.30am onwards 

Grantham Market • 219 leaflets 

Tuesday 30 November 
7.30am onwards 

Spalding Market • 55 leaflets 
• 5 key information documents and  

questionnaire 

Thursday 2 December Lincoln Christmas  
Market 

• 12 leaflets 

Thursday 2 December 
7.30am onwards 

Holbeach Market • 40 Leaflets, 
• 1 key information and questionnaire 

Tuesday 7 December 
7.30am onwards 

Alford Market • 10 Leaflets 

• 3 key Information documents 

Wednesday 8 December Stamford • 25 Leaflets   

Thursday 9 December 
7.30am onwards 

Bourne Market • 5 leaflets 

4.5 Support from our Involvement Champions 

Involvement Champions are volunteers who, with training and support, help to champion the involvement needs 

of communities; to ensure their collective voices are heard by the CCG, including voices from seldom heard and 

marginalised groups.  The Involvement Champions empower and motivate people to get involved in health  

promoting activities, signpost people to relevant services and create groups to meet local needs. 

 

Individuals act as a point of contact between NHS Lincolnshire CCG and the group or community that they are a 

part of and represent.  They will present the viewpoints and feedback about health services from their  

communities and groups to the CCG so that we can hear and act on the patient voice from the community we 

serve. 

As part of the consultation process, the Involvement Champions were asked to promote the online leaflets and 

posters to friends, families, and their communities. Paper copies (15 posters and 30 leaflets) were also sent to 

14 of the champions for dissemination in their communities. 

Page 50



 

28 

The Involvement champions confirmed that they had shared the consultation information in the following ways: 

1. Electronically, via the Lincolnshire Veterans and Families’ Wellbeing Network Update on  

10 November 2021  

Those who receive this update are as follow:  

Ministry of Defence Project Nova 

Department of Work and Pensions Every-One 

Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commission-
er 

Carers First 

Lincolnshire County Council Age UK 

City of Lincoln Council South Kesteven District Council 

Lincolnshire YMCA West Lindsey District Council 

Lincolnshire United Hospitals NHS Trust South Holland District Council 

NHS Lincolnshire CCG East Lindsey District Council 

Lincolnshire Community Hospitals Service 
NHS Trust 

Mindspace (Stamford) 

Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust 

We Are With You 

OP COURAGE Only a Pavement Away 

Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary  
Services 

Blind Society 

The Well Head Centre Macmillan 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Shine Network 

Royal Air Forces Association Lincolnshire Sensory Services 

Forces Online Healthwatch Lincolnshire 

Royal British Legion Harborough District Council 

Citizens Advice Rutland County Council 

Ever Green Care Royal National Institute for Deaf People 

Veterans Support Service Headway Lincolnshire 

(There are approximately 140 addressees in the network that further cascade the distributed information) 

2. Stamford Area  

Information was distributed to all local parishes, displayed at Morrisons supermarket, posted on local village 

notice boards (Uffington) and at Lakeside GP surgery. Better Healthcare 4 Stamford have also published     

the information. 
 

3. Alford Area 

Leaflets and posters were displayed at the Alford Community Hub by Community Information Point  

Coordinator and the Alford Hub Co-Ordinator. 
 

4. Boston High School  

The consultation promotion was distributed electronically to the school by the Involvement Champion 
 

5. East Lindsey Area  

Promoted locally on village noticeboards in South Willingham and Benniworth 

Page 51



 

29 

6. Sleaford 

Promoted to Sleaford Medical Group PPG via Facebook 
 

7. East Lindsey District 

Promoted at 5 parish council meetings (Saltfleetby, Kettlethorpe, Maltby, Witham & associated villages,  

Carlton). Also requested repeat promotion via their (Councillor for Withern & Theddlethorpe Ward) weekly  

members information and staff communications. Verbal communication of the consultation people within the 

community) 
 

8. South Lincolnshire  

Distributed to other governors in South Lincolnshire. Distributed to Care Home owners and County Court care 

homes. Printed copies were circulated to Grand lodge, Blue Bird and Radcliffe Care homes. Information was 

sent electronically to Citizens Advice Bureaus in Spalding. Printed leaflets distributed to St Georges Advice 

Centre, Stamford. 
 

9. Grantham 

The consultation was promoted via ‘Fighting for Grantham Hospital’ and the Nextdoor online forum, with friends 

and family, and Ancaster GP Surgery. 
 

10. Disability groups 

The consultation was also shared with specific people who are on personal health budgets & with the user led 

organisation for people with disabilities. It was promoted via the Involvement Champions’ Facebook, Twitter and 

Instagram accounts (500 following). 

4.6 Seldom Heard and Protected Characteristic Groups 

Our consultation activities were informed by demographics of Lincolnshire and the Equality Impact  

Assessments undertaken. The activities helped to ensure that all voices in our community were given an  

opportunity to be heard.  

 

Many engagements and consultations only reach a small segment of a community, due to this we recognised 

the importance of proactive and targeted engagement with seldom heard groups such as younger people, 

travellers, economically disadvantaged, disabled people, people with mental health issues and minority ethnic 

groups.  

 

Whilst we already have an established database of local and community groups based on all protected  

characteristics, where possible we tried to attend existing group meetings and events to further promote  

opportunities for involvement and discuss these options directly with individuals and protected characteristic 

groups.  

Page 52



 

30 

Further to this, we also used our existing links on social media with protected characteristic groups to reach 

out and share widely across communities as well as attending local outlets such as Eastern European Cafés, 

supermarkets in economically deprived areas in additional to reaching out to local authority contacts with  

access to Homeless and Traveller groups.  

 

Throughout the consultation we also worked closely with charity and voluntary organisations who have links 

into seldom heard groups and particularly those potentially affected by the proposed changes (elderly,  

disability, and economically disadvantaged groups). 

Protected Characteristics and Seldom Heard  

Audience Consultation  
Distribution 

Consultation Activities 
  

Age –  
Older 
  
  

Document,  

questionnaire, leaflet, 

poster and link to 

website directly email 

to 172 contacts: 

• Vitality (exercise 

groups for over 

60s) 

• Senior Citizens 

club 

• Age UK 

• PPGs 

  

• Age UK Lincoln and South Lincolnshire – Easy read document and 

questionnaire posted. Documents being distributed to any new  

clients they receive 

• Information and advice officers are informing clients of the  

consultation, also discussing on phone appointment. 

• Posters displayed in restaurants and receptions. 

• Community connectors, patient support service and volunteers 

sharing information on our behalf  

• Contacted LinCa to distribute across care homes in Lincolnshire 

• Attended the Age UK Lindsey bus tour in Louth 

• 300 leaflets sent to Age UK Lindsey for distributing 

• 1-1 meeting with Grantham Senior Citizens member who gave 

feedback on behalf of its 50 members 

• Magna Vitae (Trust for Leisure and Culture in East Lindsey)  

circulated information to colleagues and elderly groups in East  

Lindsey as we were unable to attend their meeting December due 

to the group having prior commitments 

• TED circulated information to all YMCA contacts on our behalf 

• 400 leaflets sent to Walnut Care to distribute to every resident 

• Recruitment campaign – email and social media posts inviting those 

aged 70+ to have an informal chat about the consultation proposals 

and how they may impact them specifically 

Page 53



 

31 

Protected Characteristics and Seldom Heard  

Audience Consultation  
Distribution 

Consultation Activities 
  

Age - 
Young 

39 young groups such 

as: 

• Children’s Centres 

• Grantham Youth 

Centre 

• Homestart  

Lincolnshire 

• Action for Children 

• Schools and sixth 

forms 

• Information sent to NKDC Youth Forum 

• Lincolnshire County Council to distribute to Young Carers 

• Shared with Lincolnshire Youth Council and V4C (Children in Care 

Council) 

• Skegness TEC College – sent to 54 learners via teams, 27 staff via 

email, 53 local employer contacts and shared on social media 

• University of Lincoln circulated on social media 

• Sent to Lincolnshire County Council for distribution to all primary 

and secondary schools across Lincolnshire 

• Leafleting event at Lincoln College 

• Direct email to University of Lincoln Wellbeing requesting support of 

distribution to networks, volunteers etc. 

• KIDS Lincolnshire sharing information via social media to their 

members on our behalf 

• NKDC circulated information to all schools within North Kesteven 

• Information shared with North Kesteven Student Council 

 

Disability 

- Physical 

58 Groups including: 

• Grantham and  

District talking 

newspaper for the 

blind 

• MS Society 

• Deaf Society 

• Lincolnshire Sen-

sory Services 

• Sickle Cell Society 

 

• Meeting with people with sensory impairment through Lincolnshire 

Sensory Services in Boston. BSL interpreter at the meetings.  

Created a video from the easy read document with a BSL 

 interpreter which was made available on their website. Distribution 

to their membership 

• Grantham Hard of Hearing to distribute to 8 members 

• Meetings were also scheduled for the Mablethorpe and Grantham 

Sensory service but were stood down due to increasing Covid  

infection rates and risk to staff and public 

• Telephone interview with member of Grantham Hard of Hearing 

• Telephone interview with Polio Survivors Network member 

• Connected with Lincs Disabled Activities, Event and Facilities on 

social media who have been sharing information on our behalf 

Page 54



 

32 

Protected Characteristics and Seldom Heard  

Audience Consultation  
Distribution 

Consultation Activities 
  

Disability 

Mental 

Impair-

ment 

37 groups including: 

• Lincoln Dementia 

Café 

• Lincolnshire Autism 

Society 

• Lincolnshire  

Neurological  

Alliance 

SEND 

• Designated Clinical officer for Children and Young People with  

Special Education Needs and Disability – sent information to  

Lincolnshire Young Voices, promotion via social media 

Learning disabilities 

• Presented at Voiceability event (County board for people with  

learning disabilities) 

• Request to present at Mental Health Programme Board, information 

shared with board members 

• Request to present at the Transforming Care Board 

• County Council to share with Learning Disabilities Partnership,  

efforts were also made to connect via social media 

Autism 

• County Council to share with Autism Board network board members 

and working groups with a request to share within their networks 

• Requested details to be promoted via the Connect to Support  

website and via Lincolnshire County Council media channels 

Neurological 

• 1-1 meeting with founder member and trustee of Lincolnshire  

Neurological Alliance 

• LPFT circulated documents to 320 contacts 

Gender 

reassign-

ment 

8 Groups including: 

• University of Lincoln 

LGBT+ Society 

• Just Lincolnshire 

• Lincolnshire parents 

of LGBT children 

• Transhaven Boston 

 

• Contacted LincsTransnb and Think2Speak via direct message on 

social media asking to share with their community 

• Direct email sent to LGBT Lincoln Student Union 

• Direct email sent to LGBTLincs and also tagged in consultation 

posts on social media 

• Direct contact made with LGBT Business Directory and Forever 

with Pride E-Magazine requesting for support with distribution to 

their networks 

• Direct email to Transhaven Boston 

Sexual 

Orienta-

tion 

15 groups including: 

• Gay Outdoor Club 

• LGBT+ Sleaford 

• University of Lincoln 

LGBT+ Society 

• Direct social media message to The Scene and Lincoln Pride UK 

requesting support to gather feedback 

• Recruitment campaign – email and social media posts inviting those 

from LGBT+ backgrounds to have an informal chat about the  

consultation proposals on how they may impact them specifically 

  

Page 55



 

33 

Protected Characteristics and Seldom Heard  

Audience Consultation  
Distribution 

Consultation Activities 
  

Race/

ethnicity 

30 groups including: 

• Lincolnshire 

 Traveller Initiative 

• Just Lincolnshire 

• BME Inclusion  

Services 

• Factories with  

Eastern European 

workforce 

  

Translated poster and leaflets in Polish/migrant cafes, restaurants and 

supermarkets and Delis: 

• European Cuisine Family  

Restaurant 

• Grill Janosik 

• Swojskie Jadlo 

• Syrenka 

• Julia Polish Shop 

• Polish Dinner 

• Sweet Bakery 

• Pollea 

• Paradise 

• Bistro Polonia 

• Polish Bar and Restaurant  

• Polka Polish Cuisine 

• U Ani Polish Restaurant 

• Korzinka Taste of Europe 

 

• Leaflet and poster drop in Boston to 15 Eastern European cafés/

shops 

• Translated posters and leaflets circulated to local factories with  

migrant workforces via LCHS patient experience officer 

 

Lincolnshire Traveller Initiative 

• Well Woman group in Gainsborough (8-10 Traveller women) –  

talking to them on our behalf and collating feedback 

• Grantham Traveller rep speaking to Grantham area on our  

behalf 
 

• Direct message sent to Black Lives Matter Lincoln requesting  

support/distribution of information  

 

• Recruitment campaign – email and social media posts inviting those 

from BAME backgrounds to have an informal chat about the  

consultation proposals on how they may impact them  

specifically 

  

• Korzinka Taste of Europe 

• Super Lincs 

• Polish-Deli 

• Poziomka 

• Pewex - Food Plus 

• Malinka 

• Delicja 

• Baltic Food and Grocery Ltd 

• Pasikonik 

• Frucktolinka 

• Lajkonik 

• Boston Supermarket 

• World Star OF License 

• Spalding Market 

• European Market 

Page 56



 

34 

Protected Characteristics and Seldom Heard  
Audience Consultation  

Distribution 
Consultation Activities 
  

Religion/

belief 

30 groups including: 

• Salvation Army 

• Churches Together 

in Grantham and 

District 

• Samaritans 

• Lincoln Mosque 

• Sleaford Islamic 

Centre 

  

• Direct social media message sent to Lincolnshire Faith Council who 

are sharing consultation information on social media on our behalf 

• Direct message sent to Lincolnshire Jewish Community asking for 

support to connect/share 

Gender 30 Groups including: 

• The Women’s  

Institute 

• Dad’s Saturday 

Club in Grantham 

• Active Lincolnshire 

 

• Active Lincolnshire shared with local sports groups across the  

county – Groups include rugby, football, cricket, and golf. 

• Andrew Morgan held a meeting with Grantham Rotary Club 

• Information distributed to Boston’s Men Shed 

• Information distributed to Men’s Shed in Louth 

• Contact made via social media with WI Lincolnshire South and  

Lincolnshire North Federations for feedback and support to promote 

information 

 

Carers 

 

• Carers First 

• EveryOne 

• Lincolnshire Parent 

Carer Forum 

  

• Meeting with Carers First, who will promote via social media,  

dedicated focus groups with carers in December 

• Meeting confirmed with Carers First, unfortunately due to no carers 

booking on the meeting had to be stood down last minute 

• Met with EveryOne – who have over 400 organisation that are  

accredited with the carers award and will distribution information to 

all 

• 42 carers champions helped promote the consultation 

• Dedicated carer mailout list 

• Contacted LPCF who will share on their website 

• Lincolnshire County Council to distribute to Young Carers 

• Information distributed to carers Whatsapp group with 50+ carers  

• Consultation information sent out in Adult Care Bulletin and asked 

Adult Care staff to share 

• LSAB sent out to all partners and social media 

• V4C promoted to young people in care 

 

Page 57



 

35 

Seldom Heard Groups 
  

Economi-

cally  

deprived 

• Towns identified 

from community 

profiling 

• Foodbanks 

• Job Centres 

• Citizens Advice 

• Homeless 

 

• Leafleting and where possible, market days in areas highlighted 

from Mosaic profiling 

• Leaflets and posters handed to the Church Family worker at Louth 

Methodist Church during the Lighthouse Outreach Project 

• Posters and leaflets posted to Job Centres, foodbanks, Citizens  

Advice Centre 

 

Rurality • Farming community 

• Parish Councils 

 

• Midpoint contact – secondary offer was made to visit or present at 

council meetings - Approx. 370 active parish councils across  

Lincolnshire sent via LALC 

• NFU Mutual - distribution of information and support 

• Consultation information and links published in the Business NK 

Newsletter 

• Contacted East Lindsey District Council to distribute to Caravan 

Parks 

Veterans • Via CCG  

Involvement  

Champions 

 

• Posted in the Veterans health and Wellbeing Newsletter via CCG 

Involvement Champions 

 

Page 58



 

36 

Transport and Voluntary Car Schemes 

Recognising that travel and transport was identified as a concern during pre-consultation engagement and via 

the Equality Impact Assessments, we also circulated posters and leaflets to the following volunteer transport 

services. This was done either via social media, emailing or printed copies sent out in the post with the ask to 

support the CCG in distribution.  

Transport and Voluntary Car Schemes 
  

Audience Consultation Distribution 

Community and  
patient transport 
groups 

East Lindsey 

• Sutton on Sea Community Voluntary Car Service 

• Louth and District Voluntary Car scheme 

• Lincolnshire Royal Voluntary Services 

• CallConnect 

• Age UK Lindsey 
 

West Lindsey 

• Lincolnshire Royal Voluntary Services 

• CallConnect 

• Gainsborough Community Wheels 

• Age UK Lindsey 
 

North Kesteven 

• Sleaford and District Voluntary Car Scheme 

• Lincolnshire Royal Voluntary Services 

• Heckington area Voluntary Car Services 

• Collingham and District village care 
 

South Kesteven 

• Grantham area community Transport 

• Christchurch Community Transport Scheme 

• Age UK Lincoln & South Lincolnshire 
 

South Holland 

• South Holland Parish Voluntary Car Service 

• Age UK Lincoln & South Lincolnshire 

• Crowland Cares 
 

Boston 

• Lincolnshire Royal Voluntary Services 

• CallConnect 

• Age UK Lincoln & South Lincolnshire 
 

City of Lincoln 

• Lincolnshire Royal Voluntary Services 

• CallConnect 

• Dialaride 

• Age UK Lincoln & South Lincolnshire 

 

Page 59



 

37 

Economically deprived, Age and Disability  

The Equality Impact Assessments identified that the groups potentially impacted by these proposals were 

economically deprived, age and disability. To ensure these groups were provided with direct promotion of the 

consultation to encourage involvement we also undertook a number of days distributing leaflets directly to  

various localities and venues across Lincolnshire. 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

East Lindsey           

Wainfleet 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Post Office 
• Wainfleet Pets Petshop 
• Bits and Bobs Gift Shop 
• All Saints Church Tea Room 
• Filling Station Sandwich Shop 
• Antiques and Vintage Shop 
• From Alsage Tea Room and Gift 

Shop 
• Beau Chic Gift Shop 
• Suttons Fish and Chips Shop 
• Hair FX Hair Dresser 
  

 
X 

   
X 

 
X 

Spilsby 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Post Office 
• Dentist 
• Cornhill Café 
• Vets 
• Age UK Shop 
• Greyhound Sanctuary Shop 
• Four Seasons Fruit and Veg shop 
• Centre piece tearoom 
• Poundaholic shop 
• Bijoux Deli 
• It Only gift shop 
• Sentiments floral designs 
• G.Barber Wool Shop 
• AE Wildman & Son Bike Shop 
• Lanegs Discount Store 
• All Wrapped Up 
• Don Noble 
• Dexter and Sharpe Accountants 
• Just Cuts Barbers 
• Archways (Lincs) Ltd 
  

  

 
X 

 
X 

    

Page 60



 

38 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

East Lindsey           

Mablethorpe 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
 

Posters and leaflets left in the following  
locations: 
• Ocean Fish and Chips 
• Mobile Phone Accessories 
• PG's Accessories 
• The Ark Charity Shop 
• Pet Shop 
• Café Lounge 
• Poyntons Shoes 
• American Nails 
• Shoezone 
• Envy Hair and Beauty 
• Busy Bee Café 
• Factory Direct Clothes Shop 
• Vape Shop 
• All Sorts Gift Shop 
• Erics Charity Shop 
• Ians @ 46A Shop 
• Premier Express 
• William Hill 
• Betting Agent 
• Bladez & Fadez Hair Dresser 
• St Barnabas Charity Shop 
• Woodcocks Butchers 
• The Coastal Centre Community Hub 
• The Louth Pub 
• Gerardos Café 
• Mablethorpe Wildlife Rescue 
• Charity Shop 
• Revolutions Hair 
• Dressers and Nail salon 
• Mablethorpe Community Hall 
• Marisco Medical Practice 
• Dentists 
• Library 
• Childrens Centre 
• Pharmacy 

X   X X 

Horncastle 1. Market 
2. Leafleting  
 

Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Newsagents 
• local café 
• Barbers shop 
• Costa Coffee 
• Co-op 
• Opticians 
• Charity Shops x 2 
• Post Office 
• Pharmacy 

    X   

Page 61



 

39 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

East Lindsey           

Skegness 1. Public Event X X   X 

Woodhall Spa 1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Optiks Opticians 
• Neat and Pressed Dry Cleaners 
• Walters Estate Agents 
• Woodhall Spa Library 
• Stations Butchers 
• RSPCA Shop 
• Lincolnshire Coop 
• Premier Pet Care Shop 
• Pinch Cushion Interiors 
• Woodlands Café 
• McColls 
• Newsagent 
• Hair and Beauty by Jade 
• Molly and Me Shop 
• Bar Eleven 
• Lilys Shop 
• Jeffersons Vegan Shop 
• The Book Fayre book shop 
• Golf Hotel 
• Robert Bell Estate agent 
• Janets Tea Room 
• Archies Coffee House 
• Little Dorrits Tea Room 
• Age UK Lindsey 
• Harrys Home 
• Hardware Shop 
• Martins Newsagents 

    X   

Sutton on Sea 1. Leafleting 
 

Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Bennetts Butchers 
• Boots 
• Gregorys Mobility 
• Dolphin Fish and Chips 
• Ice Rock Café 
• Home Hardware Shop 
• Shes Hair and Beauty 
• The Mill Book Shop 
• Sutton Pet Supplies 
• Waldos Fish and Chips 
• Julie Anns Boutique 
• UPVC Windows 
• Lloyds Pharmacy 
• Spar 
• The Bacchus Hotel 
  

    X   

Page 62



 

40 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

East Lindsey           

Alford 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
 
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Snips Barber 
• ATP - Charity Shop 
• Town Council 
• Opticians 
• Alford Deli 
• Alford Community Hub 
• Dentist 
• Angelenes Patisserie 
• Handyman Shop 
• Glamourpuss Cosmetics 
• Fen Bank Greyhound Rescue Shop 
• Grays of Alford 
• Alzeimers Research Shop 
• The Doghouse Pet Shop 
• Foot Clinic 
• Windmill Pet and 
• Tackle Shop 
• Willow Restaurant and Tea Room 
• Wilsons Property Professionals 
• Alford Craft Market Centre 
• Manor House Tea Room 
• Bargain Guys Shop 
• Hardware Shop 
  

    X X 

Coningsby 1. Leafleting 
 
Posters and leaflets left in the follow 
locations: 
• Chalet 
• Lincolnshire Coop 
• Age UK 
• Ford Service and Parts 
• Vape Shop 
• Sivill Gallery 
• Fish an Chip shop 
• Sivill Service Shop 
• Tattershall Lakes - Shop, 
• Bar and Main Entrance 

  X X   

Page 63



 

41 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

East Lindsey           

Louth 1. Market 
2. Public Event 
3. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 

• Masons Arms 

• Interskill 

• Gaff Barbers 

• Little Owl Fabrics 

• MSR Newsagents 

• Boots 

• Boyes 

• Butterfly Hospice Charity Shop 

• Millie Maes Tea Room 

• Louth Learning Centre 

• Oxfam 

• Cancer Research 

• Age UK 

• Sue Ryder 

• Faulkners Electrical Shop 

• Methodist Church 
  

  X     

Louth North 
Holme 

1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Darkes Petrol Station 
• Darkes Car Showroom 
• KFC 
• Starbucks 
• Louth Tennis Centre 
• Louth Business Centre 
• NFU Mutual 
• Bush Tyres 
• Halfords 
• Mr Tyre 
• NT Shaws of Louth 
• R&Y Autos 
• Buckets Pt Food Shop 
 

      X 

West Lindsey           

Gainsborough 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  

X X X X 

Market Rasen 1. Market X     X 

Page 64



 

42 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

Boston           

Skirbeck 1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 

• Boston Men’s Shed 

• Skirbeck Community Centre 
 

X X X X 

Fenside 1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 

• Fenside Community Centre 
 

X X X X 

Fishtoft 1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 

• Boston Renal Services 
 

X   X   

Old Leake and 
Wrangle 

1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 

• Wrangle Community Centre 

• Old Leake Community Centre  
 

      X 

North  
Kesteven 

          

Sleaford 1. Market 
  

X       

North Hykeham 1. Leafleting 
 
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Mind charity shop 
• Forum Quality Meats 
• St Barnabas charity shop 
• Coffee Culture 
• Paper Kisses 
• Tanning Shop 
• Curtis’s 
• BetFred 
• Sue Ryder charity shop 
• McColls 
• Co-op Pharmacy 
• Fone Doctor 
 

  X     

Page 65



 

43 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

South Kesteven           

Grantham 
Earlesfield,  
Harrowby and 
Springfield 

1. Leafleting 
2. Grantham public event 
3. Market 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Earlesfield Community Centre 
• Meres Leisure Centre 
• Vaccination Centre 

X   X   

Stamford 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Charity Shops 
• Stamford Arts Centre 

    X   

Bourne 1. Market   X X X 

South Holland           

Sutton Bridge, 
Long Sutton, 
Moulton 

1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Long Sutton Pharmacy  

Long Sutton local shop 
• Long Sutton charity shop 
• Moulton Village Hall  

Moulton Sports Centre 
Moulton Post Office 

• Sutton Bridge Curlew Community 
Centre 

X X X X 

Holbeach 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Holbeach Tesco 
• Holbeach Charity Shop 
• Holbeach Parish notice 
• Holbeach Community Centre 

X X     

Crowland 1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
 

Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
Pharmacy 
• Estate agents 
• Library 
• Parish Council notice board 
• Crowland Cares  

    X   

Page 66



 

44 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

Spalding, Cowbit 
and Pinchbeck 

1. Market 
2. Leafleting 
 
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• South Holland Centre 
• British Red Cross 
• Lidl (Spalding) 
• Post office/local shop 
• Cowbit Village Hall 
• Cowbit Parish Council notice board 
• Cecil Francis Business Park (5 busi-

nesses) 
• Pinchbeck Pharmacy 
• Pinchbeck Post Office 
• Pinchbeck Village Hall 
  

X X X   

City of Lincoln           

Sincil Bank 1. Leafleting as part of the covid 
vaccination event 

  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations 
• Lincoln Football Stadium 
  

X X    X 

Birchwood,  
Hartsholme,  
Moorland,  
Boultham and  
Lower Brace-
bridge 

1. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Birchwood Neighbourhood Centre 
• Epoch Chiropractors 
• Café Latte 
• Linc Vet 
• BetFred 
• Occasions Cards 
• Curtis’s 
• Co-op Florists 
• Police Station 
• Dylan’s Barbers 
• St Barnabas charity shop 
• Linkage Trust charity shop 
• Seacroft Mobility 
• Diva Hairdressers 
• Sage Care 
 

X X X X 

Page 67



 

45 

Location Activities carried out Economi- 
cally  
deprived 

Age - 
Younger 

Age -  
Older 

Disability 

Minster and  
Castle 

1. Christmas Market 
2. Leafleting 
  
Posters and leaflets left in the following 
locations: 
• Kranz Kitchen 
• The Lion and Snake 
• Prince of Wales 
• Duke of William 
• Greggs 
• Curtis 
• Card shop 
• Jewellery shops 
• Stalls selling food outside of Greggs 
• Multiple outlets along the Bailgate 
  

    X   

Direct messaging to reach seldom heard groups 

Throughout the consultation we constantly reviewed the amount and type of feedback received to enable us to 

amend our activities accordingly to enable as many people as possible to get involved. During the consultation 

it was evident we had received less feedback from certain groups of people than we had hoped and proactive 

distribution of consultation materials to these groups hadn’t been as successful as anticipated to encourage 

their involvement.   

The groups we had received less feedback from were: 

• BAME 

• LGBTQ+ 

To further promote the consultation to these groups we put out a ‘Call for Action’ asking anyone who identified 

as BAME or LGBTQ+ to get involved and share their views with us in their preferred way. We requested support 

from numerous channels to support this and spread the message widely: we emailed our stakeholders,  

community and voluntary groups, Citizen Panel members, PPGs, Viewpoint Panel and Readers Panel as well 

as regular posts across social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram and the Nextdoor online 

forum. 

In addition, to ensure we continued to receive feedback from those groups identified in the Equality Impact  

Assessment we included older people (Aged 70+) and those with disabilities in this promotion. 

Page 68



 

46 

4.7 Other promotional activities   

Delivery of poster and leaflets  

Posters, packs of leaflets and on request key information documents and questionnaires were also posted out 

across Lincolnshire: 

Number Location 

  
85 GP practices 

31 Eastern European cafes / delis / restaurants 

20 Housing Association organisations 

21 Libraries 

150 Supermarkets in economically deprived areas 

114 Pharmacies 

51 Gyms 

29 Foodbanks 

10 Job centres 

8 All hospitals in Lincolnshire (waiting areas, staff areas) 

5 Local colleges/Learning centres 

100 Active Lincolnshire award Ceremony 

400 Walnut Care 

 Approx. 20 North Thoresby Listening Clinic 

7 Swineshead Listening Clinic 

20 Age UK 

400 Age UK Lindsey 

100 South Holland Centre 

NHS Lincolnshire Engagement Bulletin 

The NHS Lincolnshire CCG Engagement Team produces a regular bulletin which is distributed to a variety of 

community and voluntary groups, PPGs, Citizen Panel members, Viewpoint Panel, Readers Panel and to  

people who sit on the different Trusts’ stakeholder lists.  

Information in relation to the consultation such as how to book onto upcoming events, links to the  

questionnaire and further information were included in five editions of the engagement bulletin.  

Page 69



 

47 

Next Door Online Forum  

During the consultation we also established an account with Next Door online forum to help encourage 

participation at events and increase completion of the questionnaire. The total reach of the NHS Lincolnshire 

CCG Next Door account is 88,372 people, and this reaches a variety of communities, villages and towns 

across Lincolnshire. 

The table below demonstrates the number of impressions (people that saw each particular post on the Next 

Door app) throughout the consultation. 

Next Door Promotions Impressions as of 21
st

 December 

  
18th November 6602 

23rd November 5472 

30th November  3457 

30th November 4002 

2nd December 3754 

3rd December 1153 

6th December 4554 

9th December 4876 

13th December 3433 

14th December 4289 

        5. Communications and promotion 

5.1 Press and Media  

Media Articles 

NHS Communications and Press and Media activity generated or contributed to 89 media articles across the 

period of the consultation period. These media articles appeared in over 300 separate locations across TV, 

print, radio and online.  

Of these articles/broadcasts: 

• 50 directly promoted the consultation and were the direct result of NHS Communications press  

releases and liaison. 

• 23 related to campaign group activity and included interviews and content provided by NHS  

Communications press team. 

• 16 related to other healthcare news, but included information about the consultation, including  

interviews and content provided by NHS Communications press team. 

Page 70



 

48 

Media and news organisations that ran articles on the consultation  included: 

Regional News 

BBC News – East Yorkshire & Lincolnshire 

BBC News – Look North 

ITV News – Calendar 

Capital Midlands News 

 

County News  

Lincolnshire Echo 

Lincs FM/Planet Radio 

Lincolnshire Live 

Lincolnshire World 

Lincolnshire County Council News 

Lincolnshire UK News 

 

Other 

Healthwatch News 

The Lowdown (NHS Support Federation) 

Mental Health Mail 

Local News  

Boston Standard 

Boston Target 

East Coast & Wolds Target 

Grantham Matters 

Grantham Nub News 

Gainsborough Target 

Grantham Journal 

The Lincolnite 

Louth Leader 

North Lincoln Advertiser 

Skegness Standard 

Sleaford Standard 

Sleaford Target 

Spalding & South Holland Voice 

Spalding Guardian 

Spalding Today 

Stamford Mercury 

Date  Press release  

29/09/21 General Public Consultation release (embargoed until 30/09/21) 

14/10/21  Lincs FM Statement in response to proposed demonstration  

13/10/21  Look North Statement 

These proposals have been developed by our senior clinicians here in Lincolnshire over a 

number of years and are based on their professional medical and clinical advice and  

national clinical evidence focused on how the best care possible is provided for patients 

we serve. 

13/10/21 ITV Calendar Press Statement  

The proposals set out in this consultation have been developed by our senior clinicians 

here in Lincolnshire over a number of years and are based on their professional medical 

and clinical advice and national clinical evidence, focused on how the best care possible 

is provided for the patients we serve. 

Consultation press releases 

Page 71



 

49 

Date  Press release  

15/10/21  General press release relating to consultation live events: ‘Lincolnshire’s residents 

encouraged to get involved in NHS public consultation events’ 

15/10/21 Lincolnshire Live Statement  

Our proposal for urgent and emergency care services in Grantham has been developed 

by Lincolnshire NHS’ senior clinicians and is based on their professional medical and clin-

ical experience and national clinical evidence regarding the how to deliver the best care 

possible for the patients we serve 

27/10/21 ITV Calendar Press Statement in response to £36m funding investment in A&E  

services at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston  

01/11/21 General release announcing Lincolnshire NHS Stroke Service Crowned National 

Award Winners 

05/11/21 General press release relating to consultation live events: ‘Lincolnshire’s  

residents encouraged to get involved in NHS public consultation events’ 

11/11/21 General press release relating to consultation live events: ‘Lincolnshire’s residents 

encouraged to get involved in NHS public consultation events’ 

22/11/21 General press release relating to consultation live events 

NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is inviting the people of Lincoln-

shire to take part in our biggest public consultation to date. 

09/12/21 General press release relating to consultation live events: ‘Lincolnshire’s residents 

invited to have their say in NHS public consultation events’ 

11/12/21 Village Link – Response to inaccuracies in statements about Grantham Hospital 

proposals made by campaign groups 

17/12/21 General press release: ‘Don’t miss your chance to have your say on the future of four 

Lincolnshire NHS services’ 

Page 72



 

50 

Media articles written in response to consultation press releases 

30/09/2021 Grantham: Further details emerge concerning hospital plans Grantham Nub News 

30/09/2021 Grantham Hospital A&E changes part of consultation plans BBC News - East Yorkshire 
and Lincolnshire 

30/09/2021 Grantham to get 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre in latest  
Lincolnshire healthcare shake-up 

The Lincolnite 

30/09/2021 Plans revealed to permanently close A&E department at  
Grantham and District Hospital 

Lincolnshire Live 

30/09/2021 Grantham Hospital A&E changes part of consultation plans LincolnshireUK News -  
Twitter 

01/10/2021 12-week public consultation starts on new plans to close  
Grantham A&E department 

ITV News online 

01/10/2021 Lincolnshire Health Bosses push ahead with consultation on 
the possibility of replacing Grantham hospital's A and E 

Lincs FM/Planet Radio 

01/10/2021 Grantham: SOS Grantham Hospital responds to review of  
hospital services 

Grantham Nub News 

01/10/2021 Grantham Hospital A&E changes part of consultation plans North Lincoln Advertiser 

01/10/2021 A&E shake up plans could see Grantham Urgent Treatment 
Centre return and stroke services shift from Boston to Lincoln 

Lincolnshire World 

01/10/2021 A&E shake up plans could see Grantham Urgent Treatment 
Centre return and stroke services shift from Boston to Lincoln 

Sleaford Standard 

01/10/2021 A public consultation has started on new plans to permanently 
downgrade Grantham's A&E unit to an urgent treatment  
centre. 

ITV News online 

01/10/2021 Launch of public consultation on the future of four Lincolnshire 
NHS services 

Healthwatch Lincolnshire 

02/10/2021 Plans are being considered to have a 24/7 Urgent Treatment 
Centre at Grantham Hospital in Lincolnshire. 

Capital Midlands News - 
Twitter 

05/10/2021 How you can have your say on NHS services in Lincolnshire Lincolnshire Echo/
Lincolnshire Live 

07/10/2021 It is vital we have our say on Grantham Hospital services as  
consultation starts - updated article 

Grantham Journal online 

13/10/2021 Health Scrutiny urges strong response to consultation on  
Lincolnshire NHS services 

Lincolnshire County Council 
news www. lincoln-
shire.gov.uk/news 

13/10/2021 Health committee urges people to take part in consultation on 
health services including Grantham A&E 

Grantham Journal 

13/10/2021 County councillors urge strong response to consultation on  
Lincolnshire NHS services 

Lincolnshire World 

18/10/2021 A series of virtual, online public consultation events are taking 
place this week 

Grantham Journal online 

18/10/2021 Online events all this week for the public to have their say on  
hospital plans 

BBC Look North 

22/10/2021 South Holland stroke patients could be treated in Lincoln in 
NHS shakeup 

Spalding Today 

Page 73



 

51 

Media articles written in response to consultation press releases 

02/11/2021 Lincolnshire NHS Stroke Service crowned national award  
winners article includes: Have your say on the future of four NHS 
services in Lincolnshire 

Lincolnshire Live website 

04/11/2021 Residents urged to join in online consultations over changes to  
Lincolnshire hospitals 

Boston Standard 

04/11/2021 Residents urged to join in online consultations over changes to  
Lincolnshire hospitals 

Lincolnshire World 

06/11/2021 How to get involved in NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group's consultation on services at Grantham Hospital 

Grantham Journal 

09/11/2021 A series of online public consultation events start on 8 November Mental Health Mail 

15/11/2021 Consultation events over healthcare changes in Spalding  
tomorrow 

Spalding and South Holland 
Voice 

22/11/2021 I have respect for the workers but not for the planners after NHS 
Spalding consultation meeting' 

Spalding Today 

29/11/2021 South Kesteven District Council puts support behind 24/7  
accident and emergency unit in Grantham Hospital 

Grantham Journal online 

29/11/2021 South Kesteven District Council supports 24/7 emergency 
healthcare in Grantham 

Grantham Journal online 

09/12/2021 Lincolnshire residents invited to have their say in latest round of 
NHS public consultation events 

Lincolnshire World 

10/12/2021 NHS reassurance over proposals for patients to travel longer  
distances for specialist orthopedic and stroke care 

Lincolnshire World 

15/12/2021 Patients on the East Coast could have to travel to Grantham for 
operations 

Lincolnshire Live website 

15/12/2021 “Apathy” concerns over lack of attendance at health review 
events 

The Lincolnite 

16/12/2021 Grantham councillor raises concerns that people are now  
showing “apathy” to the latest health reviews 

Grantham Journal 

16/12/2021 Don’t miss your chance to have your say on the future of four 
Lincolnshire NHS services 

Lincolnshire Live website 

17/12/2021 Have your say on the future of NHS services in Lincolnshire at 
consultation events 

Lincolnshire World 

17/12/2021 Have your say on the future of NHS services in Lincolnshire at a 
consultation event in Boston tomorrow (Saturday). 

Boston Standard 

18/12/2021 Last chance for you to have your say on future of four  
Lincolnshire NHS services 

Grantham Matters 

20/12/2021 Consultation on Grantham hospital services closes this week Grantham Journal 

20/12/2021 Countywide NHS consultation ends this week - but it’s not too 
late to have your say 

Lincolnshire Live website 

20/12/2021 Get your response in on Lincolnshire NHS services consultation Lincolnshire County Council 
news www. lincoln-
shire.gov.uk/news 

23/12/2021 Consultation on Grantham hospital A&E and county services 
ends today 

Grantham Journal 

Page 74



 

52 

Media articles written in response to campaign group or other activity relating to 

the consultation 

30/09/2021 More than five years ago, a campaign was started to keep 
Grantham Hospital's A&E open 24 hours a day started. 

ITV News Calendar online 

04/10/2021 Reader says online hospital consultation is concerning as there 
is no reference to keeping Grantham A&E 

Grantham Journal 

04/10/2021 "People will die" if plans to close Grantham's A and E go ahead Lincolnshire Echo/
Lincolnshire Live 

05/10/2021 Hospital campaigners will hold protest near consultation 
meeting in Grantham 

Grantham Journal 

05/10/2021 Grantham Hospital campaigners plan protest ahead of  
consultation on loss of A&E 

Lincolnshire World 

05/10/2021 Grantham: Campaigners plan protest outside hospital  
consultation 

Grantham Nub News 

06/10/2021 Grantham man stung by wasp 'saved' by town's A and E  
despite it being closed 

Lincolnshire Live website 

09/10/2021 Grantham Against Local Healthcare Cuts stage protest this 
week. Why not join them? 

Grantham Matters 

13/10/2021 Protest against Grantham health cuts to be held in town  
tomorrow - add your voice! 

Grantham Matters 

13/10/2021 Hospital campaigners will hold protest near consultation  
meeting in Grantham 

Grantham Journal 

14/10/2021 Protests taking place against plans to turn Grantham A&E into 
Urgent Treatment Centre 

Lincs FM/Planet Radio 

14/10/2021 Desperate protesters fight against plans to axe Lincolnshire 
town's A&E department. 

Lincolnshire Live website 

14/10/2021 Campaigners gather to voice opposition to A&E cuts at  
Grantham Hospital 

Lincolnshire World 

14/10/2021 We're at a protest against plans to close Grantham's A&E  BBC News - East Yorkshire 
and Lincolnshire 

14/10/2021 Another protest over proposals to downgrade Grantham A&E BBC Radio Lincolnshire 

14/10/2021 Campaigners to protest over plans to close Grantham  
Hospital’s A&E department 

ITV News Calendar online 

15/10/2021 Health consultation meeting in Grantham turns 'chaotic' after 
protesters gather in town centre 

Grantham Journal 

15/10/2021 “No ifs, no buts, no A&E cuts”: Protests against Grantham  
Hospital plans 

The Lincolnite 

15/10/2021 Campaigners say an urgent treatment centre in Grantham 
would be a glorified GP surgery 

The Lincolnite 

15/10/2021 Protesters fight against plans to axe Grantham's A&E  
department 

Grantham Matters 

16/10/2021 Councillor launches petition to 'stop cuts to Grantham hospital Grantham Journal 

16/10/2021 Campaigner calls A & E consultation a 'shambles' Lincolnshire Live website 

Page 75



 

53 

Media articles written in response to campaign group or other activity relating to  

the consultation 

26/10/2021 £30m investment is hospital’s A&E (er, not yours, Grantham) Grantham Matters 

26/10/2021 Download SOS Grantham Hospital Petition - Vital Grantham Matters 

27/10/2021 Dismay at £30M investment in Boston Pilgrim Hospital but 
nothing for Grantham 

Grantham Matters 

28/10/2021 Councillor says upgrade plans for A&E at Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston, are 'a slap in the face' to Grantham residents 

Grantham Journal 

01/11/2021 Campaigners fight Grantham downgrade The Lowdown/NHS Support 
Federation 

04/11/2021 ULHT Staff Awards 2021 - meet your winners! Grantham Matters 

10/11/2021 Stroke services “unattractive” to Lincolnshire staff as locums 
walk away from Boston 

The Lincolnite 

11/11/2021 Hospitals at breaking point as handover delays leave patients 
on trolleys for 12 hours 

The Lincolnite 

11/11/2021 Lincoln actor calls for people to help city’s hospital after 14 
hour wait for bed 

The Lincolnite 

11/11/2021 Lincolnshire A&E departments at breaking point with  
ambulance handover delays and overcrowding 

Grantham Journal 

11/11/2021 Ambulance handover delays at Lincolnshire hospitals Lincolnshire World 

11/11/2021 Ambulance handover delays at Lincolnshire hospitals Louth Leader 

11/11/2021 Lincolnshire A&E departments at breaking point with  
ambulance handover delays and overcrowding 

Spalding Today 

11/11/2021 Struggling to attract stroke staff to Boston Pilgrim Hospital to 
treat south Lincolnshire patients 

Spalding Today 

11/11/2021 Patients turned away from Skegness Urgent Treatment Centre 
due to being short-staffed 

Lincolnshire Live website 

11/11/2021 Patients turned away from Lincolnshire Urgent Treatment  
Centre due to ‘high demand’ 

The Lincolnite 

20/11/2021 I am still pressing to guarantee everyone’s experience of  
driving on the A1 is a safe one, says Grantham MP 

Grantham Journal 

23/12/2021 Decision on closing Grantham's A and E expected in March Lincolnshire Live website 

23/12/2021 Consultation into Grantham Hospital and county health  
services leaves me with a number of concerns 

Grantham Journal 

Page 76



 

54 

 

 

The public consultation digital strategy included the following elements: 

• NHS Communication team’s social media activity (Twitter, Facebook) to push traffic towards the Public 

Consultation website and planned events.  

• Video marketing via YouTube and the Public Consultation website.  

• Online advertising via media partners and other local news sources and platforms.  

 

NHS Communications teams – social media activity 

Across the period of the Consultation, significant activity was undertaken by the Communications Teams at 

Lincolnshire NHS CCG, Lincolnshire NHS, ULHT and LCHS to build awareness and drive engagement 

through a schedule of activity on their social media platforms, most significantly Facebook and Twitter.  

Combined, the four NHS communications teams posted 199 Facebook posts, reaching 172, 827 people and 

generating 5889 post engagements, 481 click throughs to the Consultation website and 202 comments. 

Combined, the four NHS communications teams issued 214 tweets and 18 retweets, with these tweets being 

seen 87,367 times, generating 1834 tweet engagements and 303 click throughs to the Consultation  

website. 

 

Social sharing 

NHS Communications team Facebook posts were actively shared with the following organisations: 

Local authorities 

• Boston Borough Council 

• City of Lincoln Council 

• East Lindsey District Council 

• Gainsborough Town Council 

• Lincolnshire County Council 

• North Kesteven District Council 

• Sleaford Town Council 

• South Holland District Council 

• South Kesteven District Council 

• West Lindsey District Council 

Media 

• BBC East Yorkshire & Lincolnshire 

• BBC Radio Lincolnshire 

• Boston Standard 

• Boston VIBE 

• Boston’s 107 Endeavour FM 

• Gainsborough Standard 

• Grantham Journal 

• Grantham Matters 

• Lincoln Free Press and Spalding 

Guardian 

• Lincolnite 

 

• Lincolnite Breaking News 

• Lincolnshire Live  

• Lincs FM 

• Louth Leader 

• Skegness Standard 

• Sleaford Standard 

• Spalding and South  

Holland Voice 

5.2 Digital Activity  

Page 77



 

55 

Non-NHS Social Listening 
 

The Consultation Communications team engaged in an active programme of social listening throughout the 

period of the consultation.  

 

The benefits of social listening to the consultation communications efforts were: 
 

• It enabled the team to monitor and assess the reach and penetration of the consultation 

• It enabled to team to identify both where public awareness and understanding of the proposed changes 

were strong and where there was potential to improve communications.   

• It enabled the team to identify misinformation and misconceptions relating to the proposed services 

changes and the consultation programme and to address these, redressing the balance of  

misinformation. 

• It helped the team to be more responsive to public needs as the consultation progressed. 

• It helped the team to identify formal participation opportunities. 

• It enabled to team to assess public sentiment towards the proposed changes to services and the  

consultation process.  
 

Non-NHS social media activity (news articles, comment pieces, campaign activity) generated over 1600 

comments and conversations during the consultation. 

 

Over the period of the consultation, 12,294 unique visitors accessed the dedicated consultation microsite, 

generating 30,967 page views (an average of 2.51 page views per visitor). 5101 visits were made to the 

online Questionnaire embedded in the site, with 2290 people visiting the consultation events page. 

Of those visiting, 49% accessed the site via mobile phone, 35% accessed via desktop device and 8% via  

tablet. 

Almost half of those visiting found the site through organic search, 19% came to the site directly, 13% via  

referral and 11% via social media.  

5.3 Consultation website engagement  

Page 78



 

56 

 

 

Media partnerships were created with Reach Solutions and Iliffe Media to increase awareness of the  

consultation beyond the other channels and methods employed.  

 

Print advertisements 

Throughout the consultation 25 adverts were placed in local and county newspapers, providing general  

information about the consultation proposals and promoting participation in the consultation and related events. 

There were over 454,000 opportunities to see these newspaper advertisements (based on newspaper  

readership figures) across seven county newspapers. This approach enabled the programme to target  

audiences that might not have access to online engagement channels. 

5.4 Paid print and online advertising 

Page 79



 

57 

Online advertisements 

Online advertising was used to raise further awareness of the consultation,  

increasing online exposure both on social media and across other online 

platforms. A wide range of digital ad formats were employed, from display 

ads through to FB articles and ‘advertorial’ content. Several of these online 

ad campaigns were targeted at specific audiences in terms of demographics 

or geographic location. 

Those engaging with the advertisements were encouraged to click through to 

the consultation website and complete the consultation questionnaire. This  

approach enabled the programme to target audiences that might not have  

been exposed to some of the other more traditional forms of advertising. 

Through the consultation, paid online activity included: 

• 3 x editorial articles  

• 16 x display advertisements 

• 15 x InYourArea advertisements 

• 4 x Facebook advertisements 

Combined, these advertisements were seen by 1,365,000  

people, with 9502 people directly engaging with the  

advertisements and 2865 clicking through to the consultation website.  

Fig.10  Example Public Consultation display advertising artwork  

Fig.11  Example Public Consultation Facebook Advertising artwork 

Page 80



 

58 

        6. Mid consultation and final stakeholder updates 

On 2 December, a ‘consultation mid-point update’ email was sent to the full list of stakeholders who had  

received the consultation launch email. This list included: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This update email contained: 

• Direct links to the consultation website where people could find further detail about the proposals, give 

feedback via the online questionnaire and see how they can get involved and what events are taking 

place across Lincolnshire. We also included phone and email details of our dedicated consultation  

hotline. 

• A brief update on consultation engagement to date. 

• A schedule of remaining consultation Face to Face events.  

• A call to action to stakeholders to ask partners and community organisations to share the materials and 

mid-point update email with their members, groups and wider communities.  

On 21 December, a ‘consultation final update’ email was sent to the full list of stakeholders who had received 

the consultation launch and mid-point update email.  

This final update email contained: 

• Direct links to the consultation website where people could find further detail about the proposals, give 

feedback via the online questionnaire and see how they can get involved and what events are taking 

place across Lincolnshire. We also included phone and email details of our dedicated consultation  

hotline. 

• A brief update on consultation engagement to date. 

• A brief update on media coverage to date. 

• A thank you to stakeholders for their continued support in helping to extend the reach of the  

consultation. 

• A request for any feedback stakeholders may have received that directly related to the proposals and a 

call to action to submit feedback to the dedicated consultation email address at lccg.asr-

enquiries@nhs.net 

Staff and internal stakeholders Voluntary engagement teams 

Provider memberships Local MPs 

Unions Local employers 

Health partners Public sector providers 

Lincolnshire County Council including  
all staff and councillors 

Campaign groups 

District Councils including all staff and 
councillors 

NHS Lincolnshire Peoples Panel 

Parish Councils Community Stakeholders, including  
volunteer groups, support groups etc 

Page 81

mailto:lccg.asr-enquiries@nhs.net
mailto:lccg.asr-enquiries@nhs.net


 

59 

        7. Ongoing adjustments  

As the consultation entered its third month, public feedback and social listening undertaken by the consultation 

team highlighted a range of misconceptions and concerns relating to the proposals for Grantham and District 

Hospital. These included: 

• Concerns that acute medical beds would be reduced or closed at the hospital. 

• Concerns that the proposals suggested cuts to acute and emergency services in Grantham. 

• Uncertainty around what the proposals for stroke services would mean for the people of Grantham. 

• Uncertainty around the conditions that would be treated at the proposed UTC at Grantham & District 

Hospital.  

 

To respond to these questions and concerns, it was decided to publish a full-page advertisement in The  

Grantham Journal on Friday 10 December. This advertisement also sought to counter a highlighted spread of 

misinformation by local campaign groups ahead of the second Grantham Face to Face event, which was due to 

take place on Sunday 12 December. 

The Grantham Journal, both in print and online, had been extremely active in reporting on the consultation and 

service proposals, largely as they related to Grantham and District Hospital. The publication’s website and  

social media had also become key arenas for comment and debate about the consultation, particularly from 

local campaign groups. 

The full-page advertisement included: 

• A brief summary of the consultation and the proposed changes to four NHS services. 

• A larger section devoted to responding to ‘common requests for clarity the consultation team had  

received from the people of Grantham’ – these being the concerns listed above.  

• Information about the forthcoming Grantham Face to Face event taking place on Sunday 12  

December, and a call to action to register to attend. 

• A call to action to complete the consultation questionnaire.   

 

 

Responding to confusion and misinformation around proposals for Grantham and  
District Hospital 

Page 82



 

60 Page 83



 

61 

Louth event 
 
In response to feedback we received regarding the locations of the consultation events, we subsequently  

added an event in Louth and provided further information to respondents as and when requested to ensure 

they were informed and could get involved in the consultation. 

Weekly team meetings 

Throughout the public consultation, routine weekly meetings were held with the core consultation team to  

review the ORS consultation dashboard, providing ‘live’ monitoring of the questionnaires completed alongside 

main respondent characteristics to inform further specific targeting of consultation activities if required to  

increase representation of response.  

Routine weekly meetings and briefings were also undertaken with the wider team, system leaders and  

clinicians to review feedback from consultation events and communications, and give team members who had 

attended recent events an opportunity to share feedback regarding the queries and concerns they heard. This 

allowed shared understanding of any key themes as they emerged, improving the ability of the team to ensure 

they discussed such issues raised in future events, press interviews and via direct contact with individuals.  

Page 84



 

62 

The consultation team provided a dedicated phoneline (01522 421860) and email address (lccg.asr-

enquiries@nhs.net).  

These provided channels for members of the public who: 

• Required hard copy version of consultation materials, including the Public Consultation Document, 

Key Information Document and Consultation questionnaire.  

• Wished to comment or had questions relating to the Consultation proposals or to the consultation  

process itself. 

• Required further information about the live and virtual consultation events. Participation at these 

events could also be booked via email or over the phone.  

• Wished to speak about their general experience of using NHS services. 

 

Over the period of the consultation members of the public submitted 110 emails and made 56 telephone calls 

to the consultation communications team. These contacts included: 

• 63 requests for a hard copy of the questionnaire 

• 62 requests for information about consultation live and virtual events – these included 49 event  

booking requests.  

• 17 questions relating to the consultation service proposals or the consultation process 

• 27 comments about the consultation service proposals or the consultation process 

 

Respondents were also signposted to the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) and Healthwatch if they 

required further, independent support to get involved in the consultation.  

        8. Consultation Support  

Page 85



Contact us  

Email: lccg.involveus@nhs.net 

To request this document in an  
alternative format please contact us  

using the details above 

 
Page 86

mailto:lccg.involveus@nhs.net


1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

BOARD MEETING – PUBLIC 
 

 

Date of Meeting: 25th May 2022 Agenda item: 12a 

 

Title of Report: 
Work completed to inform recommendations on four of Lincolnshire’s 
NHS services   

Report Author: 
Pete Burnett, System Strategy and Planning Director 
Tom Diamond, Associate Director of Strategy 

Lead Director: CCG Executives  

Accountable Officer: John Turner, NHS Lincolnshire CCG Chief Executive 

Attachments: 
Appendix 1: NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback 
Report  

 

1. Purpose of the Report (including link to objectives) 

The purpose of this report is to: 

• Confirm the work undertaken to develop the proposals that were outlined in the Pre-
Consultation Business Case 

• Outline the approach and activities undertaken to deliver the public consultation 
exercise in 2021 

• Review the Consultation Institute (tCI) Quality Assurance of the public consultation 
undertaken by NHS Lincolnshire CCG and briefing from tCI on the role of the Board in 
considering the feedback when making a final decision on the Decision Making 
Business Case. 

• Provide a summary presentation on the independent consultation report detailing the 
responses received throughout the public consultation on four of Lincolnshire’s NHS 
services. This will be presented by the independent company, Opinion Research 
Services (ORS) who analysed the feedback received and produced the report. 

• Confirm the approach taken to involve the public in the decision making process 
following the consultation formally closing  

• Outline the approach taken across the NHS in Lincolnshire to respond to the feedback 
identified in the independent consultation report. 

• Inform the Board on the role of the Clinical Directorate and the CCG Clinical Polices 
Sub-Group in reviewing the response to the consultation feedback, evaluating the four 
proposals as presented in the Decision Making Business Case and reviewing the 
Equality Impact Assessments and Quality Impact Assessments.  

• Present the findings from the Quality and Patient Experience Committee’s review of the 
response to the public feedback, Equality Impact Assessments and Quality Impact 
Assessments  

 

Page 87



2 
 

2. Recommendations  

The Board is asked to note and provide feedback on: 

• The work undertaken following the approval of the Pre-Consultation Business Case to 
inform the development of the Decision Making Business Case 

• The information and advice provided by the Consultation Institute when considering and 
taking the final decision on the DMBC 

• The key findings identified in the public feedback and the information provided by ORS 

• The approach taken to respond to the feedback identified in the Independent Consultation 
Report, including public involvement and input from across the NHS in Lincolnshire 

• The clinical assessment that has been undertaken 

 
 

3. Executive Summary 

On the 29 September 2021 the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board agreed to proceed to a period of 
public consultation on the proposals, as set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), 
relating to four NHS services: 

• Orthopaedics  

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke Services 

The public consultation, which ran from 30 September to 23 December 2021, enabled a robust 
and detailed dialogue with an extensive range of stakeholders.  

This paper provides a summary of the work undertaken to develop the PCBC and outlines the 
work undertaken since the start of the consultation. The outputs from this extensive work 
programme have enabled the Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) to be developed in line 
with the legal duties of the CCG  

 
 

4. Management of Conflicts of Interest 

Not applicable in relation to this paper 

 

5. Finance, QIPP and Resource Implications 

The financial implications of any future decision will be identified in the Decision-Making 
Business Case 

 
 

6. Legal/NHS Constitution Considerations 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a duty (Section 14Z2) to ‘make arrangements’ to 
inform, involve and consult with the public in relation to the planning of commissioning 
arrangements, the development and consideration of proposals and the decisions affecting the 
operation of commissioning arrangements. 

 
 
 
 

Page 88



3 
 

7. Analysis of Risk including Assessments 

Not applicable 
 
Please state if the risk is on the CCG Risk Register. 
 
 Yes  No √ 

 

8. Outline engagement – clinical, stakeholder and public/patient 

Significant engagement with all stakeholder groups has occurred throughout the ASR 
Programme. 

 
 

9. Outcome of Impact Assessments 

The proposed service changes will deliver improvements in the quality of care and support 
reductions in health inequalities by delivering more equitable access to timely specialist 
interventions proven to improve patient outcomes. 

The impact of the proposed service changes on protected characteristics has also been 
considered. The potential positive and negative impacts are the same for all groups, however 
the age, disability and economically disadvantaged groups have been identified as possibly 
being more likely to be impacted: 

• Potential positive impacts have been identified in terms of improved care and outcomes, 
including more people benefiting from highly specialised interventions. 

• Potential negative impacts have been identified related to access to services. Outcome 
of impact assessments are reflected in the DMBC. 

 
 

10. Assurance Departments/Organisations who will be affected have been consulted 

Insert details of the departments you have worked with or consulted during the process: 

Finance √ 

Commissioning √ 

Contracting √ 

Medicines Optimisation   

Clinical Leads  √ 

Quality  √ 

Safeguarding   

Other  √ 
 

 
 

11. Report previously presented at: 

Not applicable 

 
 

12. For further information or for any enquiries relating to this report, please contact 

lccg.asr-enquiries@nhs.net  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89

mailto:lccg.asr-enquiries@nhs.net


4 
 

1. Purpose 
Following the board approval of the Pre Consultation Business Case a significant work programme has 
been undertaken. From 30 September 2021 through to 23 December 2021 a Public Consultation took 
place on each of the four proposals. Listening to the views of those that responded to the consultation 
and working with partners across the Lincolnshire health system has been invaluable. This feedback and 
the further consideration and evidence compiled following the public consultation in response to it, 
together with the evidence contained within the PCBC, have been brought together into a Decision 
Making Business Case (DMBC).  
 
The purpose of this report is to ensure that the CCG Board are informed of the work that has been 
undertaken and the outputs produced. The key aim is: 
 

• Confirm the work undertaken to develop the proposals that were outlined in the Pre-Consultation 
Business Case 
 

• Outline the approach and activities undertaken to deliver the public consultation exercise in 2021  
 

• Review the Consultation Institute (tCI) Quality Assurance of the public consultation undertaken 
by NHS Lincolnshire CCG and briefing from tCI on the role of the Board in considering the 
feedback when making a final decision on the Decision Making Business Case. 

 

• Provide a summary presentation on the independent consultation report detailing the responses 
received throughout the public consultation into Four Lincolnshire NHS Service. This will be 
presented by the independent company, Opinion Research Services (ORS) who analysed the 
feedback received and produced the report. 

 

• Confirm the approach taken to involve the public in the decision making process following the 
consultation formally closing  

 

• Outline the approach taken across the NHS in Lincolnshire to respond to the feedback identified 
in the independent consultation report. 

 

• Inform the Board on the role of the Clinical Directorate and the CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group 
in reviewing the response to the consultation feedback, evaluating the four proposals as 
presented in the Decision Making Business Case and reviewing the Equality Impact 
Assessments and Quality Impact Assessments.  

 

• Present the findings from the Quality and Patient Experience Committee’s review of the 
response to the public feedback, Equality Impact Assessments and Quality Impact  

 
 

 
2. Background 
The reconfiguration of acute hospital services has always formed a key part of the Lincolnshire health 
and care system’s transformation plans, including in the most recent articulation through the 
Lincolnshire’s NHS Long Term Plan 2019-24. This plan: 

• Responds to Lincolnshire’s specific strengths, challenges and requirements; 

• Clarifies a shared future ambition for health services in Lincolnshire so it can work to make these 
a reality; and 

• Identifies the specific priorities for improvement and how these will be achieved. In order to i) 
Improve the health of the population ii) Improve quality and iii) Reduce inequalities 

 

 

Page 90



5 
 

The Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was prepared by system partners to provide assurance to 
local governance Boards and NHS England and Improvement that the system has thoroughly 
considered a range of requirements before deciding to move to public consultation on the proposed 
service changes. 

These requirements included: 

• A detailed case for change, supported by system partners 

• The proposed changes to acute services 

• Alignment of these proposals with NHS policy and plans 

• A clear description of the enablers required for the proposed service changes 

• Governance and decision making arrangements 

• Clinical assurance of the proposals, including the East Midlands Clinical Senate 

• A description of the public engagement that has occurs in the development of the proposals 

 

The four service change proposals contained within the PCBC successfully passed through rigorous 
regional and national assurance processes: 

Clinical 

• On 11 July 2018, the East Midland Clinical Senate was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning Lincolnshire STP’s proposals. The review focussed on the 
clinical interdependencies and the totality of the changes proposed, as opposed to a more in-
depth review of each clinical specialty. Specifically, the clinical review team was asked whether it 
supported Lincolnshire STP’s proposals based on clinical sustainability, workforce and clinical 
outcomes. 

• Following this meeting the panel recommended that the Lincolnshire STP proceeds with its 
proposals for Orthopaedics and Stroke, and the use of the word ‘Plus’ in UTC is dropped (which 
was agreed by the Lincolnshire system on the day at the end of the session.). The panel was of 
the opinion further work needed to be completed for the acute medical beds at Grantham 
Hospital. 

 

 

Page 91



6 
 

• A supplementary clinical review took place on 12 September 2018 in relation to the acute medical 
beds at Grantham Hospital. The panel were left with the impression that all system partners are 
joined up on the future of medicine for Grantham, and that the proposal had changed significantly 
in a short period - All previous concerns were adequately addressed and the proposal was 
considered by the panel to be not only clinically acceptable but to represent an excellent example 
of the value of a team approach to finding solutions to the inevitable issues that result from 
service redesign 

NHS regulator 

• The PCBC met the requirements and regulatory processes of NHS England and Improvements 
(NHSEI), including: 

• THE NHSEI Regional Panel 

• The NHSEI national assurance process 

 

 
3. Pre-Consultation Business Case Approval 
On the 29th September 2021 the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board were asked to: 

• Approve the Acute Services Review (ASR) Pre-Consultation Business Case (PCBC), which 
underpins four Lincolnshire NHS service change proposals relating to Orthopaedics, Urgent & 
Emergency Care, Acute Medicine and Stroke Services; and 

• Agree to proceed to a period of public consultation on the four Lincolnshire NHS service 
change proposals set out within the PCBC. 

 

The NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board approved the ASR PCBC and agreed to proceed to a period of public 
consultation. 

The public consultation on the four Lincolnshire NHS services launched on the 30th September 2021 and 
closed on the 23rd December 2021. 
 

4. Public Consultation Process 
The NHS Lincolnshire CCG launched the public consultation on the 30 September 2021, and it ran for 

12 weeks until 23 December 2021. The approach to consultation was underpinned by the Gunning 

principles which say consultations must have the following principles applied:  

• When proposals are still at a formative stage  

• Sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’  

• Adequate time for consideration & response  

• Must be ‘conscientiously’ taken into account  

 

In line with the Consultation Plan, a suite of materials was produced, which included the main 

consultation document (which benefited from the input of patient representatives), a summary document, 

a leaflet and feedback questionnaire (all of which were translated into languages relevant to the local 

population), as well as supplementary information, including videos that described the process to date 

and the proposed changes. More detail is available in DMBC Appendix A, which contains the 

Communications and Consultation Activity Report, and DMBC Appendix O (Consultation Plan) of the Pre 

Consultation Business Case (PCBC). 

It was agreed with the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee that the leaflet would be dropped through 

every door in Lincolnshire.   

 

Page 92



7 
 

During the consultation period, stakeholders were invited to provide feedback through:  

• A consultation questionnaire for all residents, stakeholders and organisations; the questionnaire 

was available online (hosted by ORS) and paper questionnaires were widely circulated and 

available on request. An easy read version and translated documents were also available  

Independently facilitated engagement designed and conducted by ORS:  

• A telephone residents survey; and  

• Independently-facilitated online focus groups and 1:1 in-depth interviews with members of the 

public (delivered by ORS)  

Engagement activities undertaken by NHS Lincolnshire CCG including:  

• Face-to-face and online public events, and a ‘virtual’ 24/7 event  

• Meetings with staff members, stakeholder and service users  

• ‘Pop-up’ engagement activities at market days across Lincolnshire  

Written or email submissions from residents, stakeholders ad organisations  

• Petitions (organised by two local campaign groups and submitted to ORS).  

 

The consultation methods reflected the government guidelines in force at the time relating to Covid-19, 

while continuing to ensure the needs of all communities were met. Throughout the consultation the CCG, 

supported by partner organisations, undertook a comprehensive, wide ranging public consultation 

exercise across the whole county in line with best practice. The exercise was informed by discussion 

with, and advice provided by the Consultation Institute. The key aim was to give as many people as 

possible the opportunity to get involved and share their views in a way that suits them. The CCG 

advertised locally, online and across social media at a variety of locations and times. 

The public consultation was supported by a comprehensive communication strategy, see diagrams 

below. 

Page 93



8 
 

 

 

Page 94



9 
 

 

 

Consultation materials were made available in hard copy, as well as via a dedicated section of the CCG 

website. Material was also available in different formats and languages. 

Consultation materials were also distributed through the network of the NHS organisation 

communications and engagement teams, including United Hospitals Lincolnshire NHS Trust (ULHT) and 

Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust (LCHS), and available in locations such as GP 

surgeries, libraries, clinics, food banks, Parish Councils and community venues. 

Partner organisations and key stakeholder groups were also asked to share these materials on our 

behalf via their online methods and extensive venue and distribution lists. 

In addition to both the traditional and social media methods focussed work was also undertaken to 

ensure those from seldom heard groups and with protected characteristics were able to consider the 

proposals from the perspective of the relevant characteristics. 

Letters and consultation materials were sent to groups aligned with the nine protected characteristics, as 

set out in the Equality Act 2010, requesting they consider the proposals from the perspective of those 

they support. An overview of the groups contacted is set out below. 

 

Page 95



10 
 

The consultation team offered to attend meetings on request from community groups and other 

organisations. 

When the consultation engagement plan was developed it was recognised it would need to be ‘dynamic’ 

in nature. Throughout the consultation the engagement team responded to a number of requests and 

based on feedback received undertook additional activities: Examples of this include: 

• Attendance at Skegness Town Council meeting on 01 December 2021 to present the public 
consultation as an agenda item.  

• Attendance at Boston Primary Care Network board meeting on 09 December 2021 to discuss 
as an agenda item at the request of a locality lead 

• Establishment of a Louth consultation event on 14 December 2021 at the request of patient 
representatives and a local councillor. 

 

An overview of the public consultation responses is set out below: 

 

 

 

 

5. The Consultation Institute Overview  
Prior to the Pre-Consultation Business Case being presented to the CCG Board the Consultation 

Institute (tCI) were commissioned to undertake a six-stage Quality Assurance (QA) process based upon 

their established methodology: 

 

• Scoping documents sign-off (now expanded to include aspects of governance) 

• Project Plan sign-off 

• Documentation approval 

• Mid-consultation Review 

• Closing date Review, Analysis & Feedback plan approval 

• Analysis & Report sign-off 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



11 
 

The tCI is a UK-based not-for-profit organisation founded in 2003, which has been setting the standards 

for best practice in public engagement and consultation across the UK. The Institute QA services have 

now been used extensively throughout the NHS, to help: 

• Conduct a best practice consultation that will enable safe decision making 

• Design a consultation process that is fit for purpose and withstand external scrutiny 

• Mitigate for risks associated with legal challenge 

 

The tCI has now signed off all of the first five stages of the QA process for the public consultation. The 

final Gateway Review focuses on the reporting of findings from the consultation. The aim is to ensure 

that the report of findings is a balanced and true representation of the views which have been received 

and is suitable to inform and influence the decision-makers and meet the requirements of the Public 

Sector Equality Duty. 

 

As part of this process the tCI agreed to provide an overview of the consultation process following the 

QA process and provide advice to the CCG Board on its role when considering the Public Consultation 

findings and in making a final decision on the DMBC.  

 

This was to ensure the CCG Board are aware of: 

• The law regarding consultation; case law  

• The Court’s view of equality analysis  

• Risks of legal challenge and risk mitigations 

 

 

6. Independent Consultation Report 
Opinion Research Services (ORS), are a company that grew out of Swansea University, and now have a 

UK-wide reputation for social research and major statutory consultations. They were appointed by NHS 

Lincolnshire CCG to support some consultation activities, and to analyse and report the outcomes of this 

public consultation programme with members of the public, clinicians and other NHS staff, and other 

stakeholders. 

 

The public consultation process on the change proposals set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case 

enabled a robust and detailed dialogue with an extensive range of stakeholders. The final full 

independent public consultation report provides detailed analysis and presentation of both quantitative 

and qualitative responses for all consultation proposals, including a selection of qualitative free text 

responses to illustrate the range of feedback received. The full independent consultation report should 

be read in full and can be found as an Appendix to this report. 

 

The report presents an independent analysis taking into account all the consultation responses. It 

identifies where strength of feeling may be particularly intense, either in relation to specific themes or 

possible outcomes, or coming from specific groups of respondents.  

 

It is not ORS' role, however, to 'make a case' for the proposals, or to make any recommendations as to 

how the CCG Board should use the reported results. It is the role of the CCG to make a final decision 

based on all of the evidence available, which will be detailed in the DMBC, of which consultation 

feedback is one part. 

 

A summary of the main findings from the consultation feedback report is set out below. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



12 
 

Consultation Key Findings: 

There was broad support across all elements of the consultation for the need for change, and 
overall agreement with each of the four proposals 

There were however, two proposals where slightly more concerns were raised, and there was 
evidence of differing views between those living in different areas of Lincolnshire: 

 A slight majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to       
Grantham Hospital disagreed with the Urgent and Emergency Care proposal 

              A majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston disagreed with the proposal relating to Stroke services 

Some equalities concerns were raised about or by particular groups or communities. They 
focused on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private transport. 
Specific groups mentioned in this regard included: older people; people with disabilities and 
long-term conditions and co-morbidities; people living in rural and isolated communities, areas 
of deprivation or with low incomes; and people with learning disabilities and neurodiverse people 
such as those with ASD. 

Across the consultation, evidence suggests that individuals’ views and feedback on the 
proposals were commonly informed most strongly by their area of residence, rather than in light 
of any protected or other demographic characteristics. 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

 

The need for change: 

There was broad support for the overall need for change across all elements of the consultation 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

 

The consultation questionnaire identified that over two thirds of the individuals (72% of NHS staff and 
70% of other individuals) who responded to the questionnaire either tended to agree or strongly agreed 
with the need for changes to be made in response to challenges facing NHS hospital services in 
Lincolnshire. Less than a quarter (23% and 24% respectively) either tended to disagree or strongly 
disagreed. 

Support among the Lincolnshire population as a whole was overwhelming, with 88% of residents (+/- 
6%) agreeing that changes should be made in principle, while just 2% disagreed. 

Views on the need for change to respond to challenges in delivering NHS services in Lincolnshire (from 
the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type)  

 

Page 98



13 
 

Among the 16 organisations that submitted questionnaire responses, 13 agreed with the need for 
changes to be made to address challenges, 2 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 1 disagreed. 

In the feedback received across the consultation programme, the issues most commonly raised in regard 
to the need for change were those of increasing pressure on NHS services in Lincolnshire, challenges 
related to recruitment and retention of staff, and waiting times for both hospital appointments and urgent 
and emergency care.  

 

Orthopaedic surgery 

There was also broad support for the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at Grantham and 
District Hospital for Lincolnshire’s patients to receive planned and day case orthopaedic surgery, 
with a dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery, 
across all elements of the consultation. 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

The consultation questionnaire identified that over two thirds of NHS staff who responded (68%) and 
three fifths (61%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly agreed with the 
proposal for orthopaedic surgery in Lincolnshire. Around a quarter (24%) of NHS staff and three in ten 
(29%) of other respondents either tended to disagree or strongly disagreed. 

Support for the proposal for orthopaedic surgery among the Lincolnshire population as a whole was even 
stronger, with over three quarters (78%) of residents (+/- 6%) agreeing with the proposed changes, while 
just over one in ten (11%) disagreed. 

 
Views on the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at Grantham and District Hospital for 
Lincolnshire’s patients to receive planned and day care orthopaedic surgery, with a dedicated day case 
centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery (from the consultation questionnaire and 
residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

In summary, the feedback on the orthopaedics change proposal identified: 

• Supported across both consultation questionnaire and telephone survey 

• Recognition of benefits in terms of reduced waiting times and fewer cancellations 

• Links made to reduction of Urgent and Emergency Care at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Concerns around implications for travel and access and staffing  

• Older people, people on low incomes, those without access to private vehicles, and people 
with disabilities in particular identified as being particularly vulnerable to impacts of change 

• Mitigations for travel challenges put forward: more patient transport, working with the Local 
Authority to explore transport improvements, more follow up appointments in community  

Page 99



14 
 

Urgent and emergency care 

There was overall support for the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in 
Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report  May 2022 

 

The consultation questionnaire identified that around three fifths of NHS staff who responded (61%) and 
half (50%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly agreed with the proposal to 
create a UTC at Grantham and District Hospital. Around three in ten (29%) of NHS staff and two fifths 
(41%) of other individual respondents either tended to disagree or strongly disagreed. 

Support for the proposal for urgent and emergency care among the Lincolnshire population as a whole 
was much stronger, with over four fifths (81%) of residents (+/- 6%) agreeing with the proposed changes, 
while approximately one in eight (12%) disagreed. 

 

Views on the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in Grantham via an Urgent Treatment 
Centre at Grantham and District Hospital (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone 
survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

 

It is important to note that there is evidence that concerns about the proposals for urgent and emergency 
care are strongest among those living nearest to Grantham and District Hospital. This is most particularly 
marked in the questionnaire responses, in which just over half (51%) of all individual respondents living 
closest to Grantham and District Hospital expressed disagreement with the proposal, compared to 44% 
who agreed. 

The residents telephone survey indicates that there is majority support among the resident population, 
including those living closest to Grantham and District Hospital, three quarters (75%) of whom agree with 
the proposals. There was nonetheless evidence of concern as well, with nearly a quarter (24%) of 
residents disagreeing with the proposals. 

In summary, the feedback on the urgent and emergency care change proposal identified: 

• Supported across consultation questionnaire responses, particularly from staff, and the 
telephone survey 

• Concerns about the proposals for urgent and emergency care are strongest among those living 
nearest to Grantham and District Hospital, this is most particularly marked in the questionnaire 
responses 

• Residents telephone survey indicates majority support among the resident population, 
including those living closest to Grantham and District Hospital 

Page 100



15 
 

• Support for proposal was most commonly based on the view that a local 24-hour UTC is 
preferable to a limited-hours A&E department that is not able to meet the needs of all patients. 

• Disagreement with the proposal was most commonly based on the view that anything less than 
a fully equipped and staffed Emergency Department would be unacceptable - rather than a 
desire for services to remain unchanged. 

• Where concerns were raised in feedback about particular groups (e.g., older people, people 
with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas), the focus was 
predominantly on travel and transport - particularly for those with limited access to private 
transport. 

• Evidence that residents with disabilities or long-term health conditions that limited their day-to-
day activities a lot, were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely to disagree) with 
proposals than other residents (although there was still majority agreement) – concerns were 
about travel and access to alternative sites and the need for local acute emergency services at 
all hospitals 

 

Acute medical beds 

There was broad agreement with the proposal for community/acute medical beds, seen by many 
as an opportunity to better integrate hospital and community services to benefit patients 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May2022 

 

There was majority support for the proposals to provide integrated community/acute medical beds 
across all stakeholder and consultation strands. Of note, however, is evidence of a level of uncertainty 
about the proposal, with many consultation respondents indicating that they neither agreed nor 
disagreed with the proposals, or that they felt unable to provide a view. It is reasonable to assume that 
this may reflect a lack of familiarity with acute medical beds among respondents and residents compared 
to the other acute services addressed in the consultation. 

Just over three fifths (62%) of NHS employees in the open questionnaire agreed with the proposals to 
provide integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, with fewer than one 
in five (18%) expressing disagreement.  

There was also majority agreement from other individual questionnaire respondents (53%), with just 
under a quarter (24%) disagreeing. As noted above, among NHS staff and other individuals who took 
part in the questionnaire, between one fifth and a quarter of respondents neither agreed nor disagreed 
with this proposal. 

Over three quarters (78%, +/- 6%) of Lincolnshire residents expressed support for the proposals, with 
around one in ten (11%) disagreeing and a similar proportion (12%) neither agreeing nor disagreeing. 

Page 101



16 
 

Views on the proposal to provide integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

 

In summary, the feedback on the acute medical bed change proposal identified: 

• Supported across staff consultation questionnaire responses and telephone survey – still 53% 
of ‘other individual’ questionnaire responses supported 

• Recognition of benefits such as patients seen quicker, more efficient care, with patients being 
discharged more quickly while continuing to receive treatment and care in their communities – 
particularly for frail/elderly people 

• Concerns expressed around overall bed numbers, costs, staff shortages, capacity within 
primary and social care services and cost to implement 

 

 

Stroke services 

There was also majority support for the proposal to create a Centre of Excellence for acute and 
hyper-acute stroke at Lincoln County Hospital, supported by an enhanced community stroke 
rehabilitation service across the consultation as a whole; however views did vary somewhat 
across different areas in Lincolnshire 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

 

More than half (53%) of NHS staff responding to the consultation questionnaire agreed with the proposal 

for stroke services, while approximately two fifths (39%) disagreed. This was also the case with other 

individual respondents to the questionnaire, half of whom expressed agreement (51%) and just over a 

third (38%) disagreed. 

 

Among Lincolnshire residents, there was more support for the proposed changes; approximately three 

quarters (72%, +/- 6%) of residents agreed with the proposal, with a little over one in five (22%) 

expressing disagreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



17 
 

Views on the proposal to a Centre of Excellence at Lincoln County Hospital offering both a hyperacute 
stroke unit and an acute stroke unit to deliver care for the county’s patients, supported by an enhanced 
community stroke rehabilitation service (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone 
survey, by stakeholder type) 

 
 

There is evidence that concerns about the proposals for stroke services are strongest among those living 

nearest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston. This is most particularly marked in the questionnaire responses, in 

which more than two thirds (69%) of all individual respondents living closest to Pilgrim Hospital 

expressed disagreement with the proposal, compared to just over a quarter (27%) who agreed. 

 

The residents telephone survey, by contrast, indicates that there is majority support from the overall 

resident population, including among those living closest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston, where more than 

two thirds (69%) agree with the proposals. 

 

There was nonetheless also evidence of concern; more than a quarter (27%) of Boston residents 

disagreed with the proposals to provide a Centre of Excellence for stroke services at Lincoln County 

Hospital with Pilgrim Hospital in Boston no longer delivering specialist stroke services. 

 

In summary, the feedback on the stroke service change proposal identified: 

• Supported across consultation questionnaire responses and telephone survey  

• Concerns about proposals are strongest among those living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital in 
Boston - this is most particularly marked in the questionnaire responses 

• Residents telephone survey indicates that there is majority support among the resident 
population, including among those living closest to Pilgrim Hospital Boston. 

• Agreement with the proposals for stroke services on grounds of increasing expertise, improving 
quality of care and outcomes and likely tackle many of the challenges faced. 

• Disagreement with the proposals comes largely from Boston residents, with concerns about 
loss of ‘life-saving’ services and concerns about time to get to other stroke units  

• Concerns the proposal could widen health inequalities and negatively impact patient access as 
services would be removed from a deprived area. 

• Some indication that residents with disabilities that limit their activities a lot were also less likely 
to agree, and more likely to disagree. with this proposal, compared to other residents (although 
there was still majority agreement). 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



18 
 

7. Public Involvement since the consultation closed   
 

There is a legal requirement for NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups to involve the public during the 
decision-making process and for this purpose the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Involvement Champions and 
Healthwatch were engaged. 

Involvement Champions 
 
The NHS Lincolnshire CCG Involvement Champions are individuals from a variety of backgrounds who 
wish to work with the NHS to support their community / groups’ voices to be heard. There is currently 
representatives from a breadth of the county’s diverse population, such as a young person, military and 
mental health, East Coast, carer, cancer service user, campaigner and GP receptionist as well as others. 
During the consultation they supported the CCG by reviewing the consultation plan and identifying any 
gaps, promoting the opportunities to get involved, putting posters up in their local area, sharing emails 
with their groups and encouraging people to complete the questionnaire etc. 
 
As well as supporting the CCG with activities such as displaying posters and sharing the consultation 
information with their networks, the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Involvement Champions were integral to the 
review of the consultation findings and emerging themes. In order for them to undertake a confidential 
review, they were provided with the full draft independent report on the consultation findings from ORS 
together with the themed feedback.  

A subsequent meeting was held to enable the Involvement Champions to share their thoughts on 
whether the feedback theming included everything in the report that they would expect to see, identified 
all of the key pieces of feedback or information that they would expect to be responded to and if there 
was anything they felt had been missed. Discussions also included their thoughts on the consultation 
report in general and suggestions for how we could communicate the findings of the consultation and 
CCG Board decision extensively.  

 
Healthwatch Lincolnshire 
 

Healthwatch Lincolnshire were also involved in reviewing the full draft independent report on the 
consultation findings from ORS. Healthwatch circulated this to their volunteers to undertake a readability 
and ‘plain English’ review of the document and to their steering group to gain an organisational 
perspective on the draft findings. 

All feedback was taken into consideration during discussions with ORS and development of the final 
report. 

 
 

8. Approach to review of service change proposals following consultation 

Following the end of the public consultation there has been an extensive programme of work to review 
the findings of the public consultation and ensure conscientious consideration of the feedback, ahead of 
final decision-making on the change proposals.  

Central to this review process has been the theming of the feedback received through the public 
consultation for each of the four change proposals and the establishment of subject matter expert 
working groups to consider and respond to each theme. An example of Grantham UTC is provided 
below. 

Page 104



19 
 

 

Subsequently feedback consideration documents were developed for each of the themes by the relevant 

subject matter experts as summarized in Chapter 5 of the DMBC and detailed in DMBC Appendix F. 

These were developed jointly from colleagues across the Lincolnshire NHS including United Lincolnshire 

Hospitals NHS Trust, Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust, General Practice and East 

Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust.  

This process was overseen by the Consultation Steering Group, with weekly meetings being held with 

the key organisational leads to review progress, assess the depth of response and ensure collaboration 

was undertake in the consideration of the feedback.  

Responses relating directly to the four clinical directorates were signed off by steering group for each 

proposal and the Trust Leadership Teams at United Lincolnshire Hospital and Lincolnshire Community 

Health Services NHS Trust. 

 

9. Clinical Directorate and NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Policies Sub- Group 

A joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group was 
established to co-ordinate the clinical consideration and ensure quoracy of the CCG Clinical Policies 
Sub-Group was maintained, whilst facilitating appropriate engagement of clinical leaders within the 
Lincolnshire system. A series of three meetings took place in April 2022 which focused on the process 
(14 April 2022) and each of the proposed changes to the four service areas (UEC and Acute Medicine, 
21 April 2022; Orthopaedics and Stroke Services, 28 April 2022).   

The ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group were asked to assess the 
change proposals, in light of the feedback received through the public consultation that took place 
September to December 2021 and subsequent consideration given to this, against the following 
criterion:- 

• Quality 

• Clear clinical evidence base 

• Access 

Page 105



20 
 

Following a lengthy debate, the outcome of the assessment against the criteria is outlined in chapters 
six, seven, eight, nine of the DMBC. 

 

 

10. CCG Quality and Patient Experience Committee  

The Extraordinary QPEC meeting on 12th May 2022 focused on receiving a report in relation to the 
assessment of the quality; clear clinical evidence base; and access elements of the Acute Services 
Review (ASR).  The proposed changes related to the following four service areas: 

• Urgent & Emergency Care (UEC) 

• Acute Medicine 

• Orthopaedics (elective and non-elective)  

• Stroke Services 

Members were asked to endorse the process undertaken by the Joint ICS Clinical and Care Directorate 
and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group to consider the quality; clear clinical evidence base; and access 
elements of the ASR proposed changes to the four service areas, following feedback from the public 
consultation. This process included consideration of the Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) and Quality 
Impact Assessments (QIA) that were revised following the public consultation. 

Members were also asked to endorse the outcome of the assessment of the ASR proposed changes to 
the four service areas, undertaken by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group. 

Members considered each proposal and the feedback from the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and 
CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group meeting and agreed to: 

• Endorse the process undertaken. 

• Endorse the outcome of the assessment of the ASR proposed changes to the four service areas. 

 

Quality Impact Assessment 

QIA documents for each of the proposed changes were included in the papers reviewed by QPEC and 
formed part of the assessment undertaken by the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group.  

A request was made for review of risk scoring for 3 of the 4 QIAs (UEC; Acute Medicine; and 
Orthopaedics) presented to the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group. 
Whilst this had been undertaken at the time of QPEC it should be noted the proposed revised scoring for 
Orthopaedics was is still in the process of being confirmed with the service area lead. The draft revised 
scoring for Orthopedics included in the papers for QPEC has since been confirmed as the QIA risk 
scoring. 

There are a few elements of the QIAs that identify moderate risk of 9, however, majority of the risk 
scoring is in the very low risk/low risk categories. Where there are moderate risks identified the clinical 
case for change was considered appropriate to managing the presenting risk factors. 

 

Equality Impact Assessment 

EIA documents for each of the proposed changes were presented to the joint ICS Clinical and Care 

Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group which formed part of the assessment.  

 

 

 

 

Page 106



21 
 

There were themes from the EIAs for all 4 proposed service changes regarding feedback through the 

public consultation about particular groups (e.g. older people, people with disabilities, those from more 

deprived communities or living in rural areas) and the focus was predominantly on travel and transport, 

particularly for those with limited access to private transport. The consultation feedback also included a 

number of comments and concerns related to travel requirements for carers and visitors, as well as for 

patients themselves.  

 

However, there was also consideration of some benefits such elderly or frail patients receiving quicker 

treatment and more timely discharge back into the community (Orthopaedics; Acute Medicine). 

 

It was not appropriate for the joint ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-

Group meeting to identify specific solutions relating to travel and transport, however, the information 

within the EIAs was considered within the context of the clinical case for change and the 3 criterion of 

Quality; Clear Clinical Evidence Base; and Access. 

 

Members of the Joint ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group meeting 

were satisfied that relevant areas of impact were identified and addressed within all QIA/EIA documents 

presented, recognising this will continue to be reviewed through implementation planning and in to ‘go 

live’ if the change proposals are agreed. 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 
 

                      
 
 

    BOARD MEETING – PUBLIC 
 
 

Date of Meeting: 25th May 2022 Agenda item: 12c 

 

Title of Report: 
Decision Making Business Case on four of Lincolnshire’s NHS 
services 

Report Author: 
Pete Burnett, System Strategy and Planning Director 
Tom Diamond, Associate Director of Strategy 

Lead Director(s): CCG Executive 

Accountable Officer: John Turner, NHS Lincolnshire CCG Chief Executive 

Attachments: 

Appendix 1 – Acute Services Review Decision Making Business Case 

Appendix 2 – Appendices to the Acute Services Review Decision 
Making Business Case  

 

1. Purpose of the Report (including link to objectives) 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval for changes to four of Lincolnshire’s NHS services 
as presented in the Decision Making Business Case (DMBC). 

These changes have been developed under the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review (ASR) 
Programme and are recommended by the Chief Executive of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG, with the 
support of the CCG Executive. 

As the Consulting Authority, the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board is asked to approve key changes 
to the configuration of four NHS services. 

 

2. Background 

On the 29 September 2021 the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board agreed to proceed to a period of 
public consultation on the proposals, as set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case, relating 
to four NHS services: 

• Orthopaedics  

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke Services 

This Decision Making Business Case is a technical document that follows the Pre Consultation 
Business Case (PCBC) and completion of the public consultation exercise. 

The public consultation, which ran from 30 September to 23 December 2021, enabled a robust 
and detailed dialogue with an extensive range of stakeholders.  

 

Page 109



 

2 

 

Listening to the views of those that responded to the consultation and working with partners 
across the Lincolnshire health system to consider the feedback has enabled the Chief Executive 
of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG, supported by the CCG Executive, to recommend proposals that: 

• Deliver better outcomes and quality of care for patients 

• Reduce waiting times to receive care 

• Make it easier for staff to provide the best possible care to patients 

• Make services more attractive so they can recruit and retain great staff dedicated to high 
quality care.  

• Better use NHS funds, reducing spend on temporary staff 

 

3. Recommendations  

It is recommended that the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board approve the proposed service changes: 

• Recommendation 1: Orthopaedics 

o Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to 
establish a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire. 

o Establish a dedicated day-case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned 
orthopaedic surgery. 

• Recommendation 2: Urgent and Emergency Care 

o Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to become a 24/7 Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTC). 

• Recommendation 3: Acute Medicine: 

o Develop integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital, in place of the current acute medical beds. 

• Recommendation 4: Stroke Services 

o Consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital 
site, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service. 

 

4. Finance, QIPP and Resource Implications 

The financial and resource implications are presented in the Decision Making Business Case, 
these have been reviewed and agreed by the System Finance Leaders Group. 

 

5. Legal/NHS Constitution Considerations 

Legal advice was taken in relation to the PCBC, public consultation and completion of the DMBC. 
The main pieces of law that are applicable are the NHS Act 2006, as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, and the Equalities Act 2010. A full legal review of the DMBC in consideration 
of the applicable law has been undertaken and confirms that the NHS Lincolnshire CCG has 
shown due regard to its duties.  

Due regard means giving appropriate consideration in the circumstances. The duty should be 
exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that it influences the final 
decision.  

 
 
 

Page 110



 

3 

 

6. Analysis of Risk including Assessments 

Key risks associated with the proposed changes are included in the Decision Making Business 
Case. 

If the change proposals are agreed these will be reviewed and developed further through 
implementation. An implementation risk register would be developed and managed by the relevant 
implementation group and it is proposed these would be overseen by an Implementation Oversight 
Group (IOG) made up of NHS commissioners and providers. 

Please state if the risk is on the CCG Risk Register. 
 Yes  No  

 

7. Outcome of Impact Assessments 

The proposed service changes will deliver improvements in the quality of care and support 
reductions in health inequalities by delivering more equitable access to timely specialist 
interventions proven to improve patient outcomes. 

The impact of the proposed service changes on protected characteristics has also been 
considered. The potential positive and negative impacts are the same for all groups, however 
the age, disability and economically disadvantaged groups have been identified as possibly 
being more likely to be impacted: 

• Potential positive impacts have been identified in terms of improved care and outcomes, 
including more people benefiting from highly specialised interventions. 

• Potential negative impacts have been identified related to access to services. Mitigations 
to support patients potentially impacted by the service change proposals have been 
included in the business case. 

 

8. Outline engagement – clinical, stakeholder and public/patient 

Significant engagement with all stakeholder groups has occurred throughout all stages of the ASR 
Programme, covering: 

• Broad engagement 

• Pre-consultation engagement 

• Public consultation  

A full public engagement process was led by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG engagement team. 
Proposals have been subject to formal public consultation in line with the NHS Act 2006, as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  

 

9. Assurance Departments/Organisations who will be affected have been consulted 

Insert details of the departments you have worked with or consulted during the process: 

Finance √ 

Commissioning √ 

Contracting √ 

Medicines Optimisation   

Clinical Leads  √ 

Quality  √ 

Safeguarding   

Other  √ 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 111



 

4 

 

10. Management of Conflicts of Interest 

None identified 

 

11. Report previously presented at: 

Not applicable 

 

12. For further information or for any enquiries relating to this report, please contact 

lccg.asr-enquiries@nhs.net  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

5 

 

Decision Making Business Case on four of Lincolnshire’s NHS services 

 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to present the NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Board (CCG) with 
the Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) for specific changes to four of Lincolnshire’s NHS services, 
which have been developed under the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review (ASR) programme. 

As the Consulting Authority, the CCG Board is asked to approve key changes to the configuration of 
four NHS commissioned services. 

 

2. Background 

The Lincolnshire population is served by a number of acute hospital trusts, however the United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) is by far the largest provider in terms of the number of 
residents covered. The viability and long-term sustainability of services within ULHT is therefore critical 
to the provision of acute care services to the residents of Lincolnshire.  

ULHT provides services from hospital sites located in Lincoln, Boston and Grantham plus a fourth 
smaller site at Louth. 

The geographical distance is considerable between these hospital sites, and the acute services provided 
at each have evolved over many years to try to best meet the needs of their local population. 

However this has led to a number of services becoming increasingly ‘fragile’ and struggling to be 
sustainable over a lengthy period of time with no obvious solution in the short to medium term, which has 
a consequence for service failure. 

Key factors underpinning services becoming increasingly unstable and more challenging to sustain are: 

• Vacancies and reliance on agency and locum staff 

• Rota duplication across two or three sites 

• Traditional workforce dependent on Doctors versus Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs) 

Which in turn results in: 

• Poorer quality care and patient outcomes 

• Longer waiting times for patients to be seen 

• Delays for patients to receive treatment 

• Clinical staff being over-stretched  

• Higher financial costs incurred in an attempt to sustain clinical care 

Acute service provision across Lincolnshire therefore needs to find the optimal configuration across the 
county to maximise clinical, operational and financial sustainability. 

In August 2017 the leaders of the Lincolnshire health system agreed the need for a review of the current 
configuration of acute health services in the county. 

The full scope of this review, known locally as the Acute Services Review (ASR), covered eight services; 
Acute Medicine, Breast, General Surgery, Haematology & Oncology, Orthopaedics, Stroke, Urgent & 
Emergency Care, Women’s and Children’s.  

The aim of the ASR Programme was defined as a programme to develop a set of recommendations on 
the optimal configuration of acute hospital services across Lincolnshire to maximise clinical, operational 
and financial sustainability. 

Page 113



 

6 

 

In November 2018 a Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was submitted to NHS England for 
assurance, which set out a preferred option for the future configuration of all eight services within the scope 
of the ASR Programme. This business case identified a capital requirement of c.£52m (priced in 2018) to 
enable the proposed changes.  

Through the first half of 2019 the availability of capital to enable the proposed service changes set out in 
the business case submitted to NHS England looked evermore unlikely.  

In light of this, in November 2019 the Lincolnshire health system agreed to go into a ‘production line’ 
approach to progress the proposed service changes identified through the ASR Programme. 

This approach was adopted to minimise delays to the delivery of patient benefits for those service change 
proposals that, if agreed, could be progressed with no/minimal capital or where sufficient capital could be 
secured for specific service changes. 

Following consideration of the eight services within the scope of the ASR Programme, four services were 
agreed as the focus for a revised Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), the first under the production 
line approach: 

• Orthopaedics  

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke  

The PCBC details the work completed by the Acute Services Review (ASR) Programme and sets out 
recommendations on the proposed options for service change in the four areas set out above, including 
the identification of a preferred option. 

Since the establishment of the ASR Programme, key elements around evidence development and 
assurance have been carried out including: 

• Development of a case for change, new clinical models and potential solutions for review and 
consideration. 

• Patient, public and stakeholder engagement: 

o The NHS in Lincolnshire has undertaken a wide variety of engagement programmes across 
the county, with a diverse range of staff, public and stakeholders. 

o This dialogue has been continuous since prior to the publication of the first Sustainability 
Transformation and Partnership (STP) five-year plan in 2016, and has played a pivotal role 
in developing the case for change, guiding and shaping the vision and underpinning the 
ASR planning process. 

o Engagement on the ASR Programme falls into three phases: 

▪ Broad engagement (2018) 

▪ Options engagement (2018) 

▪ Pre-consultation engagement (2019) 

o In March 2019 ‘Healthy Conversation 2019’ was launched, which was an open engagement 
exercise to shape how the NHS in Lincolnshire takes health care forward in the years 
ahead. This included pre-consultation engagement on the emerging options for all eight 
services in the Acute Services Review and ran through to October 2019. 

o Discussions of proposals with the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire.  

• Development and ongoing refinement of a Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) exploring the 
options for change. 

Page 114



 

7 

 

• An assessment of the options for change, including a clinically-led stakeholder workshop and four 
workshops with members of the public. 

• Regulatory and best practice assurance, including: 

o Two reviews of proposals by the East Midlands Clinical Senate. 

o Submission of the PCBC for regional regulatory assurance. 

o Independent assurance process by the Consultation Institute. 

• National assurance approval of the PCBC. 

The PCBC was approved by the CCG Governing Body on 29 September 2021 and it was agreed to 
proceed to a period of public consultation on the proposals as set out in the PCBC. 

This Decision Making Business Case is a technical (DMBC) document that follows the Pre Consultation 
Business Case (PCBC) and completion of the public consultation exercise. 

The public consultation, which ran from 30 September to 23 December 2021, enabled a robust and 
detailed dialogue with an extensive range of stakeholders and resulted in 3,044 questionnaire responses 
and 402 telephone surveys. 

An independent organisation (Opinion Research Services) was commissioned to provide an independent 
analysis and report of the feedback received through the public consultation. (Appendix C of the DMBC).  

The overarching conclusion of this independent analysis was there is broad support across all elements 
of the consultation for the need for change, and overall agreement with each of the four proposals. 

There were however, two proposals where slightly more concerns were raised, and there was evidence 
of differing views between those living in different areas of Lincolnshire: 

• A slight majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Grantham and District 
Hospital disagreed with the urgent and emergency care proposal 

• A majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston 
disagreed with the proposal relating to stroke services 

Some equalities concerns were raised about or by particular groups or communities. They focused on 
travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private transport. Specific groups 
mentioned in this regard included: older people; people with disabilities and long-term conditions and co-
morbidities; people living in rural and isolated communities, areas of deprivation or with low incomes; 
people living with disabilities and neurodiverse people. 

Listening to the views of those that responded to the consultation and working with partners across the 
Lincolnshire health system to consider the feedback has enabled the Chief Executive of the NHS 
Lincolnshire CCG, supported by the CCG Executive, to recommend proposals that: 

• Deliver better outcomes and quality of care for patients 

• Reduce waiting times to receive care 

• Make it easier for staff to provide the best possible care to patients 

• Make services more attractive so they can recruit and retain great staff dedicated to high quality 
care.  

• Better use NHS funds, reducing spend on temporary staff 

This feedback and the further consideration and evidence compiled following the public consultation in 
response to it, together with the evidence contained within the PCBC, and have been brought together 
into a Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) which is put before the Board for decision. 

 

 

Page 115



 

8 

 

3. Recommendations 

Specifically, this DMBC document sets out the ask for the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board, as the 
Consulting Authority, to approve key changes to the configuration of four NHS commissioned services 
across Lincolnshire.  

This document and the recommendations within it have been underpinned by a clinically led review and 
evaluation process which considered the evidence collated in the Pre Consultation Business Case 
(PCBC), feedback received through the public consultation and the considerations of subject matter 
expert working groups to the consultation feedback received. 

The NHS Lincolnshire CCG is grateful for all the feedback received and it fully acknowledges both the 
support and concerns for the four change proposals. Following an extensive programme of work to 
review the findings of the public consultation and ensure conscientious consideration of the feedback, 
the overarching conclusion of the subject matter expert groups and wider clinical leaders from across the 
county was the change proposals consulted on were still supported. 

However, as set out in detail in the DMBC and highlighted here, through the review and consideration of 
the feedback a number of actions have been identified for implementation across all four services if the 
change proposals are agreed. 

It is recommended by the Chief Executive of NHS Lincolnshire CCG, supported by the CCG Executive, 
that the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board approve the following proposed service changes: 

• Recommendation 1: Orthopaedics 

o Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to establish a 
‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire. 

o Establish a dedicated day-case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic 
surgery. 

• Recommendation 2: Urgent and Emergency Care 

o Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to become a 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre 
(UTC). 

• Recommendation 3: Acute Medicine 

o Develop integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in 
place of the current acute medical beds. 

• Recommendation 4: Stroke Services  

o Consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, 
supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service. 

It should be noted that: 

• The CCG Board is not bound by the recommendations or conditions put forward in this Decision 
Making Business Case. The CCG Board can choose to support, reject or amend the 
recommendations as members see fit. 

• The proposals have been built on a solid base of clinical evidence and have been through rigorous 
clinical testing throughout the duration of the programme.  

• The proposals have heard, considered and responded to the themes that emerged from public 
consultation.  

• The proposals are assured by the East Midlands Clinical Senate. 

• The proposals are recommended in order to improve patient outcomes and deliver against national 
clinical guidance.  

 

Page 116



 

9 

 

The recommendations for each of the four services is set out below, together with an overview of key 
areas of consultation feedback, considerations given and identified actions if the change proposals are 
agreed.  The full extent of consultation feedback, the consideration given and resulting conclusions and 
actions of the subject matter expert working groups should be read in full and can be found in the DMBC 
and its appendices. 

 

Orthopaedics 

Recommendation 

Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to establish a ‘centre of 
excellence’ in Lincolnshire, and establish a dedicated day-case centre at County Hospital Louth for 
planned orthopaedic surgery. This reflects the orthopaedics pilot arrangements: 

• Outpatients clinics would be unaffected. 

• This would mean Grantham and District Hospital would not provide unplanned orthopaedic 
surgery. 

• Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston would continue to provide unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery, and some planned orthopaedic surgery for high risk patients with multiple 
health problems, which is comparatively small in volume. 

The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care (as demonstrated through the 
orthopaedics pilot evaluation) through:  

• Reduced waiting times for planned orthopaedic surgery, which mean patients get seen quicker 

• Reduced cancellations on the day of planned surgery due to a lack of beds 

• Reduced length of stay following planned orthopaedic procedures (including United Hospitals 
Lincolnshire NHS Trust (ULHT) outperforming many other hospitals) 

• Reduced numbers of Lincolnshire patients going to the private sector (often out of county) for 
planned orthopaedics procedures, funded by the local NHS 

• Improvements in overall patient experience and satisfaction 

• Removal of need for temporary staff to cover vacancies and services are more attractive to staff 
which supports long term sustainability 

This has been evidenced further by ULHT currently being one of the best performing trusts in the 
midlands region in relation to waiting times for orthopaedics and providing ‘mutual aid’ to neighbouring 
trusts to support delivery of elective orthopaedic waiting lists. 

The concerns raised by the public during the consultation in relation to unforeseen emergencies during 
planned procedures and the negative impacts on the quality and timeliness of emergency orthopaedic 
care are acknowledged, and were considered and reviewed by orthopaedic service leads as well as 
wider system clinical leads. 

From an elective procedure perspective clinical review and discussions confirmed that since the pilot 
started in 2018 there has been only one patient who required transfer due to a post operation 
complication to Lincoln County Hospital, due to a suspected thrombolism, which demonstrated how 
robust the selection criteria for patients is. 

With regards to emergency orthopaedic care it was confirmed by orthopaedic service leads that at the start 
of the pilot trauma lists were kept at Grantham and District Hospital as part of the model, however it was 
evidenced over time that these were not being utilised. Minor trauma cases that can be appropriately 
discharged home to have a semi-planned operative procedure on a later day at Grantham are, thereby 
keeping orthopaedic trauma patient transfers to a minimum.  

 

Page 117



 

10 

 

Any additional demand on the emergency orthopaedic theatre lists at Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston is offset by theatre time freed up by the elective orthopaedic care going to Grantham and 
District Hospital and County Hospital Louth.  

The concerns raised by the public during the consultation regarding increased travel and equity of 
access in a large rural county (particularly for groups such as older people, people on low incomes, 
those without access to private vehicles and people with disabilities) for planned orthopaedic procedures 
are acknowledged and were considered and reviewed by orthopaedic service leads as well as wider 
system clinical leads. 

The conclusion of these considerations by clinical leads was the change proposals support timeliness of 
access. In addition it was identified: 

• Currently patients actively choose to travel to other providers out of the county and the travel to 
the proposed orthopaedic model for Lincolnshire is no different to these, and therefore it is not a 
barrier to access. 

• In terms of the patient pathway, patients will only have to travel once for the procedure and the 
pre and post-operative clinics will be at their local provider . Whereas if patients go out of county 
to the independent sector then pre and post-operative clinics will also be out of the county. 

• More patients can receive their care in Lincolnshire. 

• No formal complaints have been made during the orthopaedics pilot in relation to travel and 
transport. 

• Non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for 
eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend for treatment at hospitals 
that are further away from their home and for the discharge from these hospitals. 

• Working in partnership with all partners, particularly Lincolnshire County Council, to support and 
improve travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the widest sense is 
required, not just in relation to the four proposed services changes. 

• The implementation of digital and virtual appointments will contribute to limiting the number of 
journeys. 

It was recognised that for a small proportion of people who provided feedback through the consultation 
that the timeliness of ambulance response was a concern. East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 
has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate 
the impact of the proposed care models. The business case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed changes on current ambulance response times. 

The change proposal for orthopaedics is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads, who 
also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal is agreed: 

• A roadmap needs to be developed to ensure the vision of a ‘centre of excellence’ is fully realised 

• Opportunities should be identified to increase the volume of planned orthopaedic activity at 
Grantham and District Hospital as this will further support the development of a ‘centre of 
excellence’ 

• Need to make sure there is not a distillation of orthopaedic skills at different sites in Lincolnshire  

 

 
 
 

 

Page 118



 

11 

 

Urgent and emergency care 

Recommendation 

Establish a 24/7 walk-in Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital: 

• This would be in place of the current Accident & Emergency (A&E) department. 

The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care through:  

• 24/7 walk in urgent care would return to Grantham and District Hospital through a high quality 
service delivered in a sustainable way for the long term 

• The vast majority of patients seen at Grantham and District Hospital A&E department would 
continue to be treated at the 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) 

• The UTC would provide greater accessibility due to increased opening hours compared to the 
current A&E arrangements (currently closed between 6.30pm and 8.00am). 

• The UTC would support better integration with primary care and community services and the 
provision of care closer to home 

• For a small number of patients (estimated to be around to be around 2 patients a day on 
average) currently attending the Grantham and District Hospital A&E who wouldn’t be able to 
have their care needs met by the UTC, care would be received at an alternative site with the right 
facilities and expertise to ensure better clinical care outcomes 

• Making sure patients get to the definitive treatment, first time whether that be Grantham and 
District Hospital or an alternative site. 

• Reducing the number of intra hospital transfers from Grantham and District Hospital to another 
site, so demonstrating that the patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time.  

The concerns raised by the public during the consultation in relation to the conditions that would be 
treated at a 24/7 UTC and that Grantham and District Hospital should have a ‘full’ Type 1 A&E and 
supporting hospital service provision area acknowledged. These have been considered and reviewed by 
urgent and emergency care service leads as well as wider system clinical leads. 

In relation to the conditions that would be treated at a 24/7 UTC, clinical leads identified and agreed a 
number of key conclusions and actions for implementation if the change proposal is agreed: 

• Grantham and District Hospital has had an exclusion criteria in place since 2007/08, and 
following its introduction patients with suspected heart attack, acute cardiology, surgical issues, 
multiple trauma, suspected stroke and a number of other conditions have been taken by the 
ambulance service straight to neighbouring hospitals where more specialised services are 
located. This exclusion criteria is well understood by the local healthcare system including 
primary care, community providers and the ambulance service. 

• Under the proposed service change proposal the UTC would still have the ability to manage all 
presentations, including those requiring stabilisation and transfer to an alternative hospital with 
the right skills and expertise, as it does now. 

• For the small number of patients that are currently seen by the A&E service that would receive 
their care at an alternative site, they would have a National Early Warning Score (NEWS) of ≥7 
and a frailty score <5, and likely have an acute medical condition (e.g. severe sepsis, severe 
respiratory conditions), acute cardio syndrome or a complex trauma. This anticipated impact 
would be kept under ongoing review. 

 

 

 

Page 119



 

12 

 

• A comprehensive communication plan would be rolled out for members of the public to make 
sure local residents are made fully aware of what services the 24/7 UTC would be able to 
provide. This will include a public facing document that clearly lists conditions that can be 
managed at the proposed 24/7 UTC, and be explicit about the red flags that should prompt 999 
and includes information about diagnostics. This communication plan would be developed in line 
with the national requirement of the ‘NHS 111 First’ initiative. 

• In addition, all relevant health and care providers including 111, East Midlands Ambulance 
Service Trust (EMAS), primary care and community providers need to be engaged and 
information provided detailing the full list of exclusion criteria for Grantham and District Hospital 
under the change proposals. 

• When working up the detailed staffing model and rotas there needs to be: 

o Ongoing review and alignment of staffing model and ambulance conveyance 
arrangements for the Grantham and District Hospital site; and 

o Ongoing review of staffing models to ensure right staff skill mix is available and competent 
to stabilise and transfer patients whatever the condition that presents  

• There needs to be ongoing review of ambulance transfer protocols and ensure clear process is in 
place, including risk assessment and mitigations. 

With regards to Grantham and District Hospital having a ‘full’ Type 1 A&E and supporting hospital 
service provision, following a thorough review (of national guidelines and standards, independent clinical 
advice, current service provision, population growth data and the experiences of other health systems) 
the clinicians reaffirmed that a number of combining factors lead to the conclusion that a type 1 A&E 
department at Grantham and District Hospital that provides a full range of ‘unselected’ care and is 
supported by the required core set of specialties is not feasible. These are: 

• The required staffing levels for a Type 1 A&E department and those specialities with clinical 
interdependencies that enable the ongoing provision of safe care; 

• The availability of doctors and nursing to staff these services in a sustainable manner; 

• The required scale of provision for these services to ensure staff maintain and continue to 
develop their skills and be attractive to staff to work in; and 

• Even when considering the forecast growth for Grantham and the surrounding area, there will still 
not be sufficient scale to safely and sustainable deliver this level of care. 

This review confirmed that the proposed service change is in line with national clinical guidance i.e. 
network arrangements where some acute hospitals (Lincoln County and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston) 
provide a broader range of specialist services to a larger population ‘unselectively’ and some (Grantham 
and District Hospital) providing a narrower range of services to a smaller population ‘selectively’ and 
work in close partnership with adjacent services to access specialist services not available on site. 

From a clinical view it was identified that the population of Grantham and the surrounding areas has 
access to the services in the whole County, and implementing a Type 1 A&E in Grantham may harm 
more people than save, and splitting limited resources across multiple sites and services is not 
appropriate as there is a need for specialism to be concentrated in certain areas. 

It is acknowledged that there are concerns about ambulance conveyance, including risk to life as a result 
of increased travel time. Clinicians have carefully considered this issue and identified: 

• Under the current exclusion criteria, patients from Grantham and the surrounding areas with 
serious conditions such as heart attack, acute cardiology and suspected stroke and already taken 
straight to neighbouring hospitals where more specialised services are located. This exclusion 
criteria is well understood by the local healthcare system including primary care, community 
providers and the ambulance service. 

 

Page 120



 

13 

 

• Under the proposed model of a 24/7 UTC at Grantham and District Hospital the exclusion 
criterion for the Grantham Hospital site would be refined, meaning a relatively small number of 
patients (2 a day on average) currently attending the A&E, would not in the future. Most of these 
are likely to travel by ambulance to an alternative site given their condition. 

• Two key foundations of the proposed care model are to: 

o Make sure patients get to the definitive treatment, first time whether that be Grantham 
and District Hospital or an alternative site. 

o Reduce the number of intra hospital transfers to another site, so demonstrating that the 
patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time.  

• The benefits of patients getting definitive treatment first time and the improved outcomes 
associated with this are seen to out-weigh the potential increases in ambulance travel time to 
alternative sites. 

East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect to be 
able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. The business 
case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of the proposed changes on current ambulance 
response times. 

The concerns raised by the public during the consultation regarding travel and transport (particularly  
older people, people with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas) are 
acknowledged and were considered and reviewed by urgent and emergency care service leads as well 
as wider system clinical leads. 

The challenges with the current county wide transport infrastructure were acknowledged by health 
system leads and key mitigations identified if the change proposal if agreed are: 

• A high degree of confidence the changes will be fully and appropriately supported by EMAS. 

• Non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for 
eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend hospitals 

• Working in partnership with all partners, particularly Lincolnshire County Council, on wider 
transport plans 

• Ensuring a clear and comprehensive communication plan with the public in terms of access 
routes and conditions treated by the proposed service 

The change proposal for urgent and emergency care is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical 
leads, who also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal is 
agreed: 

• This is as much about a change in nomenclature as it is change from the current service 
provision. Communication with the public about the conditions that can be treated at the 
proposed service is key. 

• A key requirement during the implementation phase would be to ensure the identified service 
provider has the capability to deliver the proposed model of care. This would need to be done in 
accordance with existing NHS contract and procurement regulations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



 

14 

 

Acute medicine 

Recommendation 

Establish integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the 
current acute medical beds. 

The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care through:  

• Delivering a balance between access and sustainable long term outcomes for acute medicine 
services at Grantham and District Hospital. 

• Supporting the majority of patients that currently receive Acute Medicine care at Grantham 
Hospital to do so in future, only c.10% of high complexity patients would be cared for at another 
hospital with the right facilities and expertise to ensure the best outcomes. 

• Enabling Grantham Hospital to offer services which may not be offered elsewhere and build a 
centre of excellence for integrated multi-disciplinary care, particularly for frail patients. 

• Delivers a more comprehensive service provision at Grantham Hospital, specifically in relation to 
the ‘frail’ population, thereby reducing pressure on acute sites in Lincoln & Boston. 

• Grantham Hospital acts as a hub for supporting community teams and community services 
across the county, and improves accessibility to specialist advice for primary care and 
community-based teams 

• Supports improved community-based management of long term conditions and reduced length of 
stay in hospital beds 

• Supports a more sustainable medical and nursing workforce through new and innovative care 
models that offer sustainability, role variety and greater integration across pathways. 

Key concerns raised by the public during the consultation that are acknowledged include: 

• Placing elderly needs out of a secure hospital environment supported by specialist consultants or 
moving them to alternative hospital sites requiring considerable journeys with associated risk 

• Adequate staffing, cost of implementing the changes and increased workload required 

• Negative impacts on the quality of care provided, and the potential for increased pressure on 
other hospitals. 

• Grantham and District Hospital should be a fully serviced hospital with acute medical beds. 

These were considered and reviewed by the acute medicine service leads and wider system clinical leads. 

Clinical and operational leads confirmed the service change proposal is to establish integrated 
community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the current acute medical 
beds. The integrated community/acute medical beds would be delivered through a partnership model 
between a community health care provider and United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust. The care of 
patients would still be led by consultants (senior doctors) and their team of doctors, practitioners, therapists 
and nursing staff. Workforce modelling for the Pre Consultation Business case identified an increased 
workforce requirement to deliver the proposed model of care. 

It is anticipated this change would affect around 10% of those patients currently receiving care in the acute 
medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital. This is equivalent to 1 patient a day, on average. These 
patients would receive care at an alternative hospital with the right skills and facilities to ensure the best 
possible outcome.  

 

 

 

Page 122



 

15 

 

System leads confirmed there are no changes in the beds available on the site for medical inpatients. 
Retaining current provision is essential to supporting stabilisation of the wider health system. However, 
ensuring only those that require an admission and reducing length of stay and delayed transfers of care 
will be a priority, thereby supporting a greater patient cohort. The proposed integrated community/acute 
medical beds would continue to be supported by a Level 1 bed function on the Grantham and District 
Hospital site that would support medical patients requiring escalation. 

Clinical leads confirmed there are a number of combining factors that lead to the conclusion that it is not 
feasible for the Grantham and District Hospital to be a fully services hospital with acute medical beds (see 
urgent and emergency care section). 

It was also acknowledged that the East Midlands Clinical Senate strongly supported the proposed model 
– identifying it delivers a balance between access and sustainable long term outcomes for acute medicine 
services -  and there is a strong clinical evidence base for it. Clinical leads identified the ongoing 
development of Integrated Care Systems and the advent of Primary Care Networks makes it stronger.   

It was recognised that there are some concerns about an additional impact on East Midlands Ambulance 
Service (EMAS) to transfer people to the nearest hospital with an acute bed, and it was confirmed EMAS 
has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate 
the impact of the proposed care models. The business case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed changes on current ambulance response times. 

It is acknowledged that in the public consultation feedback there were few comments related to potential 
impacts on any specific demographic groups, with the exception of a small number of comments 
reiterating concerns about travel and access for groups without access to private transport. 

It is also acknowledged that several respondents, including some NHS staff members, felt that the 
proposed move to integrated community/acute medical beds would benefit older and more frail patients 
by better integrating acute and community care for those patients who need the latter. 

Positively in the consultation feedback, it was said that patients would be seen quicker, resulting in more 
efficient care, and they would benefit further by being discharged back into their community more 
quickly. Elderly or frail patients were highlighted as particularly benefiting from this. 

In terms of access, clinical leads identified a distinction needs to be drawn between these proposals and 
those for urgent and emergency care as these are based on admitted patients. It was reiterated the 
proposals would support repatriation of patients from Grantham and the surrounding areas so they can 
receive care closer to home and, if implemented, there is a need to ensure alignment with wider system 
strategies for addressing digital poverty whilst exploring opportunities such as virtual wards. 

It was also confirmed non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be able to provide 
transport for eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend hospitals and 
ongoing joint working was required with Lincolnshire County Council on wider transport plans to continue 
to support those not eligible for patient transport. 

Clinical leads confirmed that if the change is agreed, then key requirements for the implementation and 
delivery are: 

• Detailed workforce planning to ensure the model attracts and retains the right workforce, and 
governance/accountability arrangements are clear between partner organisations delivering care 

• Existing bed capacity is optimised and cohorts extended in line with detailed workforce planning 

The change proposal for acute medicine is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads, who 
also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal is agreed: 

• Need to ensure recruitment to the model focuses on the whole workforce, irrespective of the 
stage of their career. 

• The proposed model has to look to reach outside of the Grantham area and provide support to 
patients further afield. 

Page 123



 

16 

 

Stroke services 

Recommendation 

Establish a ‘centre of excellence’ for hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital 
site. This would be supported by increasing the capacity and capability of the community stoke 
rehabilitation service: 

• This would mean hyper-acute and acute stroke services are no longer provided from Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston. 

• Transient ischaemic attack (TIA) clinics would be unaffected at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

The CCG Executive have confirmed (which has been informed through the temporary service change to 
consolidate hyper-acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site in light of Covid-19) the 
proposal result in improved care through: 

• Tackling significant workforce shortages and challenges in stroke by concentrating specialist 
stroke and multi-disciplinary skills and expertise 

• Reducing heavy reliance on locums by increasing chances of recruiting to substantive roles and 
having to spread staff across two sites 

• Improved achievement against national stroke standards 

• Enabling a critical mass for a stroke unit well above recommended levels 

• Improved alignment with clinical interdependencies – Lincolnshire Heart Centre and Mechanical 
Thrombectomy services at Queens Medical Centre (QMC) in Nottingham 

Key concerns raised by the public during the consultation that are acknowledged, and were considered 
and reviewed by the stroke service leads and wider system clinical leads relate to: 

• Increased travel times to Lincoln County Hospital for emergency stroke care  

• Concerns the proposal could widen health inequalities and negatively impact patients access as 
services would be removed from a deprived area. 

Following thorough consideration by clinical leads from across the health system it was confirmed that it 
is the overall time from event to treatment by a skilled and dedicated workforce that can provide high-level 
Consultant led 7-day provision that has the greatest impact on quality of care and outcomes, not travel 
time. Faster access to high quality diagnosis and treatment at the acute site can offset longer travel times. 

It was also confirmed that time spent in an ambulance can still be used to support the treatment of patients. 
Since the start of the temporary service change, a good joint working model has been established between 
ambulance paramedics and stroke Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs) at Lincoln Hospital to review 
previous medical history and decision for treatment commences as soon as patients arrives at hospital. 

It was acknowledged that East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) has been fully engaged in the work 
and fully expect to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care 
models. The business case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of the proposed changes 
on current ambulance response times. It was also noted that the Lincolnshire division of EMAS has the 
most efficient on scene time of all East Midlands divisions/counties helping to reduce overall call to 
definitive treatment timescales 

Through the clinical consideration it was also acknowledged that the consolidation of cardiology services 
on the Lincoln County Hospital site to concentrate capacity, skills and expertise, in a similar way proposed 
for stroke, has demonstrated improvements in outcomes for all Lincolnshire residents. 

 

 

 

Page 124



 

17 

 

Using the experience of the temporary service change of consolidating hyper-acute services on the Lincoln 
County Hospital site clinical leads have given thorough consideration to the impact this has had on the 
quality of care received by patients. This confirmed that: 

• In 2021 Lincoln County hospital was one of the highest performing sites nationally in terms of 
national stroke performance standards. 

• Patients from the Boston Hospital catchment area have been seen and scanned quicker, had more 
access to thrombectomy and were, on average, discharged sooner (compared to before the 
temporary change) 

The Lincoln Hospital stroke service was able to deliver this level of performance whilst under a huge 
amount of operational pressure. 

A conclusion of the clinical considerations was the temporary change to consolidate hyper-acute stroke 
care on the Lincoln County Hospital site has shown thrombolysis can be achieved providing a first-class 
service to stroke patients in the County regardless of where they live and that this is predicated on having 
the best expertise on one site that is clinically supported based on the evidence. 

Through the clinical discussions it was confirmed that key factors contributing to the performance at Lincoln 
County Hospital was the stroke service on-call Advanced Care Practitioner workforce and co-location with 
cardiology services. 

Co-location with the heart unit also has the benefit of using the Cath lab facilities to directly access acute 
imaging thus bypassing A&E and further reducing door to needle time/angiogram time. 

The stroke team at Lincoln Hospital has also developed an excellent working relationship with the Queens 
Medical Centre (QMC) Nottingham thrombectomy team, and became one of the best referring sites in the 
region. 

Since the service started in 2018 and up to April 2020, Lincoln Hospital had referred 19 patients for the 
procedure in Nottingham, compared to a single patient from the Boston Hospital site within the same 
timeframe. In 2021, 14 patients from the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment area went to Nottingham for 
thrombectomy and 19 from the Lincoln County Hospital catchment area. This helps to emphasise the 
importance of team work in improving stroke care, and demonstrates the net benefit to more patients going 
to a single, better staffed site.  

During the clinical discussions it was noted that the thrombectomy time frame has been extended to 
anything between 16 and 24 hours depending on the centre that takes the patient. Therefore, if a patient 
presents at Lincoln County Hospital and they have just missed the thrombolysis an angiogram can be 
undertaken and the patient transferred to Nottingham much quicker due to a refinement of the system over 
the last two years.  

The clinical discussions confirmed the public’s concerns about patients travelling further need to be 
recognised and, if the change is agreed, a communication and education strategy on the proposals, how 
to recognise stroke symptoms and how to access care needs to be put in place This should include a 
targeted, local bespoke communication and education strategy with a specific focus on the deprived areas 
with the longest travel times. 

Concerns raised through the public consultation relating to stroke service staffing, particularly a single 
site at Lincoln County Hospital, and capacity at Lincoln County Hospital are acknowledged. As are the 
suggestion put forward to maintain two hyper-acute stroke units in Lincolnshire or consolidate hospital 
stroke services on the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston site. 

Consideration by clinical leads confirmed the proposed service change to consolidate hyper-acute and 
acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital is supported by a workforce model that would see an 
increase in specialist stroke staff at Lincolns County Hospital, and ensure the unit is staffed according to 
agreed national guidelines for medical, nursing and allied health professional staff.  

 

Page 125



 

18 

 

It was confirmed the capacity required at Lincoln County Hospital to meet the needs of the population 
have been developed based on analysis of demand and application of clinically evidence based 
assumptions with regards to pathways of care and outcomes for patients. The outputs of the proposed 
bed capacity model have been tested through sensitivity analysis. 

It was acknowledged that through the proposal development process the workforce demand of multiple 
sites was considered against the supply of specialist workforce and ability to deliver consistent, equitable 
high quality care to all patients in Lincolnshire. This was re-considered following the consultation 
feedback and concluded the proposal to consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke care at Lincoln 
County Hospital was the best possible option to deliver consistent care for all and make the best use of 
available workforce. 

A single site can be staffed more effectively as currently there is not enough work for two centres, and if 
there is not the critical mass of patients it is unlikely that the organisation will be attractive to recruit and 
retain staff.  

Previous considerations of the rationale for consolidating stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital 
Site as opposed to the Boston Hospital, Pilgrim site were revisited and reaffirmed by clinical leads: 

• Co-location with the heart centre supports an optimal front door service as it enables access to 
more important time critical interventions and has the benefit of using the Cath lab facilities to 
directly access acute imaging thus bypassing A&E and further reducing door to needle time. 

• At Lincoln there is an established Advanced Care Practioner (ACP) service and pathway that was 
noted as a regional example of excellence by a Getting It Right First Time (GIRFT) review. 

• Excellent working relationship with the Queens Medical Centre (QMC) Nottingham thrombectomy 
team, Lincoln County Hospital has become one of the best referring sites in the region. 

• Experience has shown it is easier to recruit to Lincoln County Hospital compared to Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston 

• More Lincolnshire residents would receive their care out of the county if stroke services were 
consolidated on the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston site rather than at Lincoln Hospital.  

Alternative suggestions put forward through the public consultation for stroke rehabilitation are also 
acknowledged. During the clinical discussions it was identified that approximately 49% of stroke patients 
are discharged from hospital within seven days. It was confirmed there is a very wide spectrum of 
rehabilitation needs for stroke patients and hospital is not the best place for a majority of these patients. 
The best place for rehabilitation is in the patient’s own home and they can progress with the right level of 
support, the longer a patient stays in hospital the more deconditioned the patient becomes and is more 
dependent 

The rehabilitation element was acknowledged as an important part of the whole process and the 
proposed Centre of Excellence is crucial to the development of community services.  

It was acknowledged there are examples in other areas of healthcare where professions are worked 
across different pathways in order to achieve the right skill set, and this approach is being explored for 
the proposed stroke community rehabilitation model. 

It was acknowledged the proposed community stroke model will attract staff bringing in a higher skilled 
workforce which will ultimately improve the patient outcomes and develop the multidisciplinary team 
approach. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 126



 

19 

 

The change proposal for stroke is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads, who also 
identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal is agreed: 

• Need to ensure there is a robust and effective needs assessment prior to discharge that identifies 
the most appropriate location for rehabilitation.  

• Need to ensure the enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service is: 

▪ Properly resourced to provide a high quality service and support appropriate discharge from 
hospital 

▪ Fully integrated with the hospital based stroke service to ensure safe discharge and 
appropriate skills development across the whole pathway 

▪ Considered in the context of a virtual ward model 

 

Travel and transport 

It is acknowledged that feedback on the consultation on the four service change proposals has identified 
travel and transport as a significant concern for patients and the public, as well as the Health Scrutiny 
Committee (HSC) for Lincolnshire. 

This concern was generally expressed in terms of: 

• The effect of the proposed changes on the ability of patients and their family/carers to access 
services that may be at a more distant site than currently. 

• Hospital discharges in the evening or overnight when public transport tends not to operate creating 
an additional challenge for people without their own transport. 

A Travel and Transport Report has been considered which contains an assessment of the current 
situation together with a set of enablers to help mitigate the impact of the proposed service changes on 
access. These enablers are:  

• Emergency and Urgent Transport 

• Non-Emergency Patient Transport 

• Other Transport 

Comments received from the consultation feedback indicated concerns about the impact on the 
ambulance service of the additional journey times associated with the proposals in the ASR. EMAS have 
been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed care models. EMAS have confirmed they are able to accommodate the additional 
small demand on their services. 

Non-emergency patient transport (NEPTS) is provided for patients who meet the nationally set eligibility 
criteria for NHS funded patient transport services.  This means Lincolnshire residents who meet the 
eligibility criteria receive free transport in the following situations; patients who are going to hospital for 
outpatient appointments, diagnostics, treatment or for admission, and for patients who are eligible for 
transport from hospital following outpatient, diagnostic appointments, daycase or inpatient care and 
treatment.   

Non-emergency patient transport services will continue to be offered and provide transport for all eligible 
patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at 
hospitals that are further away from their home and for discharge from these hospitals.  

The Lincolnshire health system is committed to using any revisions arising from the implementation of 
the national criteria, including any flexibility in those criteria, to the full for the benefit of patients in 
Lincolnshire.  

 

Page 127



 

20 

 

The patient transport service is also required to signpost patients who do not meet the eligibility for 
patient transport to alternative transport providers.  

Th ‘other transport’ category presents the most complex area for consideration as it covers transport and 
travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to provide.   

Through the work completed to consider the travel and transport feedback received during the 
consultation it was identified a number of solutions already exist and strengthening the current 
arrangements is seen as central to tackling the challenges. 

Opportunities to strengthen current arrangements include:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including engagement 
with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working in partnership with all partners, particularly Lincolnshire 
County Council, to support and improve travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the 
widest sense, not just in relation to the four proposed services changes.  

This is being actively considered with the County Council and continuing to tackle this challenge is a 
priority for the Lincolnshire health system.  

Irrespective of whether the change proposals are agreed the NHS in Lincolnshire will continue to work 
with Lincolnshire County Council and ensure joint working groups and forums are in place to improve 
travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the widest sense.  

If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work between the NHS and Local Authority will be 
informed further through the monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on those groups with 
protected characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This would include analysis and 
assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying mitigations. 

 

4. Financial and resource implications 

The economic and financial analysis has been developed by the Lincolnshire Integrated Care System 
(ICS) finance team, working with the relevant service leads and reporting to the ICS Financial Leaders 
Group (FLG). This group is chaired by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Director of Finance.  

Detailed financial planning was undertaken for the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), and since 
its production the following activities have been undertaken: 

• Updates to the financial context within which the Lincolnshire health system is operating 

• Re-validation of the clinical model workforce requirements 

• Consideration of the responses to consultation feedback by working groups to understand financial 
impact 

• Review and update of financial risks 

• Updated financial projections  

 

 

Page 128



 

21 

 

The four services in the scope of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) are forecast to deliver a 
financial benefit of c.£1.9m in total by the time all the service changes are in place. 

The table below provides a summary of the financial impact by service. 

Service Cost of Current 
Service £k 

Cost of Proposed 
Service £k 

Difference £k 

Orthopaedics 32,358 28,320 4,038 

A&E/UTC 4,540 3,878 662 

Acute Medical Beds (Inc Ambulatory Care) 8,620 8,875 -255 

Stroke Pathway 11,662 13,219 -1,557 

Financial Impact of Service Change 57,180 54,292 2,888 

Contingency for additional Patient Transport - 1,000 -1,000 

Overall Financial Impact 57,180 55,292 1,888 

 

Three of the proposed service changes can be achieved without capital requirements, the one area that 
will require estates reconfiguration and associated capital is the consolidation of stroke services on the 
Lincoln County Hospital site, through the construction of an extension to the existing unit. Current cost 
estimates for this estates solution are £7.5m. 

Following completion of the public consultation and consideration of the feedback the Lincolnshire ICS 
FLG re-assessed the affordability of the financial case for the four change proposals from financial 
sustainability and best use of capital resource perspectives. 

The FLG has concluded that since preparing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there has been no 
material change in the proposals or the assumptions underpinning financial sustainability of the 
proposals. There are risks to the overall deliverability of the DMBC and they are set out in summary in 
the table below together with mitigations. 

 

Risk Mitigation 

Delivery of financial benefit attributable to the 
replacement of interim and agency staff in the 
new models of care 

Service stability and certainty along with improvements in the 
medical and nursing roles offered 

Orthopaedics – pilot has demonstrated positive benefits in 
relation to establishing a sustainable workforce 

Repatriation of orthopaedics activity from the 
independent sector to improve utilisation of 
ULHT’s cost base 

Supported by the current pilot model, ULHT is one of best 
performing trusts in the region relating to waiting times for 
orthopaedics  

Rise in inflation causing the cost of capital 
projects to exceed previous estimates 

Initial estimates of impact of cost increases show an 
immaterial impact on revenue consequences 

If change proposals are agreed all capital planning 
assumptions would be reviewed as part of developing a Full 
Business Case (FBC) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

22 

 

5. Legal implications 

The NHS Lincolnshire CCG has taken legal advice throughout the Acute Services (ASR) Programme, 
including the following key points: 

Date Advice provided 

March 2021 Full review of Pre-Consultation Business Case and appendices 

August 2021 – May 2022 
Advice on governance for decision making, public consultation and requirements 
in relation to the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire  

May 2022 Full review of Decision Making Business Case and appendices 

 

The table below outlines the legal duties that are applicable to the ASR and explains how the ASR 
Programme, the NHS Lincolnshire CCG and the proposals contained in the Decision Making Business 
Case (DMBC) have complied with those duties.  This assessment has been completed independently by 
Capsticks Solicitors LLP. 

It should be noted that the Health and Care Bill is currently passing through Parliament and includes 
significant changes to the legislation in respect of NHS commissioning. However, at the time that the 
Governing Body considers the DMBC the main duties that apply to the CCG are contained in the NHS 
Act 2006 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012, and the Equalities Act 2010. Those 
duties will broadly continue to apply to Integrated Care Boards when they replace CCGs later in 2022. 

Where the CCG is required to comply with duties to “have due regard” this involves a conscious 
approach and state of mind. The CCG cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been 
taken. The duty should be exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that 
it influences the final decision.  

 

Legal Duty Evidence of compliance 

NHS Constitution 

 

Section 14P of the NHS Act imposes a duty 

upon CCGs both to exercise their functions 

with a view to ensuring that health services are 

provided in a way that promotes the NHS 

Constitution and to promote awareness of the 

Constitution among staff, patients and the 

public. 

A summary of how the change proposals promote the key 
principle of the NHS Constitution is outlined below: 

1. The NHS provides a comprehensive service, 
available to all:  

The change proposals improve consistent access to 
high quality healthcare for those in need of treatment.  

2. Access to NHS services is based on clinical need, 
not an individual’s ability to pay:  

No restrictions will be placed on access to services 
based on an ability to pay.  

3. The NHS aspires to the highest standards of 
excellence and professionalism:  

Development of the change proposals has been 
clinically led and been based on establishing best 
practice clinical models based on the available clinical 
evidence. The change proposals have been scrutinised 
and supported by the East Midlands Clinical Senate.  

4. The patient will be at the heart of everything the 
NHS does:  

There has been extensive involvement of the public 
throughout the process to date.  

Page 130



 

23 

 

5. The NHS works across organisational boundaries:  

The change proposals seek to bring organisations 
together to work in a more integrated way to provide 
better care 

6. The NHS is committed to providing best value for 
taxpayers’ money:  

The Lincolnshire NHS Financial Leaders Group has 
overseen the financial and economic aspects of the 
change proposals to ensure they are providing the best 
value for taxpayers’ money 

7. The NHS is accountable to the public, communities 
and patients that it serves: 

Opportunities have been provided for the public and 
local elected members to provide input into the 
programme of work throughout its development 

 

Duty to exercise functions effectively, 

efficiently and economically 

 

By section 14Q of the NHS Act each CCG 

must exercise its functions effectively, 

efficiently and economically. 

• The change proposals look to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of how services are delivered. How 
the recommendations contribute to this are detailed in 
Chapters 2 to 5 of the Decision Making Business Case 
(and associated appendices). 

• Chapters 6 to 10 describe the approach to decision 
making, including the quality, access, clinical evidence 
base and affordability criterion and the assessment 
against these 

• Chapter 11 provides the detailed financial assessment 
of change proposals 

• Chapter 16 sets out the anticipated benefits that will be 
realised by proposed changes 

Duty to secure improvement of service  

 

Section 14R of the NHS Act places CCGs 

under a duty to exercise their functions with a 

view to securing continuous improvements in 

the quality of services provided to individuals 

for or in connection with the prevention, 

diagnosis or treatment of illness.  

 

Quality of services comprises in particular 

outcomes which show effectiveness, safety 

and patient experience. 

• The change proposals look to improve services for the 
local population. How the recommendations contribute 
to improved effectiveness, safety and patient experience 
are detailed in Chapters 2 to 5 of the Decision Making 
Business Case (and associated appendices). 

• Chapters 6 to 10 describe the approach to decision 
making, including the quality, access and clinical 
evidence base criterion and the assessment against 
these 

• Appendix G sets out the Quality Impact Assessments 
(QIAs) 

• Appendix J sets out the recommendations of the East 
Midlands Clinical Senate 

• Appendix L sets out the statements of support from 
providers 

Duty to reduce inequalities  

 

Section 14T of the NHS Act provides  that 

CCGs must, in the exercise of their functions, 

have regard to the need to:  

• The change proposals look to promote more consistent 
access to high quality care. How the recommendations 
contribute to reducing inequalities are detailed in 
Chapters 2 to 5 of the Decision Making Business Case. 

Page 131



 

24 

 

 

(i) reduce inequalities between patients with 

respect to their ability to access health 

services; and  

(ii) reduce inequalities between patients with 

respect to the outcomes achieved for them by 

the provision of health services. 

 

• Chapters 7 to 10 set out analysis of change proposals 
including assessment against quality, access and 
clinical evidence base criterion 

• Appendix G and H set out the Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIA) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs) 

• The proposals will affect patient access to healthcare, 
with some patients having to travel further to access 
services. Chapter 5 of the Decision Making Business 
Case summarises the mitigations and conclusions in 
respect of travel and transport, and Appendix I sets out 
the Travel and Transport Report.    

Duty as to patient choice  

 

Section 14V of the NHS Act imposes a duty on 

CCGs, in the exercise of their functions, to act 

with a view to enabling patients to make 

choices about aspects of the health services 

provided to them. 

• Chapters 7 to 10 set out analysis of change proposals 
including assessment against choice criterion 

• Appendix M sets out the CCG’s statement in relation to 
choice 

 

Duty to promote integration  

 

Section 14Z1 of the NHS Act states that the 

CCG must exercise its functions with a view to 

securing that services are provided in an 

integrated way where this would improve the 

quality of the services, reduce inequalities in 

respect of access or reduce inequalities in 

outcomes. 

• The change proposals look to promote integration. How 
the recommendations drive integration to improve the 
quality of services and reduce inequalities in respect of 
access and outcomes  is detailed in Chapters 2 to 5 of 
the Decision Making Business Case (and associated 
appendices) 

• Chapters 7 to 10 set out the analysis of change 
proposals including assessment against quality, access 
and clinical evidence base criterion 

• Appendix G and H sets out the Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs) 

• Appendix L sets out the statements of support from 
providers 

 

6. Risk implications 

Key risks associated with the proposed changes, and mitigations to these, are included in the Decision 
Making Business Case. If the change proposals are agreed these will be reviewed and developed further 
through implementation. An implementation risk register would be developed and managed by the 
relevant implementation group and it is proposed these would be overseen by an Implementation 
Oversight Group (IOG). As part of its establishment its relationship with existing Integrated Care System, 
commissioner and provider governance arrangements would be confirmed. 

It is anticipated that the Implementation Oversight Group (IOG) would comprise a core membership of 
senior clinicians and officers from NHS commissioners and providers and service users. As required by 
the matters under consideration, relevant service implementation group leads would be invited to attend 
the IOG to discuss progress. 

The organisations impacted by the changes and the NHS Lincolnshire CCG would continue to monitor 
the entirety of the core quality schedule through an established infrastructure in order to ensure that 
there is no unplanned adverse impacts in any areas of care provision. 

Page 132



 

25 

 

 

7. Implications for equalities and health inequalities 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is included in Appendix H of the Decision Making Business Case. 

 

8. Implications for public involvement 

A comprehensive engagement process has underpinned the Acute Services Review Programme,  
engaging clinicians, provider organisations and the local population. 

A robust consultation exercise was undertaken between 30 September and 23 December 2021 to 
seek public responses to the change proposals to four NHS services.  

Appendix A of the DMBC provides the communication and consultation activity report and Appendix 
C provides the independent report on the consultation responses.  

 

9. Next steps 

Up to this point the ASR Programme has developed with significant public involvement. If the 
change proposals are agreed, further engagement and scrutiny will continue to be sought, both 
leading up to, and as part of, the implementation process. This will help to ensure that the service 
changes and improvements proposed meet the needs of the Lincolnshire population.  

If the service changes outlined in this business case are agreed by the Board of the NHS 
Lincolnshire CCG, they will be commissioned through contractual processes and be subject to 
procurement where appropriate. 

Implementation will be driven by the responsible provider organisations, with commissioning support 
where necessary.  

Health system partners have been fully engaged all the way through the process allowing for 
smooth implementation whilst the CCG functions transfer to the Integrated Care Board (ICB) which 
is expected from July 2022. 

The ICB will oversee the strategic commissioning of the new model of care and implementation of 
the service changes, as the new NHS commissioning authority for the Lincolnshire health system. 

 

10. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Acute Services Review Decision Making Business Case 

Appendix 2 – Appendices to the Acute Services Review Decision Making Business Case  

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

                                                                      

Decision Making Business Case 

 

Lincolnshire Integrated Care System 

Acute Services Review: 

• Orthopaedics (elective and non-elective) 

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke Services 

 

 

DMBC version 2. 0     May 2022 

 

      

 

 

Page 135



 

 2 

Document Control Sheet 
 

Document Title Decision Making Business Case - Lincolnshire Integrated Care System 
Acute Services Review: 

• Orthopaedics (elective and non-elective) 

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke Services 

Version  2.0 

Status For approval by NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board in public 

Date 19 May 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 

 3 

Contents 

Purpose of the document 8 

Document status 9 

1 Executive summary 10 
1.1 Background 10 
1.2 Recommendations 12 
1.3 Orthopaedics 13 
1.4 Urgent and emergency care 15 
1.5 Acute medicine 18 
1.6 Stroke services 20 
1.7 Travel and transport 23 
1.8 Financial and resource implications 25 
1.9 Next steps 26 

2 Introduction 27 
2.1 Background 27 
2.2 Local and national context 27 
2.3 Overview of process to date 29 
2.4 Broad engagement 30 
2.5 Pre-consultation engagement 30 
2.6 The Pre Consultation Business Case 31 
2.7 Independent expert advice and assurance 36 
2.8 Decision to proceed to consultation 36 

3 Public Consultation 37 
3.1 Overview of consultation 37 
3.2 Overview of consultation process 38 
3.3 Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 42 

4 Overview of Public Consultation Findings 43 
4.1 Introduction 43 
4.2 The need for change 44 
4.3 Orthopaedic surgery 44 
4.4 Urgent and emergency care 47 
4.5 Acute medical beds 51 
4.6 Stroke services 54 
4.7 Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 59 

5 Addressing the themes from consultation 65 
5.1 Introduction 65 
5.2 Orthopaedic proposal 66 
5.3 Urgent and Emergency care proposal 70 
5.4 Acute Medicine proposal 87 
5.5 Stroke proposal 94 
5.6 Travel and transport 110 
5.7 Consultation arrangements 113 
5.8 Conclusion 114 

6 Approach to decision making on service change proposals following consultation 115 
6.1 Overview 115 
6.2 Local considerations for service reconfiguration 116 
6.3 National tests for reconfiguration 117 
6.4 Service change proposal assessment 117 

7 Orthopaedics – analysis of proposal following consultation to inform decision-making 121 
7.1 Overview 121 
7.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 121 
7.3 Access 123 
7.4 Affordability 127 
7.5 Deliverability 127 
7.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 128 

Page 137



 

 4 

7.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 129 
7.8 Support from clinical commissioners 129 
7.9 Bed closures 130 

8 Urgent and Emergency Care – analysis of proposal following consultation to inform decision making 131 
8.1 Overview 131 
8.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 131 
8.3 Access 133 
8.4 Affordability 137 
8.5 Deliverability 137 
8.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 138 
8.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 139 
8.8 Support from clinical commissioners 140 
8.9 Bed closures 140 

9 Acute Medicine – analysis of proposal following consultation to inform decision making 141 
9.1 Overview 141 
9.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 141 
9.3 Access 143 
9.4 Affordability 146 
9.5 Deliverability 146 
9.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 147 
9.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 148 
9.8 Support from clinical commissioners 149 
9.9 Bed closures 149 

10 Stroke – analysis of proposal following consultation to inform decision making 150 
10.1 Overview 150 
10.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 150 
10.3 Access 152 
10.4 Affordability 156 
10.5 Deliverability 156 
10.6 Patient and Public Support 158 
10.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 159 
10.8 Support from clinical commissioners 159 
10.9 Bed closures 160 

11 Economic and financial analysis 161 
11.1 Introduction and background 161 
11.2 System financial context 161 
11.3 Orthopaedics 162 
11.4 Urgent and Emergency Care 164 
11.5 Acute Medicine 165 
11.6 Stroke services 166 
11.7 ASR financial summary 168 
11.8 Financial Projections 2022/23 – 2025/26 169 
11.9 Financial risks 170 

12 Workforce 172 
12.1 Introduction 172 
12.2 Retention 172 
12.3 Rotations 173 
12.4 Role consistency and standardisation 173 
12.5 Clinical and management governance 173 
12.6 Workforce implementation 174 

13 Digital 175 
13.1 Overview 175 
13.2 Future state 175 

14 Governance and decision-making, and recommendations to the CCG Board 177 
14.1 Overview 177 

Page 138



 

 5 

14.2 Timeline 177 

15 Recommendations to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board 179 
15.1 Overview 179 
15.2 Recommendation 1: Orthopaedics 179 
15.3 Recommendation 2: Urgent and emergency care 179 
15.4 Recommendation 3: Acute medicine 179 
15.5 Recommendation 4: Stroke services 179 

16 Implementation 180 
16.1 Implementation governance 180 
16.2 Orthopaedics 181 
16.3 Urgent and emergency care 182 
16.4 Acute medicine 183 
16.5 Stroke 184 
16.6 Implementation risks 186 
16.7 Neighbouring health systems 187 

17 Conclusion 189 
 

 

Figures 

Figure 1 – Summary of financial impact .................................................................................................................................... 25 
Figure 2 – Summary of financial risks and mitigations ............................................................................................................... 26 
Figure 3 – Lincolnshire health and care system’s purpose, ambitions and priorities .................................................................. 28 
Figure 4 – Alignment of service change proposals to national NHS Long Term Plan ................................................................ 29 
Figure 5 – Overview of process to date ..................................................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 6 – Overview of Healthy Conversation 2019 approach ................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 7 – Orthopaedics: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits as set out in the PCBC ....... 32 
Figure 8 – Urgent and emergency care: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits as set out in the 

PCBC ............................................................................................................................................................................. 33 
Figure 9 – Acute medicine: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits as set out in the PCBC .... 34 
Figure 10 – Stroke: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits as set out in the PCBC ................ 35 
Figure 11 – Overview of specific groups contacted during the public consultation ..................................................................... 39 
Figure 12 – Overview of public consultation response .............................................................................................................. 41 
Figure 13 – Views on the need for change to respond to challenges in delivering NHS services in Lincolnshire (from the 

consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) .......................................................... 44 
Figure 14 – Views on the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at Grantham and District Hospital for Lincolnshire’s 

patients to receive planned and day care orthopaedic surgery, with a dedicated day case centre at County Hospital 
Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by 
stakeholder type) ........................................................................................................................................................... 45 

Figure 15 – Orthopaedics: Overview of the feedback on proposal ............................................................................................ 46 
Figure 16 – Views on the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre at 

Grantham and District Hospital (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder 
type) ............................................................................................................................................................................... 47 

Figure 17 – Views on the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre at 
Grantham and District Hospital (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by closest hospital)
 ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 48 

Figure 18 – Urgent and emergency care: Overview of feedback ............................................................................................... 50 
Figure 19 – Views on the proposal to provide integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital (from 

the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) .................................................... 52 
Figure 20 – Acute medicine: Overview of feedback................................................................................................................... 53 
Figure 21 – Views on the proposal to a Centre of Excellence at Lincoln County Hospital offering both a hyper-acute stroke unit 

and an acute stroke unit to deliver care for the county’s patients, supported by an enhanced community stroke 
rehabilitation service (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) .......... 55 

Figure 22 – Views on the proposal to a centre of Excellence at Lincoln County Hospital offering both a hyper-acute stroke unit 
and an acute stroke unit to deliver care for the county’s patients, supported by an enhanced community stroke 
rehabilitation service (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by closest hospital) ............ 56 

Figure 23 – Summary of the feedback themes for the stroke proposal ...................................................................................... 57 
Figure 24 – Overview of feedback from Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee ...................................................................... 63 
Figure 25 – Proposed Grantham and District Hospital acuity model .......................................................................................... 73 
Figure 26 – Comparison of activity between Grantham A&E and temporary UTC ..................................................................... 75 
Figure 27 – Royal College of Emergency Medicine ED size definitions ..................................................................................... 78 

Page 139



 

 6 

Figure 28 – Royal College of Emergency Medicine ED staffing guidelines ................................................................................ 79 
Figure 29 – ‘Full’ Grantham and District Hospital A&E staffing based on RCEM guidelines ...................................................... 79 
Figure 30 – Grantham and South Kesteven population projections ........................................................................................... 81 
Figure 31 – Ambulance travel times for wards closest to Grantham and District Hospital .......................................................... 83 
Figure 32 – Proposed Grantham and District Hospital acute medicine service .......................................................................... 89 
Figure 33 – Comparison of outcomes for patients from Pilgrim, Boston Hospital before and after the temporary change to 

consolidate hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital ............................................................................... 96 
Figure 34 – PCBC modelling - Displaced stroke activity and impact on travel times ................................................................ 100 
Figure 35 – PCBC: Pilgrim Hospital, Boston Stroke Summary 2015/16 vs 2019/20 comparison ............................................. 101 
Figure 36 – Ambulance journey time to receiving hospital by old Lincolnshire CCG footprints ................................................ 102 
Figure 37 – Average ‘time left scene to arriving at hospital’ and ‘call connect to handover’ – based on all journeys between 01 

May 2020 and 31 December 2021 to Lincoln County Hospital ...................................................................................... 103 
Figure 38 – Comparison of modelled destination hospital in PCBC and actual destination hospital during temporary change . 104 
Figure 39 – Comparison of outcomes for patients from Pilgrim Hospital, Boston before and after the temporary change to 

consolidate hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital ............................................................................. 106 
Figure 40 – Overview of analysis to inform DMBC recommendations ..................................................................................... 115 
Figure 41 – Local criteria for Acute Services Review (ASR) .................................................................................................... 116 
Figure 42 – National tests for service reconfiguration .............................................................................................................. 117 
Figure 43 – Methodology for assessment against local criteria for reconfiguration .................................................................. 118 
Figure 44 – Methodology for assessment against national criteria for reconfiguration ............................................................. 119 
Figure 45 – Overview of assessment against national and local criteria for service change proposal ...................................... 120 
Figure 46 – Orthopaedics: Overview of assessment against criteria ....................................................................................... 121 
Figure 47 – Orthopaedics: Quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base criterion - Key comments from the joint meeting of 

the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ................................................................... 123 
Figure 48 – Orthopaedics: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and mitigations ................................... 125 
Figure 49 – Orthopaedics access criterion: Key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and 

CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ................................................................................................................................. 126 
Figure 50 – Urgent and emergency care: Overview of assessment against criteria ................................................................. 131 
Figure 51 – Urgent and emergency care: Quality and clear clinical evidence base criterion - Key comments from the joint 

meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group .................................................. 133 
Figure 52 – Urgent and emergency care: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and mitigations............. 135 
Figure 53 – Urgent and emergency care access criterion: key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care 

Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ........................................................................................................ 136 
Figure 54 – Acute medicine: Overview of assessment against criteria .................................................................................... 141 
Figure 55 – Acute medicine: quality and clear clinical evidence base criterion - key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS 

Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ................................................................................ 142 
Figure 56 – Acute medicine: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and mitigations ................................ 144 
Figure 57 – Acute medicine access criterion: key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and 

CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ................................................................................................................................. 145 
Figure 58 – Stroke: Overview of assessment against criteria .................................................................................................. 150 
Figure 59 – Stroke: quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base criterion: Key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS 

Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group ................................................................................ 151 
Figure 60 – Stroke: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and mitigations .............................................. 153 
Figure 61 – Stroke access criterion: Key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 

Clinical Policies Sub Group .......................................................................................................................................... 155 
Figure 62 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change - Grantham and District Hospital .............................................. 163 
Figure 63 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – County Hospital Louth .......................................................... 163 
Figure 64 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – Pilgrim Hospital, Boston ....................................................... 163 
Figure 65 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – Lincoln County Hospital ........................................................ 164 
Figure 66 – Financial impact of total Orthopaedic services changes ....................................................................................... 164 
Figure 67 – A&E/UTC existing service model Vs proposed service model .............................................................................. 165 
Figure 68 – Acute medical beds existing service model vs proposed service model ............................................................... 166 
Figure 69 – Stroke service existing service model vs proposed service model ........................................................................ 167 
Figure 70 – Comparison of modelled destination hospital in PCBC and actual destination hospital during temporary change . 168 
Figure 71 – Financial impact of ASR following full impact of service changes ......................................................................... 168 
Figure 72 – Breakdown of future savings by category ............................................................................................................. 168 
Figure 73 – Profiled financial impact of service changes ......................................................................................................... 169 
Figure 74 – Interim/Agency savings sensitivity analysis .......................................................................................................... 171 
Figure 75 – Key aims of change proposals ............................................................................................................................. 172 
Figure 76 – Digital support to change proposals ..................................................................................................................... 175 

Page 140



 

 7 

Figure 77 – Overview of governance and decision making ..................................................................................................... 177 
Figure 78 – Overview of governance and decision making timeline ........................................................................................ 178 
Figure 79 – Orthopaedics: Initial benefits plan ........................................................................................................................ 182 
Figure 80 – Urgent and emergency care: High level implementation plan ............................................................................... 182 
Figure 81 – Urgent and emergency care: Initial benefits plan .................................................................................................. 183 
Figure 82 – Acute medicine: High level implementation plan .................................................................................................. 183 
Figure 83 – Acute medicine: Initial benefits plan ..................................................................................................................... 184 
Figure 84 – Stroke: High level implementation plan ................................................................................................................ 185 
Figure 85 – Stroke: High level benefits plan ............................................................................................................................ 185 
Figure 86 – Key implementation risks ..................................................................................................................................... 186 
 

Glossary 

Pages 190 - 193 

 

 

Appendices 

Ref Title 

A Communications and Consultation Activity Report 

B Equality Review of consultation process 

C NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback Report 

D Themed detailed consultation feedback 

E Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire response to public consultation 

F Consideration of public feedback by subject matter expert working groups 

G Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) 

H Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) 

I Travel and Transport Report 

J Recommendations of East Midlands Clinical Senate 

K Minutes of joint meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group 

L Statements of support from providers 

M CCG statement on choice and bed closures 

 

Supporting documents 

Ref Title 

1 United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust supporting documents 

2 Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust supporting documents 

 

 

Page 141



 

 8 

Purpose of the document 

The purpose of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) is to present and summarise the 
extensive work undertaken as part of the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review Programme with the 
following purpose in mind: 

• To describe the proposals for reconfiguring orthopaedic, urgent and emergency care, acute 
medicine and stroke services across the Lincolnshire area, and to enable decision makers to 
decide whether there is a case to implement the changes to these four services, as set out in 
the document 

• To demonstrate that the proposals are aligned to the national NHS Long Term Plan and local 
system strategy 

• To demonstrate that options, benefits and impact on service users have been considered 

• To demonstrate that the planned decisions have taken account of the views of patients and 
members of the public who may be impacted by the proposal 

• To inform the necessary assurance processes including providing evidence that the 
proposals meet the government’s four tests of service change, the additional patient care test 
(otherwise known as the ‘NHS beds test’) and other relevant best practice checks for 
planning service change and consultation. 

• To ask the Board of the NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to make 
decisions in relation to the proposed service reconfiguration changes across orthopaedic, 
urgent and emergency care, acute medicine and stroke services. 

This DMBC is written by the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review (ASR) Programme Team for the 
following audiences:  

• The NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board which is the organisation that carries the legal 
responsibilities for public involvement duties and deciding whether to commission the 
services described in this DMBC  

• The Boards of United Hospitals Lincolnshire NHS Trust (ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community 
Health Services NHS Trust (LCHS) so they are informed of the proposed changes given they 
are likely to play a lead role in implementation if the proposals are approved  

• The Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) of Lincolnshire which will scrutinize these proposals in 
line with their responsibilities 

• Members of the public who might be impacted by these proposals  

This DMBC should be read in conjunction with the pre-consultation business case (PCBC) and the 
public consultation document published on 30 September 2021, which provide the background to the 
proposals and the content of the consultation. 

For the purpose of transparency, the final draft of this DMBC will be made available publicly, but the 
document is not written with a public audience in mind. 

 

Page 142



 

 9 

Document status 

Until published this is a confidential document for discussion purposes and any application for 
disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 should be considered against the potential 
exemptions contained in s.22 (Information intended for future publication), s.36 (Prejudice to effective 
conduct of public affairs) and s.43 (Commercial interests). Prior to any envisaged disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act, the parties should discuss the potential impact of releasing such 
information as is requested. 

The material set out in this document is for decision making purposes. The involved NHS bodies 
understand and will comply with their statutory obligations when seeking to make decisions that will 
have an impact on the provision of care services. 

Page 143



 

 10 

1 Executive summary 

1.1 Background  

1.1.1 The Lincolnshire population is served by a number of acute hospital trusts, however the United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) is by far the largest provider in terms of the number 
of residents covered. The viability and long-term sustainability of services within ULHT is 
therefore critical to the provision of acute care services to the residents of Lincolnshire.  

1.1.2 ULHT provides services from hospital sites located in Lincoln, Boston and Grantham plus a 
fourth smaller site at Louth. 

1.1.3 The geographical distance is considerable between these hospital sites, and the acute services 
provided at each have evolved over many years to try to best meet the needs of their local 
population. 

1.1.4 However this has led to a number of services becoming increasingly ‘fragile’ and struggling to 
be sustainable over a lengthy period of time with no obvious solution in the short to medium 
term, which has a consequence for service failure. 

1.1.5 Key factors underpinning services becoming increasingly unstable and more challenging to 
sustain are: 

• Vacancies and reliance on agency and locum staff 

• Rota duplication across two or three sites 

• Traditional workforce dependent on Doctors versus Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs) 

1.1.6 Which in turn results in: 

• Poorer quality care and patient outcomes 

• Longer waiting times for patients to be seen 

• Delays for patients to receive treatment 

• Clinical staff being over-stretched  

• Higher financial costs incurred in an attempt to sustain clinical care 

1.1.7 Acute service provision across Lincolnshire therefore needs to find the optimal configuration 
across the county to maximise clinical, operational and financial sustainability. 

1.1.8 In August 2017 the leaders of the Lincolnshire health system agreed the need for a review of 
the current configuration of acute health services in the county. 

1.1.9 The full scope of this review, known locally as the Acute Services Review (ASR), covered eight 
services; Acute Medicine, Breast, General Surgery, Haematology & Oncology, Orthopaedics, 
Stroke, Urgent & Emergency Care, Women’s and Children’s.  

1.1.10 The aim of the ASR Programme was defined as a programme to develop a set of 
recommendations on the optimal configuration of acute hospital services across Lincolnshire to 
maximise clinical, operational and financial sustainability. 

1.1.11 In November 2018 a Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was submitted to NHS England 
for assurance, which set out a preferred option for the future configuration of all eight services 
within the scope of the ASR Programme. This business case identified a capital requirement of 
c.£52m (priced in 2018) to enable the proposed changes.  

1.1.12 Through the first half of 2019 the availability of capital to enable the proposed service changes 
set out in the business case submitted to NHS England looked evermore unlikely.  

1.1.13 In light of this, in November 2019 the Lincolnshire health system agreed to go into a ‘production 
line’ approach to progress the proposed service changes identified through the ASR 
Programme. 

1.1.14 This approach was adopted to minimise delays to the delivery of patient benefits for those 
service change proposals that, if agreed, could be progressed with no/minimal capital or where 
sufficient capital could be secured for specific service changes. 

Page 144



 

 11 

1.1.15 Following consideration of the eight services within the scope of the ASR Programme, four 
services were agreed as the focus for a revised Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), the 
first under the production line approach: 

• Orthopaedics  

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke  

1.1.16 The PCBC details the work completed by the Acute Services Review (ASR) Programme and 
sets out its recommendations on the proposed options for service change in the four areas set 
out above, including the identification of a preferred option. 

1.1.17 Since the establishment of the ASR Programme, key elements around evidence development 
and assurance have been carried out including: 

• Development of a case for change, new clinical models and potential solutions for review 
and consideration. 

• Patient, public and stakeholder engagement 

▪ The NHS in Lincolnshire has undertaken a wide variety of engagement programmes 
across the county, with a diverse range of staff, public and stakeholders. 

▪ This dialogue has been continuous since prior to the publication of the first 
Sustainability Transformation and Partnership (STP) five-year plan in 2016, and has 
played a pivotal role in developing the case for change, guiding and shaping the vision 
and underpinning the ASR planning process. 

▪ Engagement on the ASR Programme falls into three phases: 

• Broad engagement (2018) 

• Options engagement (2018) 

• Pre-consultation engagement (2019) 

▪ In March 2019 ‘Healthy Conversation 2019’ was launched, which was an open 
engagement exercise to shape how the NHS in Lincolnshire takes health care forward 
in the years ahead. This included pre-consultation engagement on the emerging 
options for all eight services in the Acute Services Review and ran through to October 
2019. 

▪ Discussions of proposals with the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire.  

• Development and ongoing refinement of a Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) 
exploring the options for change. 

• An assessment of the options for change, including a clinically-led stakeholder workshop 
and four workshops with members of the public. 

• Regulatory and best practice assurance, including: 

▪ Two reviews of proposals by the East Midlands Clinical Senate. 

▪ Submission of the PCBC for regional regulatory assurance. 

▪ Independent assurance process by the Consultation Institute. 

• National assurance approval of the PCBC. 

1.1.18 The PCBC was approved by the CCG Governing Body on 29 September 2021, and it was 
agreed to proceed to a period of public consultation on the proposals as set out in the PCBC. 

1.1.19 This Decision Making Business Case is a technical (DMBC) document that follows the Pre 
Consultation Business Case (PCBC) and completion of the public consultation exercise. 

Page 145



 

 12 

1.1.20 The public consultation, which ran from 30 September to 23 December 2021, enabled a robust 
and detailed dialogue with an extensive range of stakeholders and resulted in 3,044 
questionnaire responses and 402 telephone surveys. 

1.1.21 An independent organisation (Opinion Research Services) was commissioned to provide an 
independent analysis and report of the feedback received through the public consultation. 
(Appendix C of the DMBC).  

1.1.22 The overarching conclusion of this independent analysis was there is broad support across all 
elements of the consultation for the need for change, and overall agreement with each of the 
four proposals. 

1.1.23 There were however, two proposals where slightly more concerns were raised, and there was 
evidence of differing views between those living in different areas of Lincolnshire: 

• A slight majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Grantham 
and District Hospital disagreed with the urgent and emergency care proposal 

• A majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston disagreed with the proposal relating to stroke services 

1.1.24 Some equalities concerns were raised about or by particular groups or communities. They 
focused on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private transport. 
Specific groups mentioned in this regard included: older people; people with disabilities and 
long-term conditions and co-morbidities; people living in rural and isolated communities, areas 
of deprivation or with low incomes; people living with disabilities and neurodiverse people. 

1.1.25 Listening to the views of those that responded to the consultation and working with partners 
across the Lincolnshire health system to consider the feedback has enabled the Chief 
Executive of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG, supported by the CCG Executive, to recommend 
proposals that: 

• Deliver better outcomes and quality of care for patients 

• Reduce waiting times to receive care 

• Make it easier for staff to provide the best possible care to patients 

• Make services more attractive so they can recruit and retain great staff dedicated to high 
quality care.  

• Better use NHS funds, reducing spend on temporary staff 

1.1.26 This feedback and the further consideration and evidence compiled following the public 
consultation in response to it, together with the evidence contained within the PCBC, and have 
been brought together into a Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) which is put before the 
Board for decision. 

 

1.2 Recommendations 

1.2.1 Specifically, this DMBC document sets out the ask for the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board, as the 
Consulting Authority, to approve key changes to the configuration of four NHS commissioned 
services across Lincolnshire.  

1.2.2 This document and the recommendations within it have been underpinned by a clinically led 
review and evaluation process which considered the evidence collated in the Pre Consultation 
Business Case (PCBC), feedback received through the public consultation and the 
considerations of subject matter expert working groups to the consultation feedback received. 

1.2.3 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG is grateful for all the feedback and fully acknowledges both the 
support and concerns of the four change proposals. Following the extensive programme of 
work to review the findings of the public consultation and ensure conscientious consideration of 
the feedback, the overarching conclusions of the subject matter expert groups and wider 
clinical leaders from across the county were the change proposals consulted on were still 
supported. 

Page 146



 

 13 

1.2.4 However, as set out in detail in the DMBC and highlighted here, through the review and 
consideration of the feedback a number of actions have been identified for implementation 
across all four services if the change proposals are agreed. 

1.2.5 It is recommended by the Chief Executive of NHS Lincolnshire CCG, supported by the CCG 
Executive, that the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board approve the following proposed service 
changes: 

• Recommendation 1: Orthopaedics 

▪ Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to 
establish a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire. 

▪ Establish a dedicated day-case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned 
orthopaedic surgery. 

• Recommendation 2: Urgent and Emergency Care 

▪ Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to become a 24/7 Urgent Treatment 
Centre (UTC). 

• Recommendation 3: Acute Medicine 

▪ Develop integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, 
in place of the current acute medical beds. 

• Recommendation 4: Stroke Services 

▪ Consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital 
site, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation team. 

1.2.6 It should be noted that: 

• The CCG Board is not bound by the recommendations or conditions put forward in this 
Decision Making Business Case. The CCG Board can choose to support, reject or amend 
the recommendations as members see fit. 

• The proposals have been built on a solid base of clinical evidence and have been through 
rigorous clinical testing throughout the duration of the programme.  

• The proposals have heard, considered and responded to the themes that emerged from 
public consultation.  

• The proposals are assured by the East Midlands Clinical Senate. 

• The proposals are recommended in order to improve patient outcomes and deliver 
against national clinical guidance.  

1.2.7 The recommendations for each of the four services is set out below, together with an overview 
of key areas of consultation feedback, considerations given and identified actions if the change 
proposals are agreed.  The full extent of consultation feedback, the consideration given and 
resulting conclusions and actions of the subject matter expert working groups should be read in 
full and can be found in the DMBC and its appendices. 

 

1.3 Orthopaedics 

Recommendation 

1.3.1 Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to establish a 
‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire, and establish a dedicated day-case centre at County 
Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery. This reflects the orthopaedics pilot 
arrangements: 

• Outpatients clinics would be unaffected. 

• This would mean Grantham and District Hospital would not provide unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery. 

Page 147



 

 14 

• Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston would continue to provide 
unplanned orthopaedic surgery, and some planned orthopaedic surgery for high risk 
patients with multiple health problems, which is comparatively small in volume. 

1.3.2 The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care (as demonstrated 
through the orthopaedics pilot evaluation) through:  

• Reduced waiting times for planned orthopaedic surgery, which mean patients get seen 
quicker 

• Reduced cancellations on the day of planned surgery due to a lack of beds 

• Reduced length of stay following planned orthopaedic procedures (including United 
Hospitals Lincolnshire NHS Trust (ULHT) outperforming many other hospitals) 

• Reduced numbers of Lincolnshire patients going to the private sector (often out of county) 
for planned orthopaedics procedures, funded by the local NHS 

• Improvements in overall patient experience and satisfaction 

• Removal of need for temporary staff to cover vacancies and services are more attractive 
to staff which supports long term sustainability 

1.3.3 This has been evidenced further by ULHT currently being one of the best performing trusts in 
the midlands region in relation to waiting times for orthopaedics and providing ‘mutual aid’ to 
neighbouring trusts to support delivery of elective orthopaedic waiting lists. 

1.3.4 The concerns raised by the public during the consultation in relation to unforeseen 
emergencies during planned procedures and the negative impacts on the quality and timeliness 
of emergency orthopaedic care are acknowledged, and were considered and reviewed by 
orthopaedic service leads as well as wider system clinical leads. 

1.3.5 From an elective procedure perspective clinical review and discussions confirmed that since 
the pilot started in 2018 there has been only one patient who required transfer due to a post 
operation complication to Lincoln County Hospital, due to a suspected thrombolism, which 
demonstrated how robust the selection criteria for patients is. 

1.3.6 With regards to emergency orthopaedic care it was confirmed by orthopaedic service leads that 
at the start of the pilot trauma lists were kept at Grantham and District Hospital as part of the 
model, however it was evidenced over time that these were not being utilised. Minor trauma 
cases that can be appropriately discharged home to have a semi-planned operative procedure 
on a later day at Grantham are, thereby keeping orthopaedic trauma patient transfers to a 
minimum.  

1.3.7 Any additional demand on the emergency orthopaedic theatre lists at Lincoln County Hospital 
and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston is offset by theatre time freed up by the elective orthopaedic care 
going to Grantham and District Hospital and County Hospital Louth.  

1.3.8 The concerns raised by the public during the consultation regarding increased travel and equity 
of access in a large rural county (particularly for groups such as older people, people on low 
incomes, those without access to private vehicles and people with disabilities) for planned 
orthopaedic procedures are acknowledged and were considered and reviewed by orthopaedic 
service leads as well as wider system clinical leads. 

1.3.9 The conclusion of these considerations by clinical leads was the change proposals support 
timeliness of access. In addition it was identified: 

• Currently patients actively choose to travel to other providers out of the county and the 
travel to the proposed orthopaedic model for Lincolnshire is no different to these, and 
therefore it is not a barrier to access. 

• In terms of the patient pathway, patients will only have to travel once for the procedure 
and the pre and post-operative clinics will be at their local provider . Whereas if patients 
go out of county to the independent sector then pre and post-operative clinics will also be 
out of the county. 

• More patients can receive their care in Lincolnshire. 

Page 148



 

 15 

• No formal complaints have been made during the orthopaedics pilot in relation to travel 
and transport. 

• It is fully expected that non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be 
able to provide transport for eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time 
to attend for treatment at hospitals that are further away from their home and for the 
discharge from these hospitals. 

• Working in partnership with all partners, particularly Lincolnshire County Council, to 
support and improve travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the 
widest sense is required, not just in relation to the four proposed services changes. 

• The implementation of digital and virtual appointments will contribute to limiting the 
number of journeys. 

1.3.10 It was recognised that for a small proportion of people who provided feedback through the 
consultation that the timeliness of ambulance response was a concern. East Midlands 
Ambulance Service (EMAS) has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect to be able to 
provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. The business 
case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of the proposed changes on current 
ambulance response times. 

1.3.11 The change proposal for orthopaedics is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical 
leads, who also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal 
is agreed: 

• A roadmap needs to be developed to ensure the vision of a ‘centre of excellence’ is fully 
realised 

• Opportunities should be identified to increase the volume of planned orthopaedic activity 
at Grantham and District Hospital as this will further support the development of a ‘centre 
of excellence’ 

• Need to make sure there is not a distillation of orthopaedic skills at different sites in 
Lincolnshire  

 

1.4 Urgent and emergency care 

Recommendation 

1.4.1 Establish a 24/7 walk-in Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital: 

• This would be in place of the current Accident & Emergency (A&E) department. 

1.4.2 The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care through:  

• 24/7 walk in urgent care would return to Grantham and District Hospital through a high 
quality service delivered in a sustainable way for the long term 

• The vast majority of patients seen at Grantham and District Hospital A&E department 
would continue to be treated at the 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) 

• The UTC would provide greater accessibility due to increased opening hours compared to 
the current A&E arrangements (currently closed between 6.30pm and 8.00am). 

• The UTC would support better integration with primary care and community services and 
the provision of care closer to home 

• For a small number of patients (estimated to be around to be around 2 patients a day on 
average) currently attending the Grantham and District Hospital A&E who wouldn’t be 
able to have their care needs met by the UTC, care would be received at an alternative 
site with the right facilities and expertise to ensure better clinical care outcomes 

• Making sure patients get to the definitive treatment, first time whether that be Grantham 
and District Hospital or an alternative site. 

Page 149



 

 16 

• Reducing the number of intra hospital transfers from Grantham and District Hospital to 
another site, so demonstrating that the patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, 
first time.  

1.4.3 The concerns raised by the public during the consultation in relation to the conditions that 
would be treated at a 24/7 UTC and that Grantham and District Hospital should have a ‘full’ 
Type 1 A&E and supporting hospital service provision area acknowledged. These have been 
considered and reviewed by urgent and emergency care service leads as well as wider system 
clinical leads. 

1.4.4 In relation to the conditions that would be treated at a 24/7 UTC, clinical leads identified and 
agreed a number of key conclusions and actions for implementation if the change proposal is 
agreed: 

• Grantham and District Hospital has had an exclusion criteria in place since 2007/08, and 
following its introduction patients with suspected heart attack, acute cardiology, surgical 
issues, multiple trauma, suspected stroke and a number of other conditions have been 
taken by the ambulance service straight to neighbouring hospitals where more 
specialised services are located. This exclusion criteria is well understood by the local 
healthcare system including primary care, community providers and the ambulance 
service. 

• Under the proposed service change proposal the UTC would still have the ability to 
manage all presentations, including those requiring stabilisation and transfer to an 
alternative hospital with the right skills and expertise, as it does now. 

• For the small number of patients that are currently seen by the A&E service that would 
receive their care at an alternative site, they would have a National Early Warning Score 
(NEWS) of ≥7 and a frailty score <5, and likely have an acute medical condition 
(e.g. severe sepsis, severe respiratory conditions), acute cardio syndrome or a complex 
trauma. This anticipated impact would be kept under ongoing review. 

• A comprehensive communication plan needs to be rolled out for members of the public to 
make sure local residents are made fully aware of what services the 24/7 UTC would be 
able to provide. This will include a public facing document that clearly lists conditions that 
can be managed at the proposed 24/7 UTC, and be explicit about the red flags that 
should prompt 999 and includes information about diagnostics. This communication plan 
would be developed in line with the national requirement of the ‘NHS 111 First’ initiative. 

• In addition, all relevant health and care providers including 111, East Midlands 
Ambulance Service Trust (EMAS), primary care and community providers need to be 
engaged and information provided detailing the full list of exclusion criteria for Grantham 
and District Hospital under the change proposals. 

• When working up the detailed staffing model and rotas there needs to be: 

▪ Ongoing review and alignment of staffing model and ambulance conveyance 
arrangements for the Grantham and District Hospital site; and 

▪ Ongoing review of staffing model to ensure right staff skill mix is available and 
competent to stabilise and transfer patients whatever the condition that presents  

• There needs to be ongoing review of ambulance transfer protocols and ensure clear 
process is in place, including risk assessment and mitigations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



 

 17 

1.4.5 With regards to Grantham and District Hospital having a ‘full’ Type 1 A&E and supporting 
hospital service provision, following a thorough review (of national guidelines and standards, 
independent clinical advice, current service provision, population growth data and the 
experiences of other health systems) the clinicians reaffirmed that a number of combining 
factors lead to the conclusion that a type 1 A&E department at Grantham and District Hospital 
that provides a full range of ‘unselected’ care and is supported by the required core set of 
specialties is not feasible. These are: 

• The required staffing levels for a Type 1 A&E department and those specialities with 
clinical interdependencies that enable the ongoing provision of safe care; 

• The availability of doctors and nursing to staff these services in a sustainable manner; 

• The required scale of provision for these services to ensure staff maintain and continue to 
develop their skills and be attractive to staff to work in; and 

• Even when considering the forecast growth for Grantham and the surrounding area, there 
will still not be sufficient scale to safely and sustainable deliver this level of care. 

1.4.6 This review confirmed that the proposed service change is in line with national clinical guidance 
i.e. network arrangements where some acute hospitals (Lincoln County and Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston) provide a broader range of specialist services to a larger population ‘unselectively’ and 
some (Grantham and District Hospital) providing a narrower range of services to a smaller 
population ‘selectively’ and work in close partnership with adjacent services to access specialist 
services not available on site. 

1.4.7 From a clinical view it was identified that the population of Grantham and the surrounding areas 
has access to the services in the whole County, and implementing a Type 1 A&E in Grantham 
may harm more people than save, and splitting limited resources across multiple sites and 
services is not appropriate as there is a need for specialism to be concentrated in certain 
areas. 

1.4.8 It is acknowledged that there are concerns about ambulance conveyance, including risk to life 
as a result of increased travel time. Clinicians have carefully considered this issue and 
identified: 

• Under the current exclusion criteria, patients from Grantham and the surrounding areas 
with serious conditions such as heart attack, acute cardiology and suspected stroke and 
already taken straight to neighbouring hospitals where more specialised services are 
located. This exclusion criteria is well understood by the local healthcare system including 
primary care, community providers and the ambulance service. 

• Under the proposed model of a 24/7 UTC at Grantham and District Hospital the exclusion 
criterion for the Grantham Hospital site would be refined, meaning a relatively small 
number of patients (2 a day on average) currently attending the A&E, would not in the 
future. Most of these are likely to travel by ambulance to an alternative site given their 
condition. 

• Two key foundations of the proposed care model are to: 

▪ Make sure patients get to the definitive treatment, first time whether that be Grantham 
and District Hospital or an alternative site. 

▪ Reduce the number of intra hospital transfers to another site, so demonstrating that 
the patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time.  

• The benefits of patients getting definitive treatment first time and the improved outcomes 
associated with this are seen to out-weigh the potential increases in ambulance travel 
time to alternative sites. 

1.4.9 East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect 
to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. 
The business case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of the proposed changes 
on current ambulance response times. 

 

Page 151



 

 18 

1.4.10 The concerns raised by the public during the consultation regarding travel and transport 
(particularly  older people, people with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or 
living in rural areas) are acknowledged and were considered and reviewed by urgent and 
emergency care service leads as well as wider system clinical leads. 

1.4.11 The challenges with the current county wide transport infrastructure were acknowledged by 
health system leads and key mitigations identified if the change proposal is agreed are: 

• A high degree of confidence the changes will be fully and appropriately supported by 
EMAS. 

• Non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport 
for eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend hospitals 

• Working in partnership with all partners, particularly Lincolnshire County Council, on wider 
transport plans 

• Ensuring a clear and comprehensive communication plan with the public in terms of 
access routes and conditions treated by the proposed service 

1.4.12 The change proposal for urgent and emergency care is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG clinical leads, who also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the 
change proposal is agreed: 

• This is as much about a change in nomenclature as it is change from the current service 
provision. Communication with the public about the conditions that can be treated at the 
proposed service is key. 

• A key requirement during the implementation phase would be to ensure the identified 
service provider has the capability to deliver the proposed model of care. This would need 
to be done in accordance with existing NHS contract and procurement regulations. 

 

1.5 Acute medicine 

Recommendation 

1.5.1 Establish integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place 
of the current acute medical beds. 

1.5.2 The CCG Executive have confirmed this proposal results in improved care through:  

• Delivering a balance between access and sustainable long term outcomes for acute 
medicine services at Grantham and District Hospital. 

• Supporting the majority of patients that currently receive Acute Medicine care at 
Grantham Hospital to do so in future, only c.10% of high complexity patients would be 
cared for at another hospital with the right facilities and expertise to ensure the best 
outcomes. 

• Enabling Grantham Hospital to offer services which may not be offered elsewhere and 
build a centre of excellence for integrated multi-disciplinary care, particularly for frail 
patients. 

• Delivers a more comprehensive service provision at Grantham Hospital, specifically in 
relation to the ‘frail’ population, thereby reducing pressure on acute sites in Lincoln & 
Boston. 

• Grantham Hospital acts as a hub for supporting community teams and community 
services across the county, and improves accessibility to specialist advice for primary 
care and community-based teams 

• Supports improved community-based management of long term conditions and reduced 
length of stay in hospital beds 

• Supports a more sustainable medical and nursing workforce through new and innovative 
care models that offer sustainability, role variety and greater integration across pathways. 

Page 152



 

 19 

1.5.3 Key concerns raised by the public during the consultation that are acknowledged include: 

• Placing elderly needs out of a secure hospital environment supported by specialist 
consultants or moving them to alternative hospital sites requiring considerable journeys 
with associated risk 

• Adequate staffing, cost of implementing the changes and increased workload required 

• Negative impacts on the quality of care provided, and the potential for increased pressure 
on other hospitals. 

• Grantham and District Hospital should be a fully serviced hospital with acute medical 
beds. 

1.5.4 These were considered and reviewed by the acute medicine service leads and wider system 
clinical leads. 

1.5.5 Clinical and operational leads confirmed the service change proposal is to establish integrated 
community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the current acute 
medical beds. The integrated community/acute medical beds would be delivered through a 
partnership model between a community health care provider and United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust. The care of patients would still be led by consultants (senior doctors) and 
their team of doctors, practitioners, therapists and nursing staff. Workforce modelling for the 
Pre Consultation Business case identified an increased workforce requirement to deliver the 
proposed model of care. 

1.5.6 It is anticipated this change would affect around 10% of those patients currently receiving care 
in the acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital. This is equivalent to 1 patient a 
day, on average. These patients would receive care at an alternative hospital with the right 
skills and facilities to ensure the best possible outcome.  

1.5.7 System leads confirmed there are no changes in the beds available on the site for medical 
inpatients. Retaining current provision is essential to supporting stabilisation of the wider health 
system. However, ensuring only those that require an admission and reducing length of stay 
and delayed transfers of care will be a priority, thereby supporting a greater patient cohort. The 
proposed integrated community/acute medical beds would continue to be supported by a Level 
1 bed function on the Grantham and District Hospital site that would support medical patients 
requiring escalation. 

1.5.8 Clinical leads confirmed there are a number of combining factors that lead to the conclusion 
that it is not feasible for the Grantham and District Hospital to be a fully services hospital with 
acute medical beds (see urgent and emergency care section). 

1.5.9 It was also acknowledged that the East Midlands Clinical Senate strongly supported the 
proposed model – identifying it delivers a balance between access and sustainable long term 
outcomes for acute medicine services -  and there is a strong clinical evidence base for it. 
Clinical leads identified the ongoing development of Integrated Care Systems and the advent of 
Primary Care Networks makes it stronger.   

1.5.10 It was recognised that there are some concerns about an additional impact on East Midlands 
Ambulance Service (EMAS) to transfer people to the nearest hospital with an acute bed, and it 
was confirmed EMAS has been fully engaged in the work and fully expect to be able to provide 
additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. The business case 
provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of the proposed changes on current 
ambulance response times. 

1.5.11 It is acknowledged that in the public consultation feedback there were few comments related to 
potential impacts on any specific demographic groups, with the exception of a small number of 
comments reiterating concerns about travel and access for groups without access to private 
transport. 

1.5.12 It is also acknowledged that several respondents, including some NHS staff members, felt that 
the proposed move to integrated community/acute medical beds would benefit older and more 
frail patients by better integrating acute and community care for those patients who need the 
latter. 

Page 153



 

 20 

1.5.13 Positively in the consultation feedback, it was said that patients would be seen quicker, 
resulting in more efficient care, and they would benefit further by being discharged back into 
their community more quickly. Elderly or frail patients were highlighted as particularly benefiting 
from this. 

1.5.14 In terms of access, clinical leads identified a distinction needs to be drawn between these 
proposals and those for urgent and emergency care as these are based on admitted patients. It 
was reiterated the proposals would support repatriation of patients from Grantham and the 
surrounding areas so they can receive care closer to home and, if implemented, there is a need 
to ensure alignment with wider system strategies for addressing digital poverty whilst exploring 
opportunities such as virtual wards. 

1.5.15 It was also confirmed non-emergency patient transport services in Lincolnshire will be able to 
provide transport for eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend 
hospitals and ongoing joint working was required with Lincolnshire County Council on wider 
transport plans to continue to support those not eligible for patient transport. 

1.5.16 Clinical leads confirmed that if the change is agreed, then key requirements for the 
implementation and delivery are: 

• Detailed workforce planning to ensure the model attracts and retains the right workforce, 
and governance/accountability arrangements are clear between partner organisations 
delivering care 

• Existing bed capacity is optimised and cohorts extended in line with detailed workforce 
planning 

1.5.17 The change proposal for acute medicine is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical 
leads, who also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal 
is agreed: 

• Need to ensure recruitment to the model focuses on the whole workforce, irrespective of 
the stage of their career. 

• The proposed model has to look to reach outside of the Grantham area and provide 
support to patients further afield. 

 

1.6 Stroke services 

Recommendation 

1.6.1 Establish a ‘centre of excellence’ for hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County 
Hospital site. This would be supported by increasing the capacity and capability of the 
community stoke rehabilitation service: 

• This would mean hyper-acute and acute stroke services are no longer provided from 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

• Transient ischaemic attack (TIA) clinics would be unaffected at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

1.6.2 The CCG Executive have confirmed (which has been informed through the temporary service 
change to consolidate hyper-acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site in light of 
Covid-19) it believes this proposal results in improved care through: 

• Tackling significant workforce shortages and challenges in stroke by concentrating 
specialist stroke and multi-disciplinary skills and expertise 

• Reducing heavy reliance on locums by increasing chances of recruiting to substantive 
roles and having to spread staff across two sites 

• Improved achievement against national stroke standards 

• Enabling a critical mass for a stroke unit well above recommended levels 

• Improved alignment with clinical interdependencies – Lincolnshire Heart Centre and 
Mechanical Thrombectomy services at Queens Medical Centre (QMC) in Nottingham 

Page 154



 

 21 

1.6.3 Key concerns raised by the public during the consultation that are acknowledged, and were 
considered and reviewed by the stroke service leads and wider system clinical leads relate to: 

• Increased travel times to Lincoln County Hospital for emergency stroke care  

• Concerns the proposal could widen health inequalities and negatively impact patients 
access as services would be removed from a deprived area. 

1.6.4 Following thorough consideration by clinical leads from across the health system it was 
confirmed that it is the overall time from event to treatment by a skilled and dedicated workforce 
that can provide high-level Consultant led 7-day provision that has the greatest impact on 
quality of care and outcomes, not travel time. Faster access to high quality diagnosis and 
treatment at the acute site can offset longer travel times. 

1.6.5 It was also confirmed that time spent in an ambulance can still be used to support the treatment 
of patients. Since the start of the temporary service change, a good joint working model has 
been established between ambulance paramedics and stroke Advanced Care Practitioners 
(ACPs) at Lincoln Hospital to review previous medical history and decision for treatment 
commences as soon as patients arrives at hospital. 

1.6.6 It was acknowledged that East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) has been fully engaged in 
the work and fully expect to be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the 
proposed care models. The business case provides resource to EMAS to mitigate the impact of 
the proposed changes on current ambulance response times. It was also noted that the 
Lincolnshire division of EMAS has the most efficient on scene time of all East Midlands 
divisions/counties helping to reduce overall call to definitive treatment timescales. 

1.6.7 Through the clinical consideration it was also acknowledged that the consolidation of cardiology 
services on the Lincoln County Hospital site to concentrate capacity, skills and expertise, in a 
similar way proposed for stroke, has demonstrated improvements in outcomes for all 
Lincolnshire residents. 

1.6.8 Using the experience of the temporary service change of consolidating hyper-acute services on 
the Lincoln County Hospital site clinical leads have given thorough consideration to the impact 
this has had on the quality of care received by patients. This confirmed that: 

• In 2021 Lincoln County hospital was one of the highest performing sites nationally in 
terms of national stroke performance standards. 

• Patients from the Boston Hospital catchment area have been seen and scanned quicker, 
had more access to thrombectomy and were, on average, discharged sooner (compared 
to before the temporary change) 

1.6.9 The Lincoln Hospital stroke service was able to deliver this level of performance whilst under a 
huge amount of operational pressure. 

1.6.10 A conclusion of the clinical considerations was the temporary change to consolidate hyper-
acute stroke care on the Lincoln County Hospital site has shown thrombolysis can be achieved 
providing a first-class service to stroke patients in the County regardless of where they live and 
that this is predicated on having the best expertise on one site that is clinically supported based 
on the evidence. 

1.6.11 Through the clinical discussions it was confirmed that key factors contributing to the 
performance at Lincoln County Hospital was the stroke service on-call Advanced Care 
Practitioner workforce and co-location with cardiology services. 

1.6.12 The availability of the heart centre facilities to stroke patients at Lincoln Hospital provide a 
valuable resource in improving access and bypassing A&E for the “direct to CT” pilot. Thus 
speeding door to CT scan time and door to needle/angiogram time.  

1.6.13 The stroke team at Lincoln Hospital has also developed an excellent working relationship with 
the Queens Medical Centre (QMC) Nottingham thrombectomy team, and became one of the 
best referring sites in the region. 

 

 

Page 155



 

 22 

1.6.14 Since the service started in 2018 and up to April 2020, Lincoln Hospital had referred 19 
patients for the procedure in Nottingham, compared to a single patient from the Boston Hospital 
site within the same timeframe. In 2021, 14 patients from the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston 
catchment area went to Nottingham for thrombectomy and 19 from the Lincoln County Hospital 
catchment area. This helps to emphasise the importance of team work in improving stroke 
care, and demonstrates the net benefit to more patients going to a single, better staffed site.  

1.6.15 During the clinical discussions it was noted that the thrombectomy time frame has been 
extended to anything between 16 and 24 hours depending on the centre that takes the patient. 
Therefore, if a patient presents at Lincoln County Hospital and they have just missed the 
thrombolysis an angiogram can be undertaken and the patient transferred to Nottingham much 
quicker due to a refinement of the system over the last two years.  

1.6.16 The clinical discussions confirmed the public’s concerns about patients travelling further need 
to be recognised and, if the change is agreed, a communication and education strategy on the 
proposals, how to recognise stroke symptoms and how to access care needs to be put in place 

1.6.17 This should include a targeted, local bespoke communication and education strategy on the 
proposal, how to recognise stroke symptoms and how to access care, with a specific focus on 
the deprived areas with the longest travel times. 

1.6.18 Concerns raised through the public consultation relating to stroke service staffing, particularly a 
single site at Lincoln County Hospital, and capacity at Lincoln County Hospital are 
acknowledged. As are the suggestion put forward to maintain two hyper-acute stroke units in 
Lincolnshire or consolidate hospital stroke services on the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston site. 

1.6.19 Consideration by clinical leads confirmed the proposed service change to consolidate hyper-
acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital is supported by a workforce model 
that would see an increase in specialist stroke staff at Lincolns County Hospital, and ensure the 
unit is staffed according to agreed national guidelines for medical, nursing and allied health 
professional staff.  

1.6.20 It was confirmed the capacity required at Lincoln County Hospital to meet the needs of the 
population have been developed based on analysis of demand and application of clinically 
evidence based assumptions with regards to pathways of care and outcomes for patients. The 
outputs of the proposed bed capacity model have been tested through sensitivity analysis. 

1.6.21 It was acknowledged that through the proposal development process the workforce demand of 
multiple sites was considered against the supply of specialist workforce and ability to deliver 
consistent, equitable high quality care to all patients in Lincolnshire. This was re-considered 
following the consultation feedback and concluded the proposal to consolidate hyper-acute and 
acute stroke care at Lincoln County Hospital was the best possible option to deliver consistent 
care for all and make the best use of available workforce. 

1.6.22 A single site can be staffed more effectively as currently there is not enough work for two 
centres, and if there is not the critical mass of patients it is unlikely that the organisation will be 
attractive to recruit and retain staff.  

1.6.23 Previous considerations of the rationale for consolidating stroke services on the Lincoln County 
Hospital Site as opposed to the Boston Hospital, Pilgrim site were revisited and reaffirmed by 
clinical leads: 

• Co-location with the heart centre supports an optimal front door service as it enables 
access to more important time critical interventions and has the benefit of using the Cath 
lab facilities to directly access acute imaging thus bypassing A&E and further reducing 
door to needle time. 

• At Lincoln there is an established Advanced Care Practitioner (ACP) service and pathway 
that was noted as a regional example of excellence by a Getting It Right First Time 
(GIRFT) review. 

• Excellent working relationship with the Queens Medical Centre (QMC) Nottingham 
thrombectomy team, Lincoln County Hospital has become one of the best referring sites 
in the region. 

Page 156



 

 23 

• Experience has shown it is easier to recruit to Lincoln County Hospital compared to 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston 

• More Lincolnshire residents would receive their care out of the county if stroke services 
were consolidated on the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston site rather than at Lincoln Hospital.  

1.6.24 Alternative suggestions put forward through the public consultation for stroke rehabilitation are 
also acknowledged. During the clinical discussions it was identified that approximately 49% of 
stroke patients are discharged from hospital within seven days. It was confirmed there is a very 
wide spectrum of rehabilitation needs for stroke patients and hospital is not the best place for a 
majority of these patients. The best place for rehabilitation is in the patient’s own home and 
they can progress with the right level of support, the longer a patient stays in hospital the more 
deconditioned the patient becomes and is more dependent 

1.6.25 The rehabilitation element was acknowledged as an important part of the whole process and 
the proposed Centre of Excellence is crucial to the development of community services.  

1.6.26 It was acknowledged there are examples in other areas of healthcare where professions are 
worked across different pathways in order to achieve the right skill set, and this approach is 
being explored for the proposed stroke community rehabilitation model. 

1.6.27 It was acknowledged the proposed community stroke model will attract staff bringing in a higher 
skilled workforce which will ultimately improve the patient outcomes and develop the 
multidisciplinary team approach. 

1.6.28 The change proposal for stroke is supported by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads, who 
also identified a number of actions relating to implementation if the change proposal is agreed: 

• Need to ensure there is a robust and effective needs assessment prior to discharge that 
identifies the most appropriate location for rehabilitation.  

• Need to ensure the enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service is: 

▪ Properly resourced to provide a high quality service and support appropriate 
discharge from hospital 

▪ Fully integrated with the hospital based stroke service to ensure safe discharge and 
appropriate skills development across the whole pathway 

▪ Considered in the context of a virtual ward model 

 

1.7 Travel and transport 

1.7.1 It is acknowledged that feedback on the consultation on the four service change proposals has 
identified travel and transport as a significant concern for patients and the public, as well as the 
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) for Lincolnshire. 

1.7.2 This concern was generally expressed in terms of: 

• The effect of the proposed changes on the ability of patients and their family/carers to 
access services that may be at a more distant site than currently. 

• Hospital discharges in the evening or overnight when public transport tends not to 
operate creating an additional challenge for people without their own transport. 

1.7.3 A Travel and Transport Report has been considered which contains an assessment of the 
current situation together with a set of enablers to help mitigate the impact of the proposed 
service changes on access. These enablers are:  

• Emergency and Urgent Transport 

• Non-Emergency Patient Transport 

• Other Transport 

 

 

Page 157



 

 24 

1.7.4 Comments received from the consultation feedback indicated concerns about the impact on the 
ambulance service of the additional journey times associated with the proposals in the ASR. 
EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to provide additional 
resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. EMAS have confirmed they are 
able to accommodate the additional small demand on their services. 

1.7.5 Non-emergency patient transport (NEPTS) is provided for patients who meet the nationally set 
eligibility criteria for NHS funded patient transport services.  This means Lincolnshire residents 
who meet the eligibility criteria receive free transport in the following situations; patients who 
are going to hospital for outpatient appointments, diagnostics, treatment or for admission, and 
for patients who are eligible for transport from hospital following outpatient, diagnostic 
appointments, daycase or inpatient care and treatment.   

1.7.6 Non-emergency patient transport services will continue to be offered and provide transport for 
all eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and 
treatment at hospitals that are further away from their home and for discharge from these 
hospitals.  

1.7.7 The Lincolnshire health system is committed to using any revisions arising from the 
implementation of the national criteria, including any flexibility in those criteria, to the full for the 
benefit of patients in Lincolnshire.  

1.7.8 The current patient transport service is also required to signpost patients who do not meet the 
eligibility for patient transport to alternative transport providers.  

1.7.9 The ‘other transport’ category presents the most complex area for consideration as it covers 
transport and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to provide.   

1.7.10 Through the work completed to consider the travel and transport feedback received during the 
consultation it was identified a number of solutions already exist and strengthening the current 
arrangements is seen as central to tackling the challenges. 

1.7.11 Opportunities to strengthen current arrangements include:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options 
to encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

1.7.12 The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working in partnership with all partners, particularly 
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport solutions for health 
and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation to the four proposed services 
changes.  

1.7.13 This is being actively considered with the County Council and continuing to tackle this 
challenge is a priority for the Lincolnshire health system.  

1.7.14 Irrespective of whether the four change proposals are agreed the NHS in Lincolnshire will 
continue to work with Lincolnshire County Council and ensure joint working groups and forums 
are in place to improve travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the widest 
sense.  

1.7.15 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work between the NHS and Local Authority 
will be informed further through the monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on 
those groups with protected characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This 
would include analysis and assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating 
inequalities and identify mitigations. 

 

Page 158



 

 25 

1.8 Financial and resource implications 

1.8.1 The economic and financial analysis has been developed by the Lincolnshire Integrated Care 
System (ICS) finance team, working with the relevant service leads and reporting to the ICS 
Financial Leaders Group (FLG). This group is chaired by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Director of 
Finance.  

1.8.2 Detailed financial planning was undertaken for the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), 
and since its production the following activities have been undertaken: 

• Updates to the financial context within which the Lincolnshire health system is operating 

• Re-validation of the clinical model workforce requirements 

• Consideration of the responses to consultation feedback by working groups to understand 
financial impact 

• Review and update of financial risks 

• Updated financial projections  

1.8.3 The four services in the scope of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) are forecast to 
deliver a financial benefit of c.£1.9m in total by the time all the service changes are in place. 

1.8.4 The table below provides a summary of the financial impact by service. 

Figure 1 – Summary of financial impact 

Service Cost of Current 
Service £k 

Cost of 
Proposed 
Service £k 

Difference £k 

Orthopaedics 32,358 28,320 4,038 

A&E/UTC 4,540 3,878 662 

Acute Medical Beds (Inc Ambulatory 
Care) 

8,620 8,875 -255 

Stroke Pathway 11,662 13,219 -1,557 

Financial Impact of Service Change 57,180 54,292 2,888 

Contingency for additional Patient 
Transport 

- 1,000 -1,000 

Overall Financial Impact 57,180 55,292 1,888 

 

1.8.5 Three of the proposed service changes can be achieved without capital requirements, the one 
area that will require estates reconfiguration and associated capital is the consolidation of 
stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, through the construction of an extension to 
the existing unit. Current cost estimates for this estates solution are £7.5m. 

1.8.6 Following completion of the public consultation and consideration of the feedback the 
Lincolnshire ICS FLG re-assessed the affordability of the financial case for the four change 
proposals from financial sustainability and best use of capital resource perspectives. 

1.8.7 The FLG has concluded that since preparing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there has 
been no material change in the proposals or the assumptions underpinning financial 
sustainability of the proposals. There are risks to the overall deliverability of the DMBC and 
they are set out in summary in the table below together with mitigations. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



 

 26 

Figure 2 – Summary of financial risks and mitigations 

Risk Mitigation 

Delivery of financial benefit attributable to the 
replacement of interim and agency staff in the 
new models of care 

Service stability and certainty along with improvements 
in the medical and nursing roles offered 

Orthopaedics – pilot has demonstrated positive 
benefits in relation to establishing a sustainable 
workforce 

Repatriation of orthopaedics activity from the 
independent sector to improve utilisation of 
ULHT’s cost base 

Supported by the current pilot model, ULHT is one of 
best performing trusts in the region relating to waiting 
times for orthopaedics  

Rise in inflation causing the cost of capital 
projects to exceed previous estimates 

Initial estimates of impact of cost increases show an 
immaterial impact on revenue consequences 

If change proposals are agreed all capital planning 
assumptions would be reviewed as part of developing 
a Full Business Case (FBC) 

 

1.9 Next steps 

1.9.1 Up to this point the ASR Programme has developed with significant public involvement. If the 
change proposals are agreed, further engagement and scrutiny will continue to be sought, both 
leading up to, and as part of, the implementation process. This will help to ensure that the 
service changes and improvements proposed meet the needs of the Lincolnshire population.  

1.9.2 If the service changes outlined in this business case are agreed by the Board of the NHS 
Lincolnshire CCG, they will be commissioned through contractual processes and be subject to 
procurement where appropriate. 

1.9.3 Implementation will be driven by the responsible provider organisations, with commissioning 
support where necessary.  

1.9.4 Health system partners have been fully engaged all the way through the process allowing for 
smooth implementation whilst the CCG functions transfer to the Integrated Care Board (ICB) 
which is expected from July 2022. 

1.9.5 The ICB will oversee the strategic commissioning of the new model of care and implementation 
of the service changes, as the new NHS commissioning authority for the Lincolnshire health 
system. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



 

 27 

2 Introduction 

2.1 Background  

2.1.1 Lincolnshire is one of the largest counties in England with one of the most dispersed 
populations. It is an upper tier county council with seven lower tier districts that have a diverse 
geography, comprising large rural and agricultural areas, urban areas and market towns and a 
long eastern coastline. 

2.1.2 The Lincolnshire population is served by a number of acute hospital trusts, however the United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) is by far the largest provider in terms of the number 
of residents covered. The viability and long-term sustainability of services within ULHT is 
therefore critical to the provision of acute care services to the residents of Lincolnshire.  

2.1.3 ULHT provides services from hospital sites located in Lincoln, Boston and Grantham plus a 
fourth smaller site at Louth. 

2.1.4 The geographical distance is considerable between these hospital sites, and the acute services 
provided at each have evolved over many years to try to best meet the needs of their local 
population. 

2.1.5 However this has led to a number of services becoming increasingly ‘fragile’ and struggling to 
be sustainable over a lengthy period of time with no obvious solution in the short to medium 
term, which has a consequence for service failure. 

2.1.6 Key factors underpinning services becoming increasingly unstable and more challenging to 
sustain are: 

• Vacancies and reliance on agency and locum staff 

• Rota duplication across two or three sites 

• Traditional workforce dependent on Doctors versus Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs) 

2.1.7 Which in turn results in: 

• Poorer quality care and patient outcomes 

• Longer waiting times for patients to be seen 

• Delays for patients to receive treatment 

• Clinical staff being over-stretched  

• Higher financial costs incurred in an attempt to sustain clinical care 

2.1.8 Acute service provision across Lincolnshire therefore needs to find the optimal configuration 
across Lincolnshire to maximise clinical, operational and financial sustainability. 

2.1.9 It should also be noted that Lincolnshire is not unique in this situation. It is widely 
acknowledged that acute hospitals serving rural areas face a common set of challenges, 
specifically high staff turnover, competition to attract and retain staff, service sustainability, 
public perception of the scope of services provided and a lack of modern infrastructure. Many 
of these were exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

2.2 Local and national context 

2.2.1 The reconfiguration of acute hospital services has always formed a key part of the Lincolnshire 
health and care system’s transformation plans, including in the most recent articulation through 
the Lincolnshire’s NHS Long Term Plan 2019-24 (which is the local response to the NHS Long 
Term Plan). The Lincolnshire plan: 

• Responds to Lincolnshire’s specific strengths, challenges and requirements; 

• Clarifies a shared future ambition for health services in Lincolnshire so it can work to 
make these a reality; and 

Page 161



 

 28 

• Identifies the specific priorities for improvement and how these will be achieved. In order 
to i) Improve the health of the population ii) Improve quality and iii) Reduce inequalities. 

2.2.2 The Lincolnshire’s NHS Long Term Plan 2019-24 has been developed in partnership across 
the local health and care system and is grounded in local knowledge, with a strong 
understanding of: 

• The views of the people in Lincolnshire who use and deliver NHS services, established 
through the extensive planning work and the recent years of improving care; 

• The current and future needs of the Lincolnshire population, established through detailed 
public health analysis; and 

• The opportunities to improve performance and remove unwarranted variation, established 
through benchmarking with other similar counties. 

2.2.3 Following an analysis of population needs, citizen feedback and performance benchmarking 11 
priority areas were identified where the health and care system can make the biggest impact in 
terms of improving the quality and efficiency of care in Lincolnshire.  

2.2.4 One of these priorities is ‘Acute Services: Ensuring that our specialist hospital services are fit 
for the future to deliver the level of care that can only be provided with an acute hospital 
setting’.   

Figure 3 – Lincolnshire health and care system’s purpose, ambitions and priorities 

 

 

2.2.5 The delivery of this system priority has been through the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review 
(ASR) Programme, the aim of which has been to develop a set of recommendations on the 
optimal configuration of acute hospital services across Lincolnshire to maximise clinical, 
operational and financial sustainability. 

2.2.6 The initial scope of this programme covered eight services; Acute Medicine, Breast, General 
Surgery, Haematology & Oncology, Orthopaedics, Stroke, Urgent & Emergency Care, 
Women’s and Children’s.  

2.2.7 However, as the work progressed its scope narrowed to focus on four of these services; 
orthopaedics, urgent and emergency care, acute medicine and stroke services. Which are the 
focus of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC). 

2.2.8 The change proposals set out in this DMBC for these four service areas all fully align to the 
national NHS Long Term Plan. The table below provides as overview of this alignment. 

 

Page 162



 

 29 

Figure 4 – Alignment of service change proposals to national NHS Long Term Plan 

 

 
NHS Long Term Plan Commitments 

Service Change Proposal 

Orthopaedics Urgent & 
Emergency 

Care 

Acute 
Medicine 

Stroke 
Services 

NHS staff will get the backing they need 

Supporting our current staff 

Enable productive working 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

Boost ‘out of hospital’ care 

A new NHS offer of urgent community care 

Supporting people to age well 

  

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

Reduce pressure on emergency hospital 
services 

Pre-hospital urgent care – implement UTC model 

Reforms to hospital emergency care – SDEC 

Cutting delays in patients being able to go home 

  

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

Better care for major health conditions 

Short waits for planned care 

Planned services are provided from a ‘cold’ site 
where capacity can be protected to reduce the 
risk of operations being postponed at the last 
minute if more urgent cases come in – manging 
complex, urgent care on a separate ‘hot’ site 
allows trusts to provide improved trauma 
assessment and better access to specialist care, 
so that patients have better access to the right 
expertise at the right time 

Stroke care 

Reduction in number of stroke-receiving units and 
increase in number of patients receiving high 
quality specialist care 

Modernise the stroke workforce with a focus on 
cross-speciality and cross-profession 
accreditation of particular ‘competencies’ 

Implementation and further development of higher 
intensity care models for stroke rehabilitation 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

✓ 
 
 
 
✓ 

 

2.3 Overview of process to date 

2.3.1 The recommendations put forward in this decision-making business case stem from a lengthy 
process of discussion and engagement with patients, the public, partner organisations and 
health and care professionals, spanning over seven years. 

2.3.2 They take account of feedback from the formal public consultation, as well as reviews of 
service change proposals undertaken by clinical experts and an assessment of impact 
undertaken by the local health system. 

2.3.3 Decision-making responsibility falls solely with the NHS Lincolnshire CCG. As such this 
document, whilst set in the context of the Lincolnshire Integrated Care System, is owned by the 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board.  

2.3.4 This business case is provided to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board at the decision-making 
stage of the process, implementation will not commence until a decision has been made. 

 

 

Page 163



 

 30 

Figure 5 – Overview of process to date 

 

 

 

Independent expert advice and assurance                      Decision to proceed to consultation    

 

2.4 Broad engagement 

2.4.1 In July 2018 a number of public events were held across Lincolnshire to find out participants’ 
views on the case for changing particular health services and on the possible directions of 
change. For example, testing views on the principle of concentrating some services in 
specialised ‘centres of excellence’, or the principle of separating urgent and planned care. 

2.4.2 These engagement events did not cover specific options for the future provision of services and 
the potential impact changes may have. However, they were used to discuss the evaluation 
criteria for service change originally developed through the Lincolnshire Health and Care 
(LHAC) programme, therefore providing an opportunity to consider the public’s views on the 
criteria and the relative importance that might be attached to each of them.    

 

2.5 Pre-consultation engagement 

2.5.1 In March 2019 ‘Healthy Conversation 2019’ was launched, which was an open engagement 
exercise to shape how the NHS in Lincolnshire takes health care forward in the years ahead. It 
was a chance for everyone to learn more about the local NHS’s current thinking on the future of 
the services it provides and a way to get meaningful feedback from patients, their 
representatives, the public, NHS partners and staff about what services may look like going 
forward. This included pre-consultation engagement on the emerging options in the Acute 
Services Review and ran through to October 2019. 

2.5.2 The various waves of communications and engagement incorporated a number of activities to 
give as many people as possible the opportunity to get involved and share their views in a way 
that suits them. 

Figure 6 – Overview of Healthy Conversation 2019 approach 

 

2.5.3 A questionnaire was made available in online and paper formats, in the main languages in 
Lincolnshire and offered in other formats to enable the public and other stakeholders to share 
their views.  It covered topics such as digital technology, travel and transport along with specific 
service areas including orthopaedics, urgent and emergency care, acute medicine and stroke 
services. A total of 649 completed questionnaires were received and analysed.  

 

 

 

 

March - June 19

Wave 1

•9 open engagement 
events

•Engagement with 
protected 
characteristics

•Ongoing 
engagement 
activities

July - October 19

Wave 2

•Deep dive 
workshops

•Engagement 
roadshows

•Ongoing 
engagement 
activities

Sept - Oct 19

Wave 3

•Engagement 
roadshows

•Raising awareness

Broad 
Engagement 

Pre 
Consultation 
Engagement 

Public 
Consultation 

Decision 
Making 

Implementation 
Pre 

Consultation 
BC 

Page 164



 

 31 

2.5.4 Over 200 general feedback forms were received via post, email, online and from the various 
events attended. These included nine open events in Boston, Louth, Skegness, Grantham, 
Sleaford, Gainsborough, Lincoln, Stamford and Spalding with 365 attendees; roadshows such 
as market days, supermarkets and shopping centres where over 400 leaflets were handed out 
and 55 feedback forms received; locality workshops in Boston and Grantham with 49 attendees 
over four days as well as a range of community meetings such as The Blind Society and 
Toddler Groups with 139 attendees. 

2.5.5 Lincolnshire’s Health Scrutiny Committee were provided with regular reports on the topics with 
the HC2019 engagement campaign and were updated in March, May, June, July, September, 
October 2019 and March 2020. 

2.5.6 This was supported by widespread communications activities such as attendance at key 
stakeholder meetings, staff briefings, social media updates as well as posters and leaflets 
distributed widely. 

2.5.7 The Lincolnshire NHS organisations also commissioned a local specialist, The People’s 
Partnership, to undertake a specific piece of engagement work, in order to ensure the Healthy 
Conversation 2019 exercise captured the views and concerns of hidden and hard to reach 
communities across the county. The People’s Partnership undertook a detailed, and bespoke 
engagement in order to understand these views. 

 

2.6 The Pre Consultation Business Case 

2.6.1 The Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) was prepared by system partners to provide 
assurance to local governance Boards and NHS England and Improvement that the system 
has thoroughly considered a range of requirements before deciding to move to public 
consultation on the proposed service changes. 

2.6.2 These requirements, each of which is set out in detail in the PCBC, included: 

• A detailed case for change, supported by system partners 

• The proposed changes to acute services 

• Alignment of these proposals with NHS policy and plans 

• A clear description of the enablers required for the proposed service changes 

• Governance and decision making arrangements 

• Clinical assurance of the proposals, including the East Midlands Clinical Senate 

• A description of the public engagement that has occurs in the development of the 
proposals 

2.6.3 An overview of the preferred change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits for 
each of the four NHS services as set out in the PCBC is provided below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



 

 32 

Figure 7 – Orthopaedics: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated 
benefits as set out in the PCBC 

Change proposal 

• Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to establish 
a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire 

• Establish a dedicated day-case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic 
surgery 

Case for change (pre-pilot) 

• Lack of ‘protected’ planned orthopaedic 
surgery beds across ULHT means high 
volumes of medical emergencies 
experienced all year round result in 
fewer beds being available for planned 
orthopaedic surgery 

• On average, around 10 patients a month 
have planned orthopaedic surgery 
cancelled on day of surgery dues to a 
lack of beds, which is a poor experience 
for patients and their families 

• Failure to consistently set referral to 
treatment time targets – limited 
separation of planned and unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery made attainment 
and sustainment of target a challenge 

• High doctor and nurse vacancies 

Anticipated benefits (identified through 
pilot) 

• Reduction in waiting times for planned 
orthopaedic surgery, which means 
patients get seen quicker 

• Cancellation on the day of planned 
surgery due to lack of beds reduced 

• Length of stay reduced 

• ULHT out-performing many other 
hospitals in terms of length of stay 

• Improvement in overall patient experience 
and satisfaction 

• Number of patients going to the private 
sector for planned orthopaedic 
procedures, funded by the local NHS, 
reduced 

• Remove need for temporary staff to cover 
vacancies and make service more 
attractive to junior doctors which supports 
long term sustainability 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 166



 

 33 

Figure 8 – Urgent and emergency care: overview of change proposal, case for change and 
anticipated benefits as set out in the PCBC 

Change proposal 

• Grantham and District Hospital A&E department to become a 24/7 Urgent Treatment 
Centre (UTC) 

Case for change  

• National shortage of emergency 
medicine (A&E) doctors, which means 
greater competition between hospitals for 
doctors and over reliance on doctors 
employed on a temporary basis 

• Emergency medicine doctors are very 
difficult to secure, which in turn can lead 
to medical staffing vacancies and risk to 
patient care – which can ultimately lead 
to service and patient safety concerns 

• Limited success to recruit and retain staff 
to work in Lincolnshire’s A&E 
departments, despite huge efforts 

• Independent clinically-led reviews have 
concluded in interests of safety A&E 
department at Grantham and District 
Hospital should not reopen 24/7 unless 
sufficient staff can be recruited and 
retained on a long term sustainable basis 

• A&E service at Grantham and District 
Hospital has, since 2007/8, only dealt 
with a limited range of presenting 
emergency conditions and services are 
similar to UTC – yet description of the 
service as an A&E still in place 

• Using description of A&E for current 
service at Grantham and District 
Hospital creates unrealistic expectations 
and misunderstandings about level of 
service that is and can be provided from 
the site 

Anticipated benefits  

• 24/7 walk in urgent care would return to 
Grantham and District Hospital through a 
high quality service delivered in a 
sustainable way for the long term 

• Vast majority of patients (estimated to be 
around 97%) seen at Grantham and 
District Hospital A&E department would 
continue to be treated at the 24/7 Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTC) 

• The UTC would provide greater 
accessibility due to increased opening 
hours compared to the current A&E 
arrangements (currently closed between 
6.30pm and 8.00am). Access to treatment 
would further improve for children 
because the UTC team would broaden to 
include community and primary care staff 
(e.g. GPs) who are more experienced and 
familiar with treating children than a 
traditional, non-paediatric A&E team. 

• Patients would spend less time in the UTC 
compared to an A&E department due to 
the different model of assessment and 
management it uses. Specialist follow-up 
input would be arranged as required 

• The UTC would support better integration 
with primary care and community services 
and the provision of care closer to home 

• For a small number of patients (estimated 
to be around 3%, which is equivalent to 2 
patients a day on average) currently 
attending the Grantham and District 
Hospital A&E who wouldn’t be able to 
have their care needs met by the UTC, 
care would be received at an alternative 
site with the right facilities and expertise to 
ensure better clinical care outcomes 

 

 

 

Page 167



 

 34 

Figure 9 – Acute medicine: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated 
benefits as set out in the PCBC 

Change proposal 

• Develop integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham & District Hospital, in 
place of the current acute medical beds 

Case for change  

• Rising demand for acute medical bed 
services and more patients have complex 
needs 

• Local acute medical bed services 
struggle to recruit enough doctors and 
nurses which means i) services cannot 
consistently deliver the level of quality 
aspired to ii) need to fill vacancies with 
temporary staff, which is not always 
possible iii) increased service and patient 
safety concerns 

• Grantham and District Hospital faces 
further staffing challenges due to i) it’s 
A&E department sees a limited range of 
presenting emergency conditions 
because of small size and limited 
availability of specialist staff ii) which in 
turn means its medical beds treat fewer 
patients with a local level of care need 
compared to Lincoln County Hospital 
and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston 

Anticipated benefits  

• Acute medical provision would continue to 
be delivered at Grantham and District 
Hospital through a high quality service 
delivered in a sustainable way for the long 
term - including a more sustainable 
medical and nursing workforce. 

• The majority of patients (estimated to be 
around 90%) cared for in the acute 
medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital would continue to be cared for in 
the integrated community/acute medical 
beds 

• The proposed model would deliver a more 
comprehensive local service provision at 
Grantham hospital, specifically in relation 
to the ‘frail’ population, thereby reducing 
pressure on acute hospital sites at Lincoln 
and Boston 

• The preferred proposal for change would 
enable Grantham and District Hospital to 
build a centre of excellence for integrated 
multi-disciplinary care (particularly for frail 
patients), which supports both improved 
community-based management of long 
term conditions and reduced lengths of 
stay in hospital beds 

• An estimated 10% of patients (equivalent 
to 1 a day on average) currently cared for 
in the acute medical beds at Grantham 
and District Hospital would not be able to 
have their care needs met in the 
integrated community/ acute medical 
beds. Instead, they would receive their 
care at an alternative site with the right 
facilities and expertise to ensure the best 
outcomes 

 

Page 168



 

 35 

Figure 10 – Stroke: overview of change proposal, case for change and anticipated benefits 
as set out in the PCBC 

Change proposal 

• Consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, 
supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation team. 

Case for change  

• National best practice is hyper-acute 
stroke units should admit a minimum of 
600 patients a year – below this level 
doctors and nurses in hospital stroke 
services risk becoming deskilled, which 
in turn means patients may not get the 
best or safest care 

• Lincoln County Hospital admits around 
670 stroke patients a year and Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston around 500 patients a 
year 

• Even when considering growth in size 
and age of local population over next 5 
years Pilgrim Hospital, Boston is 
unlikely to admit 600 stroke patients a 
year, every year 

• More doctors, nurses and therapists are 
required to deliver existing hospital 
stroke services, but there are not 
enough locally or nationally – this 
means significant problems exist 
staffing current hospital stroke services 

• Both Lincoln County Hospital and 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston stroke 
services have struggled to consistently 
perform well in national audit of service 
quality and performance, despite skills 
and dedication of staff 

Anticipated benefits  

• Evidence that consolidating hyper-acute and 
acute stroke services on a smaller number of 
sites where specialised staff and equipment 
can be concentrated means patients are: 

➢ More likely to survive and recover more 
quickly. 

➢ More likely to have a reduced length of 
stay in hospital 

➢ More likely to continue to lead more 
fulfilling lives in the future, such as being 
able to return to work 

• Consolidating hospital stroke services helps 
address the significant workforce shortages 
and challenges experienced in these 
services by: 

➢ Concentrating specialist skills and 
expertise together to ensure clinical 
staff maintain and develop these to 
provide the safest and best possible 
care 

➢ Making hospital stroke services more 
attractive to doctors, nurses and 
therapists to work in 

➢ Reducing reliance on temporary, 
expensive staffing solutions 

• Consolidation of hospital stroke services on 
the Lincoln County Hospital site allows more 
patients to benefit from these services being 
located on the same hospital site as the 
highly successful Lincolnshire Heart Centre, 
which include: 

➢ Increased access to important time 
critical interventions 

➢ Increased access to acute imaging 
services, further reducing time to 
treatment 

• Consolidation of stroke services on the 
Lincoln County Hospital site ensures 
patients are closer to Nottingham’s Queen’s 
Medical Centre in the instance they require 
mechanical thrombectomy. 

 

Page 169



 

 36 

2.6.4 It should be noted that through the process and up to the stage of developing the PCBC 
numerous other options were considered and appraised. The change proposals described here 
are the ones that were identified as best addressing the challenges faced. 

 

2.7 Independent expert advice and assurance 

2.7.1 The four service change proposals contained within the PCBC had successfully passed 
through rigorous regional and national assurance processes. 

Clinical 

2.7.2 The East Midlands Clinical Senate is one of twelve Clinical Senates that were established 
across England in 2013. They were set up as a source of independent, objective and strategic 
advice and guidance to local health and care systems, to assist them to make the best 
decisions about healthcare for the populations they represent. 

2.7.3 On 11 July 2018, the clinical review team was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning Lincolnshire STP’s proposals. Specifically, the clinical 
review team was asked whether it supported Lincolnshire STP’s proposals based on clinical 
sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes. 

2.7.4 Following this meeting the panel recommended that the Lincolnshire STP proceeds with its 
proposals for orthopaedics and stroke, and the use of the word ‘Plus’ in UTC is dropped (which 
was agreed by the Lincolnshire system on the day at the end of the session.). The panel was of 
the opinion further work needed to be completed for the acute medical beds at Grantham 
Hospital. 

2.7.5 A supplementary clinical review took place on 12 September 2018 in relation to the acute 
medical beds at Grantham Hospital. The panel were left with the impression that all system 
partners are joined up on the future of medicine for Grantham, and that the proposal had 
changed significantly in a short period.  

2.7.6 All previous concerns were adequately addressed and the proposal was considered by the 
panel to be not only clinically acceptable but to represent an excellent example of the value of a 
team approach to finding solutions to the inevitable issues that result from service redesign. 

NHS regulator 

2.7.7 The PCBC met the requirements and regulatory processes of NHS England and Improvements 
(NHSEI), including: 

• The NHSEI Regional Panel 

• The NHSEI national assurance process 

 

2.8 Decision to proceed to consultation 

2.8.1 On 29 September 2021, following completion of the NHSEI assurance process outlined above, 
the PCBC was considered by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board, and the Board took the 
decision to proceed to public consultation. 

 

 

Page 170



 

 37 

3 Public Consultation 

3.1 Overview of consultation 

3.1.1 The consultation on the four proposed NHS service changes (orthopaedics, urgent and 
emergency care, acute medicine and stroke services) set out in the Pre Consultations Business 
case (and outlines in the previous chapter) was planned and delivered in line with national 
guidance, good practice and the statutory ‘Duty to Involve’. 

3.1.2 There is a legal duty on NHS organisations to involve patients and the public in the planning of 
service provision, the development of proposals for change and decisions about how services 
operate: 

• Section 242, of the NHS Act 2006, places a duty on the NHS to make arrangements to 
involve patients and the public in planning services, developing and considering proposals 
for changes in the way services are provided and decisions to be made that affect how 
those services operate  

• Section 244 requires NHS bodies to consult relevant local authority Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees on any proposals for substantial variations or substantial developments of 
health services. This duty is additional to the duty of involvement under section 242 (which 
applies to patients and the public rather than to Overview and Scrutiny Committees)  

• The NHS Act 2012, Section 14Z2 updated for Clinical Commissioning Groups places a 
duty on CCGs to make arrangements to ensure that individuals to whom the services are 
being or may be provided are involved (whether by being consulted or provided with 
information or in other ways):  

▪ In the planning of the commissioning arrangements by the group  

▪ In the development and consideration or proposals by the group for changes in the 
commissioning arrangements where the implementation of the proposals would have 
an impact on the manner in which the services are delivered to the individuals or the 
range of health services available to them  

▪ In decisions of the group affecting the operation of the commissioning arrangements 
where the implementation of the decisions would (if made) have such an impact 

3.1.3 NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was the NHS organisation legally 
responsible for approving the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) and agreeing to 
proceed to a public consultation on the four Lincolnshire NHS service change proposals set out 
within it. Decision-making responsibility, through the Decision Making Business Case (DMBC)  
following the public consultation also falls solely with NHS Lincolnshire CCG.  

3.1.4 Through public bodies giving an account of their plans or proposals and listening to feedback, 
public consultation promotes accountability and assists decision making. 

3.1.5 To provide additional independent and external assurance, the NHS Lincolnshire CCG 
appointed the Consultation Institute to provide an assessment of the public consultation. The 
Consultation Institute provided a six stage Quality Assurance Assessment, which is a 
structured assurance programme designed to provide organisations undertaking a public 
consultation with a high level of assurance that their activities are in line with best-practice 
expectations. These are outlined in the Consultation Institutes Consultation Charter, the UK 
government’s Consultation Principles and UK case law. 

3.1.6 It should be noted, however, that consultations are not referenda or ‘votes’ in which the loudest 
voices or the greatest numbers automatically determine the outcome. The feedback received 
often reflects widely varied and sometimes polarised views, and it is important to report these 
concerns and contrary views robustly, in order for decision-makers to be able to 
conscientiously consider the issues raised. 

3.1.7 To support this consideration NHS Lincolnshire CCG appointed an independent organisation, 
Opinion Research Services (ORS – a company that grew out of Swansea University with a UK-
wide reputation for social research and major statutory consultations), to analyse and report the 
outcomes of the public consultation with members of the public, clinicians and other NHS staff, 
and other stakeholders. 

Page 171



 

 38 

3.1.8 It is also important to note that it is not ORS’ role to ‘make the case’ for the proposals, or to 
make any recommendations as to how decision makers should use the reported results. It is for 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG to take decisions based on all of the evidence available, of which 
consultation feedback is one part. 

3.1.9 NHS Lincolnshire CCG is also required to make sure the consultation activities meet the 
requirements of The Equality Act 2010, which requires a demonstration of how the Public 
Sector Equality Duty is being met. 

3.1.10 An overview of the consultation process is provided below. More detail is available in Appendix 
A, which contains the Communications and Consultation Activity Report, and Appendix O 
(Consultation Plan) of the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC). 

 

3.2 Overview of consultation process 

3.2.1 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG launched the public consultation on 30 September 2021, and it ran 
for 12 weeks until 23 December 2021. The approach to consultation was underpinned by the 
Gunning principles which say consultations must have the following principles applied: 

• When proposals are still at a formative stage 

• Sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’ 

• Adequate time for consideration and response 

• Must be ‘conscientiously’ taken into account 

3.2.2 In line with the Consultation Plan, a suite of materials was produced, which included the main 
consultation document (which benefited from the input of patient representatives), a summary 
document, a leaflet and feedback questionnaire (all of which were translated into languages 
relevant to the local population), as well as supplementary information, including videos that 
described the process to date and the proposed changes. 

3.2.3 It was agreed with the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire that to further extend the 
reach of the consultation, Royal Mail would be commissioned to deliver consultation leaflets to 
all households in Lincolnshire.   

3.2.4 During the consultation period, views were invited through: 

• A consultation questionnaire for all residents, staff, stakeholders and organisations; the 
questionnaire was available online (hosted by ORS) and paper questionnaires were widely 
circulated and available on request. An easy read version and translated documents were 
also available 

• Independently facilitated engagement designed and conducted by ORS: 

▪ A telephone residents survey; and 

▪ Independently-facilitated online focus groups and 1:1 in-depth interviews with 
members of the public (delivered by ORS) 

• Engagement activities undertaken by NHS Lincolnshire CCG including: 

▪ Face-to-face and online public events, and a ‘virtual’ 24/7 event 

▪ Meetings with staff members, stakeholders and service users 

▪ ‘Pop-up’ engagement activities at market days across Lincolnshire 

• Written or email submissions from residents, staff, stakeholders and organisations 

3.2.5 In addition petitions were submitted by two local campaign groups to ORS. 

3.2.6 The consultation methods reflected the government guidelines in force at the time relating to 
Covid-19, while continuing to ensure the needs of all communities were met. 

 

 

Page 172



 

 39 

3.2.7 The public consultation was supported by a comprehensive communication strategy: 

• Consultation leaflets commissioned to be delivered to over 370,000 households across 
Lincolnshire (and some over the county border) 

• 93 media articles appeared in over 300 separate locations across TV, radio, print and 
online 

• 25 advertisements placed in county wide newspapers 

• 431 NHS social media posts and tweets seen by over 260,000 people, of whom 7,700 
directly engaged and 784 clicked through to the consultation questionnaire. 

3.2.8 Consultation materials were made available in hard copy, as well as via a dedicated section of 
the CCG website. Material was also available in different formats and languages. 

3.2.9 Consultation materials were also distributed through the network of the NHS organisation 
communications and engagement teams, including United Hospitals Lincolnshire NHS Trust 
(ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust (LCHS), and available in 
locations such as GP surgeries, libraries, clinics, food banks, Parish Councils and community 
venues.   

3.2.10 A pack of consultation promotional materials was sent to all 84 GP surgeries in Lincolnshire. 
The total materials distributed were: 2,550 A5 flyers, 850 A4 posters and 425 questionnaires.  

3.2.11 Partner organisations and key stakeholder groups were also asked to share these materials on 
our behalf via their online methods and extensive venue and distribution lists. 

3.2.12 In addition to both the traditional and social media methods focussed work was also 
undertaken to ensure those from seldom heard groups and those with protected characteristics 
were able to consider the proposals from the perspective of the relevant characteristics. 

3.2.13 Consultation materials were sent to groups aligned with the nine protected characteristics, as 
set out in the Equality Act 2010, requesting they consider the proposals from the perspective of 
those they support. An overview of the groups contacted is set out below. 

Figure 11 – Overview of specific groups contacted during the public consultation 

Audience Consultation distribution 

Age – Older  
 
 

Document, questionnaire, leaflet, poster and link to website 
emailed directly 172 contacts: 

• Vitality (exercise groups for over 60s) 

• Senior Citizens club 

• Age UK 

• PPGs 

Age - Young  39 young groups such as: 

• Children’s Centres 

• Grantham Youth Centre 

• Homestart Lincolnshire 

• Action for Children  

• Schools and sixth forms 

Disability - Physical 58 Groups including: 

• Grantham and District talking newspaper for the blind 

• MS Society 

• Deaf Society 

• Lincolnshire Sensory Services 

• Sickle Cell Society  

Page 173



 

 40 

Audience Consultation distribution 

Disability – Mental Impairment 37 groups including: 

• Lincoln Dementia Café 

• Lincolnshire Autism Society 

• Lincolnshire Neurological Alliance  

Gender reassignment 8 Groups including: 

• University of Lincoln LGBT+ Society 

• Just Lincolnshire  

• Lincolnshire parents of LGBT+ children 

• Transhaven Boston 

Pregnancy and Maternity 108 groups including: 

• Little SNapps (Boston premature baby group) 

• Better births and Lincolnshire Maternity Voices 

• Sleaford breastfeeding group  

• Parent and toddler groups 

Race/ethnicity 30 groups including: 

• Lincolnshire Traveller Initiative  

• Just Lincolnshire  

• BME Inclusion Services  

• Factories with Eastern European workforce 

Religion/belief  30 groups including: 

• Salvation Army  

• Churches Together in Grantham and District  

• Samaritans 

• Lincoln Mosque 

• Sleaford Islamic Centre 

Gender 30 Groups including: 

• The Women’s Institute  

• Dad’s Saturday Club in Grantham 

• Active Lincolnshire 

Sexual Orientation 15 groups including: 

• Gay Outdoor Club 

• LGBT+ Sleaford 

• University of Lincoln LGBT+ Society  

Carers 
 

• Carers First 

• EveryOne 

• Lincolnshire Parent Carer Forum 

Economically deprived • Towns identified from community profiling  

• Foodbanks 

• Job Centres  

• Citizens Advice  

• Homeless 

Rurality  • Farming community 

• Parish Councils 

Veterans • Via CCG Involvement Champions 

 

Page 174



 

 41 

3.2.14 The consultation team offered to attend meetings on request from community groups and other 
organisations. 

3.2.15 When the Consultation Plan was developed it was recognised it would need to be ‘dynamic’ in 
nature. There were a number of ways throughout the public consultation in which feedback 
from the public and other stakeholders allowed continuous adjustment to be made to improve 
delivery. 

3.2.16 These included additional events, organising additional media coverage to further clarify details 
of service change proposals (such as a full page advertorial in Grantham Journal explaining 
better some frequent confusion we heard with regard to the acute medical beds proposal), and 
holding weekly staff meetings to ensure we shared best practise regarding the most common 
feedback themes and what elements of these need particular care and attention to discuss 
accurately and in a way that was most helpful to the public. 

3.2.17 Examples of additional events covered include: 

• Attendance at Skegness Town Council meeting on 1 December 2021 to present the public 
consultation as an agenda item 

• Attendance at Boston Primary Care Network board meeting on 9 December 2021 to 
discuss as an agenda item at the request of a locality lead. 

• Establishment of an additional consultation event in Louth on 14 December 2021 at the 
request of patient representatives and a local councillor 

3.2.18 An independent Equality Review (see Appendix B) of the consultation process was completed 
to determine whether reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the consultation was 
inclusive and met the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty as defined in the Equality 
Act 2010. 

3.2.19 It found that the CCG made reasonable attempts in a variety of ways to reach the protected 
groups identified in the area, particularly those who would be affected by the options proposed 
and decisions taken. This included undertaking a midpoint review to identify and close any 
gaps in responses, more targeted communication to reach all groups and additional recruitment 
activities with LGB&T+ and BAME communities. 

3.2.20 The CCG also responded to requests for involvement from different community groups by 
making adjustments throughout the process such as running additional events in certain 
geographies and providing information in different formats.  

3.2.21 An overview of the public consultation responses is set out below. 

Figure 12 – Overview of public consultation response 

 

Page 175



 

 42 

3.3 Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 

3.3.1 In accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006 and Regulation 23 of The Local 
Authority Regulations 2013 the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee was requested to 
respond to the consultation. 

3.3.2 The consultation team, including relevant clinicians, attended one informal and two formal 
meetings with the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) during the consultation period 
to discuss the consultation process and change proposals: 

• 13 October 2021 – Consultation process 

• 10 November 2021 – Stroke and urgent and emergency care proposals 

• 15 November 2021 – Orthopaedics and acute medicine proposals 

3.3.3 Following these meetings, the Lincolnshire HSC wrote to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG with its 
response to the consultation proposals, which was based on the consultation questionnaire. 
The HSC’s response together with the responses of the Lincolnshire health system is set out 
further in the next two chapters. 

Page 176



 

 43 

4 Overview of Public Consultation Findings 

4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 The public consultation process on the change proposals set out in the Pre Consultation 
Business Case enabled a robust and detailed dialogue with an extensive range of 
stakeholders. The final full independent public consultation report provides detailed analysis 
and presentation of both quantitative and qualitative responses for all consultation proposals, 
including a selection of qualitative free text responses to illustrate the range of feedback 
received. 

4.1.2 It is not the intention of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) to repeat all of this but 
rather to focus on specific issues that need to be highlighted to decision-makers and the 
responses of relevant subject matter experts. The full independent consultation report should 
be read in full and can be found in Appendix C, and an overview is provided in this chapter. 

4.1.3 To support this consideration, for each of the four change proposals the feedback received 
through the public consultation has been themed and the type of feedback defined. These 
definitions are: 

• In support of proposal (S) 

• In opposition of proposal (O) 

• Additional consideration (AC) 

• Mitigation (M) 

• Alternative option (AO) 

4.1.4 It should be noted that feedback received through the consultation can fall into more than one 
of the types described above given they are not mutually exclusive. 

4.1.5 The key findings identified in the independent report on the consultation feedback are set out in 
the remainder of this chapter by theme and type, and the responses are provided in the 
following chapter. 

4.1.6 As part of The Consultation Institute’s Quality Review, they undertook a review of the draft 
consultation feedback report from Opinion Research Services (ORS), and it was ensured they 
had early sight of the emerging themes and issues and were able to discuss with us how it was 
planned to consider and respond to these within the Decision Making Business Case. 

4.1.7 A summary of the main findings from the consultation feedback report is set out below. 

There was broad support across all elements of the consultation for the need for 
change, and overall agreement with each of the four proposals 

There were however, two proposals where slightly more concerns were raised, and there 
was evidence of differing views between those living in different areas of Lincolnshire: 

 A slight majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to       
Grantham Hospital disagreed with the Urgent and Emergency Care proposal 

     A majority of consultation questionnaire respondents living nearest to Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston disagreed with the proposal relating to Stroke services 

Some equalities concerns were raised about or by particular groups or communities. 
They focused on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to 
private transport. Specific groups mentioned in this regard included: older people; 
people with disabilities and long-term conditions and co-morbidities; people living in 
rural and isolated communities, areas of deprivation or with low incomes; and people 
with learning disabilities and neurodiverse people such as those with ASD. 

Across the consultation, evidence suggests that individuals’ views and feedback on the 
proposals were commonly informed most strongly by their area of residence, rather 
than in light of any protected or other demographic characteristics. 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

Page 177



 

 44 

4.2 The need for change 

There was broad support for the overall need for change across all elements of the 
consultation 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

4.2.1 The consultation questionnaire identified that over two thirds of the individuals (72% of NHS 
staff and 70% of other individuals) who responded to the questionnaire either tended to agree 
or strongly agreed with the need for changes to be made in response to challenges facing NHS 
hospital services in Lincolnshire. Less than a quarter (23% and 24% respectively) either tended 
to disagree or strongly disagreed. 

4.2.2 Support among the Lincolnshire population as a whole was overwhelming, with 88% of 
residents (+/- 6%) agreeing that changes should be made in principle, while just 2% disagreed. 

Figure 13 – Views on the need for change to respond to challenges in delivering NHS 
services in Lincolnshire (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone 
survey, by stakeholder type)  

 

 

4.2.3 Among the 16 organisations that submitted questionnaire responses, 13 agreed with the need 
for changes to be made to address challenges, 2 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 1 
disagreed. 

4.2.4 In the feedback received across the consultation programme, the issues most commonly raised 
in regard to the need for change were those of increasing pressure on NHS services in 
Lincolnshire, challenges related to recruitment and retention of staff, and waiting times for both 
hospital appointments and urgent and emergency care.  

 

4.3 Orthopaedic surgery 

There was also broad support for the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at 
Grantham and District Hospital for Lincolnshire’s patients to receive planned and day 
case orthopaedic surgery, with a dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for 
planned orthopaedic surgery, across all elements of the consultation. 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

4.3.1 The consultation questionnaire identified that over two thirds of NHS staff who responded 
(68%) and three fifths (61%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly 
agreed with the proposal for orthopaedic surgery in Lincolnshire. Around a quarter (24%) of 
NHS staff and three in ten (29%) of other respondents either tended to disagree or strongly 
disagreed. 

Page 178



 

 45 

4.3.2 Support for the proposal for orthopaedic surgery among the Lincolnshire population as a whole 
was even stronger, with over three quarters (78%) of residents (+/- 6%) agreeing with the 
proposed changes, while just over one in ten (11%) disagreed. 

Figure 14 – Views on the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at Grantham and 
District Hospital for Lincolnshire’s patients to receive planned and day care orthopaedic 
surgery, with a dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned 
orthopaedic surgery (from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone 
survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

4.3.3 Among the 16 organisations that submitted questionnaire responses, 9 agreed with the 
proposals for orthopaedic services, 2 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 4 disagreed.  

4.3.4 In feedback, support for the proposal to create a Centre of Excellence for planned orthopaedic 
surgery at Grantham and District Hospital was often linked to the perceived benefits in terms of 
reduced waiting times and fewer cancellations of planned surgery. 

4.3.5 Disagreement tended to focus on the loss of emergency orthopaedic surgery from Grantham 
and was linked to opponents to proposals to make changes to urgent and emergency care at 
Grantham and District Hospital. 

4.3.6 Other concerns were also expressed, both by those who agreed with the proposal and those 
who disagreed; these included the implications for travel and access, staffing across two sites, 
and which services might be delivered locally in the community. 

4.3.7 Several specific groups such as older people, people on low incomes, those without access to 
private vehicles, and people with disabilities were mentioned as being particularly vulnerable to 
impacts as a result of longer or more expensive journeys to hospitals. Patients with co-
morbidities were also mentioned, including those who might require access to kidney dialysis 
while in hospital. 

4.3.8 A number of mitigations, alternative suggestions and additional considerations around 
orthopaedic surgery in Lincolnshire were also put forward. 

4.3.9 An overview of the themed consultation feedback relating to the orthopaedic proposals is set 
out below. The full break down of the comments and concerns put forward by respondents 
through all the public consultation engagement activities against each of these themes is 
included in Appendix D. 

 

 

 

Page 179



 

 46 

Figure 15 – Orthopaedics: Overview of the feedback on proposal  

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Quality / Workforce 

• Ongoing improvements in quality of care 

• Ongoing improvements in staff recruitment and retention 

• Could staffing 2 separate centres present challenges to recruitment 

• Negative impacts on quality/timeliness of emergency orthopaedic care 

• Proposal will not address issues around staff recruitment and retention 

• Short term plan to cope with deep rooted problems not addressed 

• Confirmation best practice rehab would be put in place under changes 

• Communication between care facilities needs to be addressed urgently 

• NHS Lincolnshire should work with and learn from private hospitals 

• Proposal includes no provision for unforeseen emergencies arising 

• Concerns over metrics and factual inaccuracies in documentation 

• Concerns Grantham will be able to cope with increased demand 

• Ensure policies and pathways are robust 

• Lack of evidence and information in relation to changes at Grantham. 

• Not clear how many patients would choose to have surgery out of county  

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Access 

• Benefits of access to specialist centre would outweigh increased travel 

• Reassurance about Pre-Op/Post-Op/fracture clinics still provided locally  

• All sites should be available for planned and unplanned care  

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

   

 

✓ 

Interdependency with Urgent and Emergency Care 

• Orthopaedic proposal linked to UEC change proposals 

• Less serious fractures will be required to travel to other hospitals 

• Emergency orthopaedics should be retained at Grantham 

• Emergency orthopaedics should remain at hospitals with A&E/Intens.Care 

• Grantham Hospital should be a centre of excellence for all services  

 ✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

  

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

Travel and transport 

• Concerns about travel and transport to Louth Hospital 

• Concerns about travel and transport to Grantham Hospital  

• Not LCC role to facilitate transport in response to NHS service changes 

• Mitigations which might address challenges include: More patient 
transport services; working with LA to explore public transport 
improvements; more follow-up appointments in community  

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

Equalities and health inequalities 

• Older people / people on low incomes / older people/people without 
private vehicles / people with disabilities identified as particularly 
vulnerable to proposed changes 

• Review eligibility criteria for patient transport services 

• Challenge of ensuring equitable access in large, rural county 

• People with disabilities might not find same support elsewhere 

• Ability of carers not being able to travel to Grantham 

• Running down of Grantham/Louth is endangering people living a distance 
from Lincoln/Pilgrim 

• Travellers/Gypsies being left behind as cannot access on-line/read letters 

• Cost to NHS of patient transport outweighs benefits of proposal 

• Concerns support to deaf people not available at other sites 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 
 
 
✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 
 
✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Facilities 

• Grantham Hospital in poor state on maintenance / build a new centre   ✓  ✓ 

S = In support of proposal;      O = In opposition of proposal;      AC = Additional consideration;                
M = Mitigation;      AO = Alternative option 

Page 180



 

 47 

4.3.10 In summary, the feedback on the orthopaedics change proposal identified: 

• Support across both consultation questionnaire and telephone survey 

• Recognition of benefits in terms of reduced waiting times and fewer cancellations 

• Links made to reduction of Urgent and Emergency Care at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Concerns around implications for travel and access and staffing  

• Older people, people on low incomes, those without access to private vehicles, and people 
with disabilities in particular identified as being particularly vulnerable to impacts of change 

• Mitigations for travel challenges put forward: more patient transport, working with the Local 
Authority to explore transport improvements, more follow up appointments in community  

 

4.4 Urgent and emergency care 

There was overall support for the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services 
in Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

4.4.1 The consultation questionnaire identified that around three fifths of NHS staff who responded 
(61%) and half (50%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly agreed 
with the proposal to create a UTC at Grantham and District Hospital. Around three in ten (29%) 
of NHS staff and two fifths (41%) of other individual respondents either tended to disagree or 
strongly disagreed. 

4.4.2 Support for the proposal for urgent and emergency care among the Lincolnshire population as 
a whole was much stronger, with over four fifths (81%) of residents (+/- 6%) agreeing with the 
proposed changes, while approximately one in eight (12%) disagreed. 

Figure 16 – Views on the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in 
Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre at Grantham and District Hospital (from the 
consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

4.4.3 Among the 14 organisations that submitted questionnaire responses, 8 agreed with the 
proposals for urgent and emergency care in Grantham, 2 neither agreed nor disagreed, and 4 
disagreed.  

4.4.4 There was, however, evidence of differing views on the proposal between those living in 
different areas of Lincolnshire. 

 

 

Page 181



 

 48 

4.4.5 It is important to note that there is evidence that concerns about the proposals for urgent and 
emergency care are strongest among those living nearest to Grantham and District Hospital. 
This is most particularly marked in the questionnaire responses, in which just over half (51%) of 
all individual respondents living closest to Grantham and District Hospital expressed 
disagreement with the proposal, compared to 44% who agreed. 

4.4.6 The residents telephone survey indicates that there is majority support among the resident 
population, including those living closest to Grantham and District Hospital, three quarters 
(75%) of whom agree with the proposals. There was nonetheless evidence of concern as well, 
with nearly a quarter (24%) of residents disagreeing with the proposals. 

4.4.7 Just over a third of questionnaire respondents (35%) living closest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston 
also expressed disagreement with the proposals for urgent and emergency care, with just 
under half (49%) expressing agreement. By contrast, the telephone survey indicated that the 
vast majority of residents (86%) living closest to Pilgrim Hospital either tended to agree or 
strongly agreed with the proposed changes. 

Figure 17 – Views on the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in 
Grantham via an Urgent Treatment Centre at Grantham and District Hospital (from the 
consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by closest hospital) 

 

4.4.8 Support for the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services at Grantham and District 
Hospital was most commonly based on the view that a local 24-hour UTC is preferable to a 
limited-hours A&E department that is not able to meet the needs of all patients. 

4.4.9 Disagreement with the proposal for a new 24/7 walk-in Urgent Treatment Centre in Grantham 
was most commonly based on the view that anything less than a fully equipped and staffed 
Emergency Department at Grantham and District Hospital would be unacceptable, rather than 
a desire for services to remain unchanged. 

4.4.10 Many of the concerns expressed about the proposal were shared by those who agreed and 
those who disagreed with the proposals; for the former, these were potential issues to be 
considered and mitigated against while, for those who disagreed, they were reasons to reject 
the proposals for a 24/7 UTC and increase service provision at Grantham and District Hospital. 

4.4.11 Concerns around potential impacts of the proposals focused predominantly on travel and 
transport; there was also positive feedback about the benefits of 24-hour access to local urgent 
care services. 

4.4.12 Analysis of questionnaire and survey responses did not indicate that there were any strong 
differences in views or specific concerns being expressed by respondents from groups with 
protected characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010 (e.g., age, ethnicity, gender). Instead, 
the evidence indicates that it is local concerns that account for differences in views, with 
members of different demographic or protected characteristics groups tending to share the 
views of others living in the same area. 

Page 182



 

 49 

4.4.13 Where concerns were raised in feedback about particular groups (e.g., older people, people 
with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas), the focus was 
predominantly on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private 
transport. In consultation feedback from individuals' with protected characteristics or other key 
demographics, their views on the proposals were typically informed most strongly by their area 
of residence, regardless of any other demographic characteristics. 

4.4.14 The one example of a slight difference was that, in the residents survey, there was evidence 
that residents with disabilities or long-term health conditions that limited their day-to-day 
activities a lot, were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely to disagree) with 
proposals around urgent and emergency care at Grantham and District Hospital than other 
residents (although there was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback 
indicated that concerns about the proposal were again focused on concerns about travel and 
access to alternative sites, and the need for local acute emergency services at all hospitals. 

4.4.15 A number of mitigations, alternative suggestions and additional considerations around urgent 
and emergency care in Lincolnshire were also identified 

4.4.16 An overview of the themed consultation feedback relating to the urgent and emergency care 
proposals is set out below. The full break down of the comments, messages and concerns put 
forward by respondents through all the public consultation engagement activities against each 
of these themes is included in Appendix D. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 183



 

 50 

Figure 18 – Urgent and emergency care: Overview of feedback 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Condition treated at 24/7 UTC at Grantham and District Hospital 

• High % of visitors to Lincoln/Peterborough A&Es could be treated locally 

• 24hr access to walk in UTC might relieve pressure on Lincoln A&E 

• Represents a reasonable ‘real world’ compromise 

• Reassurance 24hr UTC appropriate for majority of patients OOH 

• Recognition most people requiring full A&E services travel by ambulance 

• Concerns about quality of A&Es at Lincoln and Boston 

• Statement Grantham did not have a Level 1 A&E from 2007 is incorrect 

• Vital UTC at Grantham should always operate as a walk-in service 

• Concerns opening times would drop later to 12hr opening from 24/7 

• Assurance 111 refer to Grantham Hospital and they are on database 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Full A&E and hospital service provision at Grantham and District Hospital 

• 24hr UTC viewed as preferrable to current limited service A&E 

• Vast majority of those who rejected proposal did so because want a full 
24/7 A&E department 

• Additional Nurse ACPs be trained to compensate for shortage of 
consultants 

• Offer A&E services during the day, with UTC in operation overnight only 

• Maintain A&E services at Grantham and provide dedicated separate walk-
in service run by nurses 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

  

 
 

✓ 

 

 
 

 
 

✓ 

✓ 

Ambulance conveyance 

• Concerns to risk to life due to increased travel times 

• Concerns about services becoming more ‘spread-out’ given geography 

• NHS 111 needs to be informed this is being proposed 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 
 

 

✓ 

  

 

 

Workforce and organisational integration 

• Recruiting/retaining staff to proposed UTC will not be straightforward 

• Issue of staff recruitment is not specific to A&E doctors 

• Need to ensure safeguarding and IT systems operate well in future model  

 

 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Travel and transport 

• Impact on patients due to poor transport links 

• Impact on visitor’s journeys and subsequent impact on patient recovery 

• Climate change implications when patients have to travel further 

• More patient transport options be offered between hospital sites 

• ULHT should provide emergency/non-emergency transfer to local A&Es 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

Equalities and health inequalities 

• Concerns raised in feedback about particular groups – older people, 
people with disabilities, those from more deprived communities, living in 
rural areas – focus predominantly on travel and transport, particularly 
those with limited access to private transport 

• Travel and accessibility was a concern for multiple organisations, even for 
some who agreed with the proposals 

  ✓ 

 

 

✓ 

  

Similar UTC provided at Stamford and Spalding 

• A similar urgent treatment service be provided at Stamford 

• Run a pilot to see if 24hour cover should be provided at Spalding 

  ✓ 

✓ 

  

New specialist hospital 

• Build a new specialist hospital near Sleaford for all emergency care     ✓ 

S = In support of proposal;      O = In opposition of proposal;      AC = Additional consideration;                
M = Mitigation;      AO = Alternative option 

Page 184



 

 51 

4.4.17 In summary, the feedback on the urgent and emergency care change proposal identified: 

• Support across consultation questionnaire responses, particularly from staff, and the 
telephone survey 

• Concerns about the proposals for urgent and emergency care are strongest among those 
living nearest to Grantham and District Hospital - this is most particularly marked in the 
questionnaire responses 

• Residents telephone survey indicates majority support among the resident population, 
including those living closest to Grantham and District Hospital 

• Support for proposal was most commonly based on the view that a local 24-hour UTC is 
preferable to a limited-hours A&E department that is not able to meet the needs of all 
patients. 

• Disagreement with the proposal was most commonly based on the view that anything less 
than a fully equipped and staffed Emergency Department would be unacceptable - rather 
than a desire for services to remain unchanged. 

• Where concerns were raised in feedback about particular groups (e.g., older people, 
people with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas), the 
focus was predominantly on travel and transport - particularly for those with limited access 
to private transport. 

• Evidence that residents with disabilities or long-term health conditions that limited their day-
to-day activities a lot, were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely to disagree) 
with proposals than other residents (although there was still majority agreement) – 
concerns were about travel and access to alternative sites and the need for local acute 
emergency services at all hospitals 

 

4.5 Acute medical beds 

There was broad agreement with the proposal for community/acute medical beds, seen 
by many as an opportunity to better integrate hospital and community services to 
benefit patients 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

4.5.1 There was majority support for the proposals to provide integrated community/acute medical 
beds across all stakeholder and consultation strands. Of note, however, is evidence of a level 
of uncertainty about the proposal, with many consultation respondents indicating that they 
neither agreed nor disagreed with the proposals, or that they felt unable to provide a view. It is 
reasonable to assume that this may reflect a lack of familiarity with acute medical beds among 
respondents and residents compared to the other acute services addressed in the consultation. 

4.5.2 Just over three fifths (62%) of NHS employees in the open questionnaire agreed with the 
proposals to provide integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital, with fewer than one in five (18%) expressing disagreement.  

4.5.3 There was also majority agreement from other individual questionnaire respondents (53%), 
with just under a quarter (24%) disagreeing. As noted above, among NHS staff and other 
individuals who took part in the questionnaire, between one fifth and a quarter of respondents 
neither agreed nor disagreed with this proposal. 

4.5.4 Over three quarters (78%, +/- 6%) of Lincolnshire residents expressed support for the 
proposals, with around one in ten (11%) disagreeing and a similar proportion (12%) neither 
agreeing nor disagreeing. 

Page 185



 

 52 

Figure 19 – Views on the proposal to provide integrated community/acute medical beds 
at Grantham and District Hospital (from the consultation questionnaire and residents 
telephone survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

4.5.5 Of the 12 organisations that submitted questionnaire responses, 7 agreed with the proposals, 2 
neither agreed nor disagreed, and 3 disagreed. 

4.5.6 Across consultation feedback, those who agreed with the proposal to provide integrated 
community/acute medical beds felt that it would provide benefits such as more efficient care, 
with patients being discharged more quickly while continuing to receive treatment and care in 
their communities. Indeed, staff and patient representatives said they would like to see this 
model replicated across the Trust. 

4.5.7 Those disagreeing with the proposal felt that Grantham and District Hospital should be a fully 
serviced hospital with acute medical beds (as opposed to integrated medical beds), especially 
given the need to account for the area’s growing and ageing population. There were also 
concerns around negative impacts on quality of care, and the potential for increased pressure 
on other hospital sites. 

4.5.8 Other concerns expressed were around overall bed numbers, costs, staff shortages, and 
capacity within primary and social care services. Further clarity was sought on the impact of the 
proposals on overall bed space at Grantham and District Hospital, and concerns were 
expressed about capacity within the other services that are essential in facilitating change - 
adult social care and primary care for example. 

4.5.9 Other worries focused on the cost of implementing the changes and the anticipated increase in 
staff workloads. Moreover, the latter would, it was felt, be compounded by shortages among 
community- and hospital-based staff, both of whom are crucial to the successful 
implementation of this proposal. 

4.5.10 Positively, it was said that patients would be seen to quicker, resulting in more efficient care, 
and would further benefit by being discharged back into their community more quickly. Elderly 
or frail patients were highlighted as particularly benefiting from this. 

4.5.11 In feedback from individuals' with protected characteristics or other key demographics, their 
views on the proposals were typically informed most strongly by their area of residence, 
regardless of any other demographic characteristics. 

4.5.12 One exception was that evidence suggested that residents with the most limiting disabilities or 
long-term health conditions were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely than other 
residents to disagree) with proposals around acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital (although there was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback 
indicated that their concerns were focused on loss of acute services and travel and access to 
alternative sites. 

4.5.13 A number of mitigations, alternative suggestions and additional considerations around acute 
medical beds in Lincolnshire were also identified. 

Page 186



 

 53 

4.5.14 An overview of the themed consultation feedback relating to the acute medical beds proposals 
is set out below. The full break down of the comments, messages and concerns put forward by 
respondents through all the public consultation engagement activities against each of these 
themes is included in Appendix D. 

Figure 20 – Acute medicine: Overview of feedback 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Quality / Workforce 

• Provide benefits: more efficient care, quicker discharge, local care 

• Likely improve recruitment and retention 

• Need to make sure staff are available to support whole pathway 

• Other services need to be involved to enable change 

• Cost of implementing changes and increased workload 

• Community staff in short supply as well as hospital staff 

• CCG proposed to place patients with complex needs out of hospital 

• No reference to Grantham hospital as a training hospital 

• Adequate staffing/resource required for 7-day service 

• Difficulty accessing GPs means minor illnesses not treated 

• Huge recruitment drive is needed for all staff groups 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Condition treated at 24/7 UTC at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Concerns if proposed UTC is developed with extended range of services 
compared to other similar centres, there is a risk withdrawing any of these 
would impact on arrangements for proposal 

• NHS 111 needs to be fully informed of who can be sent to Grantham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓  
 
 

✓ 

 

 

 

Full A&E and hospital service provision at Grantham and District Hospital 

• Grantham Hospital should be fully serviced hospital with acute medical 
beds 

• Proposal does not take into account growing/ageing Grantham population 

• Concerns about negative impact on quality of care 

 ✓ 
 

✓ 

✓ 

   

 

 

Acute Care Unit (ACU) 

• What happened to ACU? Why has ACU been closed? 

• Propose not to replace Acute Service Unit 

• Specific concerns about lack of provision of Level 2 respiratory beds  

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

Ambulance conveyance 

• Will be additional impact put onto EMAS to transfer patients   ✓   

Facilities 

• Further clarity sought on impact on bed space at Grantham hospital ✓ ✓    

Equalities and health inequalities 

• Patients seen quicker and discharged quicker, particularly elderly/frail 

• Reduces pressure on acute hospital sites at Lincoln and Boston 

  ✓ 

✓ 

  

Travel and transport 

• Non urgent hospital transfer may also be affected   ✓   

Alternative suggestions 

• Blood tests should be available 

• Establish acute and rehab pathways 

• Provide ‘half way house’ care wards 

• Acute medical beds should not be provided at Grantham 

• Hospital and ongoing social care should be staffed by integrated MDTs 

• Develop district nurse type role to go into people’s homes 

    ✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

Page 187



 

 54 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Criticism over lack of detailed information 

• Criticism over lack of detailed information on the integrated model in 
consultation document 

  ✓   

Additional considerations 

• Staff / PPG representatives would like to see model replicated elsewhere 

• Mental health beds should be treated as a priority in future planning 

• Develop research and development linked to university 

• Patients with chronic health conditions / co-morbidities should be 
centralised 

  ✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

  

 

S = In support of proposal;      O = In opposition of proposal;      AC = Additional consideration;     
M = Mitigation;      AO = Alternative option 

 

4.5.15 In summary, the feedback on the acute medical bed change proposal identified: 

• Support across staff consultation questionnaire responses and telephone survey – still 53% 
of ‘other individual’ questionnaire responses supported 

• Recognition of benefits such as patients seen quicker, more efficient care, with patients 
being discharged more quickly while continuing to receive treatment and care in their 
communities – particularly for frail/elderly people 

• Concerns expressed around overall bed numbers, costs, staff shortages, capacity within 
primary and social care services and cost to implement 

 

4.6 Stroke services 

There was also majority support for the proposal to create a Centre of Excellence for 
acute and hyper-acute stroke at Lincoln County Hospital, supported by an enhanced 
community stroke rehabilitation service across the consultation as a whole, however 
views did vary somewhat across different areas in Lincolnshire 

ORS Public Consultation Feedback Report May 2022 

4.6.1 More than half (53%) of NHS staff responding to the consultation questionnaire agreed with the 
proposal for stroke services, while approximately two fifths (39%) disagreed. This was also the 
case with other individual respondents to the questionnaire, half of whom expressed agreement 
(51%) and just over a third (38%) disagreed. 

4.6.2 Among Lincolnshire residents, there was more support for the proposed changes; 
approximately three quarters (72%, +/- 6%) of residents agreed with the proposal, with a little 
over one in five (22%) expressing disagreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 188



 

 55 

Figure 21 – Views on the proposal to a Centre of Excellence at Lincoln County Hospital 
offering both a hyper-acute stroke unit and an acute stroke unit to deliver care for the 
county’s patients, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service 
(from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by stakeholder type) 

 

4.6.3 Among the 14 organisations that submitted valid responses to this question, 10 agreed with the 
proposal for stroke services in Lincolnshire and 4 disagreed. 

4.6.4 There is evidence that concerns about the proposals for stroke services are strongest among 
those living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston. This is most particularly marked in the 
questionnaire responses, in which more than two thirds (69%) of all individual respondents 
living closest to Pilgrim Hospital expressed disagreement with the proposal, compared to just 
over a quarter (27%) who agreed. 

4.6.5 The residents telephone survey indicates that there is majority support among the resident 
population, including among those living closest to Pilgrim Hospital Boston, more than two 
thirds (69%) of whom agree with the proposals. There was nonetheless evidence of concern, 
with more than a quarter (27%) of Boston residents disagreeing with the proposal to provide a 
Centre of Excellence for acute and hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital with 
Pilgrim Hospital no longer delivering specialist stroke services. 

4.6.6 Just over a third of questionnaire respondents (35%) living closest to Grantham and District 
Hospital also expressed disagreement with the proposals for stroke services, with half (50%) 
expressing agreement. 

4.6.7 The residents survey indicated that a quarter of residents (25%) living closest to Grantham and 
District Hospital disagreed with the proposal, compared to the nearly two thirds (63%) who 
agreed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



 

 56 

Figure 22 – Views on the proposal to a centre of Excellence at Lincoln County Hospital 
offering both a hyper-acute stroke unit and an acute stroke unit to deliver care for the 
county’s patients, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service 
(from the consultation questionnaire and residents telephone survey, by closest hospital) 

 

4.6.8 There was some agreement with the proposals for stroke services on the grounds of increasing 
expertise and improving quality of care 

4.6.9 Supporters of developing a specialist centre for hyper-acute and acute stroke services at 
Lincoln County Hospital felt that increasing expertise in this area would inevitably improve 
patient care and outcomes, and likely tackle many of the challenges faced by NHS 
Lincolnshire. It was also said that the centre could be a catalyst for further future investment 
into the area’s healthcare infrastructure.  

4.6.10 Those who disagreed (mostly residents of the Boston area) did so mainly for fear of a lack of 
local services and longer travel times, and a concern that it could lead to poorer patient 
outcomes 

4.6.11 Disagreement with the proposals for stroke services came largely from Boston residents, who 
worried that the removal of “life-saving” local services would be to the detriment and 
disadvantage of the area and suggested that if the population of Boston continues to increase 
at its current trajectory, acute stroke services will be required in future. There was also worry 
that the removal of stroke services would pose a threat to other services at Pilgrim Hospital.  

4.6.12 Travel times, including by ambulance, to reach Lincoln were said to be too long, particularly in 
stroke cases when 'time is of the essence'. It was said that people living in places outside the 
'golden hour' of travel time to Lincoln will be disadvantaged by these proposals. Moreover, 
travelling to Lincoln to visit patients would be difficult for many families and carers, especially 
as the county’s travel infrastructure is poor.  

4.6.13 It was argued that, until 18 months ago, Pilgrim ran a safe and high-quality stroke service 
achieving higher targets than Lincoln; it was alleged that basing data on the last two years is 
inaccurate as, prior to COVID-19, Pilgrim Hospital saw spikes in admissions over the summer 
months due to increased holiday makers at the coast. Having only one specialist stroke unit 
across the whole of Lincolnshire, it was felt, would lead to patients being on wards without 
access to specialist nurses or therapists. 

4.6.14 Moreover, the proposed changes would, it was felt, lead to worsened rehabilitation outcomes, 
as more complex patients requiring longer periods of inpatient specialist rehabilitation will not 
receive it due to the lack of specialist stroke management staff and facilities in existing 
community settings.  

4.6.15 It was argued that stroke services should be available at all hospitals, and that the delay in 
thrombolysis delivery for patients in the South/South East of the county is unacceptable. A 
centralised model of care was thought to be a particular risk in such a large county with 
infrastructure issues, especially when treatment time is so crucial for stroke patients. 

Page 190



 

 57 

4.6.16 Other concerns centred around: a lack of ambulance availability in Boston as a result of more 
frequent journeys to Lincoln and lengthy handovers; whether Lincoln County Hospital has the 
capacity and infrastructure to deal with increased patient demand; the lack of additional 
specialist staffing proposed for the Lincoln site; and the presumption that specialist stroke staff 
will be able to easily relocate from Boston to Lincoln owing to personal circumstances and a 
lack of transport.  

4.6.17 The proposal could, some felt, widen health inequalities and negatively impact patient access 
as services would be removed from a deprived area. Furthermore, the stroke figures for the 
area served by Pilgrim Hospital are higher owing to an ageing population. It was thought to 
make more sense, therefore, to have a centre of excellence in Boston to reduce travel times for 
the majority.  

4.6.18 The impact on patients’ loved ones was also noted, particularly elderly spouses/family who may 
be unable to visit due to the increased travel distance. The impact of this on patients' mental 
health and recovery may, it was said, have been overlooked.  

4.6.19 As with the other proposals, feedback from members of protected characteristics groups and 
other key demographics tended to express some concerns about travel and transport along the 
same lines as other respondents. 

4.6.20 In the consultation questionnaire data, slightly more respondents from the most deprived 
communities disagreed with proposal for stroke services than agreed. It should be noted, 
however, that further analysis indicated that this was almost certainly a result of the majority of 
questionnaire respondents from deprived communities living in Boston and East Lindsey, 
closest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston.  

4.6.21 Boston and East Lindsey are geographic areas in which the views among respondents from 
both deprived and more affluent communities were more negative than elsewhere; the 
implication, therefore, is that it is shared concerns about loss of local services in Boston driving 
disagreement, rather than a particular or separate concern from those experiencing 
deprivation. 

4.6.22 In the residents survey there was some indication (at a 90% confidence level) that residents 
with disabilities that limit their activities a lot were also less likely to agree, and more likely to 
disagree with this proposal, compared to other residents (although there was still majority 
agreement). 

4.6.23 A number of mitigations, alternative suggestions and additional considerations around stroke 
services in Lincolnshire were also identified. 

4.6.24 An overview of the themed consultation feedback relating to the stroke proposal is set out 
below. The full break down of the comments, messages and concerns put forward by 
respondents through all the public consultation engagement activities against each of these 
themes is included in Appendix D. 

Figure 23 – Summary of the feedback themes for the stroke proposal 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Outcomes / Quality 

• Agree with principles of specialist centre for hyper-acute / acute stroke 

• Proposals likely tackle many of the challenges stroke services face 

• Increased expertise and quality of care 

• Could lead to future investment into NHS Lincolnshire as a result 

• Examples such as Heart Centre at Lincoln show benefit of centralisation 

• If pop. of Boston increases in line with trajectory, stroke unit required 

• Basing figures on last 2 years will provide false data 

• Until 18 months ago Pilgrim ran a safe high quality service 

• Proposal will lead to worsened rehabilitation outcomes 

• Removal of life-saving local services 

• Integrated pathways of care should start from day 1 of condition 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



 

 58 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

• Clarification of pre-hospital treatment of stroke 

• Social care provision needs to be strengthened to reduce LoS 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

Workforce 

• Presumption specialist stroke staff will move to Pilgrim is unrealistic 

• Concerns around increase in no. of patients, lack of additional specialist 
staff at Lincoln, increase in outliers, more complex patients requires more 
intensive support, lack of community beds/specialist management in 
community hospitals 

• Proposals will not improve recruitment and retention 

• Improve recruitment with higher wages/benefits 

• Increase staff numbers/staff with thrombolysis training 

• Introduce telemedicine system 

• Stroke unit requires sufficient qualified therapy staff 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 
 
 
 

✓ 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 
 
 
 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Travel Time / Ambulance Conveyance 

• Increased travel times for Boston residents to travel to Lincoln 

• Concerns about centralising model is a risk given size of county 

• Less availability of ambulances in Boston 

• Travel times, including by ambulance, to reach Lincoln are too long 

• People of Grantham and Boston severely disadvantaged 

• Air ambulance to cover east of the county would be supported 

• Provision of a mobile stroke unit 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

✓ 

✓ 

 

 

 

Travel and transport 

• Travelling to Lincoln to visit patients would be difficult for many families 
and carers 

✓ 

 

✓ 

 

  
 

 

Facilities 

• Concern over capacity and infrastructure at Lincoln County Hospital ✓ ✓    

Equalities and health inequalities 

• Proposals could widen health inequalities / patient access taken away 
from deprived areas 

• Patients have elderly spouses / family who won’t be able to visit 

• Stroke figures for area served by Pilgrim are higher due to ageing 
population 

• Concerns around lack of familiarity with ‘new’ or different locations 

• Needs of people with sensory disabilities will need consideration 

  ✓ 
 

✓ 

✓ 
 

✓ 

✓ 

  

Alternative suggestions: hyper-acute and acute wards 

• Both Lincoln and Pilgrim should be centres of excellence 

• Locating stroke service in Boston seem to better suit needs of population 

• Train teams stepping into hyper-acute care in a timely way 

• If there is a second ward at Lincoln should be a small hyper-acute ward 

• Keep hyper-acute at site; make consultants and ACPs work pan-trust 

• Standard operating procedure should be in place that allows thrombolysis 
to be given in ED 

• Concern over lack of capacity  

• Develop centre of excellence at Peterborough, Grimsby or Nottingham 
and don’t have anything in Lincolnshire at all 

   

 

 ✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

 

✓ 

✓ 

Page 192



 

 59 

Theme / feedback S O AC M AO 

Alternative suggestions: rehabilitation 

• Grantham should have rehabilitation service, but only have an A&E 

• Ringfence specialist beds at Boston to create a hub and spoke service 

• An appropriate stroke rehab ward would ensure throughput sufficient to 
allow new patients to be admitted and longer term patients supported 

• Community rehab need to be in place for stroke & neuro conditions 

• Provide step down beds in Pilgrim and Grantham and District Hospital 

• There is no mention / link to community rehab beds within care homes 

• Why are brain and head injury rehab kept separate 

• Funding is maintained for the number of beds at Pilgrim Hospital 

    ✓ 

✓ 

✓ 
 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

✓ 

Additional consideration 

• Need to consider prevention: smoking, high blood pressures, diabetes, 
heavy drinking 

  ✓   

 

S = In support of proposal;      O = In opposition of proposal;      AC = Additional consideration;     
M = Mitigation;      AO = Alternative option 

 

4.6.25 In summary, the feedback on the stroke service change proposal identified: 

• Support across consultation questionnaire responses and telephone survey  

• Concerns about proposals are strongest among those living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital in 
Boston - this is most particularly marked in the questionnaire responses 

• Residents telephone survey indicates that there is majority support among the resident 
population, including among those living closest to Pilgrim Hospital Boston. 

• Agreement with the proposals for stroke services on grounds of increasing expertise, 
improving quality of care and outcomes and likely tackle many of the challenges faced. 

• Disagreement with the proposals comes largely from Boston residents, with concerns 
about loss of ‘life-saving’ services and concerns about time to get to other stroke units  

• Concerns the proposal could widen health inequalities and negatively impact patient 
access as services would be removed from a deprived area. 

• Some indication that residents with disabilities that limit their activities a lot were also less 
likely to agree, and more likely to disagree. with this proposal, compared to other residents 
(although there was still majority agreement). 

 

4.7 Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 

4.7.1 The consultation team, including relevant clinicians, attended one informal and two formal 
meetings with the Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) during the consultation period 
to discuss the consultation process and change proposals: 

• 13 October 2021 – Consultation process 

• 10 November 2021 – Stroke and urgent and emergency care proposals 

• 15 November 2021 – Orthopaedics and acute medicine proposals 

4.7.2 The approach adopted by the HSC for its response was to use the consultation questionnaire, 
an overview of its response is set out below, together with how and where the points raised are 
considered and responded to in the Decision Making Business Case (and its appendices). The 
full HSC response is included in Appendix E. 

 

Page 193



 

 60 

4.7.3 In its response the HSC said it was “grateful to the NHS in Lincolnshire for providing an 
introduction and presentation on each element of the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review at 
meetings on 13 October, 10 November and 15 December 2021, which included clinicians”. 

4.7.4 The response went on to say, “The Committee would also like to record its thanks to the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for allowing its response to be submitted to the NHS in 
Lincolnshire by 31 January 2022, after the closing date for submissions from members of the 
public and organisations”. 

The need for change 

4.7.5 The HSC ‘Strongly Agree’ with the need for change put forward in the public consultation. 

4.7.6 However, as indicated in the following answers on each specifical proposal, the Committee did 
not agree in three instances out of four that the proposal, as detailed, is right for the people of 
Lincolnshire.  

Orthopaedic surgery 

4.7.7 The HSC ‘Tend to Disagree’ with the orthopaedic proposal put forward in the public 
consultation. 

4.7.8 The HSC indicated it understood the intention to reduced cancelled operations, however tends 
to disagree for the following reasons: 

• Concerns on overall accessibility of Grantham and District Hospital for patients across 
Lincolnshire, but particularly for residents in the east of the county where they rely on 
public transport [Consultation feedback response: Quality and workforce, Travel and 
Transport, Equalities and Health Inequalities] 

• Not convinced that the proposal would necessarily improve recruitment and retention of 
staff [Consultation feedback response: Quality and workforce + provider statements of 
support] 

• Patient choice remains and it is not clear how many patients would choose to have their 
elective orthopaedic surgery at a hospital outside Lincolnshire. This would potentially 
impact on neighbouring healthcare systems and continued use of the independent sector. 
These in turn have funding impacts on the Lincolnshire healthcare system. [Consultation 
feedback response: Quality and workforce] 

4.7.9 The Committee reported it strongly supports the continuation and expansion of day case 
orthopaedic surgery at County Hospital Louth. 

Urgent and Emergency Care 

4.7.10 The HSC ‘Strongly Disagree’ with the urgent and emergency care proposal put forward in the 
public consultation. 

4.7.11 The HSC stated:  

• The A&E department at Grantham and District Hospital has been a major concern for the 
Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire since August 2016, when it was closed 
overnight on a ‘temporary basis’. Since that time two referrals have been made by the 
Committee to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. In each case, these 
referrals have in effect led to the outcome that the future of Grantham A&E would only be 
resolved by the NHS in Lincolnshire bringing forward proposals for its future as part a 
consultation exercise. [Consultation feedback response: Full A&E and hospital service 
provision at Grantham and District Hospital] 

• Since 2016 many residents in Grantham have been campaigning to restore an overnight 
A&E service at Grantham. After six years, many residents in Grantham have concluded 
that their views have been overlooked. [Consultation feedback response: Full A&E and 
hospital service provision at Grantham and District Hospital] 

 

 

 

Page 194



 

 61 

• The Committee acknowledges that services such as gynaecology; obstetrics; acute 
surgery; acute orthopaedics; ear, nose and throat; stroke medicine and acute 
interventionalist cardiology are generally required in any general hospital offering a level 
one A&E service. These services are no longer provided at Grantham and District Hospital, 
and it is understood that they have been gradually removed or downgraded. The 
Committee is not re-assured that further changes to the service provided at Grantham will 
be avoided. [Consultation feedback response: Full A&E and hospital service provision at 
Grantham and District Hospital] 

4.7.12 In view of the long-standing concerns of residents and in addition to the above, the Committee 
strongly disagrees with the proposal for the following reasons: 

• Not convinced that the proposal would necessarily improve recruitment and retention of 
staff and there may be circumstances in the future where staff are re-allocated from the 
urgent treatment centre to support A&E departments, thus reducing the ability of the 
proposed urgent treatment centre to treat 97% of its patients. Where a temporary change 
in provision occurs, there is a risk that this might become more permanent [Consultation 
feedback response: Workforce and organisational integration + provider statements of 
support] 

• The Committee understands that only 3% of patients could not be treated at the proposed 
urgent treatment centre. The Committee is not reassured that these patients will be 
discharged from another A&E department, without transport or a means of returning home 
at times when public transport is unavailable. The role of any support from the non-
emergency patient transport service would need to be clarified. [Consultation feedback 
response: Travel and transport] 

4.7.13 In its response the Committee stated that if the proposal for an urgent treatment centre at 
Grantham and District Hospital is implemented by NHS Lincolnshire CCG, the Committee 
would make the following recommendations: 

• There should be clear publicity in Grantham and the surrounding area on what services are 
provided at the Grantham urgent treatment centre, as the term ‘urgent treatment centre’ is 
a relatively new concept within the NHS. [Consultation feedback response: Conditions that 
would be treated at a 24/7 Grantham and District Hospital UTC] 

• The modest capital investment for the expansion of the proposed urgent treatment centre 
into unused parts of the hospital should be identified, planned and implemented 
immediately. [To be considered further through implementation phase if change proposal is 
agreed] 

Acute medicine 

4.7.14 The HSC ‘Tend to Agree’ with the acute medicine proposal put forward in the public 
consultation. 

4.7.15 The HSC indicated the following reasons for this: 

• The Committee accepts the argument put forward by the NHS in Lincolnshire and 
supported by the East Midlands Clinical Senate that the proposal is likely to improve the 
recruitment and retention of middle grade doctors [Consultation feedback response: Quality 
and workforce] 

• The Committee supports the concept of integration of health and social care services as 
part of this proposal, and the potential for this to become a centre of excellence for multi-
disciplinary care. [Consultation feedback response: Quality and workforce] 

4.7.16 The Committee also put forward the following additional comments: 

• There are concerns that if the proposed urgent treatment centre is implemented, with an 
extended range of services compared to other urgent treatment centres, there will be a risk 
that withdrawal of any of these services would impact on the arrangements for medical and 
community beds.  [Consultation feedback response: Conditions that would be treated at a 
24/7 Grantham and District Hospital UTC] 

 

Page 195



 

 62 

• This service is NHS-funded, but as the integration agenda develops, there may be 
discussions on where funding for such services is held. If the budgets were to be held by 
local authorities, as opposed to the NHS, the Committee would wish to see the County 
Council receiving adequate funding to ensure high quality service provision; and would not 
wish to see it becoming a burden on the County Council’s finances. [Consultation feedback 
response: Conditions that would be treated at a 24/7 Grantham and District Hospital UTC] 

• The Committee notes that a full description of the proposed community bed provision is 
detailed in chapter 11 of the pre-consultation business case. The Committee would wish to 
be made aware of any changes to that provision, as the initiative develops. [See 
implementation chapter and role of proposed Implementation Oversight Group to link in 
with wider system partners including the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire] 

Stroke services 

4.7.17 The HSC ‘Tend to Disagree’ with the stroke services proposal put forward in the public 
consultation. 

4.7.18 The HSC indicated it is not convinced by all the arguments put forward in support of this 
proposal, and tends to disagree for the following reasons: 

• The proposal represents another example of services being consolidated at Lincoln County 
Hospital; and the removal of a service from Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and in this case the 
displacement of 497 patients each year currently treated there. Irrespective of the clinical 
arguments in favour, this leads to a perception in the Boston area that the services 
provided at Pilgrim are gradually being downgraded. [Consultation feedback response: 
Quality and outcomes] 

• Further to the above, the east coast of Lincolnshire has high areas of deprivation, and a 
higher proportion of residents, who rely heavily on acute hospital services. Where a service 
is withdrawn it is likely to have a significant impact on their wellbeing. [Consultation 
feedback response: Quality and outcomes, Ambulance conveyance] 

• As stated in the pre-consultation business case approximately 50% of the 497 displaced 
patients would be taken to Peterborough City Hospital. Whilst the pre-consultation case 
models the impact of this on patient travel times, it is silent on the capacity of North West 
Anglia NHS Foundation Trust to treat as many as an extra 250 stroke patients each year. 
[Consultation feedback response: Ambulance conveyance] 

• Although the pre-consultation business case models the impact on the timings for patients 
between the arrival of the ambulance and treatment, it is important to recognise any impact 
on the East Midlands Ambulance Service, where longer journey times, for example from 
Boston and the surrounding area to Peterborough City Hospital, affect the availability of 
ambulances. These do not appear to have been addressed in the pre-consultation 
business case. [Consultation feedback theme: Quality and outcomes, Ambulance 
conveyance] 

• The Committee is not completely convinced that the proposals will lead to improvements in 
the recruitment and retention of both medical and nursing staff. [Consultation feedback 
response: Workforce] 

4.7.19 The Committee also put forward the following additional comments: 

• During the discussion with the HSC reference was made to the possibility of introducing a 
mobile stroke unit, which would be able to support, in particular, people in the east of the 
county. The Committee was advised this suggestion would be considered in further detail. 
[Consultation feedback response: Ambulance conveyance] 

• The Committee was advised that clinics for the treatment and follow-up of transient 
ischaemic attacks would continue at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and would urge this to 
continue. [This is included in the change proposal description] 

4.7.20 In addition to the feedback provided on the four service change proposals, the HSC provided 
feedback on a number of other areas. An overview of this is provided in the table below. 

 

Page 196



 

 63 

Figure 24 – Overview of feedback from Lincolnshire Health Scrutiny Committee 

Area Overview of HSC feedback 

Equalities impact 

 

 

The HSC urged the NHS Lincolnshire to take full account of the ageing 
population, rural geography and areas of high socio-economic deprivation 
prior to making a decision on any service changes. 

[Consultation feedback response: Equalities and Health Inequalities] 

Travel and transport The Committee does not believe that it is the County Council’s role to facilitate 
changes to public transport provision, solely and directly in response to 
changes to services provided by the NHS. Furthermore, public transport in 
Lincolnshire tends not to operate in the evening and overnight, so when 
people are discharged without their own transport, there is an additional 
challenge.  

It is important that patient transport not only continues to be offered to lessen 
the impacts of any service changes, but also any revisions arising from the 
implementation of the national criteria, including any flexibilities in those 
criteria, are used to the full for the benefit of patients in Lincolnshire.  

[Consultation feedback response: Travel and transport] 

Recruitment and 
retention 

There is an argument in each of the four proposals that there would be 
improvements to the recruitment and retention of staff, which has been a long-
standing challenge in Lincolnshire, even prior to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The supply of medical and nursing staff is a national issue, and thus not solely 
the responsibility of the NHS in Lincolnshire. The Committee is not convinced 
that these service changes alone will necessarily address the particular 
staffing challenges, which have led to the development of the four proposals.  

The Committee recognises that one of the difficulties is that many medical and 
nursing staff are more attracted to the agency style of working, where they can 
choose the days that they work, without detriment to their overall salary levels.  

[Consultation feedback response: Workforce and quality + provider statements 
of support] 

Links to 
neighbouring health 
system 

Impact on Other Health Systems  

These four proposals will impact on neighbouring health systems, as 
acknowledged by the detail in the pre-consultation business case. The 
Committee would like to be re-assured that neighbouring health systems 
would be able to cope with any increased demand placed on their services 
from patients being displaced in Lincolnshire.  

Impact of Other Health Systems on Lincolnshire  

Although the Humber Acute Services Programme is at an earlier stage in its 
development, with its public consultation planned for the summer of 2022 at 
the earliest, there is concern that there may be proposals to withdraw certain 
acute hospital services from either Diana Princess of Wales Hospital in 
Grimsby or Scunthorpe General Hospital, which would in turn lead to 
increased pressures on the acute hospital services provided by United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust.  

[See implementation chapter] 

Consultation 
arrangements 

The Committee was advised that leaflets on the consultation would be 
delivered to every household, as a mean of eliciting a high rate of response. 
The Committee would like to see the full consultation report provide an 
assessment on how well this approach worked, as anecdotal evidence 
suggests that many households did not receive a consultation leaflet.  

The Committee does not support the approach whereby pre-booking was 
required for attendance at the in-person consultation events. The Committee 
understands that there have been some very low attendances at these events, 
and feels that pre-booking might have deterred people coming forward with 
their views.  

Page 197



 

 64 

Area Overview of HSC feedback 

The Committee recognises that promoting a consultation exercise in a county 
as large and rural as Lincolnshire represents a challenge, with several local 
media outlets and various forms of engagement required to reach the public. 
However, the Committee feels that although there were 2,495 online 
responses, the reach of the consultation could have been more extensive and 
elicited more responses.  

The Committee believes that the reach of the consultation has been 
constrained in part by the Covid-19 pandemic. For example, it has not always 
been possible to access any consultation leaflets in GP surgeries, as visits to 
these surgeries have been limited.  

[Consultation feedback response: Consultation arrangements + 
Communication and Consultation Activity Report in Appendices] 

 

Page 198



 

 65 

5 Addressing the themes from consultation 
 

5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 Following the end of the public consultation there has been an extensive programme of work to 
review the findings of the public consultation and ensure conscientious consideration of the 
feedback, ahead of final decision-making on the change proposals.  

5.1.2 Central to this review process has been the theming of the feedback received through the 
public consultation for each of the four change proposals (as set out in the previous chapter), 
and the establishment of subject matter expert working groups to consider and respond to each 
theme. 

5.1.3 Over the remainder of this chapter the key conclusions and actions identified by the working 
groups for each theme of feedback for each of the four change proposals is presented, and the 
full consideration is included in Appendix F, G and H: 

• Appendix F1 – Orthopaedics consultation feedback responses 

• Appendix F2 – Urgent and emergency care consultation feedback responses 

• Appendix F3 – Acute medicine consultation feedback responses 

• Appendix F4 – Stroke consultation feedback responses 

• Appendix G – Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) 

• Appendix H – Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) 

5.1.4 In many cases, the responses to feedback from the consultation include reference to 
completed, current or proposed activities if the change proposals are agreed that seek to 
address the issues identified, including the completion of additional analysis. These have been 
highlighted in the following way ACTION. 

5.1.5 Where conclusions and actions specifically relate to the feedback received from the Health 
Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire this is highlighted in the following way HSC. 

5.1.6 In addition to responses to the specific change proposal feedback, at the end of this chapter 
consideration is given to feedback received on the overall consultation arrangements, as well 
as the overall conclusions on the change proposals consulted on following consideration of the 
feedback. 

5.1.7 It should also be noted that the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Involvement Champions were integral 
to the review of the consultation findings and emerging themes. In order for them to undertake 
a confidential review, they were provided with the full draft independent report on the 
consultation findings from ORS together with the themed feedback.  

5.1.8 A subsequent meeting was held to enable the Involvement Champions to share their thoughts 
on whether the feedback theming included everything in the report that they would expect to 
see, identified all of the key pieces of feedback or information that they would expect to be 
responded to and if there was anything they felt had been missed. 

5.1.9 Discussions also included their thoughts on the consultation report in general and suggestions 
for how we could communicate the findings of the consultation and CCG Board decision 
extensively. Healthwatch Lincolnshire were also involved in reviewing the full draft independent 
report on the consultation findings from ORS. Healthwatch circulated this to their volunteers to 
undertake a readability and ‘plain English’ review of the document and to their steering group to 
gain an organisational perspective on the draft findings. 

5.1.10 All feedback was taken into consideration during discussions with ORS and development of the 
final report. 

 

 

 

Page 199



 

 66 

5.2 Orthopaedic proposal 

Quality and workforce 

5.2.1 At the beginning of the orthopaedic pilot success factors were agreed to ensure it could be 
evidenced whether the changes implemented had the desired impact and drive performance 
improvements in terms of quality, safety, patient experience and use of resources.  

5.2.2 Performance against these key indicators has been regularly monitored and been used to 
report progress to the ULHT Board. Moving forward the intention is to present them in the form 
of a reporting dashboard. ACTION 

5.2.3 The orthopaedic pilot showed very positive results including high patient satisfaction, reduced 
lengths of stay and increased day case rates with performance outperforming peers. If the 
change proposal is agreed and the pilot made permanent, key performance indicators would 
continue to be used to regularly monitor performance, including patient satisfaction. ACTION 

5.2.4 At the start of the orthopaedic pilot weekend trauma lists and weekday trauma slots lists were 
put in place at the Grantham hospital site; however, it became clear that these were 
significantly underutilised and that the emergency patients were best cared for at the Lincoln 
and Pilgrim hospital sites.  Minor trauma cases that could be appropriately discharged home to 
have a semi-planned operative procedure on a later day could be scheduled to take place at 
Grantham. 

5.2.5 There is already agreed investment for an additional physiotherapy support post and a 
business case has been developed for additional physiotherapy and occupational therapy staff 
to provide these services over the weekend period to improve patient recovery, facilitate 
protocol led nurse/physiotherapy discharge. ACTION 

5.2.6 The orthopaedic pilot has demonstrated positive benefits in relation to establishing a 
sustainable orthopaedic workforce and it is not anticipated that a change to workforce is 
required.  It is anticipated that if the proposed model of care is made permanent this will be a 
model that would allow for staff development and will improve recruitment and retention. HSC 

5.2.7 Consultation groups were held with all staff prior to the pilot. Consultations have been held 
continually with the medical staff and although there were initial concerns raised, discussed 
and addressed, over the period of the pilot the medical workforce has not raised any additional 
concerns.  Other consultations have been undertaken with other workforce groups and staff 
have voluntarily move their base to the Grantham site. There will be further formal engagement 
if the proposal is agreed. ACTION 

5.2.8 Since the pilot, all of the health services are working more collaboratively and are 
communicating well and in a timely manner regarding patient care. Letters are sent out to all 
patients. All appropriate health professions can view clinical records and imaging reports.  The 
information systems are linked through the care portal and primary care colleagues can view 
the records through SystmOne. ACTION 

5.2.9 There is continuous learning from Private Hospitals as several the orthopaedic surgeons at 
ULHT also undertake work in the independent sector.  The key learning is the separation of 
elective work from unplanned work and the medical cover required to support patients out of 
hours is a similar model to that used on the Grantham site. ACTION 

5.2.10 Under the pilot the patient remains under the care of the operating consultant and there is a 
ward round every day in the morning by a senior orthopaedic doctor. This doctor liaises with 
the original operating consultant as required. The patient’s follow-up is with the consultant who 
performed the operation/procedure. After 6:00 pm, all patients are under the care of the on-call 
consultant. On a Monday, Wednesday, Friday, and Sunday the Lincoln County Hospital 
consultant is in charge, the other days it is the Pilgrim Hospital consultant. 

5.2.11 In the event of a deteriorating patient who requires a higher level of post-operative care, the 
nursing and medical team at Grantham liaise with the ITU/Outreach team at Lincoln or Pilgrim 
and arrange transfer as appropriately needed. 

 

 

Page 200



 

 67 

5.2.12 Under the pilot the on-call pattern at Grantham is hospital at night which looks after all patients. 
There is a middle-tier resident on call system to look after very unwell patients. Lincoln County 
Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital do 24hr orthopaedic on-call. The resident on-call at Grantham 
can contact the orthopaedics team on-call at these sites and a transfer can be arranged if 
required. A transfer may be required if there is a post-operative complication that requires to be 
treated on one of the acute sites. Since the commencement of the pilot, only one post-
operative patient has been transferred from the Grantham site to the Lincoln site.  This was a 
precautionary transfer of a patient with a suspected post-operative complication of a DVT 
following surgery.  In the event the patient did not have a DVT. 

5.2.13 Only suitable patients are listed for surgery at the Grantham Hospital Site. There is a Grantham 
and District Hospital admitting criteria which excludes patients with a number of medical co-
morbidities. This has not changed during the pilot and is not planned to in the proposed model.   

5.2.14 The orthopaedics change proposals have no impact on the continued right for patients being 
given a choice of provider at point of referral. However, through the proposed changes there is 
the expectation that over time more people will be able to and will want to choose to have their 
surgery in Lincolnshire as opposed to having to go to the independent sector, often outside of 
the county. HSC 

5.2.15 Under the pilot available capacity is optimised with as much planned orthopaedic surgery as 
possible carried out at Grantham and District Hospital. If the temporary change proposal being 
delivered through the pilot is agreed to be formally implemented and more planned orthopaedic 
surgery capacity became available at Grantham and District Hospital and County Hospital 
Louth, more patients could be seen at these sites and would benefit. This includes seeing more 
of the patients who receive their planned care in the independent sector (much of which takes 
place outside of Lincolnshire). HSC 

5.2.16 Through the pilot it has been shown that the consolidation of elective orthopaedic services at 
Grantham Hospital (together with a greater focus on day cases at Louth) can deliver a 
reduction in the amount of time people wait to have their surgery as well as the potential to 
increase the number of patients treated by ULHT. It has also shown people are prepared to 
travel to have their elective surgery if it means they will have their operation quicker. HSC 

5.2.17 Supported by the current pilot model, United Hospitals Lincolnshire NHST Trust (ULHT) is one 
of the best performing trusts in the region in relation to waiting times for orthopaedics.  HSC 

5.2.18 The service uses a standard assessment of a patient’s pre-anaesthesia medical comorbidities. 
A patient with no or minor comorbidities can be operated on the Grantham site. The Grantham 
site has eight acute surgical beds, therefore following anaesthetic review some patients with 
moderate co-morbidities may be listed at Grantham. Other patients with moderate or severe 
co-morbidities will have their operation planned for the Lincoln or Boston sites where there is 
suitable post-operative care and access to the ICU. 

5.2.19 If the temporary change proposal being delivered through the pilot is agreed to be formally 
implemented and more planned orthopaedic surgery capacity became available at Grantham 
and District Hospital and County Hospital Louth, more patients could be seen at these sites and 
would benefit. ACTION 

5.2.20 Analysis of hospital activity conducted as part of developing the service change proposal and 
reflecting the experience of the pilot, estimates that around one patient a day on average who 
would previously been admitted to Grantham and District Hospital for unplanned orthopaedic 
surgery would receive care at an alternative hospital. There was more pressure on the 
emergency orthopaedic care at Lincoln and Boston. However, this was balanced by the 
increases to the non-emergency orthopaedic operations going to Grantham and Louth. 

5.2.21 The proposal is similar to the pilot and over the duration of the pilot this has proved to be 
successful with a minimal amount of trauma patient transfers.  There are many patients who 
require a period of waiting prior to surgery. These will be typically limb fractures and in these 
cases patients from the Grantham area can be booked onto one of the elective lists and in this 
way orthopaedic trauma patient transfers are kept to a minimum.  ACTION 

5.2.22 Grantham and District Hospital urgent care services will continue to treat cases such as simple 
fractures and dislocations. 

Page 201



 

 68 

5.2.23 When the pilot started a dialogue was had with East Midlands Ambulance Services NHS Trust 
(EMAS) about patients with a fractured neck of femur and the need to transport them to Lincoln 
County Hospital. No concerns around these arrangements have been raised through the pilot 
and EMAS are fully aware of the exclusion criteria at Grantham and District Hospital. There 
have been no issues during the pilot. 

5.2.24 The Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) for the orthopaedics change proposal developed for the 
Pre Consultation Business Case was also reviewed in light of the feedback from the public. 
This can be found in Appendix G. 

Access 

5.2.25 The orthopaedic pilot demonstrated the benefits of care being provided in a centre of 
excellence. This was underpinned by pilot key performance indicators. If the change proposal 
is agreed and the pilot made permanent key performance indicators would continue to be used 
to regularly monitor performance, including patient satisfaction. ACTION 

5.2.26 It is recognised by GIRFT as ‘best practice’ to split elective and non-elective orthopaedic work 
onto different sites to drive improvements, and recognised that managing complex, urgent care 
on a separate hot site (emergency/unplanned non-elective care) allows improved trauma 
assessment and better access to specialist care, so patients have better access to the right 
expertise at the right time. Therefore, to provide the best quality sustainable care for patients it 
is not possible for all acute hospital services / orthopaedic surgery to be delivered close to 
patient’s homes.  

5.2.27 During the change proposal and appraisal process consideration was given to not changing the 
way orthopaedic surgery is provided across ULHT’s, meaning its main three sites would 
continue to provide elective and non-elective surgery. Following a clinically led appraisal, this 
option did not progress to the short-list stage for further analysis as the group of clinical leaders 
did not see the current situation and challenges improving without change. ACTION 

5.2.28 In light of the feedback received from the public consultation, alternating or rotating elective 
operating services between the sites to provide care for patients closer to their homes has 
been considered by the orthopaedic service. However, the view is this would have a negative 
impact on the service that is currently being provided. It would spread the service and 
resources, including workforce too thin. The service would have to duplicate equipment on 
these sites, and therefore would not be able to provide the best quality of care at any of the 
sites. In addition, this would mean undertaking elective orthopaedic surgery on an acute site 
which has the disadvantage of high cancellation rates. The results of the pilot are testament to 
the view that the concentration of services on fewer sites supports the delivery of high quality 
services to the residents of Lincolnshire. ACTION 

5.2.29 Under the change proposals outpatient clinics will remain across all sites they are currently 
provided from (ULHT and others). Opportunities also exist to support improved access pre-
operative and post-operative through the increased use of digital support. ULHT are developing 
a traffic light pre assessment process which will reduce the number of face to face pre-
operative assessments occurring on hospital sites. In addition, eConsultations and video 
consultations can support improved access. The Lincolnshire health system’s capability in this 
has been accelerated through COVID-19 as more virtual clinics have been run. ACTION 

5.2.30 The fracture clinic would continue to be provided from Grantham and District Hospital and at all 
of the current site locations if the proposed changes go ahead. There is increased opportunity 
for virtual fracture clinics and telemedicine to support access. E-Trauma and Virtual clinics will 
be taking place where possible to reduce the patient travel. ACTION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



 

 69 

Interdependency with Urgent and Emergency Care 

5.2.31 In relation to orthopaedics the proposed exclusion protocol identified that ambulances and GPs 
should not bring or send patient to Grantham and District Hospital in the following situations: 

• All Major trauma is excluded from this site in line with the East Midlands Trauma Network 
Triage Tool, including all suspected femoral fractures. 
NOTE Major Trauma has always been part of the exclusion protocol  

• Fractures/ dislocations with evidence of distal neurovascular compromise.  

• Open lower limb fractures of femur, tibia/fibula, ankle or forefoot 

5.2.32 The proposed exclusion protocol goes on to identify trauma that can be treated at the site: 

• All suspected shoulder, arm, wrist and hand fractures 

• All suspected closed tibial, ankle and foot fractures 

• All suspected joint dislocations of the shoulder, elbow, wrist, patella 

• All suspected peripheral soft tissue injuries, sprains, strains, lacerations, haematomas 

• All hand injuries (may require transfer after assessment) 

• Children’s suspected fractures – if confined to one area and child is haemodynamically 
stable (may require subsequent transfer after assessment) 

5.2.33 Following ongoing and further review, a number of combining factors lead to the conclusion 
that a type 1 A&E department at Grantham and District Hospital that provides a full range of 
‘unselected’ care and is supported by the required core set of specialties is not feasible. These 
are: ACTION  

• The required staffing levels for a type 1 A&E department and those specialities with clinical 
interdependencies that enable the ongoing provision of safe care; 

• The availability of doctors and nursing to staff these services in a sustainable manner; 

• The required scale of provision for these services to ensure staff maintain and continue to 
develop their skills and be attractive to staff to work in; and 

• Even when considering the forecast growth for Grantham and the surrounding area, there 
will still not be sufficient scale to safely and sustainably deliver this level of care. 

Equalities and Health Inequalities HSC 

5.2.34 Several specific groups such as older people, people on low incomes, those without access to 
private vehicles, and people with disabilities were mentioned as being particularly vulnerable to 
impacts as a result of longer or more expensive journeys to hospitals. Patients with co-
morbidities were also mentioned, including those who might require access to kidney dialysis 
while in hospital. 

5.2.35 A review of the eligibility criteria for patient transport services was suggested, to address any 
potential barriers to access - particularly for the most deprived communities in rural and inner 
city areas, or from frail or older people who might find travel stressful or difficult - so that 
additional support and transport can be provided according to need. 

5.2.36 The challenge of ensuring equitable access in a large, rural county was raised, especially for 
localities (e.g., on the east coast) where health service and public transport provision were 
described as already being poor. Concern was also expressed that people with disabilities 
used to attending particular hospitals where additional support is available might find that the 
same support and assistance is not available elsewhere. 

5.2.37 Others were concerned about the practicalities of travel for friends and family, those without 
access to their own vehicle, and those who might struggle to drive and/or otherwise get to/from 
hospital if they were unwell, in discomfort or were recovering from surgery. A small proportion 
were concerned about impacts on the ambulance service and on patient transport.  

Page 203



 

 70 

5.2.38 A deaf service user was appreciative of the additional support they had received when 
accessing care at Pilgrim Hospital in Boston and was concerned to know if similar support is or 
would be available at other hospital sites if services were to move. 

5.2.39 Consideration of the potential positive impacts of the change proposal was given during the 
development of the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), and further consideration was 
given following the public consultation. The potential positive impacts identified for the 
proposed service changes are the same for all patients, and are therefore equally relevant in 
the context of all groups with protected characteristics ACTION : 

• Reduced waiting times 

• Reduced cancellations 

• Improved service quality 

• Reduced lengths of stay in hospital 

• Improved outcomes 

5.2.40 A number of mitigations to the travel and access concerns have been identified and are set out 
in the Travel and Transport Report. An overview of these is provided in the Travel and 
Transport section at the end of this chapter. ACTION HSC 

5.2.41 In addition to the mitigations set out in the Travel and Transport Report, if the changes are 
agreed all services will comply with the Accessible Information Standard to ensure that people 
who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss get information that they can access and 
understand, and any communication support they need from health and care services. ACTION 

5.2.42 It has also been identified that any service changes if agreed need to ensure services are 
accessible in respect of different races and ethnicity. ACTION 

5.2.43 Specifically in response to the concerns of the deaf service user, the provision of additional 
support for deaf service users is the same at all of ULHT’s hospitals. 

5.2.44 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the orthopaedics change proposal developed for the 
Pre Consultation Business Case was also reviewed in light of the feedback from the public. 
This can be found in Appendix H. The EIA is a ‘living document’ and will continue to be updated 
if and when new information becomes available. If the change proposals are agreed it will 
continue to develop through the implementation phase. 

Travel and Transport HSC 

5.2.45 See Travel and Transport section at the end of this chapter  

Facilities 

5.2.46 The current estates strategy for the Grantham site is to enhance and maintain the buildings and 
estate to support the delivery of hospital services. There has been significant investment into 
the Grantham hospital site to maintain and improve the buildings and infrastructure. ACTION 

5.2.47 For example, patient environment improvements such as decoration and flooring, two new 
modular theatres, which include laminar flow to ensure they are suitable for orthopaedic 
patients. These are due to open in July 2022 along with continued ward enhancement works. 
ACTION 

 

5.3 Urgent and Emergency care proposal 

Conditions that would be treated at 24/7 Grantham and District Hospital 

5.3.1 Within the public consultation document the current situation in relation to orthopaedic provision 
by United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) is set out. This document highlights that 
since August 2018 the orthopaedic surgery service provided by United Lincolnshire Hospitals 
NHS Trust (ULHT) has been part of a national orthopaedic pilot to look at how service quality 
and patient outcomes could be improved. 

 

Page 204



 

 71 

5.3.2 It highlights that prior to the pilot beginning, planned and unplanned orthopaedic surgery was 
carried out at three hospital sites; Lincoln County Hospital, Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and 
Grantham and District Hospital. In addition, planned orthopaedic surgery was provided from 
County Hospital Louth.  

5.3.3 The public consultation document goes on to explain that under the pilot all unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery is now carried out at Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston, 
and as much planned orthopaedic surgery as possible is carried out at Grantham and District 
Hospital. 

5.3.4 Within the public consultation document the proposal for orthopaedics was described as 
reflecting the pilot arrangements through the establishment of a ‘centre of excellence’ in 
Lincolnshire for planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, and a 
dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth. Outpatient clinics would be unaffected. 

5.3.5 This document described that Grantham and District Hospital would not provide unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery. Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston would continue to 
provide unplanned orthopaedic surgery, and some planned orthopaedic surgery for high-risk 
patients with multiple health problems, which is comparatively small in volume. 

5.3.6 The PCBC that was made publicly available at the start of the public consultation described 
these changes in more detail and within the Appendix of that business case document the 
proposed exclusion protocol for Grantham and District Hospital in light of the proposed 
changes was included. 

5.3.7 In relation to orthopaedics the proposed exclusion protocol identified that ambulances and GPs 
should not bring or send patient to Grantham and District Hospital in the following situations: 

• All Major trauma is excluded from this site in line with the East Midlands Trauma Network 
Triage Tool, including all suspected femoral fractures. 
NOTE Major Trauma has always been part of the exclusion protocol – see next section for 
more information 

• Fractures/ dislocations with evidence of distal neurovascular compromise.  

• Open lower limb fractures of femur, tibia/fibula, ankle or forefoot 

5.3.8 The proposed exclusion protocol goes on to identify trauma that can be treated at the site: 

• All suspected shoulder, arm, wrist and hand fractures 

• All suspected closed tibial, ankle and foot fractures 

• All suspected joint dislocations of the shoulder, elbow, wrist, patella 

• All suspected peripheral soft tissue injuries, sprains, strains, lacerations, haematomas 

• All hand injuries (may require transfer after assessment) 

• Children’s suspected fractures – if confined to one area and child is haemodynamically 
stable (may require subsequent transfer after assessment) 

5.3.9 The current A&E department at Grantham and District Hospital sees both adults and children, 
however because of its small size and availability of specialist staff exclusion criteria have been 
put in place. The A&E Department at Grantham Hospital has for some time only dealt with a 
limited range of presenting conditions.  

5.3.10 The exclusion criteria have been in place since 2007/08, and following its introduction patients 
with suspected heart attack, acute cardiology, surgical issues, multiple trauma, suspected 
stroke and a number of other conditions have been taken by the ambulance service straight to 
neighbouring hospitals (Lincoln, Pilgrim, Nottingham or Peterborough) where more specialised 
services are located.  

 

 

 

Page 205



 

 72 

5.3.11 This exclusion list is well understood by the local healthcare system including primary care, 
community providers and the ambulance service. However, since the introduction of the 
exclusion criteria, the workforce at Grantham and District A&E has maintained the ability to 
manage all presentations, including those requiring stabilisation and transfer to an alternative 
hospital with the right skills and expertise. To ensure the safe care of all patients presenting at 
the hospital’s A&E department. 

5.3.12 The consultation document set this out: ‘If patients do present at Grantham and District 
Hospital A&E department with conditions that the hospital is not able to deal with, the skills and 
experience are there to manage the patient whilst transfer is quickly arranged to a more 
specialist unit for the appropriate treatment’, and the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) 
that was made publicly available at the start of the public consultation described this situation in 
more detail. 

5.3.13 This approach of Grantham and District Hospital having an exclusion criteria in place and also 
having the skills and capabilities to stabilise and transfer patients is reflected in the information 
shared by the member of the public. This information was shared as it was felt it showed 
statements in the public consultation that Grantham and District Hospital did not have a Level 1 
A&E from 2007 as inaccurate, as every level of severity across a wide range of critical 
conditions were treated and stabilised at the hospital.  

5.3.14 The information shared shows the National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) of patients attending 
the Grantham and District Hospital A&E in November 2017, plus information showing the 
diagnosis description of patients admitted to Grantham Hospital wards as an ‘emergency. 

5.3.15 Early warning scores (EWS) are forms of track and trigger scoring systems. These involve 
checking basic physiological signs at intervals (tracking) and responding to abnormal 
physiological parameters (triggers). 

5.3.16 NEWS uses six physiological measurements: respiratory rate; oxygen saturation; temperature; 
systolic blood pressure; heart rate and level of consciousness. Each scores 0–3 and individual 
scores are added together for an overall score. An additional two points are added if the patient 
is receiving oxygen therapy. The total possible score ranges from 0 to 20. The higher the score 
the greater the clinical risk. Higher scores indicate the need for escalation, medical review and 
possible clinical intervention and more intensive monitoring.  

5.3.17 The information shared identifies patients with NEWS as high as 14 were seen at the 
Grantham & District A&E department, which is in line with its capability to stabilise and transfer 
those patients the hospital is not able to directly deal with. ACTION 

5.3.18 However, it is important to note that a ‘Type 1 A&E’ is not determined by the nature of 
complaints people present with, nor by having the skills and experience to manage patients 
who initially attend, or subsequently deteriorate after arrival, with a higher level of acuity. A 
‘Type 1 A&E’ can only be categorised as such if it is a consultant-led, 24-hour service with full 
resuscitation facilities which has all the required clinical interdependent services co-located with 
it. 

5.3.19 This means a ‘Type 1 A&E’ department that is able to maintain safe, sustainable 24/7 cover, is 
able to receive all patients (i.e. ‘unselected’) and is co-located with other specialties (Critical 
Care/Intensive Care, Acute Medicine (and specialties), General Surgery (and specialties), 
Paediatrics, Orthopaedics, Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Laboratory Services and Diagnostic 
Imaging) that are also delivered in a safe and sustainable way. 

5.3.20 Further detail on the requirements for a ‘Type 1 A&E’ and its clinical dependencies is described 
in the system’s response to the consultation feedback around ‘why can’t Grantham have a full 
A&E?’. This document also includes evidence from a number of external reviews of the 
services offered at Grantham & District Hospital, which also confirm it was not a Type 1 A&E 
service. 

5.3.21 Within the public consultation document it was set out that under the proposals to establish a 
24/7 walk-in UTC at Grantham and District Hospital and provide integrated acute/community 
medical beds, the exclusion criteria would be refined such that a small volume of higher acuity 
cases currently managed at Grantham and District Hospital would receive specialised 
treatment elsewhere. The service is planned to be 24/7 and walk-in following feedback during 
the pre-consultation engagement exercises.  

Page 206



 

 73 

5.3.22 The public consultation document also described ‘existing doctors retained as part of the team 
and consultant (senior doctor) oversight provided to the unit. The multi-disciplinary workforce 
would have the ability to manage all presentations, including those requiring stabilisation and 
transfer to an alternative hospital with the right skills and expertise’. As the A&E department 
currently does. 

5.3.23 The PCBC that was made publicly available at the start of the public consultation described 
these changes in more detail. Within this document it sets out that following a clinical audit of 
patients on the Grantham and District Hospital site that used a combination of National Early 
Warning Scores (NEWS) and Frailty Scores, recommendations from the audit were: 

• The combination of the NEWS and Frailty Score provide a clear evidence base for 
identifying acuity; and 

• To review the Grantham Hospital Exclusion Criteria and include respiratory distress, 
patients with reduced consciousness and non ST segment Elevation Myocardial Infarct 
(STEMI) 

5.3.24 The discussions by system clinical and managerial leaders in relation to the audit findings were 
predominantly around making sure that patients get to the definitive treatment, first time 
whether that be Grantham Hospital or an alternative site. The acuity of the patient, using 
combined NEWS and the Frailty Scores, was agreed to be the way to accurately identify need. 

5.3.25 There was also an agreed aspiration to reduce the number of intra hospital transfers to another 
site so demonstrating that the patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time. 
There was also acknowledgement that the number of transfers will never be a zero figure as 
some patients will deteriorate after admission; a declining figure should be the aim. 

5.3.26 The conclusion drawn on NEWS and Frailty Scores, using the audit results and evidence, have 
been articulated into a proposed clinical acuity model for the Grantham and District Hospital 
site.  

5.3.27 Within the PCBC the Grantham and District Hospital Acuity Model to underpin the proposed 
changes was outlined. This is set out below. 

Figure 25 – Proposed Grantham and District Hospital acuity model 

 

 

5.3.28 This outline assessment criteria for suitability at Grantham and District Hospital was set out in 
more detail in the proposed exclusion criteria that was included as an Appendix of the PCBC. 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



 

 74 

5.3.29 If the proposed change goes ahead all relevant health and care providers including 111, East 
Midlands Ambulance Service Trust (EMAS), primary care and community providers will be 
engaged and information provided detailing the full list of exclusion criteria for Grantham and 
District Hospital under the change proposals. The current exclusion list is well understood by 
the local health and care system, and the adjustments made under the service change will be 
made explicit and clear. For 111 this will include making sure the Directory of Services (DOS) 
profile aligns so that patients are appropriately seen by the right service. ACTION HSC 

5.3.30 In addition, if the service change proposals relating to Grantham and District Hospital are 
agreed, a comprehensive communication plan will be rolled out for members of the public to 
make sure local residents are made fully aware of what services the 24/7 UTC would be able to 
provide. Including a public facing document that clearly lists conditions that can be managed at 
the proposed 24/7 UTC, is also explicit about the red flags that should prompt 999 and includes 
information about diagnostics. This communication plan would be developed in line with the 
national requirement of the ‘NHS 111 First’ initiative. ACTION HSC 

5.3.31 This communication plan will be rolled out using the NHS Lincolnshire CCG’s well established 
communication channels as well as those of all local health and care providers, including 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust and Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS 
Trust. ACTION HSC 

5.3.32 Activity modelling completed to assess the service change estimated that with the proposed 
change and refinement of the exclusions criteria, around 3% of those patients currently 
attending the Grantham and District Hospital A&E would not under the proposed model. This is 
equivalent to two patients a day, on average. These are patients who require onward transfer 
for immediate specialist care. This was highlighted in the public consultation document and set 
out in detail in the Pre Consultation Business Case. ACTION 

5.3.33 During the Covid-19 pandemic a temporary change was made to the Grantham and District 
Hospital site to make it a ‘Green’ site. This involved temporarily changing the Grantham A&E 
department to a 24/7 UTC between August 2020 and June 2021. 

5.3.34 Although caution should be exercised when comparing the proposed 24/7 UTC at Grantham 
and District Hospital with the temporary UTC provided as part of the Covid-free ‘Green’ site at 
Grantham and District Hospital in response to the pandemic, the temporary changes do provide 
useful insights.  

5.3.35 Of particular note when making this comparison is that the proposed 24/7 UTC at Grantham 
and District Hospital would be able to see and treat patients with a higher level of acuity and 
support additional pathways of attendance such as 111 appointments compared to the 
temporary UTC put in place during Covid.  

5.3.36 Comparing the activity between the Grantham A&E and the temporary UTC shows the 
temporary UTC when it was open saw more patients a day on average compared to Grantham 
A&E for the same period the previous year.  

Page 208



 

 75 

Figure 26 – Comparison of activity between Grantham A&E and temporary UTC 

 

 

5.3.37 A comparison of the performance of the temporary UTC at Grantham and District Hospital as 
part of the ‘Green’ site in August 2020 and June 2021 has also been carried out, although due 
to the length of time the temporary service was in place it is not possible to use comparable 
months. ACTION 

5.3.38 However, there is an assumption that given similar levels of isolation and lockdown that overall 
performance should not differ between months: 

• August 2020 

▪ 90% of patients seen within their 15 minute clinical triage, of those averaging around 
a 9 minute assessment 

▪ 98% of UTC attendances are discharged within the 4 hour target, of those averaging 
102 minute attendance. 

▪ 5% referral rate to A&E 

▪ Friends and Family Test (FFT): 90% = recommend, 4% = not recommend 

• June 2021 

▪ 84% of patients seen within their 15 minute clinical triage, of those averaging around 
a 16 minute assessment 

▪ 98% of UTC attendances are discharged within the 4 hour target, of those averaging 
130 minute attendance. 

▪ 4% referral rate to A&E. 

▪ Friends and Family Test (FFT): 93% = recommend, 3% = not recommend 

Full A&E and hospital service provision at Grantham and District Hospital 

5.3.39 The consideration given by the working group in relation to this consultation feedback reflects 
and builds upon the significant scrutiny that has been placed upon the A&E department at 
Grantham and District Hospital over recent years, including that by the Independent 
Reconfiguration Panel (IRP) and the East of England Clinical Senate.  

5.3.40 Work completed by the working group to consider this feedback included: 

• Reviewing the definitions of A&E departments ACTION 

• Reviewing national staffing guidelines ACTION 

• Reviewing the independent clinical advice on the closure of Grantham and District Hospital 
A&E department overnight ACTION 

Page 209



 

 76 

• Reviewing the current position of ULHT A&E department staffing and requirements to 
operate three ‘full’ A&Es ACTION 

• Considering A&E department clinical interdependencies and scale requirements ACTION  

• Analysing the population growth forecasts for Grantham and South Kesteven ACTION 

• Analysing the catchment populations for five A&E departments that have been reorganised 
and the rationale for change ACTION 

5.3.41 An overview of the conclusions and outcomes of this work is set out below. 

5.3.42 Definitions vary across the UK and in England A&E departments are defined by three ‘types’, 
these are: 

• Type 1 departments – A consultant-led, 24-hour service with full resuscitation facilities and 

designated accommodation for the reception of emergency department patients. 

• Type 2 departments – A consultant-led, single specialty emergency department service 

(e.g. ophthalmology or dental services) with designated accommodation for the reception 

of patients. 

• Type 3 departments – May be doctor-led or nurse-led with designated accommodation for 

the reception of emergency department patients, treating at least minor injuries and 

illnesses (e.g. sprains) which patients can routinely access without an appointment. This 

also includes all NHS walk-in centres and other open access treatment services offering at 

least minor injury/illness services, whether located alongside a main emergency 

department or at another location. 

5.3.43 However, it should be noted that this terminology of A&E type is generally used ‘internally’ by 
the NHS in the context of recording the activity being undertaken by these services, rather than 
a public facing description of services provided. 

5.3.44 It is often the perception of the public that the NHS provides a single type of A&E department, 
which provides services and care in line with the type 1 description above. The terms minor 
injury unit, walk-in centres and urgent care centres are generally recognised by the public, 
however the scope of services provided at these can vary and may not always be fully 
understood. 

5.3.45 The United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) operates three acute hospitals within the 
county of Lincolnshire, each of which has a service called an A&E department, however the 
services provided from each of these are not the same (note the number of attendances per 
year will include non-Lincolnshire residents e.g. people on holiday): 

• Lincoln County Hospital – provides an A&E department with an ‘unselected take’ i.e. all 
patients can attend; it serves a population of c.300,000 and has c.75,000 attendances per 
year. 

• Boston, Pilgrim Hospital – provides an A&E department with an ‘unselected take’ i.e. all 
patients can attend; it serves a population of c.215,000 and has c.55,000 attendances per 
year. 

• Grantham and District Hospital – provides an A&E department with an exclusion criteria or 
‘selected take’ i.e. not all patients can attend; it serves a population of c.100,000-120,000 
(c.29,000 attendances per year prior to the temporary closure and c.23,000 per year after 
it). 

5.3.46 Major trauma cases go to Queens Medical Centre in Nottingham. 

 

 

 

 

Page 210



 

 77 

5.3.47 Following the temporary closure the Independent Review Panel (IRP) responded to the 
Secretary of State in March 2017 with its view, which included: 

• The changes agreed by the ULHT Board in August 2016 and implemented in relation to the 
temporary closure at Grantham and District Hospital were done so on the grounds of 
safety.  

• The situation raised a number of questions in relation to the true nature of emergency care 
provision at Grantham and District Hospital.  

• The A&E service at Grantham and District Hospital has for some time (since 2007/08) only 
dealt with a limited range of presenting emergency conditions.  

• The level of emergency service provided from Grantham Hospital prior to August 2016 was 
already more akin to that of an urgent care centre. Yet description of the service as an A&E 
or ED by the NHS and Health Scrutiny Committee continues today.  

• This is not just about the appropriate use of terminology or signage but that unrealistic 
expectations and misunderstanding may have been allowed to develop about the level of 
service that can and should be provided at Grantham and District Hospital.  

• Genuine efforts to recruit and retain staff to work in ULHT’s departments continue but, thus 
far, with limited success. The IRP agreed that after six months (to date at the time) the 
closure of the A&E service at Grantham and District Hospital can no longer be regarded as 
a temporary measure and considered that it is not in the interests of patients that future 
discussions be conducted on this basis.  

• The Grantham A&E service is demonstrably the smallest of the three A&E services 
provided by ULHT and deals with a limited range of presenting conditions. Consequently, 
taking account of the low level of activity through the night, the actual numbers of patients 
affected in terms of accessing A&E elsewhere is relatively small.  

• Even if it were possible to return to a 24/7 service, it has to be recognised that the service 
provided can never be (nor was it prior to the overnight closure) at the same level as that 
provided at Lincoln or Boston. 

5.3.48 The IRP concluded that in the interests of safety the A&E service at Grantham and District 
Hospital should not re-open 24/7 unless sufficient staff defined by the threshold can be 
recruited and retained. It also stated that the time has come for an open and honest appraisal, 
both of the options for future emergency care delivery at Grantham and District Hospital and 
more widely across Lincolnshire. 

5.3.49 In a subsequent review by the East of England Clinical Senate, the report produced included a 
foreword from the Chair of the Senate Panel, Dr Bernard Brett. Within this forward, Dr Brett 
states that the unanimous view of the panel was that it was not in the interests of short term or 
longer-term patient safety to re-open the Emergency Department on Grantham and District 
Hospital on a 24/7 basis at this time. It was also the unanimous view that any changes to 
service provision on the Grantham site, should, if possible, be linked to the longer-term plans 
for urgent care across the Trust and that these plans should be developed with appropriate 
stakeholders and public consultation as soon as possible. 

5.3.50 A&E departments nationally face longstanding challenges in recruiting and retaining sufficient 
staff. Although the Emergency Medicine (EM) Consultant workforce has grown over recent 
years (6.6% per year 2012-2016), this has not kept pace with the demand and complexity of 
work required to be delivered. This issue is exacerbated further given approximately 26% of 
advertised Consultant posts remain unfilled. 

5.3.51 A range of national policies have been put in place over recent years to boost the numbers of 
clinical staff in A&E departments through increased recruitment and improved retention of 
existing staff. Over this time, other professional roles, such as advanced clinical practitioners 
and physician associates, have also been developed to play a greater role in delivering A&E 
services to relieve pressures on departments. However, despite all of these initiatives, it 
remains difficult to recruit and retain sufficient staff in emergency care and other key services. 

 

Page 211

https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/emergency-care-workforce-programme/


 

 78 

5.3.52 Over the last decade, a number of Royal College of Emergency Medicine (RCEM) documents 
have been produced that describe in detail ways in which ED staffing requirements can be 
calculated, the most recent of which is ‘RCEM Workforce Recommendations 2018 – Consultant 
Staffing in Emergency Departments in the UK’. The purpose of this most recent document is to 
describe the future requirements for A&E department senior staffing in medium and large 
emergency care systems, to allow for a clear definition of the ways in which these senior 
decision makers can perform to contribute to safe and effective patient care. The document is 
clear to point out though that the staffing requirements it sets out do not relate to smaller A&Es, 
these types of units have an additional set of challenges that are described later in this 
document. 

5.3.53 In its latest publication the RCEM identifies it is not possible to describe a ‘one size fits all’ 
approach to A&E department Consultant staffing. Effective staffing is a function of capacity, 
capability, sustainable working and resilience.  

5.3.54 Insufficient staff numbers deliver a vicious spiral of longer waits, crowding, compromises to 
safe practice, reduction in the quality of care and poor experience of patients and staff. This 
leads to an inability to recruit and retain staff, a reduction in system efficiency, an increase in 
staffing costs (increased locum staff numbers) and system costs (serious incidents, complaints 
and litigation). Larger systems require more staff, and far more hours, across the full range of 
professional groups. 

5.3.55 For the purpose of describing senior staffing numbers required, the RCEM describes the size of 
systems in terms of annual new patient attendances to an Emergency Department (ED) as 
shown in the table below. 

Figure 27 – Royal College of Emergency Medicine ED size definitions 

Size of ED New patient attendances per annum 

Small ED Less than 60,000 attendances (may be urban) 

Remote and Rural ED Typically less than 60,000 attendances (may be much lower) 

Medium-Sized ED 60,000-100,000 attendances 

Large ED greater than 100,000 attendances 

Very Large ED greater than 150,000 attendances  

Major Trauma Centre Usually either a large or very large ED 

 

5.3.56 The RCEM has defined that for ‘Medium Sized’ EDs and above (i.e. not Small or Remote and 
Rural) that there should be 1WTE Consultant to between 3,600-4,000 new attendances, 
depending upon complexity of workload and associated clinical services for which an ED is 
responsible. 

5.3.57 In light of this the RCEM has identified the required numbers of Consultants and other senior 
decision makers (SDMs) required to support the various sizes of department (in a functional 
system – i.e. not exit blocks and crowding). The calculation takes into consideration numbers of 
new patient attendances, complexity, co-located services, rota design and sustainability for 
senior staff.  

5.3.58 RCEM classifies clinical staffing into five tiers, with an increasing autonomy of practice from 
Tier 1 (F1 doctors, trainee practitioners) to Tier five (EM Consultants with FRCEM). 

5.3.59 SDMs are made up of staff from tiers four and five. Although not all hold FRCEM, they are able 
to make key decisions regarding investigations, treatment and disposal at the point of first 
contact with the patients. 

 

 

 

Page 212



 

 79 

Figure 28 – Royal College of Emergency Medicine ED staffing guidelines 

Size of department 
(attendances / year) 

WTE Consultant 
numbers 

WTE SDMs (minimum) 

Medium-Sized ED 
(60,000-100,000) 

18-25 30 

Large ED 
(100,000-150,000) 

25-36 42 

Very Large ED 
(greater than 150,000) 

34-48 60 

 

5.3.60 ULHT has continued to work hard to improve medical staffing levels in its A&E departments 
over recent years, and had success with a wide range of initiatives, however recruitment 
continues to be a real challenge both locally and nationally. 

5.3.61 The table below sets out the current position in relation to the A&E service at Grantham and 
District Hospital together with the increase in numbers that would be required to meet the most 
recently published Royal College of Emergency Medicine guidance on the numbers of medical 
consultants and senior decision makers required to maintain safe, sustainable 24/7 ‘full’ A&E at 
Grantham and District Hospital. 

Figure 29 – ‘Full’ Grantham and District Hospital A&E staffing based on RCEM guidelines 

Staff grade 
Current 

workforce 
numbers 

No/% that 
are locums 

No/% of 
vacancies 

Additional 
required to 

provide full 24/7 
A&E at GDH 

WTE Consultants 2 1 0 10 

WTE Senior 
decision makers 

14 2 0 29 

 

5.3.62 However, it is important to consider the outputs of this table in the context of the findings of: 

• The IRP - “Even if it were possible to return to a 24/7 service, it has to be recognised that 
the service provided can never be (nor was it prior to the overnight closure) at the same 
level as that provided at Lincoln or Boston” 

• The East Midlands Clinical Senate - “there was no evidence that any extended opening, 
over and above the current level of provision of the Accident and Emergency department at 
Grantham and District Hospital would improve outcomes for patients.” 

5.3.63 A key factor underpinning this is as well as having sufficient medical and practitioner staffing to 
maintain safe, sustainable 24/7 cover a ‘type 1 A&E’ that is able to receive all patients (i.e. 
‘unselected’) needs to be co-located with other specialties.  

5.3.64 A review of various publications and guidance on the need for A&E services to be co-located 
with other specialties, together with the view of local clinical leaders, identifies a core of 
specialties with A&E department clinical interdependencies: Critical Care/Intensive Care, Acute 
Medicine (and specialties), General Surgery (and specialties), Paediatrics, Orthopaedics, 
Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Laboratory Services and Diagnostic Imaging”. HSC 

5.3.65 Each of these specialties also needs to be provided at a sufficient scale to ensure they can 
deliver safe and sustainable services. HSC 

5.3.66 Accident and Emergency (A&E) departments play a pivotal role in both the assessment and 
treatment of patients requiring emergency care, and in transferring patients to other specialties. 
HSC 

5.3.67 The configuration of emergency and acute care has therefore been the focus of a number of 
publications by the Royal Colleges, medical associations, government departments and other 
organisations, which often takes the form of guidance, recommendations and/or good practice 
examples. HSC 

 

Page 213



 

 80 

5.3.68 As previously mentioned various publications and guidance has been produced regarding the 
need for A&E services to be co-located with other specialties. HSC 

5.3.69 Having identified a core of specialties for co-location with A&E departments the Centre for 
Health Economics at the University of York identified that “whilst these are all seen as highly 
preferable for co-location, there is some debate about the degree to which a sub-set of this 
core is essential on-site or could be provided elsewhere subject to establishment of robust 
networks and patient pathways, albeit usually with a proviso that this would impact on the 
nature of the cases that should be admitted to A&E.” Unselected medical take in units that 
cannot provide all the service on the same site would be unsafe. HSC 

5.3.70 The Centre for Health Economics concluded that “it is clear that it will not always be feasible to 
have all services thought to be desirable to support A&E on a single site. The use of network 
arrangements as an alternative is a constant theme within the guidance and the documents … 
reviewed reflect some consistent themes in relation to the nature of the trade-offs – financial 
and non-financial - that may be involved in such arrangements. These include potential 
increased risks to health from transferring or directing patients elsewhere, balanced against the 
gains from specialist treatment; the financial costs of establishing and maintaining network 
arrangements and clear protocols for patient pathways; and the costs of establishing and 
maintaining adequate training opportunities for those working within and outside of the main 
services to fulfil the requirements of professional standards (i.e. ensuring that staff see the 
required volume and mix of cases). There also appears to be a consensus that where some 
specialties are located away from the emergency department, there is a need to ensure staff 
within the emergency department receives extra training that equips them to deal with 
emergencies.” HSC 

5.3.71 A Royal College of Surgeons report identifies “the preferred catchment population size, as 
recommended in previous reports, for an acute general hospital providing the full range of 
facilities, specialist staff and expertise for both elective and emergency medical and surgical 
care would be 450,000–500,000”. HSC 

5.3.72 The report goes on to identify “it is estimated that hospitals of this size account for less than 
10% of acute hospitals in England…the majority of acute hospitals currently have, and are 
likely to continue to have, a catchment population of approximately 300,000…hospitals serving 
a population of 150,000 or less are found in many geographically remote parts of 
England…advice offered regarding the organisations of services usually centres around the 
hospital working in close partnership with adjacent services to make use of those specialist 
services not available on site.” HSC 

5.3.73 This ‘mixed model’ of some acute hospitals (Lincoln County and Pilgrim, Boston) providing a 
broader range of specialist services to a larger population ‘unselectively’ and some (Grantham 
and District Hospital) providing a narrower range of services to a smaller population ‘selectively’ 
and working in close partnership with adjacent services to access specialist services not 
available on site is one currently deployed across Lincolnshire. HSC 

5.3.74 The South Kesteven Local Plan seeks to plan positively and guide developments across the 
District up to 2036. This includes detailed plans on how the new homes and jobs needed for 
the plan period will be delivered throughout the duration of the plan, how retail, leisure and 
commercial development will be provided for, and what infrastructure is needed to support 
sustainable development and growth across the District. 

5.3.75 The District Council’s aim is to see the majority of growth and development focused in 
Grantham, with the town accommodating up to 55% of growth needs. The Area Action Plan for 
Grantham town will drive regeneration and growth for the town and will serve as a vehicle to 
deliver Grantham’s status as a Growth Point. 

5.3.76 The projected population change for the Grantham and South Kesteven District as a whole 
between 2016 and 2039 indicate that by 2039 the populations of Grantham and South 
Kesteven will be c.50,000 and c.164,000 respectively.  

Page 214



 

 81 

Figure 30 – Grantham and South Kesteven population projections 

 

 

5.3.77 It should be noted that Grantham and District Hospital does not serve the whole population of 
South Kesteven. The areas towards the south of the District are closer to Peterborough 
Hospital and therefore the residents of these parts tend to head south to Peterborough for care.  
There are also areas outside of South Kesteven to the north-east of Grantham that fall within 
the catchment area of Grantham and District Hospital. 

5.3.78 The current catchment population of Grantham and District hospital is estimated to be 
c.100,000-120,000 people. Based on the growth forecasts for Grantham and South Kesteven it 
is estimated this could increase to c.120,000-140,000 people by 2039 (this takes the higher 
growth rate of 18% forecast in South Kesteven between 2016-2039).  

5.3.79 If this level of growth is realised, this would still mean a population catchment area that is well 
below the 300,000 identified by the Royal College of Surgeons required for an acute hospital 
providing a full range of facilities, and even below the 150,000 identified as the size below 
which hospitals would need to utilise network arrangements for specialist services that cannot 
be provided on site.  

5.3.80 To put the challenges faced by Lincolnshire in the provision of A&E services at Grantham and 
District Hospital in relation to scale and interdependencies into a wider national context, 
consideration was given to the catchment population, rationale for reorganisation, the ‘new’ 
service and year of change for the reorganisation of five Accident and Emergency departments 
in England. This was done through a review of research paper looking at these issues. 

5.3.81 This identified all five of the A&E departments that reorganised the way care was provided had 
a catchment population larger than the current estimate of the Grantham and District Hospital 
catchment population, which is c.100,000-120,000. 

 

Page 215



 

 82 

5.3.82 Based on the forecast estimate of the catchment population of Grantham and District Hospital 
being c.120,000-140,000 by 2039, of the five A&E departments reorganised: 

• One had a catchment population within the range of the Grantham and District Hospital 
catchment population forecast (Newark); 

• Three had a catchment population larger than the forecast for Grantham and District 
Hospital (Bishop Auckland, Rochdale and Hartlepool); and 

• One had a catchment population substantially larger than the forecast (Hemel Hempstead) 

5.3.83 What is also clear from the table is that all five of these A&E departments, even those with 
catchment populations of over 140,000, faced a common set of sustainability risks and 
challenges that could not be resolved, namely: 

• The ongoing provision of safe care 

• Insufficient staffing numbers 

• Maintenance of skills amongst doctors 

• Services are unattractive to clinical staff 

5.3.84 The experience of these five health systems in terms of the challenges faced and solutions 
found align to the views of the Royal College of Surgeons “hospitals serving a population of 
150,000 or less are found in many geographically remote parts of England…advice offered 
regarding the organisations of services usually centres around the hospital working in close 
partnership with adjacent services to make use of those specialist services not available on 
site.” 

5.3.85 The conclusions of this work that looked to understand the impact of Emergency Department 
reorganisations on populations and emergency care provision were there was no statistically 
reliable evidence that the changes were associated with an increase in population mortality. 
This suggests that any negative effects caused by increased journey time to the Emergency 
Department can be offset by other factored; for example, if other new services are introduced 
and care becomes more effective than it used to be, or if the care received at the now-nearest 
hospital is more effective that the care that was received at the hospital where the Emergency 
Department was reorganised. 

5.3.86 Following the completion of the analysis highlighted above the findings of the working group 
were: 

• There a number of combining factors lead to the conclusion that a type 1 A&E department 
at Grantham and District Hospital that provides a full range of ‘unselected’ care and is 
supported by the required core set of specialties is not feasible. These are: 

▪ The required staffing levels for a type 1 A&E department and those specialities with 
clinical interdependencies that enable the ongoing provision of safe care; 

▪ The availability of doctors and nursing to staff these services in a sustainable manner; 

▪ The required scale of provision for these services to ensure staff maintain and 
continue to develop their skills and be attractive to staff to work in; and 

▪ Even when considering the forecast growth for Grantham and the surrounding area, 
there will still not be sufficient scale to safely and sustainable deliver this level of care. 

5.3.87 The proposed service change is in line with clinical guidance i.e. network arrangements where 
some acute hospitals (Lincoln County and Pilgrim, Boston) provide a broader range of 
specialist services to a larger population ‘unselectively’ and some (Grantham and District 
Hospital) providing a narrower range of services to a smaller population ‘selectively’ and work 
in close partnership with adjacent services to access specialist services not available on site. 

5.3.88 Other health systems have faced the same challenges, including those with a bigger catchment 
population than that forecast for Grantham and the surrounding area, and could only solve 
them by reorganising the way care was delivered. 

 
 

Page 216



 

 83 

Ambulance Conveyance 

5.3.89 Grantham and District Hospital has had an exclusion criteria in place since 2007/08, and 
following its introduction patients with suspected heart attack, acute cardiology, surgical issues, 
multiple trauma, suspected stroke and a number of other conditions have been taken by the 
ambulance service straight to neighbouring hospitals where more specialised services are 
located.  

5.3.90 This exclusion list is well understood by the local healthcare system including primary care, 
community providers and the ambulance service. If patients do present at Grantham A&E with 
conditions that are listed within the criteria, the staff have the capabilities to stabilise the patient 
pending transfer to a bigger unit. 

5.3.91 However, since the introduction of the exclusion criteria, the workforce at Grantham and District 
A&E has maintained the ability to manage all presentations, including those requiring 
stabilisation and transfer to an alternative hospital with the right skills and expertise. To ensure 
the safe care of all patients presenting at the hospital’s A&E department. 

5.3.92 To support these transfers United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT), as do all other 
NHS provider organisations, has written protocols for transfers from Grantham and District 
Hospital to Lincoln County Hospital. These protocols ensure all patients are given emergency 
transfers relevant to their condition, regardless of their origin. 

5.3.93 More recently, to support further consideration of the proposed service change in the context of 
ambulance travel times, independent analysis was commissioned by the NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG from Operational Research in Health Limited (ORH). ACTION 

5.3.94 As part of this analysis ORH looked at ambulance travel times for the wards closest to 
Grantham and District Hospital (defined as those wards with a quicker average travel time to 
GDH than to other hospitals) between January 2019 and June 2020. 

5.3.95 The reason the analysis only went up to June 2020 is because in this month the Grantham and 
District Hospital A&E department became a 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre as part of 
Lincolnshire’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The output of this analysis is set out below.  

Figure 31 – Ambulance travel times for wards closest to Grantham and District Hospital 

Wards closest to GDH Average travel time 

Travel to GDH 0:15:46 

Travel to Other Hospital 0:41:29 

Average 0:37:27 

 

5.3.96 This analysis identified that the average ambulance travel time to Grantham and District 
Hospital, other hospitals and the average for all hospitals was below 45 minutes, the travel time 
threshold set by the local health system for this type of activity. 

5.3.97 Of the 52 wards that are closest to Grantham, this analysis identified that: 

• None had an average travel time of over 45 minutes to GDH 

• 13 had an average travel time of over 45 minutes to another hospital (highest was 
00:50:58) 

• 1 had an average travel time of over 45 minutes to any hospital (00:45:38) 

5.3.98 In addition to looking at the ambulance travel times, the ORH analysis also looked at the 
number of ambulance transfers originating from Grantham and District Hospital. This identified, 
on average, there were 733 patients per year requiring transfer by the ambulance service to 
another hospital. As highlighted above, these would happen in line with ULHT’s written transfer 
protocols.  

 

 

Page 217



 

 84 

5.3.99 Under the proposed model of a 24/7 UTC at Grantham and District Hospital the exclusion 
criterion for the Grantham and District Hospital site would be refined, meaning a relatively small 
number of patients (two a day on average) currently attending the A&E, would not in the future. 
Most of these are likely to travel by ambulance to an alternative site and therefore their travel 
time could be less than 45 minutes.   

5.3.100 Two key foundations of the proposed care model are to: 

• Make sure patients get to the definitive treatment, first time whether that be Grantham and 
District Hospital or an alternative site. 

• Reduce the number of intra hospital transfers to another site, so demonstrating that the 
patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time.  

5.3.101 The benefits of patients getting definitive treatment first time and the improved outcomes 
associated with this are seen to out-weigh the potential increases in ambulance travel time. 

5.3.102 If the proposed change goes ahead all relevant health and care providers including 111, East 
Midlands Ambulance Service Trust (EMAS), primary care and community providers will be 
engaged and information provided detailing the full list of exclusion criteria for Grantham and 
District Hospital under the change proposals. For 111 this will include making sure the 
Directory of Services (DOS) profile aligns so that patients are appropriately seen by the right 
service. ACTION 

5.3.103 As well as analysing the ambulance travel time, ORH modelled the performance changes on 
the ambulance service from the proposed service changes. This identified that in order to 
mitigate any reduction in performance two additional weekly DCA vehicle hours would be 
required, which could be delivered through extending a shift length. ACTION 

5.3.104 If the change proposal is implemented the additional ambulance hours required to maintain 
current performance levels will be reflected in the ambulance provider contract. ACTION 

5.3.105 Although not explicitly raised in the consultation feedback, the Lincolnshire health system is 
fully aware and acknowledges current challenges in relation to ambulance Category 2 
response times. The current Category 2 performance is a mean response time of 1 hour and 
03 minutes against an 18 minute standard in March 22.  

5.3.106 This challenge is not specific to Lincolnshire, it is an issue that impacts across all health 
systems nationally. The regional and national performance stands at 1 hour and 1 hour and 1 
minute respectively in March 22.  

5.3.107 A significant under lying issue across the country is the delayed handover of ambulances at 
hospitals Emergency Departments. 

5.3.108 Significant work is underway across Lincolnshire, as it is in other parts of the country,  to tackle 
this issue including dedicated Ambulance submits with NHS England and Improvement at a 
regional and national level. This has included a review of protocols for ambulance handovers in 
ULHT and an agreed action plan to improve ambulance availability has been agreed. 

5.3.109 Putting this challenge in the context of the four service change proposals, this is particularly 
relevant to the urgent and emergency care proposals. 

5.3.110 A key foundation to this proposed care models is ensuring patients get to the definitive 
treatment, first time at a site that has a skilled and dedicated workforce than can provide high 
level care sustainably. 

5.3.111 These challenges in relation to ambulance response times are not seen as a reason to not 
proceed with the urgent and emergency care change proposal given the benefits they will bring 
in terms of improved patient outcomes, care quality and service sustainability. In fact to some 
degree the change proposal even provides some level of mitigation to the challenges faced by 
ensuring when patients arrive at hospital diagnosis and treatment happens as efficiently and 
effectively as possible. 

5.3.112 However, as described above, tackling current ambulance response times is an absolute 
priority for the NHS in Lincolnshire to ensure patients receive the best possible care. 

 

Page 218



 

 85 

Workforce and Organisational Integration 

5.3.113 Building on the workforce modelling in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), the 
workforce modelling for the new provider would need to be mapped to cover a new 24/7 UTC. 
ACTION 

5.3.114 There is recognition that a staged transfer from an A&E to a UTC would be required to ensure 
a safe and smooth service delivery. ACTION 

5.3.115 It is not expected that staff would re-allocate between a UTC and A&E due to the difference 
required in skillset. ACTION HSC 

5.3.116 It would be a requirement for the new provider to ensure they have full accountability and 
governance for the delivery and performance of the service. ACTION 

5.3.117 The new provider would continue to host their own electronic health records and would align to 
the standards of a UTC. The new provider would need to work closely with the current 
organisation to manage any issues or complications with new IT solutions. ACTION 

Equalities and Health Inequalities HSC 

5.3.118 Analysis of questionnaire and survey responses did not indicate that there were any strong 
differences in views or specific concerns being expressed by respondents from groups with 
protected characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010 (e.g., age, ethnicity, gender). Instead, 
the evidence indicates that it is local concerns that account for differences in views, with 
members of different demographic or protected characteristics groups tending to share the 
views of others living in the same area. 

5.3.119 Where concerns were raised in feedback about particular groups (e.g., older people, people 
with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas), the focus was 
predominantly on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private 
transport.  

5.3.120 The one example of a slight difference was that, in the residents survey, there was evidence 
that residents with disabilities or long-term health conditions that limited their day-to-day a lot, 
were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely to disagree) with proposals around urgent 
and emergency care at Grantham and District Hospital than other residents (although there 
was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback indicated that concerns 
about the proposal were as again focused on concerns about travel and access to alternative 
sites, and the need for local acute emergency services at all hospitals. 

5.3.121 There were concerns about accessibility for specific groups including: people without personal 
access to a vehicle, people visiting friends/family, people needing to get home after treatment 
(including those who are too unwell to drive, and/or experiencing pain/discomfort), the elderly, 
people with disabilities, children, and those from low-income backgrounds. 

5.3.122 Consideration of the potential positive impacts of the change proposal was given during the 
development of the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), and further consideration was 
given following the public consultation. The potential positive impacts identified for the 
proposed service changes are the same for all patients, and are therefore equally relevant in 
the context of all groups with protected characteristics ACTION : 

• 24/7 walk in urgent care would return to Grantham and District Hospital through a high 
quality service delivered in a sustainable way for the long term 

• The vast majority of patients (estimated to be around 97%) seen at the Grantham and 
District Hospital A&E department would continue to be seen and treated at the 24/7 Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTC) 

• For some patients there may be longer travel times, but this is balanced against ensuring 
those patients receive treatment in the right place first time. 

• Given the serious nature of the conditions that would not be seen at Grantham and District 
Hospital under the change proposal, those patients displaced are most likely to travel by 
ambulance. This is what happens now for those patients requiring a level of emergency 
care that cannot be met by Grantham and District Hospital A&E. 

Page 219



 

 86 

5.3.123 A number of mitigations to the travel and access concerns have been identified and are set out 
in the Travel and Transport Report. An overview of these is provided in the Travel and 
Transport section at the end of this chapter. ACTION 

5.3.124 In addition to the mitigations set out in the Travel and Transport Report, if the changes are 
agreed all services will comply with the Accessible Information Standard to ensure that people 
who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss get information that they can access and 
understand, and any communication support they need from health and care services. ACTION 

5.3.125 It has also been identified that any service changes if agreed need to ensure services are 
accessible in respect of different races and ethnicity. ACTION 

5.3.126 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the urgent and emergency care change proposal 
developed for the Pre Consultation Business Case was also reviewed in light of the feedback 
from the public. This can be found in Appendix H. The EIA is a ‘living document’ and will 
continue to be updated if and when new information becomes available. If the change 
proposals are agreed it will continue to develop through the implementation phase. 

Travel and Transport HSC 

5.3.127 See Travel and Transport section at the end of this chapter 

Similar UTC provided at Stamford and Spalding 

5.3.128 The national Urgent Care Strategy set out the need for transformational change in service 
provision to sustainably support current and future generations. 

5.3.129 A local Lincolnshire Urgent Care Strategy has been developed in line with the national strategy 
and is already delivering system transformation. 

5.3.130 The provision of urgent care services at Stamford and Spalding, as they are across the whole 
county, are informed by the Lincolnshire Urgent Care Strategy. 

5.3.131 The Lincolnshire Urgent Care Strategy is under constant review and development to ensure 
urgent care services best meet the needs of all Lincolnshire residents.  ACTION 

5.3.132 The Urgent Care proposal consulted on with the public, which was developed in the context of 
the Lincolnshire Urgent Care strategy and aligns to it, solely focused on the provision from 
Grantham and District Hospital. 

5.3.133 Services provided at Stamford and Spalding were not part of the public consultation.  

5.3.134 At present, there are no additional plans to replicate or pilot this model in other locations across 
the county. 

New Specialist Hospital 

5.3.135 To develop and consider potential solutions for improving the prioritised hospital services within 
the scope of the Acute Services Review (ASR) programme, the Lincolnshire health system 
followed a process that started with identifying an initial full range of possible solutions, this was 
in 2017/18. The health system then carried out a thorough analysis on each of them and 
identified a preferred proposal for change to be taken to public consultation.  

5.3.136 One of the nine overarching scenario-based options was a new build scenario which closed 
Lincoln County Hospital, Pilgrim Hospital Boston and Grantham & District Hospital and a new 
hospital site established in Sleaford (known as NG34). 

5.3.137 In light of the immediate quality, financial and workforce challenges, the Lincolnshire health 
system concluded not to progress further work on this single site new build scenario and to 
revisit this decision in three years.  

5.3.138 Further work was carried out in 2019/20 to look at the acute hospital site and configurations. 
This exercise considered several options including i) a new central site plus three satellites and 
ii) a new central site and three new satellites. 

 

 

Page 220



 

 87 

5.3.139 Following discussions by the health system it was agreed any future work would focus on three 
acute hospitals in Lincoln, Boston and Grantham for the following reasons: 

• A new building NG34 would still require investment in the three other sites due to their 
current state.  

• It would not address the backlog maintenance issues 

• Workforce availability and issues would impact on the operational deliverability of the 
scheme. 

 

5.4 Acute Medicine proposal 

Quality and Workforce 

5.4.1 The service change proposal is to establish integrated community/acute medical beds at 
Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the current acute medical beds. The integrated 
community/acute medical beds would be delivered through a partnership model between a 
community health care provider and United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust. The care of 
patients would still be led by consultants (senior doctors) and their team of doctors, 
practitioners, therapists and nursing staff. 

5.4.2 It is anticipated this change would affect around 10% of those patients currently receiving care 
in the acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital. This is equivalent to one patient a 
day, on average. These patients would receive care at an alternative hospital with the right 
skills and facilities to ensure the best possible outcome.  

5.4.3 The change proposal would deliver a more comprehensive local service provision at Grantham 
and District Hospital, specifically in relation to the ‘frail’ population, thereby reducing pressure 
on acute hospital sites at Lincoln and Boston. It would enable Grantham and District Hospital to 
build a centre of excellence for integrated multi-disciplinary care (particularly for frail patients), 
which supports improved community-based management of long term conditions. HSC 

5.4.4 There are no changes in the beds available on the site for medical inpatients. Retaining current 
provision is essential to supporting stabilisation of the wider system. However, ensuring only 
those that require an admission and reducing length of stay and delayed transfers of care will 
be a priority, thereby supporting a greater patient cohort. ACTION 

5.4.5 An increase in financial cost of the service has been modelled and this includes an increase in 
staff numbers. ACTION 

5.4.6 Following the public consultation further consideration has been given to the clinical/workforce 
model and no changes are being proposed. However, general challenges in recruitment both 
locally and indeed nationally are noted. However, they do not stop the need for the new 
proposed model. ACTION HSC 

5.4.7 There is constant engagement with the Lincolnshire neighbourhood teams when implementing 
new initiatives across Lincolnshire, and they have been extremely positive for current system 
improvement programmes. Ensuring engagement with the local health and social care 
community within early implementations will be crucial to ensure the successful delivery. 
ACTION HSC 

5.4.8 If the service change were agreed and implemented, changes would be completed through a 
sequence of changes to clinical practice and the workforce. Throughout this process, there 
would be ongoing monitoring of the clinical outcomes of patients.  ACTION HSC 

5.4.9 Staff will be fully supported in terms of recruitment where required. ACTION HSC 

5.4.10 The East Midlands Clinical Senate panel described the proposal as innovative and achieved an 
excellent balance between access and sustainable long-term outcomes. 

 

 

 

Page 221



 

 88 

5.4.11 Grantham and District Hospital remaining a training hospital is very much part of the plans, and 
this is set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC). Trainee roles offer significant 
value to the medical establishment, both financially and in terms of care delivery. With the 
exception of the withdrawal of cardiology and gastroenterology trainee posts, there are no 
plans at present to further reduce training posts at Grantham as part of the transition to the new 
model; indeed, it is hoped that improved opportunities for training support at Grantham could 
be offered. ACTION HSC 

5.4.12 As medical trainees proceed through their training pathways, posts must offer exposure to 
education and development opportunities. Trainees will be seeking opportunities to ‘tick off’ 
specific criteria defined within their training programme and future posts at Grantham will be 
needed to offer clarity to applicants as to the value which can be added to their development 
pathway. 

5.4.13 Discussions with HEE to date have been positive; there is an acknowledgement that the 
structures for specialist roles will develop over time as models of integrated care develop 
across the country, with a greater emphasis on holistic management and consideration of the 
functions of care which can be safely managed within an individual’s own residence. ACTION 
HSC 

5.4.14 The placement of trainees for specialty roles within a community-based Trust will offer a variety 
of new experiences, which may not currently be available. In addition to the hospital-based 
functions, we would expect the new provider to work alongside system colleagues to offer 
trainees opportunities to experience integrated urgent care and community-based care delivery 
(for example, the Clinical Assessment Service, or Neighbourhood MDTs). In the medium to 
long term, telemedicine delivery will additionally be a key function of training opportunity with 
the consultants’ responsibilities for supporting community hospitals and community-based 
specialty teams (e.g. Respiratory). ACTION HSC 

5.4.15 In addition to the opportunities for speciality trainees, General Practice training opportunities 
are being discussed. There are not currently any GP trainees based out of Grantham’s 
medicine services, though there are a small number of posts offered across ULHT sites. 
Medical teams from both Primary Care services locally and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Services (LCHS) consider that there could be scope for the provision of integrated trainee 
posts within the proposed Grantham model. The CCG are in contact with the local GP Training 
facility and are working alongside the ULHT training teams and appropriate GP training 
locations to explore these opportunities further, and Health Education England have approved 
four GP trainees from August 2020. ACTION 

Conditions that would be treated at 24/7 Grantham and District Hospital UTC 

5.4.16 See response with same name above in Urgent and Emergency Care section above HSC 

Full A&E and hospital service provision 

5.4.17 See response with same name above in Urgent and Emergency Care section above 

Acute Care Unit (ACU) 

5.4.18 The acute medicine change proposals relate to the way care is delivered on the acute medicine 
wards at Grantham and District hospital: 

• Emergency Assessment Unit / Short Stay Assessment Unit 

• Medical wards – high acuity and low acuity 

5.4.19 In addition to the bed elements, two further components of the proposed model are: 

• Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) 

• Complex Frailty Assessment Service 

5.4.20 The change proposal being consulted upon focus on these elements, retaining acute 
specialists and strengthening it through greater integration with community and primary care 
providers. 

 

Page 222



 

 89 

5.4.21 There is no current intention to reduce the beds available on the site for medical inpatients. 
Retaining current provision is essential to supporting stabilisation of the wider system. 
However, ensuring only those that require an admission and reducing length of stay and 
delayed transfers of care will be a priority, thereby supporting a greater patient cohort. 

5.4.22 This is set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case in the following way. 

Figure 32 – Proposed Grantham and District Hospital acute medicine service 

 

5.4.23 The Acute Care Unit is identified in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) as potentially 
being part of some care pathways. 

5.4.24 The PCBC says ‘The Acute Care Unit (ACU) would continue to be run by an acute provider, 
offering care for the highest acuity patients at Grantham Hospital. This consultant-led unit 
would be primarily for post-surgical patients, the unit would additionally support medical 
patients requiring escalation’. 

5.4.25 Prior to the changes made on the Grantham hospital site in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the Acute Care Unit (ACU) (also known as L1 beds) was provided from 12 beds in a 
single location. 

5.4.26 When the Grantham hospital site moved to a ‘green model’ in response to Covid-19 the ACU 
was split into eight surgical and four medical beds on the specialist wards to support IPC 
requirements. 

5.4.27 This approach has been kept in place when the Grantham hospital site reverted back and no 
longer operated under the ‘green model’ as the surgical and medical patients are better cared 
for by being in the relevant specialties. 

5.4.28 The L1 beds will remain in place as currently provided, regardless of the outcome of the ASR. 
This is not done in any way to pre-empt agreement on the service change proposal and has no 
impact on the deliverable care for patients. 

5.4.29 The working group confirmed the split of the ACU beds does not alter the proposed model 
except that the patients will be cared for in the two distinct areas. ACTION 

5.4.30 Feedback from the public consultation also included specific concerns about a lack of provision 
of Level 2 respiratory beds at Grantham and District Hospital and suggested that respiratory 
Advanced Care Practitioners could manage respiratory beds with support from anaesthetists 
and additional funding for recruitment and training. 

5.4.31 Consideration of this feedback by the working group confirmed: ACTION 

• There are not and have not been critically care trained consultants at Grantham and 
District Hospital. There have not been nor are there any anaesthetists based at Grantham 
and District Hospital on the critical care specialist register. The anaesthetists at Grantham 
and District Hospital are not trained to deliver or supervise NIV as per BTS national 
guidelines. Therefore, in addition the ACP’s do not have the right skillset to deliver this. 

Page 223



 

 90 

• The last time any form of L2 beds were provided at the Grantham site was five years ago. 
These were part of the HDU unit at the time. National guidance meant that the HDU unit 
was removed from Grantham as it did not meet the criteria for the service and how it should 
fit into accompanying ICU support. At present there are no HDU units on any site in ULHT.  

Ambulance Conveyance 

5.4.32 Independent analysis identified that in order to mitigate any reduction in current performance 
two additional weekly DCA vehicle hours would be required to respond to all the change 
proposals relating to Grantham and District Hospital, which could be delivered through 
extending a shift length.  

5.4.33 If the change proposal is implemented the additional ambulance hours required to maintain 
current performance levels will be reflected in the ambulance provider contract. 

Facilities 

5.4.34 Bed demand and capacity modelling formed a key part of the underpinning analysis to assess 
the proposed service change. 

5.4.35 The modelled bed requirement by 2023/24 is comfortably within the current acute medicine bed 
capacity at Grantham and District Hospital, however there are no intentions to reduce the 
number of acute medicine beds at Grantham and District Hospital. 

5.4.36 Retaining current provision is essential to supporting stabilisation of the wider system. 
However, ensuring only those that require an admission and reducing length of stay and 
delayed transfers of care will be a priority, thereby supporting a greater patient cohort. 

5.4.37 It is noted that currently Grantham also has only one acute ward open. Presently it is not 
possible to safely staff the second ward due to lack of both nurses and medical staff. The site is 
able to function without the second ward at present but having it in place will support the wider 
system with the required lower acuity beds. Certainty of the ASR model could help support 
refreshed recruitment plans for the site.  ACTION 

Equalities and Health Inequalities HSC 

5.4.38 Positively, in the public consultation feedback it was identified that patients would be seen to 
quicker, resulting in more efficient care, and would further benefit by being discharged back into 
their community more quickly. Elderly or frail patients were highlighted as particularly benefiting 
from this. 

5.4.39 In feedback from individuals with protected characteristics or other key demographics, their 
views on the proposals were typically informed most strongly by their area of residence, 
regardless of any other demographic characteristics. 

5.4.40 One exception was that evidence suggested that residents with the most limiting disabilities or 
long-term health conditions were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely than other 
residents to disagree) with proposals around acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital (although there was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback 
indicated that their concerns were focused on loss of acute services and travel and access to 
alternative sites. 

5.4.41 Skegness Town Council stated that acute medical beds would be lost from Grantham and 
District Hospital, placing additional pressure on hospitals elsewhere. It also reiterated others’ 
concerns around the potential demand impact on EMAS and raised worries around the ability 
of patients’ loved ones to visit them, potentially impacting their recovery. The Council was also 
of the view that removing local services would most impact vulnerable residents.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 224



 

 91 

5.4.42 Consideration of the potential positive impacts of the change proposal was given during the 
development of the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), and further consideration was 
given following the public consultation. The potential positive impacts identified for the 
proposed service changes are the same for all patients, and are therefore equally relevant in 
the context of all groups with protected characteristics ACTION : 

• The majority of patients (estimated to be around 90%) cared for in the acute medical beds 
at Grantham and District Hospital would continue to be cared for in the integrated 
community/acute medical beds 

• The proposal for change would deliver a more comprehensive local service provision at 
Grantham and District Hospital, specifically in relation to the ‘frail’ population. 

• For some patients there may be longer travel times, but this is balanced against ensuring 
those patients receive treatment in the right place first time. 

• Given the serious nature of the conditions that would not be seen at Grantham and District 
Hospital under the change proposal, those patients displaced are most likely to travel by 
ambulance. This is what happens now for those patients requiring a level of emergency 
care that cannot be met by Grantham and District Hospital A&E. 

5.4.43 A number of mitigations to the travel and access concerns have been identified and are set out 
in the Travel and Transport Report. An overview of these is provided in the Travel and 
Transport section at the end of this chapter. ACTION 

5.4.44 In addition to the mitigations set out in the Travel and Transport Report, if the changes are 
agreed all services will comply with the Accessible Information Standard to ensure that people 
who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss get information that they can access and 
understand, and any communication support they need from health and care services. ACTION 

5.4.45 It has also been identified that any service changes if agreed need to ensure services are 
accessible in respect of different races and ethnicity. ACTION 

5.4.46 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the urgent and emergency care change proposal 
developed for the Pre Consultation Business Case was also reviewed in light of the feedback 
from the public. This can be found in Appendix H. The EIA is a ‘living document’ and will 
continue to be updated if and when new information becomes available. If the change 
proposals are agreed it will continue to develop through the implementation phase. 

Travel and Transport HSC 

5.4.47 See Travel and Transport section at the end of this chapter 

Alternative Suggestions 

5.4.48 Bloods are currently taken by the ward nurse/medical staff and processed on site or sent to 
other sites if specific analysis is required. This model will be replicated post ASR.  

5.4.49 The feedback received through the public consultation that described the establishment of 
acute and rehab pathways and wards for those who are medially well but unable to cope with 
going home and ‘half way house’ wards is very much in line with the proposed model.  

5.4.50 The model will also support the concept of step up beds that GPs will be able to admit patients 
to rather than sending them to ED / full admission to acute bed, although the full acute bed 
offer is still provided. This also sits alongside the new SDEC and frailty unit that aim to treat 
patients in the best, appropriate setting.  

5.4.51 Establishing fully integrated multidisciplinary teams is at the heart of the change proposal. This 
innovative integrated community/acute model has been developed through extensive 
discussions by local clinicians, commissioners and provider organisations and reflects 
feedback received from the East Midlands Clinical Senate and takes into consideration 
feedback received during the various ASR public engagement activities. 

5.4.52 This new model offers a more comprehensive service provision for Grantham and District 
Hospital than currently provided, further reducing pressure on the acute sites at Lincoln and 
Boston (and those out of county) and enhancing the provision of community-based services, 
not just locally but across Lincolnshire. HSC 

Page 225



 

 92 

5.4.53 Grantham and District Hospital will assume a new function as a community services hub for the 
county. In addition to overseeing pathways for outpatient and inpatient care at Grantham and 
District Hospital, the community-employed consultant team will support community-based 
specialist nursing teams, community hospital ward teams (at Skegness, Louth, Gainsborough 
and Spalding) and integrated neighbourhood teams across Lincolnshire. This new and 
innovative function will bring specialist knowledge and capability for care delivery directly into 
communities. HSC 

5.4.54 The proposed integrated care model will introduce exposure to community-based services for 
the medical teams, particularly trainee roles, developing new specialists for the future with a 
more detailed understanding of the capabilities of community teams and the growing capacity 
for higher acuity care in the community. These posts would be ideal for GP trainees. HSC 

5.4.55 The development of rotational posts within the workforce model will be a key variation to the 
current model of care and will reinforce the integration between community-based and hospital-
based service provision. Such opportunities for staff will facilitate the breaking down of the 
existing barriers in understanding of individual and service capability between acute and 
community care, which are so often cited as reasons for extended hospital stays due to ‘risk’ of 
discharge. HSC 

5.4.56 Grantham Care Coordinators have been pivotal in supporting PCN and Neighbourhood Team 
activities, and will continue throughout the duration of the proposals. The Care Coordinators 
are able to ensure that the Neighbourhood Teams are there to support the patient needs, 
ensuring that the community actively gets the support it requires.  

5.4.57 In response to the consultation feedback that Grantham hospital should have no acute medical 
beds; The proposed service changes were identified following a clinically led options appraisal 
process. At the short-list stage of this process there were two options for the provision of acute 
medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital: 

• No acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital; and 

• Integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 

5.4.58 A key part of the process to evaluate the shortlist of options and identify a preferred option was 
a stakeholder options evaluation workshop. This was held on 4 October 2018 and attended by 
over 60 stakeholders from across the Lincolnshire health system. Attendees represented a 
broad range of stakeholder groups including general practitioners, acute hospital clinicians, 
nurses, hospital managers, mangers from clinical commissioning groups, and the third sector. 

5.4.59 Attendees were asked to consider the service change proposals at a specialty level. Each 
specialty area discussed was introduced by a lead clinician for that area who set out the case 
for change and described the proposals. 

5.4.60 Where there was more than one alternative option attendees were asked to think about the 
‘advantages and disadvantages of the two proposals against each of the four criteria, to what 
extent do you consider that either Proposal 1 or Proposal 2 would satisfy the criteria better, or 
do you consider that both proposals would satisfy the criteria equally well?’. 

5.4.61 There was majority support for integrated community/acute beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital: 

• Overall 85% of participants thought this proposal satisfied the criteria significantly better or 
somewhat better than no medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 

• There was a strong preference across all criteria. 

• Particularly strong preference against the access (86%), affordability (88%) and 
deliverability (87%) criteria. 

Criticism over a lack of detail 

5.4.62 At the heart of the public consultation approach developed by the NHS Lincolnshire CCG was a 
real desire for people across Lincolnshire to get involved and have their say. 

5.4.63 The consultation document that was published as part of the consultation process was only one 
of a number of components to the public consultation strategy and plan to enable this to 
happen. 

Page 226



 

 93 

5.4.64 It is acknowledged that the way the NHS operates and provides services may sometimes 
appear complicated, especially to those not working in it. Therefore the aim of the consultation 
document was to describe the proposed changes in a way that is understandable for all and 
enables people to get involved.  

5.4.65 Because of the technical nature of the service change proposal detail, a number of simplified 
ways of sharing the key points about the proposal were created. These were made available on 
the consultation website, as well as promoted through social media and at events. They 
included: 

• Summary films featuring the relevant clinicians and subject matter experts, talking through 
the case for change, service change proposals, and risks and benefits, in plain English 

• A summary consultation document, acknowledging that not everybody wished to read a 
complex, longer set of information, whilst we ensured that as many people as possible 
were informed about the service change proposals 

5.4.66 As well as this accessible, plain English information, it was also recognised that some people 
may want more information, and therefore a number of approaches were deployed through the 
public consultation to support this. These were all set out in the ‘How to get involved’ section on 
page 6 of the public consultation document. 

5.4.67 This section of the consultation document stated ‘This consultation will run for 12 weeks from 
30 September until 23 December. There are lots of ways you can find out more about it: 

• Visit our website for further detail about all sections of this document, films, FAQs and 
much more at www.lincolnshire.nhs.uk 

• The website also has the full Pre Consultation Business Case document that contains the 
full detail behind the proposals and their selection 

• Look through the consultation materials distributed to local outlets e.g. consultation booklet, 
Easy Read booklet, awareness flyer to local households 

• Attend one of our events, either online or face-to-face. If you can’t make one of the events 
listed on our schedule, you can watch our event film to learn what is discussed at 
www.lincolnshire.nhs.uk 

• Talk to us when you see us out and about in market places, supermarkets and community 
venues 

• NHS staff can attend one of our staff engagement events to learn what this might mean for 
them. Your line manager will have more information  

5.4.68 The detailed public consultation strategy and plan, as well as full event listings and contact 
information, was also made publicly available on the NHS Lincolnshire CCG website. This was 
made clear in the consultation document and the website address was provided. 

5.4.69 In addition, during the consultation period additional material was made available and 
published through various channels, such as the Grantham Journal, to provide responses to 
some of the common requests for clarity received. This included the acute medical bed 
proposals. 

Additional Consideration 

5.4.70 At present, there are no additional plans to increase or replicate this model across the Trust, 
however there are developments of virtual wards to sit alongside acute and community beds. 

5.4.71 Following the deliverability of the proposals for ASR, there may be future scoping or 
opportunities for this model to be replicated across Lincolnshire. This would be dependent on 
the realisation of the benefits associated to ASR and would consider a full review of the 
successes or any lessons learnt. 

5.4.72 Models, can and may, be put in place to be able to nurse medical patients in community beds 
where the patient has enhanced mental health needs. This would require future scoping as it is 
not included in the original proposals but may be a future option with the mental health provider 
in Lincolnshire. 

Page 227

http://www.lincolnshire.nhs.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.nhs.uk/


 

 94 

5.4.73 The Trust is committed to become a University hospital with links to Lincoln University and the 
medical school, to attract the graduates, in turn this will lead to enhanced research and related 
activities. Providers within Lincolnshire continue to work closely together in academic research 
and continue to share knowledge and expertise in this area. This work is linked into the 
research development plans for Lincoln University Medical School. 

5.4.74 The proposed model of integrated community / acute medical beds will allow patients with 
multi-morbidity to be treated locally and closer to home where appropriate. Where specialist 
care is needed that cannot be provided at Grantham, that care will be (and already is) 
centralised to allow staff to develop that specialist knowledge e.g. cardiology, stroke. 

5.4.75 Full assessment of chronic health conditions and co-morbidities would be required to warrant 
whether centralised or specialist centres would suit the needs of the Lincolnshire population. A 
lot of these long term conditions are currently managed within Primary Care and 
Neighbourhood Team areas. 

 

5.5 Stroke proposal 

Outcomes and Quality 

5.5.1 ULHT has continually strived to improve the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
(SSNAP) performance at Lincoln County Hospital and Boston Pilgrim Hospital, however this 
has been difficult due to: 

• The comparatively small size of each of the stroke units; and 

• Ongoing medical and nursing workforce recruitment and retention challenges. 

5.5.2 National evidence shows centralising hyper-acute stroke treatment on a smaller number of 
sites, that meet the recommended critical mass, has considerable benefits including reduced 
mortality, faster recovery, shorter length of stay and improved workforce sustainability 

5.5.3 Evidence shows patients treated in dedicated hyper-acute stroke units are more likely to 
survive and recover more quickly as these units are fully staffed and equipped and set up to 
deliver specialist care 24/7. 

5.5.4 When the model for consolidating hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County 
Hospital was presented to the East Midlands Clinical Senate it was praised by the panel and 
deemed to be well led clinically and from the evidence provided well researched. It was 
acknowledged that the proposed reconfiguration would reduce unwarranted variation in 
outcomes and would ensure a more consistent achievement of clinical standards and national 
guidelines. 

5.5.5 Feedback on the stroke proposals received from the Lincolnshire Local Medical Committee 
during the public consultation was ‘Examples such as the Heart Centre at Lincoln illustrate that 
having specialist services concentrated leads to better outcomes’. 

5.5.6 Since April 2020, in light of the pressures of Covid-19 on hyper-acute and acute stroke service 
sustainability, a temporary service change of consolidating these services on the Lincoln 
County Hospital site. 

5.5.7 However, it is important to note the purpose of the change as well as the similarities and 
differences between the temporary change and the proposed model when considering 
performance data during the temporary change: 

• The purpose of the temporary change was to support the fragility of the medical and 
nursing workforce. 

• As well as similarities with the proposed model (i.e. consolidation of hyper-acute and acute 
stroke on the Lincoln site) there are also some key differences, namely the continuation of 
acute based stroke rehabilitation trust-wide (i.e. across both the Lincoln and Pilgrim 
Hospital sites).   

5.5.8 It is also vital to recognise that even though the temporary change was made to improve the 
stroke services sustainability and resilience it was still working under intense pressure. For 
example during this time only two substantive stroke consultants were working in the service.   

Page 228



 

 95 

5.5.9 Analysis of SSNAP data conducted by the working group in light of the feedback received 
through the pilot consultation shows that the experience of the temporary change made has 
demonstrated that even though the service was still operating under immense pressure, the 
benefit of faster access to diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets the longer 
travel times for some patients: ACTION HSC 

• On average patient’s diagnosis and treatment times were improved. In the quarter July to 
September 2021 Lincoln County Hospital achieved a median time of 6hrs 11mins between 
clock start and being assessed by a stroke consultant compared to 10hrs 04mins 
nationally. 

• In the four quarters between October 2020 and September 2021 apart from one quarter 
(93.8%) all patients who were eligible for thrombolysis received this within the four hour 
window from onset of symptoms. In the quarter July to September 2021 Lincoln County 
Hospital achieved 100% of eligible patients receiving thrombolysis compared to 85.8% 
nationally. Thrombolysis delay was because of a small number of patients called an 
ambulance after the available time window for thrombolysis. 

• When comparing national performance at site level, out of a total of 157 sites Lincoln 
County Hospital was one of only six sites that achieved eight Key Indicators. Only one site 
achieved nine Key Indicators and no site achieved ten. All the remaining sites achieved 
less than eight Key Indicators. 

5.5.10 The Lincoln County Hospital stroke service was able to deliver this improved performance 
compared to the national average whilst it was under a huge amount of pressure. 

5.5.11 It also needs to be recognised that other aspects of the stroke service had limited improved 
outcomes during the temporary consolidation, and these relate to the areas of the service that 
were not consolidated such as the staff involved in rehabilitation given the need to maintain a 
stroke service trust-wide. Under the proposed service change all hospital based stroke 
rehabilitation would be provided on a single site at Lincoln County Hospital. 

5.5.12 The rehabilitation of the stroke patients was maintained on the Pilgrim and Lincoln hospital 
sites. This is different to the proposed model for stroke services which, if agreed, would see all 
hospital based services provided from the Lincoln County Hospital supported by an enhanced 
community rehabilitation stroke team. It is envisaged that if the proposed changes are 
implemented the outcomes relating to hospital based stroke rehabilitation services would 
improve. 

5.5.13 SSNAP is a nationally recognised performance and benchmarking data and would continue to 
be used following the implementation of any changes to stroke service provision if they are 
agreed, to support ongoing improvements. ACTION 

5.5.14 Lincoln County Hospital site was performing better than Pilgrim, Boston in terms of the SSNAP 
data in the two quarters prior to the temporary change being made due to Covid-19 pressures. 

5.5.15 The consolidation of hyper acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital has also brought 
closer alignment with other co-specialities such as cardiology, which is also based on the site: 

• The majority of stroke (87%) are caused by blockage to a blood vessel causing disability or 
death. Of these strokes around 25% are due to a cardiac cause like irregular heartbeat, 
clots or defects, whereas carotid disease causes around 8% of all strokes. 

• When investigating strokes, availability, speed and access to cardiac tests are vital to acute 
as well as long term stroke treatment, but carotid surgery is only recommended for those 
with no or minor disability, and with a two week period to surgery. 

• More than two thirds of stroke patients require echocardiography, and over a third will need 
cardiac rhythm monitoring, as well as other specialist cardiac consultations, which are 
made easier if the cardiac team are based at the same hospital. On the other hand, out of 
over a thousand strokes seen in 2021 in ULHT, only 99 patients were referred to the 
vascular surgeons, and only 52 of them underwent the required operation. 

• Moreover, cardiac patients undergoing interventional procedures have a small risk of acute 
stroke during these procedures, which need immediate intervention by the stroke team. 

Page 229



 

 96 

• The availability of the heart centre facilities to stroke patients at Lincoln County Hospital 
provide a valuable resource in improving access and bypassing A&E for the “direct to CT” 
pilot. Thus speeding door to CT scan time and door to needle/angio time. Analysis by the 
working group identified: ACTION 

▪ With practice, the Lincoln County Hospital site has reduced its average door to 
angiogram time from 67 minutes in 2019 to 34 minutes in 2021. 

5.5.16 The stroke team at Lincoln County Hospital has also developed an excellent working 
relationship with the Queens Medical Centre (QMC) Nottingham thrombectomy team, and 
became one of the best referring sites in the region. Analysis by the working group identified: 
ACTION 

• Since the service started in 2018 and up to April 2020, Lincoln County Hospital had 
referred 19 patients for the procedure in Nottingham, compared to a single patient from the 
Boston Hospital site within the same timeframe.  

• In 2021, 19 patients from the Lincoln County Hospital catchment area and 14 patients from 
the Pilgrim Hospital catchment were sent to QMC for thrombectomy, again demonstrating 
the net benefit to all patients going to a single, better staffed site.  

5.5.17 Using the experience of the temporary service change of consolidating hyper-acute and acute 
stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site a comparison of certain aspects of access 
to stroke care has been made for stroke patients from the Pilgrim, Boston Hospital catchment 
area before and after the change. 

5.5.18 Data has been compared for a similar six month period in 2019 and 2021. However, not all 
data is comparable due to collection methodology. 2019 data is from SSNAP, whereas 2021 
data is from actual patient notes and Advanced Care Practitioner (ACP) sheets. ACTION 

5.5.19 This analysis shows that following the introduction of the temporary change, patients from the 
Pilgrim, Boston Hospital catchment area get seen and scanned quicker, have more access to 
thrombectomy and were, on average, discharged sooner. HSC 

5.5.20 One area where the data is less strong following the temporary change is access to a bed on 
the stroke unit. However, the key contributing factor to this is during the second wave of Covid-
19 was the hyper-acute stroke unit at Lincoln County Hospital was moved from its normal 
location to manage trust-wide operational pressures.  

Figure 33 – Comparison of outcomes for patients from Pilgrim, Boston Hospital before 
and after the temporary change to consolidate hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln 
County Hospital 

 

 

 

Page 230



 

 97 

5.5.21 Given the evidence of the impact of centralising hyper-acute stroke care and the experience of 
ULHT during the temporary change it has been concluded the clinical benefits and outcomes 
outweigh the impact of increased geographical distance. Lincolnshire has experience of this 
through the consolidation of heart services on the Lincoln County Hospital site. HSC 

5.5.22 As well as the demonstrable benefits of co-locating stroke services with cardiology services at 
Lincolns County Hospital, experience has shown it is easier to recruit to Lincoln County 
Hospital compared to Pilgrim Hospital, and therefore the current and future feasibility of the 
service would be better protected if services were consolidated on the Lincoln site. 

5.5.23 More Lincolnshire residents would also receive their care out of the county if stroke services 
were consolidated on the Pilgrim Hospital site rather than at Lincoln County Hospital. Based on 
stroke patients attending their nearest hospital it is estimated c.150 more patients per year 
would be treated outside of Lincolnshire if stroke services were consolidated at Pilgrim Hospital 
rather than Lincoln County Hospital (this reduces to c.65 patients if a 15-minute travel time 
preference for Pilgrim hospital is applied).  Lincoln County Hospital is therefore a better solution 
for more of Lincolnshire’s population on that basis. 

5.5.24 It should also be noted that through the establishment of the Lincoln Heart Centre, the 
Lincolnshire health system has first-hand experience of making a change to time critical 
services such as stroke and improving outcomes for all the residents of Lincolnshire, and not to 
the detriment of the people in certain geographies.  

5.5.25 The NHS in Lincolnshire has a collective and integrated ambition for health and care services 
in the east of the county, with Pilgrim Hospital, Boston playing a full, relevant and dynamic role 
in the provision of care for the local population and wider local economy. The hospital has 
received substantial investment in recent years, with further investment planned in the years to 
come. ACTION HSC 

5.5.26 The health system’s recognition that continued investment is necessary to support the 
hospital’s value to its patients is again highlighted through our most recent request for 
additional capital funding via the national Health Infrastructure Plan (HIP) funding scheme to 
improve the estates and services of the county’s hospitals. ACTION HSC 

5.5.27 The activity baseline data used in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) that set out the 
analysis and recommendations for the proposed service changes used was 2019/20 (i.e. pre 
temporary Covid changes). This was forecast to 2023/24 in line with the local five-year strategic 
plan using the average annual growth rate as it was felt this was most likely to reflect future 
demand.  

5.5.28 Sensitivity analysis was completed for the PCBC based on ONS population projections (all age 
and 65+), these showed Pilgrim Hospital, Boston would not achieve 600 stroke admissions per 
annum by 2023/24. ONS population growth estimates (all age and 65+) were reviewed again 
by the working group, which showed Pilgrim Hospital Boston was unlikely to achieve 600 
admissions by 2030. ACTION 

5.5.29 It should also be noted, as set out in the considerations of the working group, that reaching the 
minimum recommended admissions each year is only part of the challenge as all stroke units 
also need to be staffed in a safe and sustainable way to ensure the best outcomes. 

5.5.30 The enhanced community service will support all stroke survivors across Lincolnshire to 
receive their rehabilitation within their local community wherever possible. This will be 
supported by investment in the capacity and capability of the community stroke team. ACTION 

5.5.31 The service will link in closely with the Neighbourhood Teams, who will provide the requisite 
nursing, social care support and on-going ‘self-care’ options and support for stroke survivors. 
ACTION 

5.5.32 The service will support community hospitals, which will be health and wellbeing hubs providing 
different levels of care under one roof, making the most effective use of inpatient and 
ambulatory services offered locally, including rehabilitation, reablement and palliative care 
services. ACTION 

 

Page 231



 

 98 

5.5.33 At present between four and six stroke survivors per week are discharged into a community 
bed, which is expected to continue. However, the overriding principle for this work is ‘home first’ 
and as the enhanced community stroke service embeds and integrates into Neighbourhood 
working the ability to support complex survivors at home is expected to increase. ACTION 

5.5.34 A centre of excellence on the Lincoln site should improve recruitment and retention issues.  
This will increase the capacity and capability to be able to manage patient pathways more 
effectively by being able to concentrate staff into covering one area, coupled with the increased 
provision in the community supporting patient rehabilitation closer to home. 

5.5.35 Given the provision of acute based rehabilitation services in the temporary service model differ 
to those in the proposed model if implemented, it is not possible to use rehabilitation data 
during these temporary changes to draw any conclusions on rehabilitation outcomes in the 
proposed model. ACTION 

5.5.36 As part of the 100 day challenge previously completed with LCHS and ULHT, a joint MDT 
process was completed that showed a smooth discharge process and reduction of LOS 
through collaborative working for the benefit of the patients for them receiving care closer to 
home. This included making the most effective use of inpatient and ambulatory services offered 
locally, including rehabilitation, reablement and palliative care services. ACTION 

5.5.37 As part of the temporary change of consolidating hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the 
Lincoln County Hospital site due to service sustainability challenges, standard operating 
procedures (SOPs) have been put in place to ensure communication between ambulances and 
the receiving stroke team at Lincoln County Hospital is managed through the ACP team with 
integrated pathways either onto thrombolysis and admission to our Hyper Acute Stroke Unit 
beds or with transfer to our tertiary surgical centre. ACTION 

5.5.38 Once the patient is admitted a clear plan is put in place in the acute setting and then with 
onward care for the patient. 

5.5.39 The stroke service work with social care once the patient is admitted from day 1 to resolve and 
support care packages for the patient when they are discharged. ACTION 

5.5.40 Pilgrim Hospital, Boston is one of the major acute hospitals in the county. It serves thousands 
of Lincolnshire residents in the east of the county as a lead provider of acute and specialist 
care. Pilgrim Hospital will continue to be an essential part of the NHS in Lincolnshire for years 
to come. 

Workforce 

5.5.41 There are currently 28 stroke beds in the Lincoln County Hospital stroke unit. To manage the 
expected increase in activity at Lincoln Hospital under the change proposal an increase of 
seven beds is planned. 

5.5.42 The proposed service change to consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln 
County Hospital is supported by a workforce model that would see an increase in specialist 
stroke staff at Lincoln County Hospital, and ensure the unit is staffed according to agreed 
national guidelines for medical, nursing and allied health professional staff.  

5.5.43 The proposed future model of acute stroke services supports a more sustainable and resilient 
workforce, particularly in the medical consultant and nursing groups. HSC 

5.5.44 The proposed future model of acute stroke services supports a more sustainable and resilient 
workforce, particularly in the medical consultant and nursing groups, by: HSC 

• A reduction in a heavy reliance on locum and agency staff; 

• Increases the chances of recruiting to substantive roles if the service is based at Lincoln 
Hospital alongside other specialist services; 

• Avoids having to spread 6.0 consultants across two sites; and 

• Supports a concentration (through service consolidation and the provision of fewer beds) of 
nursing staff at the Lincoln site, where there are currently fewer vacancies than at the 
Pilgrim site 

Page 232



 

 99 

5.5.45 Over the past few years, and in line with the proposed workforce model, the hospital based 
stroke service has recruited 5.8wte Advanced Care Practitioners (ACPs). This was not done in 
a pre-emptive manner of the proposed change being agreed, but rather as part of finding 
operational solutions to tackle the challenges faced in recruiting stroke consultants and support 
the service to deliver high quality care. ACTION HSC 

5.5.46 The recruitment of more ACPs provide further mitigation to the stroke consultant recruitment 
challenges in the short and medium term. ACTION HSC 

5.5.47 At present between four and six stroke survivors per week are discharged into a community 
bed, which is expected to continue. In addition the community stroke rehabilitation team’s 
capacity and capability will be expanded by 14 wte under the change proposal. ACTION 

5.5.48 Staff engagement is ongoing and ULHT are happy to engage with any flexible working and 
requirements of staff going forward. It is acknowledged that a number of staff do not wish to 
move to the Lincoln site. ACTION 

5.5.49 If the change proposal is agreed, a full formal management of change consultation would need 
to take place with all staff from the Pilgrim Stroke Department to ascertain their future 
employment options. For any stroke staff that do not wish to be relocated they would receive 
support and training in competencies to allow successful relocation to another area. Agency 
and Bank work will play a part in workforce as required, to meet the service need, as they do in 
all Trusts in Lincolnshire currently. ACTION 

5.5.50 ULHT’s stroke services are working within the NHS framework that is nationally agreed. The 
Trust is always looking at ways in which it can support the retention of existing staff, 
recognising their hard work and dedication to the stroke service. ACTION 

5.5.51 The model supports the consolidated number of nursing and medical staff that will then be 
appropriately trained in thrombolysis. ACTION 

5.5.52 ULHT is working within a regional Integrated Stroke Delivery Network group exploring and 
moving forward on plans to provide a telemedicine service within Lincolnshire. ACTION 

5.5.53 The ability to support the change proposal from a workforce perspective is set out further in the 
provider statement of support (Appendix L). HSC 

Travel Time / Ambulance Conveyance 

5.5.54 During the development of the stroke change proposals and Pre Consultation Business Case 
(PCBC) a substantial amount of travel analysis was conducted. This is set out in detail in the 
PCBC and its appendices, and an overview is provided below. The activity analysis in the 
PCBC was based on the 2019/20 year, the last ‘normal’ year before Covid-19.  

5.5.55 In 2019/20 Pilgrim Hospital, Boston treated 497 strokes, those patients transported to Pilgrim 
Hospital by ambulance generally originate from Boston, Mablethorpe on the east coast and 
Spalding to the south. 

5.5.56 If fully implemented the change proposal to consolidate stroke services at Lincoln County 
Hospital would displace all 497 stroke patients currently seen at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. In the 
proposed model of consolidated hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County 
Hospital, the patient pathway will see patients with FAST positive symptoms who would have 
previously gone to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston taken directly to the nearest A&E Department by 
the ambulance service.  

5.5.57 For patients who self-present at the Pilgrim Hospital A&E department, they will be assessed 
and transferred to Lincoln County Hospital by ambulance for treatment if their symptoms 
indicate a diagnosis of stroke.  

5.5.58 Independent analysis and modelling conducted by Operational Research in Health Ltd. (ORH) 
on potential changes to stroke services at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston in 2018, identified 
approximately 50% of the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston patients would be taken to Lincoln County 
Hospital and the others would be transported out of county, mostly to Peterborough, based on 
attending the nearest hospital. 

 

Page 233



 

 100 

5.5.59 ORH used a combination of East Midlands Ambulance Trust data and data on FAST-positive 
stroke patients from Lincolnshire. Travel time analysis was undertaken to quantify the base 
position for Pilgrim Hospital patients and how travel times would be expected to change if 
changes to services occur. Travel times were based on blue-light speeds.  

5.5.60 Under the proposal of consolidating acute stroke services at Lincoln Hospital, it was estimated 
the average travel time by ambulance to an acute stroke unit for stroke patients who would 
have gone to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston will increase from 23m58s to 44m28s (increase of 
20m30s on average). This is based on the assumption patients attend their nearest unit. 

5.5.61 In 2015 the predecessor programme to ASR, LHAC, prescribed and agreed the level of activity 
which should be accessible within three different time thresholds. The three thresholds were 45 
minutes (A&E, maternity and non-elective paediatrics), 60 minutes (all other non-electives and 
outpatients) and 75 minutes (elective paediatrics, day case surgery and elective surgery).  

5.5.62 Stroke services fall into the 60-minute threshold, as other non-elective services, and the travel 
time analysis conducted estimated that under the proposal where stroke services are 
consolidated at Lincoln County Hospital no patients would travel over 60-minutes.  

5.5.63 A sensitivity analysis was also conducted on the number of patients travelling over 60-minutes 
if stroke services were consolidated at Lincoln County Hospital. This estimated that even with 
patients travelling to their nearest acute stroke unit plus a 15-miunte threshold preference for 
Lincoln County Hospital, no patients would travel over 60-minutes (increase in average travel 
time of 22m53s). It was estimated around 75% of Pilgrim Hospital, Boston patients would 
attend Lincoln County Hospital under this scenario. HSC 

5.5.64 The sensitivity analysis estimated patients would still not travel more than 60-minutes when the 
threshold was increased to 20-minutes. Under this scenario the average increase in travel time 
to hospital is 23m07s, compared to 20m30s if there is no preference. 

5.5.65 The table below is from the PCBC and provides a summary of the estimated impact on the 
number of patients displaced and associated travel times by ambulance when the preferred 
option is fully implemented (based on 19/20 activity and forecast 23/24 activity). This includes a 
sensitivity analysis relating to patients not attending the nearest hospital with a preference for 
Lincoln County Hospital of up to 15 minutes. 

Figure 34 – PCBC modelling - Displaced stroke activity and impact on travel times  

 Lincoln 
Hospital 

Pilgrim 
Hospital 

Peterborough 
Hospital 

QE Kings Lyn 
Hospital 

 19/20 23/24 19/20 23/24 19/20 23/24 19/20 23/24 

Patients attend nearest hospital 

Stroke Activity +236 +246 -497 -517 +226 +235 +35 +36 

Travelling +60 mins. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sensitivity Analysis – nearest hospital +5mins 

Stroke Activity +277 +289 -497 -517 +185 +192 +35 +36 

Travelling +60 mins. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sensitivity Analysis – nearest hospital +10mins 

Stroke Activity +338 +352 -497 -517 +124 +129 +35 +36 

Travelling +60 mins. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sensitivity Analysis – nearest hospital +15mins 

Stroke Activity +376 +392 -497 -517 +86 +89 +35 +36 

Travelling +60 mins. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

NOTE: Forecast is based on average annual growth rate of 0.97% p.a. 

 

Page 234



 

 101 

5.5.66 Within the PCBC, the proposed hyper-acute and acute stroke service change proposal was 
based on a 15-minute site preference for Lincoln County Hospital. HSC 

5.5.67 A number of stroke patients transferred to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston are from the most deprived 
wards, as defined by the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), around Skegness and some 
areas of Boston. There are also pockets of demand in less deprived wards around Coningsby 
and Woodhall Spa.  

5.5.68 The ORH modelling analysis data showed the majority of wards which account for the highest 
10% of IMD scores in Lincolnshire currently have travel times of over 30-minutes, with an 
average of c.35m32s. ORH also modelled the scenario of Pilgrim Hospital, Boston stroke 
services being consolidated at Lincoln County Hospital, which estimated all of these wards 
experience an increase in average travel time to hospital, with an average increase of 
c.21m39s (based on attending nearest hospital). 

5.5.69 The ORH modelling identified that under the scenario where Pilgrim Hospital, Boston stroke 
services are consolidated at Lincoln County Hospital, the change in travel time is generally 
similar regardless of the IMD group. But the most deprived wards still have the longest travel 
time. 

5.5.70 The analysis and modelling completed by ORH on potential changes to stroke services at 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston in 2018 (based on 2015/16 data) was re-run in 2021 with more recent 
data (2019/20). The findings were very similar to the original analysis, including the modelling 
identifying no patients would travel over 60 minutes by ambulance (including when a threshold 
preference of 20 minutes is set for Lincoln County Hospital). A summary of the analysis output 
of the original analysis and that re-run is set out below, and the full reports completed by ORH 
were included in the appendices of the PCBC and made publicly available. 

Figure 35 – PCBC: Pilgrim Hospital, Boston Stroke Summary 2015/16 vs 2019/20 
comparison 

 

5.5.71 The temporary consolidation of hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County 
Hospital site (at the start of April 2020) provides some additional insights into the travel times 
for the proposed stroke changes, given under the proposed model for stroke services, if 
agreed, hyper-acute and acute stroke will be consolidated on the Lincoln County Hospital site. 

5.5.72 Following completion of the public consultation, an analysis of East Midlands Ambulance 
Service journey times for stroke patients was conducted based on the four old Lincolnshire 
CCG footprints – using the Lincolnshire East CCG footprint as a proxy for those patients who 
would have gone to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston prior to the temporary change made by ULHT to 
consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site. 
ACTION 

5.5.73 Following the temporary change the average ambulance journey time to receiving hospital for 
those stroke patients from the old Lincolnshire East CCG footprint was around 45 minutes, 
which is very much in line with the modelling completed for the PCBC.  

Page 235



 

 102 

Figure 36 – Ambulance journey time to receiving hospital by old Lincolnshire CCG 
footprints  

 

 

5.5.74 As would be expected, this analysis showed that after the temporary change to the stroke 
pathway of consolidating hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital the average 
ambulance journey time to receiving hospital for those stroke patients from the old Lincolnshire 
East CCG footprint increased. 

5.5.75 Following the temporary change the average ambulance journey time to receiving hospital for 
those stroke patients from the old Lincolnshire East CCG footprint was around 45 minutes, 
which is very much in line with the modelling completed for the PCBC.  

5.5.76 Building on the above analysis, to develop a more granular understanding of the ambulance 
travel times during the temporary change (consolidation of hyper-acute and acute stroke 
services on the Lincoln County Hospital site) further independent analysis and modelling was 
conducted by Operational Research in Health Ltd. (ORH) using actual ambulance service data. 
ACTION 

5.5.77 This analysis identified that based on all ambulance journeys between 1st May 2020 and 31st 
December 2021 for those patients who live in the wards closest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston the 
average travel time by ambulance (time left scene to arriving at hospital) was 46 minutes and 
31 seconds. This aligns to the analysis based on the old Lincolnshire East CCG footprint and 
the activity modelling conducted by ORH for the Pre Consultation Business Case. The map 
below shows the most frequent destination hospital by Ward. 

5.5.78 The analysis conducted by ORH also identified the average travel time by ambulance by wards 
within the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment area for patients going to Lincoln County 
Hospital. This identified that out of 48 wards within the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment 
area, eight had an average ambulance transfer time of more than 60 minutes, the threshold set 
for this type of activity by the Lincolnshire health system in previous system wide service 
change programmes. 

5.5.79 With the exception of one ward the average travel time was below 64 minutes. The one ward 
with an average travel time above this had an average time of just under 70 minutes, however 
it should be noted that the activity volume was low and therefore the average could be skewed 
by one or two incidents. The average annual patients from all of these wards was 128. 

5.5.80 This analysis is set out in the table below together with a comparison of the average travel time 
to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston for these wards prior to the temporary change, which was over 30 
minutes for six of them. 

Page 236



 

 103 

Figure 37 – Average ‘time left scene to arriving at hospital’ and ‘call connect to handover’ 
– based on all journeys between 01 May 2020 and 31 December 2021 to Lincoln County 
Hospital 

District 
name 

Ward Name Average 
Annual Patient 

(2020/21) 

Av. Travel Time to 
Lincoln Hospital 

(2020/21) 

Av. Travel Time to 
Boston Hospital 

(2019/20) 

East Lindsey Wainfleet 6.0 69:39 23:49 

East Lindsey Sutton on Sea 18.0 63:38 41:06 

Boston Old Leake and Wrangle 2.4 63:23 11:45 

East Lindsey Mablethorpe 31.2 61:59 43:25 

East Lindsey Ingoldmells 14.4 61:08 36:03 

East Lindsey  Scarborough & Seacroft 24.0 61:00 30:34 

East Lindsey Chapel St Leonards 15.0 60:55 39:57 

East Lindsey Winthorpe 17.4 60:24 31:45 

 

5.5.81 However, when considering access to services it is not just about the travel time, it is also 
about access to the appropriate treatment and intervention, and delivering good patient 
outcomes. 

5.5.82 It is the overall time from event to treatment that is most important and improves outcomes. 
The temporary service changes have demonstrated reductions in the time taken for patients to 
receive diagnosis and treatment at hospital, which makes up for any increases in travel time. 
HSC 

5.5.83 In this context it should also be noted that in terms of on scene time for conveyed stroke 
patients, the Lincolnshire Division of EMAS had the most efficient on scene time of all East 
Midlands divisions/counties helping to reduce overall call to definitive treatment timescales (FY 
2019/20 & 2020/21 & 2021/22). Independent analysis identified that between May 2020 and 
December 2021 the average time on scene for expected stroke patients from the Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston catchment area was c.45 minutes. 

5.5.84 It also needs to be recognised that time spent in an ambulance can still be used to support the 
treatment of patients. Since the start of the temporary service change, a good joint working 
model has been established between ambulance paramedics and stroke Advanced Care 
Practitioners (ACPs) at Lincoln County Hospital to review previous medical history and decision 
for treatment commences as soon as patients arrives at hospital. 

5.5.85 Consolidation of cardiology services on the Lincoln County Hospital site to concentrate 
capacity, skills and expertise, in a similar way proposed for stroke, has demonstrated 
improvements in outcomes for all Lincolnshire residents. 

5.5.86 This analysis of ambulance activity during the temporary change due to Covid-19 
(consolidation of hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site) 
also allowed further testing of the assumptions in relation to the destination hospitals outside of 
Lincolnshire for stroke patients from the Pilgrim Hospital catchment area. 

5.5.87 The table below shows a comparison between the modelled destination hospital in the PCBC 
(based on 15-minute preference for Lincoln County Hospital) and the actual destination hospital 
during the temporary change to ULHT’s stroke services. For Peterborough City Hospital, which 
would see the largest increase in stroke patients from Lincolnshire under the change proposal, 
the actual number seen was between 15 and 18 patients a year higher than identified through 
the modelling. This is the equivalent of around 1.5 patients a month. HSC 

 

 

Page 237



 

 104 

Figure 38 – Comparison of modelled destination hospital in PCBC and actual destination 
hospital during temporary change 

Destination Hospital PCBC modelling 
baseline 
2019/20 

PCBC modelling 
forecast to 

2022/23 

During temporary 
change 
2020/21 

Peterborough City Hospital 86 89 104 

Queen Elizabeth Kings Lynn 35 36 21 

Grimsby Diana Princess of Wales - - 3 

Scunthorpe General Hospital  - - 1 

Total 121 125 129 

 

5.5.88 This analysis also showed that none of the average travel times by ambulance for wards within 
the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment area that are within the South Holland District Council 
area were greater than 60 minutes. It is the patients from these areas are likely to go to 
Peterborough City Hospital or Queen Elizabeth Kings Lynn. HSC 

5.5.89 It should be noted that prior to the temporary changes to hyper-acute and acute stroke services 
in Lincolnshire stroke patients from the south of Lincolnshire already went to Peterborough City 
Hospital as it is geographically closer. So relationships already existed between the hospital 
and health care commissioners and providers in Lincolnshire. Including the Lincolnshire 
community stroke rehabilitation team which supports discharges back from Peterborough City 
Hospital. HSC 

5.5.90 Throughout the temporary service change to Lincolnshire stroke services discussions have 
been ongoing between Lincolnshire’s health care commissioners and providers and 
Peterborough City Hospital to ensure the arrangements were safe and sustainable. HSC 

5.5.91 If the proposed stroke changes went ahead, the impact on travel times would be kept under 
constant review. ACTION 

5.5.92 During the various public engagement exercises that have taken place a number of people, 
particularly in the Boston area, raised some concern about travel time for people with 
symptoms of a suspected stroke if the service was no longer provided at Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston. 

5.5.93 Something in particular that was raised was the ‘golden hour’. The conversations highlighted 
there were differing views amongst the public about what the ‘golden hour’ referred to, with 
many thinking of it in the context of the core principle of rapid intervention in trauma cases, 
rather than the specific golden hour for administering thrombolysis treatment. 

5.5.94 The golden hour is often used to refer to the period of time following a traumatic injury during 
which there is the highest likelihood that prompt medical and surgical treatment will prevent 
death. While initially defined as an hour the exact time period depends on the nature of the 
injury and can be more than or less than this duration. It is well established that the person’s 
chances of survival are greatest if they receive care within a short period of time after a severe 
injury; however, there is no evidence to suggest that survival rates drop off after 60 minutes. 

5.5.95 The golden hour for stroke services refers to the door to needle time i.e. from the patient 
arriving in hospital to administering the thrombolysis treatment. It is a target and has no clinical 
significance to outcome. The sooner the treatment is given, the better the chance of a better 
outcome for those who are going to benefit from the treatment. Not everybody can have the 
treatment as it depends on the type of stroke, around 15% of all patients can receive this 
treatment and of these one third (5% of total) will benefit. 

5.5.96 There is a 4.5-hour limit in the national clinical stroke guidance that refers to the time within 
which thrombolysis treatment can be administered with the current licence. This is more 
relevant to clinical practice, but it starts from the time of onset of stroke symptoms or from when 
the last time the patient was seen well. When discussing the preferred option for stroke 
services with the public this was explained. 

 

Page 238



 

 105 

5.5.97 In this context of the ’60-minute door to needle time’ and ‘4.5-hour limit for the time in which 
thrombolysis can be administered’ it is important to note the local experience of consolidating 
heart services on to the Lincoln County Hospital site to create the Lincolnshire Heart Centre 
and what can be achieved: 

• On average it takes the specialist team in Lincoln County Hospital just 32 minutes from the 
moment a patient arrives in the ambulance at hospital to open the artery – national average 
is 40 minutes. 

• The national target is 2.5 hours for all patients to receive angioplasty from first 999 call to 
when the balloon is inflated. Nationally, 75% of patients are treated within this window. In 
Lincolnshire, despite the large geographical area and road network, 85% of patients are 
treated within the timeframe. 

5.5.98 The experience of the temporary change has demonstrated the benefit of faster access to 
diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets the longer travel times for some patients. 

5.5.99 Analysis conducted by the working group in light of the feedback received through the pilot 
consultation shows that the experience of the temporary change made has demonstrated that 
even though the service was still operating under immense pressure, the benefit of faster 
access to diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets the longer travel times for 
some patients: ACTION 

• On average patient’s diagnosis and treatment times were improved. In the quarter July to 
September 2021 Lincoln County Hospital achieved a median time of 6hrs 11mins between 
clock start and being assessed by a stroke consultant compared to 10hrs 04mins 
nationally. 

• In the four quarters between October 2020 and September 2021 apart from one quarter 
(93.8%) all patients who were eligible for thrombolysis received this within the four hour 
window from onset of symptoms. In the quarter July to September 2021 Lincoln County 
Hospital achieved 100% of eligible patients receiving thrombolysis compared to 85.8% 
nationally. 

• When comparing national performance at site level, out of a total of 157 sites Lincoln 
County Hospital was one of only six sites that achieved eight Key Indicators. Only one site 
achieved nine Key Indicators and no site achieved ten. All the remaining sites achieved 
less than eight Key Indicators. 

5.5.100 Using the experience of the temporary service change of consolidating hyper-acute and acute 
stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site a comparison of certain aspects of access 
to stroke care has been made for stroke patients from the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment 
area before and after the change. 

5.5.101 Data has been compared for a similar six month period in 2019 and 2021. However, not all 
data is comparable due to collection methodology. 2019 data is from SSNAP, whereas 2021 
data is from actual patient notes and Advanced Care Practitioner (ACP) sheets. ACTION 

5.5.102 This analysis shows that following the introduction of the temporary change, patients from the 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston catchment area get seen and scanned quicker, have more access to 
thrombectomy and were, on average, discharged sooner. 

5.5.103 One area where the data is less strong following the temporary change is access to a bed on 
the stroke unit. However, the key contributing factor to this is during the second wave of Covid-
19 the hyper-acute stroke unit at Lincoln County Hospital was moved from its normal location to 
manage trust-wide operational pressures.  

Page 239



 

 106 

Figure 39 – Comparison of outcomes for patients from Pilgrim Hospital, Boston before 
and after the temporary change to consolidate hyper-acute stroke services at Lincoln 
County Hospital 

 

5.5.104 Given the evidence of the impact of centralising hyper-acute stroke care and the experience of 
ULHT during the temporary change it has been concluded the clinical benefits and outcomes 
outweigh the impact of increased geographical distance. Lincolnshire has experience of this 
through the consolidation of heart services on the Lincoln County Hospital site.  

5.5.105 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG fully recognises its duty to reduce inequalities in respect of access 
to health services and that the proposals will have an adverse impact on travel times for some 
people from areas of high deprivation. However, increases in travel time are not isolated to 
areas of high deprivation and the health system’s view is the clinical benefits and outcomes 
outweigh the impact of increased geographical distance. 

5.5.106 Modelling has identified the number of additional shifts that would need to be introduced to 
restore the base position performance and utilisation across Lincolnshire. This identified a 
requirement for an additional 12 ambulance hours per week. If the proposed change went 
ahead the additional ambulance hours required to restore the base position performance would 
be reflected in the EMAS contract. ACTION HSC 

5.5.107 The suggestion of an air ambulance being used to cover residents in the east of the county was 
considered as part of the Travel and Transport Report and will not been taken forward as the 
air ambulance does not respond to stroke patients. 

5.5.108 Given the geography of Lincolnshire, the health system will be exploring the option of a mobile 
stroke unit option as part of further improvement to the provision of hyper-acute stroke care. 
ACTION HSC 

Facilities 

5.5.109 Stroke activity demand and hospital bed capacity modelling formed a key part of the 
underpinning analysis to assess the proposed service change.  

5.5.110 Currently there are 28 stroke beds in the Lincoln County Hospital stroke unit. Following the 
demand and capacity modelling a requirement of 35 beds for the proposed model to 
consolidate acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site was identified. 

5.5.111 During the development of the stroke service change proposal a broad range of options were 
identified to support delivery of the service solution, to consolidate hyper-acute and acute 
stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital. 

5.5.112 The preferred option identified at that stage was to build an extension to the existing unit. The 
identified cost for this was £7.5m (at the time of producing the Pre Consultation Business 
Case). 

Page 240



 

 107 

5.5.113 If the change proposal is agreed, a more detailed and fuller analysis will be required at Outline 
Business Case and then Full Business Case stage for the capital spend. ACTION 

Equalities and Health Inequalities HSC 

5.5.114 The proposal could, some felt, widen health inequalities and negatively impact patient access 
as services would be removed from a deprived area. Furthermore, there was a view that the 
stroke figures for the area served by Pilgrim Hospital, Boston are higher owing to an ageing 
population. It was thought to make more sense, therefore, to have a centre of excellence in 
Boston to reduce travel times for the majority.  

5.5.115 The impact on patients’ loved ones was also noted, particularly elderly spouses/family who may 
be unable to visit due to the increased travel distance. The impact of this on patients' mental 
health and recovery may, it was said, have been overlooked.  

5.5.116 Feedback from members of protected characteristics groups and other key demographics 
tended to express some concerns about travel and transport along the same lines as other 
respondents. 

5.5.117 In the consultation questionnaire data, slightly more respondents from the most deprived 
communities disagreed with proposals for stroke services than agreed. It should be noted, 
however, that further analysis indicated that this was almost certainly a result of the majority of 
questionnaire respondents from deprived communities living in Boston and East Lindsey, 
closest to Pilgrim Hospital in Boston.  

5.5.118 Boston and East Lindsey are geographic areas in which the views among respondents from 
both deprived and more affluent communities were more negative than elsewhere; the 
implication, therefore, is that it is shared concerns about loss of local services in Boston driving 
disagreement, rather than a particular or separate concern from those experiencing 
deprivation. 

5.5.119 In the residents survey there was some indication that residents with disabilities that limit their 
activities a lot were also less likely to agree, and more likely to disagree. with this proposal, 
compared to other residents (although there was still majority agreement). 

5.5.120 Consideration of the potential positive impacts of the change proposal was given during the 
development of the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC), and further consideration was 
given following the public consultation. The potential positive impacts identified for the 
proposed service changes are the same for all patients, and are therefore equally relevant in 
the context of all groups with protected characteristics ACTION : 

• Hospital stroke service provision would be based on national clinical evidence, which has 
demonstrated stroke patients are more likely to survive, recover more quickly and spend 
less time in hospital. 

• Hospital stroke services in Lincolnshire would be in a stronger position to attract and retain 
talented staff through building a strong, high quality and successful service – making it 
sustainable for the long term. 

• More patients would benefit from hospital stroke services being located on the same 
hospital site as the highly successful Lincolnshire Heart Centre, with benefits including 
increased access to important time critical interventions and acute imaging services, further 
reducing time to treatment. 

• Stroke patients would spend the minimum time necessary in a hospital bed, by ensuring 
enhanced community services have the right skills and capacity to provide high quality 
rehabilitation to stroke patients as they return home, or as close to home as possible. 

• For some patients there may be longer travel times, but this is balanced against ensuring 
those patients receive treatment in the right place first time. 

• Given the serious nature of a stroke, the vast majority of patients displaced are likely to 
travel by ambulance. This is what happens now for those patients. 

5.5.121 A number of mitigations to the travel and access concerns have been identified and are set out 
in the Travel and Transport Report. An overview of these is provided in the Travel and 
Transport section at the end of this chapter. ACTION 

Page 241



 

 108 

5.5.122 In addition to the mitigations set out in the Travel and Transport Report, if the changes are 
agreed all services will comply with the Accessible Information Standard to ensure that people 
who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss get information that they can access and 
understand, and any communication support they need from health and care services. ACTION 

5.5.123 It has also been identified that any service changes if agreed need to ensure services are 
accessible in respect of different races and ethnicity. ACTION 

5.5.124 The Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the urgent and emergency care change proposal 
developed for the Pre Consultation Business Case was also reviewed in light of the feedback 
from the public. This can be found in Appendix H. The EIA is a ‘living document’ and will 
continue to be updated if and when new information becomes available. If the change 
proposals are agreed it will continue to develop through the implementation phase. 

Travel and Transport HSC 

5.5.125 See Travel and Transport section at the end of this chapter 

Alternative Suggestions – Hyper Acute and Acute Wards 

5.5.126 The proposed stroke service changes were identified following a clinically led options appraisal 
process. At the short-list stage of this process there were two options for the provision of stroke 
services: 

• Consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, 
supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service; and 

• Provide hyper-acute and acute stroke services from Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston supported by a combined medical on-call rota 

5.5.127 At an evaluation workshop attended by over 60 stakeholders from across the Lincolnshire 
health system, the consensus was the preferred option was to consolidate services on the 
Lincoln County Hospital site. 

5.5.128 The major drive for moving to a single site is because the hospital based stroke service does 
not have enough doctors or nurses. The national standards state you cannot rely on ACPs to 
deliver the service it is not possible to run a rota with just consultant nurses, even if there were 
ten of them.  

5.5.129 Locating a single hyper-acute and acute stroke unit at Lincoln County Hospital rather than 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston has a number of advantages including:  

• Co-location with the heart centre supports an optimal front door service as it enables 
access to more important time critical interventions and has the benefit of using the Cath 
lab facilities to directly access acute imaging thus bypassing A&E and further reducing door 
to needle time. 

• At Lincoln there is an established Advanced Care Practitioner (ACP) service and pathway 
that was noted as a regional example of excellence by a Getting It Right First Time 
(GIRFT) review. 

• Provides an increased opportunity for the Lincoln site to provide mechanical thrombectomy 
in the future  

• Experience has shown it is easier to recruit to Lincoln County Hospital compared to Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston. 

• More Lincolnshire residents would receive their care out of the county if stroke services 
were consolidated on the Pilgrim Hospital, Boston site rather than at Lincoln County 
Hospital.  

5.5.130 Within ULHT opportunities exist for people to improve their skills. ULHT have a Stroke 
Improvement Lead who has arranged a training package for those staff that currently work on 
the stroke unit. There is an active training package in place for all Advanced Care Practitioners 
(ACPs) ending in them ultimately obtaining their Master’s degree and qualifications. ACTION 

 

 

Page 242



 

 109 

5.5.131 Following an initial appraisal, the emerging preferred estates option for Stroke Services is to 
design and build an extension to the existing unit to provide a consolidated service at Lincoln 
County Hospital.  If the change proposal is agreed, a more detailed and fuller analysis will be 
required at Outline Business Case and then Full Business Case stage for the capital spend. 
This will include considering in greater detail, by clinical and operational leads, what the best 
use for a new build next to the current stroke unit is and what the optimum configuration for the 
stroke services would be. This could include the second ward at Lincoln being a small hyper-
acute ward close to the stoke unit and using the current stroke unit for acute/rehab. ACTION 

5.5.132 Since the introduction of the temporary change to consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke 
services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, the process for patients attending the emergency 
department at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston who require thrombolysis is for the patient to be ‘blue-
lighted to Lincoln County Hospital by ambulance. The process has been in place since the start 
of the temporary change and there have been no issues. This model would continue if the 
proposed change is agreed. ACTION 

5.5.133 The proposal for developing a centre of excellence at Peterborough, Grimsby and Nottingham 
does not allow for the National standard for patient care, given the travel times. Having a centre 
at Lincoln provides the balance of travel against delivery.  

5.5.134 Although not explicitly raised in the consultation feedback, the Lincolnshire health system is 
fully aware and acknowledges current challenges in relation to ambulance Category 2 
response times. The current Category 2 performance is a mean response time of 1 hour and 
03 minutes against an 18 minute standard in March 22. Stroke is responded to as a Category 2 
response. 

5.5.135 This challenge is not specific to Lincolnshire, it is an issue that impacts across all health 
systems nationally. The regional and national performance stands at 1 hour and 1 hour and 1 
minute respectively in March 22.  

5.5.136 A significant under lying issue across the country is the delayed handover of ambulances at 
hospitals Emergency Departments. 

5.5.137 Significant work is underway across Lincolnshire, as it is in other parts of the country, to tackle 
this issue including dedicated Ambulance submits with NHS England and Improvement at a 
regional and national level. This has included a review of protocols for ambulance handovers in 
ULHT and an agreed action plan to improve ambulance availability has been agreed. 

5.5.138 Putting this challenge in the context of the four service change proposals, this is particularly 
relevant to the stroke proposal. 

5.5.139 A key foundation to this proposed care models is ensuring patients get to the definitive 
treatment, first time at a site that has a skilled and dedicated workforce than can provide high 
level care sustainably. 

5.5.140 These challenges in relation to ambulance response times are not seen as a reason to not 
proceed with the stroke change proposal given the benefits they will bring in terms of improved 
patient outcomes, care quality and service sustainability. In fact to some degree the change 
proposal even provides some level of mitigation to the challenges faced by ensuring when 
patients arrive at hospital diagnosis and treatment happens as efficiently and effectively as 
possible. 

5.5.141 However, as described above, tackling current ambulance response times is an absolute 
priority for the NHS in Lincolnshire to ensure patients receive the best possible care. 

Alternative Suggestions - Rehabilitation 

5.5.142 The service change proposal does not look at providing rehabilitation in an acute setting. A key 
factor being it is not sustainable with the medical / nursing staffing shortages to maintain safe 
patient care on multiple acute hospital sites.  

5.5.143 The proposed model sets out enhanced rehabilitation being provided in the community being 
supported by an increased workforce, that shall provide patients with support closer to, or in 
their home setting. 

 

Page 243



 

 110 

5.5.144 During 2019 significant work took place to re-define and agree how an enhanced stroke 
rehabilitation service should function and what resources would be required. This aligned to the 
national recommendations regarding enhanced community stroke services set out in the NHS 
Long Term Plan. 

5.5.145 From the outset it was agreed that there should be an integrated stroke rehabilitation service 
that worked across both community and acute care with a multi-organisational/multi-
professional project group established to drive the work forward. 

5.5.146 The service will link in closely with the Neighbourhood Teams, who will provide the requisite 
nursing, social care support and on-going ‘self-care’ options and support for stroke survivors. 

5.5.147 The service will support community hospitals, which will be health and wellbeing hubs providing 
different levels of care under one roof, making the most effective use of inpatient and 
ambulatory services offered locally, including rehabilitation, reablement and palliative care 
services. 

5.5.148 At present between four and six stroke survivors per week are discharged into a community 
bed, which is expected to continue. However, the overriding principle for this work is ‘home first’ 
and as the enhanced community stroke service embeds and integrates into Neighbourhood 
working the ability to support complex survivors at home is expected to increase. 

5.5.149 Appropriate training will be given to specific care homes to enable the small number of patients 
with complex needs to be discharged in a timely manner and forms part of the discharge 
process for these complex patients. 

5.5.150 Neurological conditions and a step up/down inpatient/outpatient unit were not part of the 
change proposals consulted on. 

5.5.151 Brain and head injury and stroke rehabilitation are kept separate as the Acute function is 
managed very differently. For example, head injury/trauma is managed by either orthopaedics 
or neurosurgery. Whilst stroke is managed separately by the stroke team. The treatments for 
stroke and head injury are generally very different. 

Additional Consideration 

5.5.152 One You Lincolnshire (OYL) was commissioned in 2019 as the Integrated Lifestyle Service 
(ILS) for the county. This is a county wide offer. 

5.5.153 The four key pillars of support for One You service offers are as follows: 

• Go Smoke Free 

• Move More 

• East Well and Lose Weight 

• Drink Less 

5.5.154 One You Lincolnshire have a high-level partnership with the Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities ‘Healthy Weight’ Lead for Midlands 

5.5.155 Public Health: Key areas of focus: 

• Hypertension case finding 

• Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 

• Substance Misuse Treatment service 

• Pilot child and family weight management service 

 

5.6 Travel and transport  

5.6.1 It is acknowledged that feedback on the consultation on the four service change proposals has 
identified travel and transport as a significant concern for patients and the public, as well as the 
Health Scrutiny Committee (HSC) for Lincolnshire. 

 

 

Page 244



 

 111 

5.6.2 This concern was generally expressed in terms of: 

• The effect of the proposed changes on the ability of patients and their family/carers to 
access services that may be at a more distant site than currently. 

• Hospital discharges in the evening or overnight when public transport tends not to operate 
creating an additional challenge for people without their own transport. 

5.6.3 The estimate of the number of patients that would be impacted if the proposed changes if they 
are agreed is relatively small (around 9 a day) in comparison with the daily attendances and 
admissions across ULHT’s hospital sites. The NHS Lincolnshire CCG fully acknowledges and 
understand the concerns and recognises the impact on patients and their family/carers is 
important. 

5.6.4 A Travel and Transport Report has been given extensive consideration by both the CCG 
Executive and Board (included in Appendix I). This report contains an assessment of the 
current situation together with a set of enablers to help mitigate the impact of the proposed 
service changes on access. These enablers are:  

• Emergency and Urgent Transport 

• Non-Emergency Patient Transport 

• Other Transport 

5.6.5 The key points arising in the report are provided below.  

Emergency and Urgent Transport 

5.6.6 EMAS have confirmed they are able to accommodate the additional small demand on their 
services. ACTION HSC 

5.6.7 Comments received from the consultation feedback indicated concerns about the impact on the 
ambulance service of the additional journey times associated with the proposals in the ASR.  
However, and as stated above, EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to 
be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care models. 
ACTION HSC 

Non-emergency Patient Transport   

5.6.8 Non-emergency patient transport (NEPTS) is provided for patients who meet the nationally set 
eligibility criteria for NHS funded patient transport services.  This means Lincolnshire residents 
who meet the eligibility criteria receive free transport in the following situations; patients who 
are going to hospital for outpatient appointments, diagnostics, treatment or for admission, and 
for patients who are eligible for transport from hospital following outpatient, diagnostic 
appointments, daycase or inpatient care and treatment.   

5.6.9 Non-emergency patient transport services will continue to be offered and provide transport for 
all eligible patients who have a longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and 
treatment at hospitals that are further away from their home and for discharge from these 
hospitals. ACTION HSC 

5.6.10 The Lincolnshire health system is committed to using any revisions arising from the 
implementation of the national criteria, including any flexibility in those criteria, to the full for the 
benefit of patients in Lincolnshire. ACTION HSC 

5.6.11 The patient transport service is also required to signpost patients who do not meet the eligibility 
for patient transport to alternative transport providers. ACTION HSC 

Other Transport 

5.6.12 This transport category presents the most complex area for consideration as it covers transport 
and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to provide.   

5.6.13 Through the work completed to consider the travel and transport feedback received during the 
consultation it was identified a number of solutions already exist and strengthening the current 
arrangements is seen as central to tackling the challenges. ACTION HSC 

 

Page 245



 

 112 

5.6.14 Opportunities to strengthen current arrangements include: ACTION HSC 

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

5.6.15 The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working in partnership with all partners, particularly 
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport solutions for health 
and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation to the four proposed services 
changes. ACTION HSC 

5.6.1 This is being actively considered with the County Council and continuing to tackle this 
challenge is a priority for the Lincolnshire health system. ACTION HSC 

5.6.2 Lincolnshire County Council are also currently running a ‘County Views’ exercise which should 
also provide valuable inputs and insights from the public in relation to travel and transport 
across the county. 

5.6.3 In addition, work to date with stakeholders have identified a number of proposals to improve 
support to patients with regards to travel in the broadest sense, these include: ACTION HSC 

• Ensuring a seamless process for advice, eligibility assessment and booking 

• Improved coordinated way of ensuring the appropriate transport is arranged for discharges 
from hospital: 

• Better planning and coordination with the family/patient early in a patients stay as an 
integral part of discharge planning 

• Coordination of NEPTS with potential other options through a single system 
approach to discharge planning  

• Booking of clinics: 

• More proactive choices regarding clinic bookings should include a discussion on 
‘how are you intending to travel’ 

• Real time information to support administrators in understanding public transport 
should be easily accessible on their IT systems so that is the patient is travelling by 
bus and the first bus doesn’t arrive until 10:00 the patient is offered an appointment 
after this time 

• Integration of CallConnect and NEPTS journey planning to reduce duplication 

5.6.4 Irrespective of whether the four change proposals are agreed the NHS in Lincolnshire will 
continue to work with Lincolnshire County Council and ensure joint working groups and forums 
are in place to improve travel and transport solutions for health and care services in the widest 
sense. ACTION HSC 

5.6.5 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work between the NHS and Local Authority 
will be informed further through the monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on 
those groups with protected characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This 
would include analysis and assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating 
inequalities and identifying mitigations. ACTION 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



 

 113 

All Transport 

5.6.6 The transport impact overall as well on those groups with protected characteristics would 
continue to be monitored during the implementation and ‘go live’ period of any agreed change, 
through the service implementation groups. Key areas of focus will be:  ACTION 

• Ambulance utilisation, performance and response times 

• Non-emergency patients transport utilisation and complaints 

• Patient complaints in relation to accessing services 

5.6.7 It is proposed these implementation groups will feed into an Implementation Oversight Group 
(IOG) which will oversee the implementation and link in with other system forums, partners and 
stakeholders and programmes as necessary. ACTION HSC 

5.6.8 The Lincolnshire health system is committed to tackling the impact of travel on air pollution 
through investment and engagement with staff, patients and the local authority. It will give 
special consideration to the air quality across Lincolnshire and aim to mitigate the impacts 
whilst contributing to a reduction in air pollution across the region. All the mitigations set out 
above will be developed and implemented in the context of this air pollution commitment and 
aim. ACTION HSC 

Health inequalities 

5.6.9 It is acknowledged that travel and transport is a particular concern for those who suffer from 
health inequalities. Through the Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) that have been completed 
for each of the proposed service changes (See Appendix H) this has been careful 
consideration. 

5.6.10 The EIAs have identified that all of the change proposals provide benefits and reduce health 
inequalities in terms of improved outcomes and experience for patients. 

5.6.11 However, that is not to say this is not recognised and acknowledged as an important issue. As 
set out above the NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working with all partners, particularly the 
Lincolnshire County Council, to improve access where possible. 

5.6.12 In addition as part of its wider system strategies, and in line with national policy, the NHS in 
Lincolnshire continually looking at how health services can be provided more locally where it is 
clinically safe to do so in a sustainable way. 

 

5.7 Consultation arrangements 

5.7.1 Royal Mail’s Door to Door service was procured with the brief to include the A5 consultation 
flyer alongside mail delivered to every consenting residential address in Lincolnshire (374,193). 
HSC  

5.7.2 This activity was commissioned to further boost efforts to inform every household in the county 
about the public consultation. On 28/01/22, Royal Mail provided confirmation that 99% of the 
commissioned mailing was completed, with delays in delivery confirmation from Royal Mail’s 
courier being responsible for them being unable to fully confirm that 1% of the total flyers were 
available for distribution from its Swindon bundling centre. HSC 

5.7.3 A mixed media approach was adopted to raising awareness of the consultation to alert as 
many people as possible, and also minimise the impact of the pandemic, which meant less 
footfall in NHS buildings than usual. Despite this, and alongside the numerous digital and 
promotional activities employed elsewhere, it was felt worthwhile to undertake the following, to 
maximise the number of people who engaged with the process: HSC 

• NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust, 
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Service NHS Trust received and displayed 400 consultation posters across their locations 
and properties for display in public and staff locations of high footfall.  

• A pack of consultation promotional materials was sent to all GP surgeries in Lincolnshire. 
The total materials distributed were: 2,550 A5 flyers, 850 A4 posters and 425 
questionnaires.  

Page 247



 

 114 

• Public consultation packs, containing posters, flyers, key information documents, and 
questionnaires were distributed to 21 libraries across Lincolnshire.  

• 510 A5 leaflets and 240 A4 posters were sent to the Lincolnshire NHS CCG Involvement 
Champions to distribute and display in their communities. 

5.7.4 Face to face events were bookable using Eventbrite or by contacting the NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG directly via the dedicated email address and telephone number. Booking on events was 
essential to ensure management of numbers and social distancing during the Covid pandemic. 
HSC 

5.7.5 This enabled monitoring of numbers attending to enable social distancing and the safe delivery 
of public events. Where it was Covid safe to do admissions were allowed for those who hadn’t 
pre-booked events, such as at the first event held in Grantham. Throughout the consultation 
nobody was turned away from an event. HSC 

5.7.6 NHS Lincolnshire CCG agrees that the higher the number of respondents, the better, however 
the delivery of the consultation also needed to be proportionate to the simultaneous demands 
upon NHS staff and resources of simultaneous activities, including covid and national level four 
pressures. HSC 

5.7.7 The total respondents is not equivalent to the total number of people aware of the consultation, 
but it is accepted that for some members of the public, competing pressures for their time mean 
that responding to a public consultation is not always prioritised. 

 

5.8 Conclusion 

5.8.1 Following the extensive programme of work to review the findings of the public consultation and 
ensure conscientious consideration of the feedback, the overarching conclusion of the subject 
matter expert groups were the change proposals consulted on were still supported. 

5.8.2 However, as set out in this chapter, through the review and consideration of the feedback by 
the working groups a number of actions have been identified for implementation across all four 
services if the change proposals are agreed. 

5.8.3 All the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups following consideration of the 
consultation feedback were tested further through the approach to decision making following 
consultation. 

5.8.4 The approach to decision making on the service change proposals and associated analysis is 
set out further in the following chapters. 

 

Page 248



 

 115 

6 Approach to decision making on service change 
proposals following consultation 

6.1 Overview 

6.1.1 Following the public consultation the four change proposals have been reviewed in light of the 
feedback received and the work undertaken by the working groups to consider it (the previous 
chapter set out the key conclusions and actions and Appendix F has the full outputs). 

6.1.2 This review has been carried out against local criteria for service change (as defined in the Pre 
Consultation Business Case (PCBC) for the four service change proposals) and the prescribed 
national tests for reconfiguration. An overview of this process is set out in the diagram below. 

Figure 40 – Overview of analysis to inform DMBC recommendations 

 

Page 249



 

 116 

6.1.3 This assessment framework for the service change proposals following consultation is 
described below and encompasses a range of information and approaches to support decision-
making.  

 

6.2 Local considerations for service reconfiguration 

6.2.1 In the pre-consultation phase, options for service change were assessed against four criteria. 
This DMBC uses the same criteria against which to judge proposals and make 
recommendations. 

6.2.2 The table below describes the local criteria and the evidence that has been reviewed to support 
decision-making and the development of recommendations being placed before the NHS 
Lincolnshire CCG Board. 

Figure 41 – Local criteria for Acute Services Review (ASR) 

Local Criteria Evidence considered pre-
consultation 

Evidence considered post-consultation 

Quality 

• Does option maintain 
or improve clinical 
quality and outcomes? 

• Does option maintain 
or improve patient 
experience? 

• Work completed by local clinical 
teams, with support from regional 
and national clinical leads 

• Recommendations of the East 
Midlands Independent Clinical 
Senate Review Panels 

• Quality Impact Assessments 
(QIAs) led by local clinical leads  

 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands 
Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels 
– see Appendix J 

• Responses to proposals through public 
consultation – see Appendix C 

• Responses to public consultation feedback 
by working groups – see Appendix F 

• Review of Clinical Senate 
recommendations, QIAs and working group 
considerations by ICS Clinical and Care 
Directorate &CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC – see Appendix K 

Access 

• Does option maintain 
or improve equality of 
access to care? 

• Does option minimise 
activity seen or treated 
at a different site or 
provider? 

• Stage 1 and Stage 2 Equality 
Impact Assessments (EIA) 

• Activity displacement analysis 

 

• Outputs of Transport Working Group – see 
Appendix I 

• Independent Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) and action plans arising – see 
Appendix H 

• Responses to proposals through public 
consultation – see Appendix C 

• Responses to public consultation feedback 
by working groups – see Appendix F 

• Review of Clinical Senate 
recommendations, EIAs and working group 
considerations by ICS Clinical and Care 
Directorate &CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC – see Appendix K 

Affordability 

• Does the option 
minimise the 
requirement for 
capital? 

• Is the implementation 
of the option 
achievable? 

• Local work in developing the 
PCBC 

• Regional and National NHSEI 
assurance processes 

 

• Review of financial plans by ICS Finance 
Leaders Group – see Finance chapter 

Deliverability 

• Does option have an 
achievable workforce 
requirement? 

• Local work in developing PCBC 

 

• Statement of support from providers – see 
Appendix L 

 

Page 250



 

 117 

6.3 National tests for reconfiguration 

6.3.1 In 2010, the NHS set four key tests for service reconfiguration: 

• Strong public and patient involvement 

• Consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice 

• Clear evidence base 

• Support from clinical commissioners 

6.3.2 In 2017 a further test was added in relation to proposed bed closures. 

6.3.3 The table below describes the national tests for reconfiguration and the evidence that has been 
reviewed to support decision-making and the development of recommendations being placed 
before the CCG Board. 

Figure 42 – National tests for service reconfiguration 

National Criteria Evidence considered pre-
consultation 

Evidence considered post-consultation 

Patient and Public 
Support 

Strong public and patient 
involvement 

• Pre-consultation engagement 

• Options appraisal 

• Regional and National NHSEI 
assurance process 

• Independent analysis of public consultation – 
see Chapter 3 and Appendix C 

 

Consistency with current 
and prospective need for 
patient choice 

• Local work in developing the 
PCBC 

• Regional and National NHSEI 
assurance process 

 

• Choice statement from CCG – see Appendix M 

 

Clear clinical evidence 
base 

• Work completed by local 
clinical teams, with support 
from regional and national 
clinical leads 

• Recommendations of the 
East Midlands Independent 
Clinical Senate Review 
Panels  

• Regional and National NHSEI 
assurance process 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands 
Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels – 
see Appendix J 

• Responses to proposals through public 
consultation – see Appendix C 

• Responses to public consultation feedback by 
working groups – see Appendix F 

• Review of Clinical Senate recommendations, 
QIAs and working group considerations by ICS 
Clinical and Care Directorate &CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC – see 
Appendix K 

Support for proposals by 
clinical commissioners 

• PCBC approved by CCG 
Board 

• Pre-consultation activities led 
by CCG 

• Regional and National NHSEI 
assurance process 

• Statement of support from CCG clinical leads – 
see analysis of proposals chapters 

Bed closures Non-applicable, no beds being 
closed 

Not-applicable, no beds being closed – see 
Appendix M 

 

6.4 Service change proposal assessment 

6.4.1 Each of the four service change proposals that were consulted with the public has been 
assessed against the post-consultation evidence base described above. 

6.4.2 For the local criteria, this has been done using the methodology set out in the table below. 

Page 251



 

 118 

Figure 43 – Methodology for assessment against local criteria for reconfiguration 

Local Criteria 

Criteria Source of Evidence Methodology 

Quality Recommendations of 
the East Midlands 
Independent Clinical 
Senate Review Panels 
in relation to proposals  

AND 

Review of Clinical 
Senate 
recommendations and 
QIAs by ICS Clinical 
Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC 
in context of public 
feedback on proposals 

EM Clinical Senate and/or ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and/or CCG QPEC do not 
continue to support the proposed service change 

Not Met 

EM Clinical Senate and/or ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and/or CCG QPEC understand 
principle of proposed service change but cannot continue to 
offer full support without further information/review. 

Partially 
Met 

EM Clinical Senate and ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC continue to 
support proposed service changes (incl. if have minor 
suggestions for further work) 

Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for review  
Not 

Applied 

Access 

 

Review of final 
independent EIAs by 
ICS Clinical Directorate 
& CCG Clinical Policies 
Sub-Group and CCG 
QPEC in context of 
public feedback 

ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group 
and/or CCG QPEC identify the final independent EIA 
revealed overall negative impact of the proposed changes 

Not Met 

ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group 
and/or CCG QPEC identify the final independent EIA 
revealed some negative impacts of the proposed changes; 
however, the overall impact was considered low. Mitigating 
actions were identified. 

Partially 
Met 

ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group 
and CCG QPEC identify the final independent EIA revealed 
that the impact of the proposed service changes was positive 

Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for final independent 
EIA  

Not 
Applied 

Affordability 

 

Review by ICS Finance 
Leaders Group 

The ICS Finance Leaders Group considered the proposed 
service changes are not achievable and financially 
sustainable and/or are best use of capital resources 

Not Met 

The ICS Finance Leaders Group considered the proposed 
service changes have some achievability and financial 
sustainability and/or are best use of capital resources,  
however the overall impact was considered to be low. 
Mitigation actions were identified. 

Partially 
Met 

The ICS Finance Leaders Group considered the proposed 
service changes are achievable and financially sustainable 
and are best use of capital resources 

Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for consideration by 
the ICS Finance Leaders Group  

Not 
Applied 

Deliverability 

 

Statement of support 
from providers 

The provider statement does not provide sufficient assurance 
that the proposed service change will be deliverable 

Not Met 

The provider statement provides partial assurance that the 
service change will be deliverable, with some caveats and 
further work to be completed before full assurance can be 
provided 

Partially 
Met 

The provider statement provides sufficient assurance that the 
proposed service change will be deliverable 

Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for consideration of 
deliverability by providers  

Not 
Applied 

Page 252



 

 119 

 

6.4.3 For the national criteria, the following methodology has been applied. 

Figure 44 – Methodology for assessment against national criteria for reconfiguration 

National Criteria 

Criteria Source of Evidence Methodology 

Patient and 
public support  

Strong public 
and patient 
involvement 

Independent analysis 
of public consultation 
feedback 

The independent consultation report identifies the views of 
the public on the proposed service changes are negative 
overall 

Not Met 

The independent consultation report identifies the views of 
the public on the proposed service changes are less positive 
overall 

Partially 
Met 

The independent consultation report identifies the views of 
the public on the proposed service changes are positive 
overall 

Met 

Service change proposals not put forward for public 
consultation 

Not 
Applied 

Consistency 
with need for 
patient choice 

 

Choice statement 
from CCG 

Review of proposed service changes identified that patient 
choice would be negatively impacted 

Not Met 

Review of proposed service changes identified some negative 
impacts on patient choice, but overall the impact is 
considered to be low 

Partially 
Met 

Review of proposed service changes identified that patient 
choice would be preserved. 

Met 

Service change proposals not reviewed in context of patient 
choice 

Not 
Applied 

Clear clinical 
evidence base 

 

Recommendations of 
the East Midlands 
Independent Clinical 
Senate Review 
Panels in relation to 
proposals  

AND 

Review of Clinical 
Senate 
recommendations 
and QIAs by ICS 
Clinical Directorate & 
CCG Clinical Policies 
Sub-Group and CCG 
QPEC in context of 
public feedback on 
proposals 

EM Clinical Senate and/or ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and/or CCG QPEC consider the 
clinical evidence base for the proposed service change is no 
longer clear 

Not Met 

EM Clinical Senate and/or ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and/or CCG QPEC require more 
clinical evidence to be presented in order to continue to 
support the proposed service change 

Partially 
Met 

EM Clinical Senate and ICS Clinical Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC consider the 
clinical evidence to support the proposed service change 
continues to be clear 

Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for review 
Not 

Applied 

Support from 
clinical 
commissioner
s 

 

Support statement 
from CCG clinical 
leads 

Clinical commissioners do not support the proposed service 
change 

Not Met 

Clinical commissioners offer partial support for the proposed 
service changes, but have some reservations 

Partially 
Met 

Clinical commissioners support the proposed service change Met 

Service change proposal not put forward for consideration by 
clinical commissioners  

Not 
Applied 

Bed closures Statement in relation 
to bed closures The service changes proposed do not involve bed closures N/A 

 

Page 253



 

 120 

6.4.4 Following assessment using the criteria described above, each of the four change proposals 
was assigned a rating for each category of the local and national tests. The table below 
provides an overview of the ratings for the criteria. 

Figure 45 – Overview of assessment against national and local criteria for service change 
proposal 

 Orthopaedics Urgent and 
Emergency Care 

Acute Medical 
Beds 

Stroke 
Services 

Quality Met Met Met Met 

Access Met Partially Met Met Met 

Affordability Met Met Met Met 

Deliverability Met Met Met Met 

Patient and public 
support  Met Met Met Met 

Consistency with need 
for patient choice Met Met Met Met 

Clear clinical evidence 
base Met Met Met Met 

Support from clinical 
commissioners Met Met Met Met 

Bed closures N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

6.4.5 The rationale for the assessment for each of the four service change proposals is set out in the 
following four chapters. 

6.4.6 This takes into account a range of information to enable a balanced approach to decision-
making. 

Page 254



 

 121 

7 Orthopaedics – analysis of proposal following 
consultation to inform decision-making 

 

7.1 Overview  

7.1.1 The change proposal consulted on was to establish a ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire for 
planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, along with a dedicated day 
case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery. 

7.1.2 The table below provides an overview of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal, 
following public consultation, against local and national criteria. The rationale for the 
assessment and subsequent recommendations are set out in the remainder of the chapter. 

Figure 46 – Orthopaedics: Overview of assessment against criteria 

Local Criteria National Criteria 

Criteria Finding Criteria Finding 

Quality Met Patient and public support Met 

Access Met 
Consistency with need for 
patient choice 

Met 

Affordability Met Clear clinical evidence base Met 

Deliverability Met 
Support from clinical 
commissioners 

Met 

  Bed closures Not applicable 

 

7.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 

7.2.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the quality and clear 
clinical evidence base criterions is Met. 

7.2.2 The evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIA) by ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC in context of public feedback on proposals and analysis of this by 
subject matter expert working groups 

7.2.3 The East Midlands Clinical Senate review team was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning the Lincolnshire health system’s proposals. Specifically, 
the clinical review team was asked whether it supported the proposals based on clinical 
sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes. 

7.2.4 The proposed orthopaedic model was designed through a number of clinically led workshops 
directed by the clinical leads for orthopaedics at ULHT with contributions, support and advice 
from Professor Briggs, and input from local acute, primary and community based health 
professionals. 

7.2.5 When this model was presented to the East Midlands Clinical Senate it reported the proposal 
for Grantham to become a centre of excellence for short stay elective work was understood 
and had been very clearly articulated. The clinical review team supported the proposal for 
Orthopaedic services and recommended the health system proceed with it.  

 

 

Page 255



 

 122 

7.2.6 The East Midlands Clinical Senate also made a number of recommendations. Responses to 
the clinical review team’s recommendation were included in the Pre Consultation Business 
Case and reviewed as part of the NHS England and Improvement assurance process which 
was completed before starting the public consultation. 

7.2.7 In parallel with the discussions with the East Midlands Clinical Senate, United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) volunteered to be involved with the national Getting It Right First 
Time (GIRFT) programme and to be one of a small number of trusts across England to pilot a 
‘hotter’ (emergency/unplanned non-elective care) and ‘colder’ (elective/planned care) site plan 
for orthopaedic services. 

7.2.8 The orthopaedics service was therefore able to draw on the experiences of the pilot to respond 
to the East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations. 

7.2.9 An evaluation of the pilot demonstrated that ULHT was performing substantially better than 
peer trusts when it came to length of stay, very positive results in the Friends and Family Test 
(FFT), a reduction in the amount of time people had to wait for surgery and the potential to 
increase the number of patients treated by ULHT. 

7.2.10 Following completion of the public consultation there was an extensive programme of work to 
review the findings and ensure consideration of the feedback, ahead of final decision-making 
on the change proposals.  

7.2.11 Central to this review process was the theming of the feedback received through the public 
consultation for each of the four change proposals (see Chapter 3), and the establishment of 
subject matter expert working groups to consider the feedback for each theme (see Chapter 4). 

7.2.12 On 28 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• A ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire for planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and 
District Hospital, along with 

• A dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery 

7.2.13 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, an updated Quality 
Impact Assessment (QIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

7.2.14 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Quality criterion to be met; and 

• Clear clinical evidence criterion to be met 

7.2.15 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated QIA (Appendix G) key 
comments made by the group in relation to the quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base 
criterion are set out in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 256



 

 123 

Figure 47 – Orthopaedics: Quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base criterion - Key 
comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Quality 

Criteria Met 

Improvements in patient outcomes have been proven by the pilot 

Supported by the current pilot model, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 
(ULHT) is one of the best performing trusts in the region in relation to waiting times 
for orthopaedics  

ULHT is providing ‘mutual aid’ to neighbouring trusts to support delivery of elective 
orthopaedic waiting lists 

From an elective procedure perspective since the pilot started in August 2018 there 
has been only one patient who required transfer due to a post operation 
complication to Lincoln with a suspected venous thrombolism – this demonstrates 
how robust the selection criteria for patients is 

At the start of the pilot trauma lists were kept as part of the model, however it was 
evidenced these were not utilised - minor trauma cases that can be appropriately 
discharged home to have a semi-planned operative procedure on a later day at 
Grantham are, therefore keeping orthopaedic trauma patient transfers to a 
minimum. 

Clear clinical 
evidence base 

Criteria Met 

 

7.2.16 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

7.2.17 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

7.2.18 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working groups, 
including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs), as 
well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

 

7.3 Access 

7.3.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the access criterion is 
Met. 

7.3.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of the East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and independent Equality 
Impact Assessments by a joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC in the context of the public feedback and 
the work completed by subject matter expert working groups to consider and respond to 
it 

7.3.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed for the proposed orthopaedic change 
prior to commencing the consultation with the public, this was included in the Pre Consultation 
Business Case. 

7.3.4 Within this initial assessment it was identified that the impact of the proposed service change 
proposals on access, particularly on groups with protected characteristics would be continued 
to be explored and understood through consultation with the public and following a review of 
the feedback, and plans only finalised once that process is complete and a decision made. 

Page 257



 

 124 

7.3.5 In this initial assessment the groups with protected characteristics that were identified as 
potentially being impacted by the proposed service change were age, disability and 
economically disadvantaged. 

7.3.6 In the public consultation feedback several specific groups such as older people, people on low 
incomes, those without access to private vehicles, and people with disabilities were mentioned 
as being particularly vulnerable to impacts as a result of longer or more expensive journeys to 
hospitals. Patients with co-morbidities were also mentioned, including those who might require 
access to kidney dialysis while in hospital. 

7.3.7 A review of the eligibility criteria for patient transport services was also suggested in the 
consultation feedback to address any potential barriers to access - particularly for the most 
deprived communities in rural and inner city areas, or from frail or older people who might find 
travel stressful or difficult - so that additional support and transport can be provided according 
to need. 

7.3.8 The challenge of ensuring equitable access in a large, rural county was raised, especially for 
localities (e.g., on the east coast) where health service and public transport provision were 
described as already being poor. 

7.3.9 Concern was also expressed that people with disabilities used to attending particular hospitals 
where additional support is available might find that the same support and assistance is not 
available elsewhere. 

7.3.10 Concerns by disabled and deaf person over potential loss of appointments and operations at 
valued local Pilgrim Hospital and belief this support would not be available elsewhere. 

7.3.11 Others were concerned about the practicalities of travel for friends and family, those without 
access to their own vehicle, and those who might struggle to drive and/or otherwise get to/from 
hospital if they were unwell, in discomfort or were recovering from surgery. 

7.3.12 A small proportion were concerned about impacts on the ambulance service and on patient 
transport.  

7.3.13 Organisations representing particular communities, an Older People’s Forum and a 
Lincolnshire Traveller Initiative Health Champion for example, also cited travel and transport 
issues as their main concern. The latter suggested that while the proposal is a positive one ‘in 
theory’, resulting patient transport costs could outweigh any benefits seen.  

7.3.14 As planned, the impact of the proposed service change proposals on access, particularly on 
groups with protected characteristics, was explored further in light of the feedback received 
through the consultation and the EIAs produced for the PCBC were developed further, with 
independent support. An overview of these the considerations, actions and mitigations 
identified in the EIA for the orthopaedics proposals is set out below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 258



 

 125 

Figure 48 – Orthopaedics: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and 
mitigations  

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Emergency 
Transport & Non- 
Emergency 
Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

 

• For some patients there may be longer travel times and a greater reliance on 
family and friends for transport. 

• However this is balanced against a number of potential positive impacts for all 
patients of the proposed changes, including: 

o Improved service quality 

o Reduced waiting times 

o Reduced cancellations 

o Reduced length of stay 

o More coordinated care 

• Estimated that since the Orthopaedic Pilot started c.1,710 (c.825 EL, c.475 DC, 
c.410 NEL) patients per year have been displaced. 

o Estimated that before the Orthopaedic Pilot c.70 patients travelled 
more than 75 minutes for day case and elective orthopaedic surgery 
and procedures within Lincolnshire, the threshold agreed through for 
this type of activity. However, this figure does not include the patients 
that currently go out of county to the independent sector. 

o Analysis of Orthopaedic Pilot activity has estimated that under the 
current pilot arrangements an additional c.365 patient per annum 
travel more than 75 minutes by car for orthopaedic surgery and 
procedures within Lincolnshire. 

• EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to 
provide additional resources so that the impact of the proposed service 
changes on ambulance capacity is negligible.  

• It is fully expected that non-emergency patient transport services in 
Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for eligible patients who have a 
longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at 
hospitals that are further away from their home and for the discharge from 
these hospitals.  

• The patient transport service is required to signpost patients who do not meet 
the eligibility for patient transport to alternative transport providers  

Other Transport 

For all patients 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 
who are ineligible 
for non-
emergency 
patient transport 
and transport for 
carers, relatives 
and visitors 

• This transport category presents the most complex area for consideration as it 
covers transport and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to 
provide.   

• Solutions already exist such as voluntary care schemes and daily bus services 
between Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and Lincoln 
County Hospital and Grantham and District Hospital; transport needs to be 
developed more broadly than in only responding to the public consultation and 
reflect findings of the County Council ‘County Views’ exercise. 

• The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working with partners, particularly  
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport 
solutions for health and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation 
to the four proposed services changes, to strengthen current arrangements. 

All Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

• The transport impact overall as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics would continue to be monitored during the implementation and 
‘go live’ period of any agreed change. Including ensuring inequalities are not 
exacerbated. 

• The Lincolnshire health system is committed to tackling the impact of travel on 
air pollution through investment and engagement with staff, patients and the 
local authority. All the mitigations set out above will be developed and 
implemented in the context of this air pollution commitment and aim. 

Page 259



 

 126 

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Disability • Ensuring all services, if the changes are agreed, comply with the Accessible 
Information Standard to ensure that people who have a disability, impairment 
or sensory loss get information that they can access and understand, and any 
communication support they need from health and care services. 

• The provision of additional support for deaf service users is the same at all of 
ULHT’s hospitals 

Race (in particular 
travellers/gypsies) 

• Support with reading letters and access to online support and care to be 
considered as part of accessible services provision. 

 

7.3.15 On 21 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• A ‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire for planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and 
District Hospital, along with 

• A dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery 

7.3.16 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, the updated Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

7.3.17 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Access criterion to be met 

7.3.18 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated EIA (Appendix H) the 
key comments made by the group in relation to the access criterion are set out in the table 
below. 

Figure 49 – Orthopaedics access criterion: Key comments from the joint meeting of the 
ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Access 

Criteria Met 

It was highlighted that this could potentially not be fully met due to the travel and 
transport issues, however the criteria is met in terms of timeliness of access.  

No formal complaints have been made to United Lincolnshire Hospital Lincolnshire 
Hospital NHS Trust during the orthopaedics pilot in relation to travel and transport. 

Patients actively choose to travel to other providers out of the county, and the travel 
to the Grantham model is no different to the ones already in place and is not a 
barrier to access. 

In terms of the patient pathway, patients will only have to travel once for the 
procedure and the pre and post-operative clinics will be at their local provider - 
whereas if patients go out of county to the independent sector then pre and post-
operative clinics will also be out of the county. 

The proposed model will enable more patients to receive their care in Lincolnshire. 

For a large proportion of patients this is seen as a better deal. 

The implementation of digital and virtual appointments will contribute to limiting the 
number of journeys. 

 

7.3.19 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

Page 260



 

 127 

7.3.20 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

7.3.21 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment and updates against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working 
groups, including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs), as well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate 
and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

7.3.22 A particular area of focus would be the opportunities to work with partners to strengthen current 
travel arrangements including:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

7.3.23 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work will be informed further through the 
monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This would include analysis and 
assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying 
mitigations. 

 

7.4 Affordability 

7.4.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the affordability criterion is 
Met. 

7.4.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Review by ICS Finance Leaders Group 

7.4.3 On 18 May 2022 the ICS Finance Leaders Group (FLG) met to consider the financial case and 
affordability of the four service change proposals. 

7.4.4 Consideration was given to the affordability of the four change proposals and focused on two 
questions: 

• Is the implementation of the option achievable and financially sustainable? 

• Does the proposed option make best use of capital resources? 

7.4.5 With regards to the first question in relation to ‘achievable and financially sustainable’  the view 
of FLG was this was ‘met’. Since preparing the Pre Consultation Business Case there has been 
no material change in the assumptions underpinning financial sustainability of the proposal. 
Therefore the proposal is seen to be achievable and financially sustainable. The FLG 
acknowledged a risk in recruiting substantive workforce to replace interim and agency staff, 
and this is referred to in the risk section of the finance chapter. 

7.4.6 There is no capital requirement for this change proposal so the second question does not arise. 

 

7.5 Deliverability 

7.5.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the deliverability criterion 
is Met. 

 

Page 261



 

 128 

7.5.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Statement of support from providers 

7.5.3 The United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Services NHS Trust (LCHS) supports the change proposal to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ 
in Lincolnshire for planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, along with a 
dedicated day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery.  

7.5.4 An overview of the key benefits to patients identified by ULHT and LCHS in relation to this 
change proposal are: 

• Quality of care: 

▪ The evaluation of the orthopaedics pilot showed very positive results. The experience 
of the pilot has reaffirmed the proposed model for orthopaedic services. 

▪ Achieves a balance between access and ensuring the long term sustainability of 
services 

▪ The reconfiguration of services is highly likely to repatriate care back into Lincolnshire 
which in turn helps both patients and healthcare staff. 

▪ As an example - reduction in the average length of stay for elective orthopaedics at 
Grantham and District Hospital from 2.7 days to 1.7 days, demonstrating strong 
operational performance. A reduction in the Trust-wide orthopaedic elective length of 
stay has been achieved from 2.9 days to 2.3 days. 

• Access to care:  

▪ Patients are more likely to receive timely assessment, treatment and diagnosis when 
they arrive at hospital. 

▪ Improve support to patients with regards to travel in the broadest sense across 
Lincolnshire. 

▪ Reduced cancellations for elective patients as following this reconfiguration as hot 
and cold activity are split. 

7.5.5 The prosed model for orthopaedics in Lincolnshire is seen to support a more sustainable and 
resilient workforce: 

• A reduction in a heavy reliance on locum and agency staff 

• Increases the chances to recruiting to substantive roles 

• The pilot workforce model has successfully removed all agency doctor usage within 
orthopaedics across ULHT. Before the pilot, agency doctors were used to cover one 
consultant post, a number of junior doctor posts and a number of middle grade posts. 

• Helps staff maintain their skills working in a specialist elective centre with negligible 
patient cancellations 

7.5.6 Key risks to delivery and their mitigations are included in the implementation chapter. If the 
change proposals are agreed, an implementation risk log would be established and managed 
by each service change proposal implementation group. 

 

7.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 

7.6.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the patient and public 
support criterion is Met. 

7.6.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Independent analysis of public consultation feedback 

 

 

Page 262



 

 129 

7.6.3 The overarching conclusion in the independent consultation report is ‘There was also broad 
support for the proposal to create a ‘Centre of Excellence’ at Grantham and District Hospital for 
Lincolnshire’s patients to receive planned and day case orthopaedic surgery, with a dedicated 
day case centre at County Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery, across all elements 
of the consultation’. 

7.6.4 The consultation questionnaire identified that over two thirds of NHS staff who responded 
(68%) and three fifths (61%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly 
agreed with the proposal for orthopaedic surgery in Lincolnshire.  

7.6.5 Support for the proposal for orthopaedic surgery among the Lincolnshire population as a whole 
(telephone survey) was even stronger, with over three quarters (78%) of residents (+/- 6%) 
agreeing with the proposed changes. 

7.6.6 In feedback, support for the proposal to create a Centre of Excellence for planned orthopaedic 
surgery at Grantham and District Hospital was often linked to the perceived benefits in terms of 
reduced waiting times and fewer cancellations of planned surgery. 

7.6.7 Disagreement tended to focus on the loss of emergency orthopaedic surgery from Grantham, 
which some opponents linked to the proposal to make changes to urgent and emergency care 

7.6.8 Other concerns were also expressed, both by those who agreed with the proposal and those 
who disagreed; these included the implications for travel and access, staffing across two sites, 
and which services might be delivered locally or in the community 

 

7.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 

7.7.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the consistency with need 
for patient choice criterion is Met. 

7.7.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Choice statement from CCG 

7.7.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration in the NHS is that the proposed changes 
are consistent with the current and prospective need for patient choice, as enshrined in the 
NHS Constitution. 

7.7.4 The NHS Constitution states that individuals (subject to certain exclusions) have the right to 
choose the organisation or team that provides them with NHS care when referred for a first 
outpatient appointment with a service led by a consultant or by a named health care 
professional. There are certain exceptions including: 

• Where speed of access to diagnosis and treatment is particularly important, for example 
in an emergency 

• Attendance at cancer services under the two-week maximum waiting time. 

7.7.5 Having assessed the proposals it is considered that patients will continue to be able to exercise 
choice in line with the NHS Constitution. See Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG. 

 

7.8 Support from clinical commissioners 

7.8.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the support from clinical 
commissioners criterion is Met. 

7.8.2 The evidence base for this is: 

• Support statement from CCG clinical leads 

7.8.3 In developing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there was significant clinical discussion 
around the production of the options, including with clinical commissioners, but also 
counterparts from across the clinical workforce. 

Page 263



 

 130 

7.8.4 There has been clear and robust clinical commissioner input throughout the process, including 
in options development and appraisal and in the planning and execution of the public 
consultation, including development of the public consultation material. 

7.8.5 NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads have been present at public meetings as part of the public 
consultation sharing information and hearing first-hand the views of the public and issues that 
need careful consideration. 

7.8.6 Since the completion of the public consultation NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads: 

• Have been part of the joint meetings of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group where the quality, clear clinical evidence base and access 
criterion were considered.  

• Have been part of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Executive discussions that have 
considered the change proposals against the whole criteria and informed the 
recommendations set out in this DMBC. 

7.8.7 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads also met as a group to explicitly discuss their support 
for the orthopaedics proposal. The conclusion of this was ‘support the proposed service 
change’.  

7.8.8 In addition to support a number of points were made relating to implementation if the change is 
agreed: 

• A roadmap needs to be developed to ensure a real ‘centre of excellence’ is established 
that optimises opportunities such as academic and multi-disciplinary training 

• Opportunities should be identified to increase the volume of activity as this will support 
the development of a ‘centre of excellence’. 

• Need to make sure don’t get a distillation of skills at different sites 

 

7.9 Bed closures 

7.9.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the bed closure criterion is 
Not Applicable. 

7.9.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• A statement in relation to bed closures 

7.9.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration is the consideration of bed closures. None 
of the changes described in the public consultation will require hospital bed closures. See 
Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire CCG. 

 

 

Page 264



 

 131 

8 Urgent and Emergency Care – analysis of proposal 
following consultation to inform decision making 

 

8.1 Overview  

8.1.1 The change proposal consulted on was for the Grantham and District Hospital A&E department 
to become a 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC). 

8.1.2 The table below provides an overview of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care 
proposal following public consultation, against local and national criteria. The rationale for the 
assessment and subsequent recommendations are set out in the remainder of this chapter. 

Figure 50 – Urgent and emergency care: Overview of assessment against criteria 

Local Criteria National Criteria 

Criteria Finding Criteria Finding 

Quality Met Patient and public support Met 

Access Partially Met 
Consistency with need for 
patient choice 

Met 

Affordability Met Clear clinical evidence base Met 

Deliverability Met 
Support from clinical 
commissioners 

Met 

  Bed closures Not applicable 

 

8.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 

8.2.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the quality 
and clear clinical evidence base criterions is Met. 

8.2.2 The evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIA) by ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC in context of public feedback on proposals and analysis of this by 
subject matter expert working groups 

8.2.3 The East Midlands Clinical Senate review team was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning the Lincolnshire health system’s proposals. Specifically, 
the clinical review team was asked whether it supported the proposals based on clinical 
sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes. 

8.2.4 The development of the case for change and preferred option for urgent and emergency care 
has had substantial clinical consideration and input from across the Lincolnshire health system 
over a number of years, prior to review by the East Midlands Clinical Senate: 

• 2016: Concerns regarding sustainability of three 24/7 A&E services at each of ULHT’s 
hospital sites expressed by clinical leads at Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston which led to: 

▪ The development of options to address challenges faced in sustainability of A&E 
services led by ULHT Medical Director, supported by ULHT lead clinicians 

▪ The implementation of the overnight closure of Grantham and District Hospital A&E 

 

Page 265



 

 132 

• 2017: Review (2017) by the Independent Reconfiguration Panel (IRP), which is 
supported by clinical experts: 

▪ Identified the A&E service at Grantham Hospital has for some time (since 2007/08) 
only dealt with a limited range or presenting emergency conditions and that the level 
of emergency service provided from Grantham and District Hospital is more akin to 
that of an urgent care centre.  

▪ Confirmed this is not just about the appropriate use of terminology or signage but that 
unrealistic expectations and misunderstanding may have been allowed to develop 
about the level of service that can and should be provided at Grantham and District 
Hospital. 

▪ Concluded that in the interests of safety the A&E service at Grantham and District 
Hospital should not re-open 24/7 unless sufficient staff defined by the threshold can 
be recruited and retained. 

• 2017: The East of England Clinical Senate review recommendations included: 

▪ Not support the reopening of the 24/7 A&E department at Grantham and District 
Hospital on the grounds of potential adverse impact on patient safety at A&E 
Departments at all three United Lincolnshire NHS Trust Hospitals. 

▪ In order to make it clear for patients and the public the type of service available at 
Grantham and District Hospital A&E, the Trust look to re-labelling or re-naming the 
department, and ensure that it communicates that widely. The panel further 
recommended that the terminology ‘A&E Centre’ is not applied to Grantham and 
District Hospital in any further model. 

8.2.5 The presentation of the preferred option for urgent and emergency care services to the East 
Midlands Clinical Senate was led by local lead clinicians.  

8.2.6 The East Midlands Clinical Senate only made one recommendation in relation to the proposed 
service model, which was the word ‘Plus’ in UTC is dropped. This was agreed on the day of the 
session. The East Midlands Clinical Senate panel considered the proposed exclusion criteria to 
be ‘clear, comprehensive and excellent’. 

8.2.7 On 21 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• A 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the 
A&E department 

8.2.8 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, an updated Quality 
Impact Assessment (QIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

8.2.9 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Quality criterion to be met; and 

• Clear clinical evidence criterion to be met 

8.2.10 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated QIA (Appendix G) key 
comments made by the group in relation to the quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base 
criterion are set out in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 266



 

 133 

Figure 51 – Urgent and emergency care: Quality and clear clinical evidence base criterion 
- Key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Quality 

Criteria Met 

 

Criterion met, however if service change is agreed key requirements for 
implementation and delivery are: 

• A comprehensive communication plan will be rolled out for members of the 
public to make sure local residents are made fully aware of what services the 
24/7 UTC would be able to provide. 

• All relevant health and care providers including 111, East Midlands 
Ambulance Service Trust (EMAS), primary care and community providers to 
be engaged and information provided detailing the full list of exclusion criteria 
for Grantham and District Hospital under the change proposals. 

• Detailed staffing model developed, and ongoing review and alignment of 
staffing model and ambulance conveyance arrangements for Grantham and 
District Hospital site 

• Detailed staffing model developed, and ongoing review of staffing model to 
ensure right staff skill mix is available and competent to stabilise and transfer 
patients whatever the condition that presents  

• Ongoing review of ambulance transfer protocols and ensure clear process is 
in place, including risk assessment and mitigations 

Clear clinical 
evidence base 

Criteria Met 

From a clinical view the population has access to the services in the County and  
implementing a Type 1 A&E in Grantham may harm more people than save, and 
splitting limited resources across multiple sites/services is not appropriate, here is 
a need for specialisms to be concentrated in certain areas 

 

8.2.11 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

8.2.12 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

8.2.13 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working groups, 
including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs), as 
well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

 

8.3 Access 

8.3.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the access 
criterion is Partially Met. 

8.3.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of the East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and independent Equality 
Impact Assessments by a joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC in the context of the public feedback and 
the work completed by subject matter expert working groups to consider and respond to 
it 

Page 267



 

 134 

8.3.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed for the proposed urgent and emergency 
care change prior to commencing the consultation with the public, this was included in the Pre 
Consultation Business Case. 

8.3.4 Within this initial assessment it was identified that the impact of the proposed service change 
proposals on access, particularly on groups with protected characteristics would be continued 
to be explored and understood through consultation with the public and following a review of 
the feedback and plans only finalised once that process is complete and decision made. 

8.3.5 In this initial assessment the groups with protected characteristics that were identified as 
potentially being impacted by the proposed service change were age, disability and 
economically disadvantaged. 

8.3.6 Following the completion of the public consultation, analysis of questionnaire and survey 
responses did not indicate that there were any strong differences in views or specific concerns 
being expressed by respondents from groups with protected characteristics under the 
Equalities Act 2010 (e.g., age, ethnicity, gender). Instead, the evidence indicates that it is local 
concerns that account for differences in views, with members of different demographic or 
protected characteristics groups tending to share the views of others living in the same area. 

8.3.7 Where concerns were raised in feedback about particular groups (e.g., older people, people 
with disabilities, those from more deprived communities or living in rural areas), the focus was 
predominantly on travel and transport, particularly for those with limited access to private 
transport.  

8.3.8 The one example of a slight difference was that, in the residents survey, there was evidence 
that residents with disabilities or long-term health conditions that limited their day-to-day 
activities a lot were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely to disagree) with proposals 
around urgent and emergency care Grantham and District Hospital than other residents 
(although there was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback indicated 
that concerns about the proposal were again focused on concerns about travel and access to 
alternative sites, and the need for local acute emergency services at all hospitals. 

8.3.9 There were concerns about accessibility for specific groups including: people without personal 
access to a vehicle, people visiting friends/family, people needing to get home after treatment 
(including those who are too unwell to drive, and/or experiencing pain/discomfort), the elderly, 
people with disabilities, children, and those from low-income backgrounds. 

8.3.10 As planned, the impact of the proposed service change proposals on access, particularly on 
groups with protected characteristics, was explored further in light of the feedback received 
through the consultation and the EIAs produced for the PCBC developed further, with 
independent support. An overview of these considerations, actions and mitigations identified in 
the EIA is set out below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 268



 

 135 

Figure 52 – Urgent and emergency care: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
considerations, actions and mitigations  

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Emergency 
Transport & Non- 
Emergency 
Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

 

• 24/7 walk in urgent care would return to Grantham and District Hospital through 
a high quality service delivered in a sustainable way for the long term  

• The vast majority of patients (estimated to be around 97%) seen at the 
Grantham and District Hospital A&E department would continue to be seen 
and treated at the 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC). 

• Estimated c.600 patients per year who are currently seen at Grantham A&E 
will be displaced to an alternative site: 

o This is equivalent to c3.0% of the current activity, and the 
displacement is due to their care needs being better met in a more 
specialised service at an alternative hospital.  

o Under the proposed changes it is estimated that of these displaced 
patients c.375 (based on 19/20 activity) will travel over 45 minutes by 
car for A&E services, the travel time threshold set by the local health 
system for this type of activity. It is estimated that currently c. 21,500 
people in Lincolnshire travel over 45 minutes to access A&E by car. 

o Given the acuity of patients who would no longer be seen at Grantham 
and District Hospital many are likely to travel by ambulance to an 
alternative site and therefore travel time could be less than 45 min. 

• EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to 
provide additional resources so that the impact of the proposed service 
changes on ambulance capacity is negligible.  

• It is fully expected that non-emergency patient transport services in 
Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for eligible patients who have a 
longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at 
hospitals that are further away from their home and for the discharge from 
these hospitals.  

• The patient transport service is required to signpost patients who do not meet 
the eligibility for patient transport to alternatives transport providers. 

Other Transport 

For all patients 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 
who are ineligible 
for non-
emergency 
patient transport 
and transport for 
carers, relatives 
and visitors 

• This transport category presents the most complex area for consideration as it 
covers transport and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to 
provide.   

• Solutions already exist such as voluntary care schemes and daily bus services 
between Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and Lincoln 
County Hospital and Grantham and District Hospital; transport needs to be 
developed more broadly than in only responding to the public consultation and 
reflect findings of the County Council ‘County Views’ exercise. 

• The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working with partners, particularly  
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport 
solutions for health and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation 
to the four proposed services changes, to strengthen current arrangements. 

All Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

• The transport impact overall as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics would continue to be monitored during the implementation and 
‘go live’ period of any agreed change. Including ensuring inequalities are not 
exacerbated. 

• The Lincolnshire health system is committed to tackling the impact of travel on 
air pollution through investment and engagement with staff, patients and the 
local authority. All the mitigations set out above will be developed and 
implemented in the context of this air pollution commitment and aim. 

Disability • Ensuring all services, if the changes are agreed, comply with the Accessible 
Information Standard to ensure that people who have a disability, impairment 
or sensory loss get information that they can access and understand, and any 
communication support they need from health and care services. 

Page 269



 

 136 

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Race (in particular 
travellers/gypsies) 

• Support with reading letters and access to online support and care to be 
considered as part of accessible services provision 

 

8.3.11 On 21 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• A 24/7 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the 
A&E department 

8.3.12 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, the updated Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

8.3.13 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Access criterion to be partially met 

8.3.14 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated EIA (Appendix H) the 
key comments made by the group in relation to the Access criterion are set out in the table 
below. 

Figure 53 – Urgent and emergency care access criterion: key comments from the joint 
meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Access 

Criteria Partially 
Met 

 

Criterion partially met due to current county wide infrastructure 

Key mitigations identified are: 

• Ongoing joint working with Lincolnshire County Council on transport plans 

• Ensure a clear and comprehensive communication plan in terms of access 
routes and conditions treated by the service  

 

8.3.15 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

8.3.16 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

8.3.17 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment and updates against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working 
groups, including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs), as well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate 
and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

8.3.18 A particular area of focus would be the opportunities to work with partners to strengthen current 
travel arrangements including:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

Page 270



 

 137 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

8.3.19 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work will be informed further through the 
monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This would include analysis and 
assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying 
mitigations. 

 

8.4 Affordability 

8.4.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the 
affordability criterion is Met. 

8.4.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Review by ICS Finance Leaders Group 

8.4.3 On 18 May 2022 the ICS Finance Leaders Group (FLG) met to consider the financial case and 
affordability of the four service change proposals. 

8.4.4 Consideration was given to the affordability of the four change proposals and focused on two 
questions: 

• Is the implementation of the option achievable and financially sustainable? 

• Does the proposed option make best use of capital resources? 

8.4.5 With regards to the first question in relation to ‘achievable and financially sustainable’  the view 
of FLG was this was ‘met’. Since preparing the Pre Consultation Business Case there has been 
no material change in the assumptions underpinning financial sustainability of the proposal. 
Therefore the proposal is seen to be achievable and financially sustainable. 

8.4.6 There is no capital requirement for this change proposal so the second question does not arise. 

 

8.5 Deliverability 

8.5.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the 
deliverability criterion is Met. 

8.5.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Statements of support from providers 

8.5.3 The United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Services NHS Trust (LCHS) supports the change proposal to re-designate the Grantham A&E 
service as an Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) and maintain 24/7 A&E services provided from 
Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and consider it deliverable and 
sustainable. 

8.5.4 An overview of the key benefits to patients identified by ULHT and LCHS in relation to this 
change proposal are: 

• Quality of care: 

▪ Reduce the number of intra hospital transfers to another site, so demonstrating that 
the patient was getting to the definitive treatment site, first time. 

▪ Support a more consistent achievement of clinical standards, i.e. the NHS 
constitutional four-hour standard, time to triage at the Lincoln County Hospital and 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston sites and time to treatment across all three ULHT hospital 
sites. 

▪ Ensuring Grantham Hospital receives an appropriate mix of patient acuity in line with 
its capabilities. 

Page 271



 

 138 

▪ Aligns with NHS England and Improvements vision for urgent and emergency care 
patients. 

▪ Encourages integrated service delivery between primary care, community care and 
acute care providers.  

▪ Given the medical workforce challenges and heavy reliance on locum doctors who 
are likely to represent a less stable workforce, will minimise additional pressures 
across the A&E system in Lincolnshire and patient risk.  

▪ Minimise the pressure on ULHT’s nursing staff, where there are already significant 
vacancies, and therefore impact on the quality and safety of care provided 

• Access to care:  

▪ Under the proposed model of a 24/7 UTC at Grantham Hospital (and integrated 
community/acute medicine beds described later) the exclusion criterion for the 
Grantham Hospital site would be refined, meaning a relatively small number of 
patients currently attending the A&E, would not in the future. This would mean more 
patients going to the right place for care first time and minimising subsequent patient 
transfers. 

▪ Patients are more likely to see the right specialist, first time, 24/7 and receive the best 
possible care  

8.5.5 Consideration by ULHT and LCHS identifies the proposed model supports a more sustainable 
workforce by: 

• The Consultant workforce will be ULHT employed and will undertake sessions at 
Grantham and District Hospital Urgent Treatment Centre on a rotational basis.  This will 
support the likelihood of recruiting to substantive ED Consultant posts by linking the 
service to the remaining Type 1 EDs. 

• Initially a total of ten sessions of Emergency Medicine Consultant cover will be provided 
(equivalent to 40 hours a week). This will be reviewed at three, six and 12 months.   

• The proposed model being led by a community provider should also minimise the 
pressure on ULHT’s nursing staff, where there are already significant vacancies. 

• By implementing the proposed model of an Urgent Treatment Centre at Grantham and 
District Hospital it is believed the optimum balance of patient volumes, acuity, outcomes 
and resource will be achieved. Medical middle grades will support the UTC between 
08.00 and midnight when activity is known to be at its highest and will not need to staff 
an on-call rota at night. When the A&E operated as a 24/7 service on average 11 
patients a day attended between 23.00 and 07.00. 

8.5.6 By implementing the proposed model of an Urgent Treatment Centre at Grantham Hospital it is 
believed the optimum balance between patient volumes, acuity outcomes and resources will be 
achieved. 

8.5.7 Key risks to delivery and their mitigations are included in the implementation chapter. If the 
change proposals are agreed, an implementation risk log would be established and managed 
by each service change proposal implementation group. 

 

8.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 

8.6.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the patient 
and public support criterion is Met. 

8.6.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Independent analysis of public consultation feedback 

8.6.3 The overarching conclusion in the independent consultation report is ‘There was overall 
support for the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services in Grantham via an Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital’. 

Page 272



 

 139 

8.6.4 The consultation questionnaire identified that around three fifths of NHS staff who responded 
(61%) and half (50%) of other individual respondents either tended to agree or strongly agreed 
with the proposal to create a UTC at Grantham and District Hospital.  

8.6.5 Support for the proposal among the Lincolnshire population as a whole (telephone survey) was 
much stronger, with over four fifths (81%) of residents (+/- 6%) agreeing with the proposed 
changes. 

8.6.6 There was, however, evidence of differing views on the proposal for a 24-hour UTC at 
Grantham and District Hospital between those living in different areas of Lincolnshire. There is 
evidence that concerns about the proposals for urgent and emergency care are strongest 
among those living nearest to Grantham and District Hospital. 

8.6.7 This is most particularly marked in the questionnaire responses, in which just over half (51%) of 
all individual respondents living closest to Grantham and District Hospital expressed 
disagreement with the proposal, compared to 44% who agreed. 

8.6.8 Support for the proposal to provide 24/7 walk-in urgent care services at Grantham and District 
Hospital was most commonly based on the view that a local 24-hour UTC is preferable to a 
limited-hours A&E department that is not able to meet the needs of all patients. 

8.6.9 Disagreement with the proposal for a new 24/7 walk-in Urgent Treatment Centre in Grantham 
was most commonly based on the view that anything less than a fully equipped and staffed 
Emergency Department at Grantham and District Hospital would be unacceptable, rather than 
a desire for services to remain unchanged. 

8.6.10 Many of the concerns expressed about the proposal were shared by those who agreed and 
those who disagreed with the proposals; for the former, these were potential issues to be 
considered and mitigated against while, for those who disagreed, they were reasons to reject 
the proposals for a 24/7 UTC and increase service provision at Grantham and District Hospital. 

8.6.11 Concerns around potential impacts of the proposals focused predominantly on travel and 
transport; there was also positive feedback about the benefits of 24-hour access to local urgent 
care services. 

 

8.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 

8.7.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the 
consistency with need for patient choice criterion is Met. 

8.7.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Choice statement from CCG 

8.7.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration in the NHS is that the proposed changes 
are consistent with the current and prospective need for patient choice, as enshrined in the 
NHS Constitution. 

8.7.4 The NHS Constitution states that individuals (subject to certain exclusions) have the right to 
choose the organisation or team that provides them with NHS care when referred for a first 
outpatient appointment with a service led by a consultant or by a named health care 
professional. There are certain exceptions including: 

• Where speed of access to diagnosis and treatment is particularly important, for example 
in an emergency 

• Attendance at cancer services under the two-week maximum waiting time. 

8.7.5 Having assessed the proposals it is considered that patients will continue to be able to exercise 
choice in line with the NHS Constitution. See Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG. 

 

 

 

Page 273



 

 140 

8.8 Support from clinical commissioners 

8.8.1 The findings of the assessment of the orthopaedics proposal against the support from clinical 
commissioners criterion is Met. 

8.8.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Support statement from CCG clinical leads 

8.8.3 In developing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there was significant clinical discussion 
around the production of the options, including with clinical commissioners, but also 
counterparts from across the clinical workforce. 

8.8.4 There has been clear and robust clinical commissioner input throughout the process, including 
in options development and appraisal and in the planning and execution of the public 
consultation, including development of the public consultation material. 

8.8.5 NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads have been present at public meetings as part of the public 
consultation sharing information and hearing first-hand the views of the public and issues that 
need careful consideration. 

8.8.6 Since the completion of the public consultation the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads: 

• Have been part of the joint meetings of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group where the quality, clear clinical evidence base and access 
criteria were considered.  

• Have been part of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Executive discussions that have 
considered the change proposals against the criteria and informed the recommendations 
set out in this DMBC. 

8.8.7 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads also met as a group to explicitly discuss their support 
for the urgent and emergency care proposal. The conclusion of this was ‘support the proposed 
service change’.  

8.8.8 In addition to support a number of points were made relating to implementation if the change is 
agreed: 

• This is as much about a change in nomenclature as it is change from the current service 
provision. Communication with the public about the conditions that can be treated at the 
proposed service is key. 

• It is only the most acutely ill patients that will be treated at an alternative site, which is 
clinically appropriate and where their needs will be best met. 

• If the service change is agreed, a key requirement during the implementation phase 
would be to ensure the identified service provider has the capability to deliver the 
proposed model of care. This would need to be done in accordance with existing NHS 
contract and procurement regulations. 

 

8.9 Bed closures 

8.9.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the bed 
closure criterion is Not Applicable. 

8.9.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• A statement in relation to bed closures 

8.9.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration is the consideration of bed closures. None 
of the changes described in the public consultation will require acute hospital bed closures. See 
Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire CCG. 

 

Page 274



 

 141 

9 Acute Medicine – analysis of proposal following 
consultation to inform decision making 

 

9.1 Overview  

9.1.1 The change proposal consulted on was to develop integrated community/acute medical beds at 
Grantham and District Hospital, in place of the current acute medical beds. 

9.1.2 The table below provides an overview of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal, 
following public consultation, against local and national criteria. The rationale for the 
assessment and subsequent recommendations are set out in the remainder of the chapter. 

Figure 54 – Acute medicine: Overview of assessment against criteria 

Local Criteria National Criteria 

Criteria Finding Criteria Finding 

Quality Met Patient and public support Met 

Access Met 
Consistency with need for 
patient choice 

Met 

Affordability Met Clear clinical evidence base Met 

Deliverability Met 
Support from clinical 
commissioners 

Met 

  Bed closures Not applicable 

 

9.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 

9.2.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the quality and clear 
clinical evidence base criterions is Met. 

9.2.2 The evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIA) by ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC in context of public feedback on proposals and analysis of this by 
subject matter expert working groups 

9.2.3 The East Midlands Clinical Senate review team was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning the Lincolnshire health system’s proposals. Specifically, 
the clinical review team was asked whether it supported the proposals based on clinical 
sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes. 

9.2.4 This proposed integrated community/acute model was developed through extensive 
discussions by local clinicians, commissioners and provider organisations and reflects 
feedback received from the East Midlands Clinical Senate and takes into consideration 
feedback received during the various public engagement activities. 

9.2.5 The presentations of the proposed model for acute medicine services to the East Midlands 
Clinical Senate was led by the clinicians. Two presentations were given to the East Midlands 
Clinical Senate on the proposals, following the second presentation the clinical senate panel 
confirmed they were left with the impression that all system partners are engaged and cohesive 
with a clear vision for the future of medicine for Grantham and District Hospital. 

9.2.6 The East Midlands Clinical Senate panel described the proposal as innovative and achieved an 
excellent balance between access and sustainable long term outcomes. 

 

Page 275



 

 142 

9.2.7 On 21 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• Integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital 

9.2.8 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, an updated Quality 
Impact Assessment (QIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

9.2.9 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Quality criterion to be met; and 

• Clear clinical evidence criterion to be met 

Figure 55 – Acute medicine: quality and clear clinical evidence base criterion - key 
comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Quality 

Criteria Met 

 

Challenge: Given this is an innovative model should it be partially met as not in 
receipt of all the detail recognising that there is further work to do.  Need further 
understanding of how the model will work such as workforce, accountability and 
where the responsibilities sit and does not detract from quality of care.   

 

Response: There is strong clinical evidence base for the model, ICS and advent of 
PCNs about integration which makes it stronger.  As work progresses this will 
require oversight.  Criteria met, however if service change is agreed key 
requirements for implementation and delivery are: 

• Detailed workforce planning to ensure the model attracts in and retains 
workforce, and governance and accountability arrangements ae clear between 
partners delivering the service. 

• Existing bed capacity is optimised and cohorts extended in line with detailed 
workforce planning 

Clear clinical 
evidence base 

Criteria Met 

 

9.2.10 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

9.2.11 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

9.2.12 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working groups, 
including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs), as 
well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 276



 

 143 

9.3 Access 

9.3.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the access 
criterion is Met. 

9.3.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of the East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and independent Equality 
Impact Assessments by a joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC in the context of the public feedback and 
the work completed by subject matter expert working groups to consider and respond to 
it 

9.3.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed for the proposed urgent and emergency 
care change prior to commencing the consultation with the public, this was included in the Pre 
Consultation Business Case. 

9.3.4 Within this initial assessment it was identified that the impact of the proposed service change 
proposals on access, particularly on groups with protected characteristics would be continued 
to be explored and understood through consultation with the public and following a review of 
the feedback and plans only finalised once that process is complete and decision made. 

9.3.5 In this initial assessment the groups with protected characteristics that were identified as 
potentially being impacted by the proposed service change were age and economically 
disadvantaged. 

9.3.6 In the public consultation feedback there were few comments related to potential impacts on 
any specific demographic groups, with the exception of a small number of comments reiterating 
previously stated concerns about travel and access for groups without access to private 
transport.  

9.3.7 Several respondents, including some NHS staff members, felt that the proposed move to 
community/acute medical beds would benefit older and more frail patients by better integrating 
acute and community care for those patients who need the latter. 

9.3.8 Positively, it was said that patients would be seen to quicker, resulting in more efficient care, 
and would further benefit by being discharged back into their community more quickly. Elderly 
or frail patients were highlighted as particularly benefiting from this. 

9.3.9 In feedback from individuals with protected characteristics or other key demographics, their 
views on the proposals were typically informed most strongly by their area of residence, 
regardless of any other demographic characteristics. 

9.3.10 One exception was that evidence suggested that residents with the most limiting disabilities or 
long-term health conditions were significantly less likely to agree (and more likely than other 
residents to disagree) with proposals around acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital (although there was still majority agreement); it should be noted that the feedback 
indicated that their concerns were focused on loss of acute services and travel and access to 
alternative sites. 

9.3.11 As planned, the impact of the proposed service change proposals on access, particularly on 
groups with protected characteristics, was explored further in light of the feedback received 
through the consultation and the EIAs produced for the PCBC developed further, with 
independent support. An overview of these the considerations, actions and mitigations 
identified in the EIA is set out below. 

 

 

Page 277



 

 144 

Figure 56 – Acute medicine: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions 
and mitigations  

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Emergency 
Transport & Non- 
Emergency 
Transport 

 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

 

• The majority of patients (estimated to be around 90%) cared for in the acute 
medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital would continue to be cared for 
in the integrated community/acute medical beds 

• The proposal for change would deliver a more comprehensive local service 
provision at Grantham and District Hospital, specifically in relation to the ‘frail’ 
population. 

• Estimated c.385 patients per year who are currently seen by the medical 
service at Grantham and District Hospital will be displaced to an alternative 
site. 

o This is equivalent to c10% of the current activity, and the displacement 
is due to their care needs being better met in a more specialised 
service at an alternative hospital.  

o Under the proposed changes it is estimated that there will be no 
increase in the number of patients travelling more than 60 minutes by 
car, the threshold agreed for this type of activity 

o However, in reality given the existing exclusion criteria and current 
usage of the Grantham and District Hospital site many of the patients 
who would no longer attend Grantham and District Hospital would 
actually travel by ambulance and therefore their travel time would 
likely to be less than 60 minutes.   

• EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to 
provide additional resources so that the impact of the proposed service 
changes on ambulance capacity is negligible.  

• It is fully expected that non-emergency patient transport services in 
Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for eligible patients who have a 
longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at 
hospitals that are further away from their home and for the discharge from 
these hospitals.  

• The patient transport service is required to signpost patients who do not meet 
the eligibility for patient transport to alternatives transport providers. 

Other Transport 

For all patients 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 
who are ineligible 
for non-
emergency 
patient transport 
and transport for 
carers, relatives 
and visitors 

• This transport category presents the most complex area for consideration as it 
covers transport and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to 
provide.   

• Solutions already exist such as voluntary care schemes and daily bus services 
between Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and Lincoln 
County Hospital and Grantham and District Hospital; transport needs to be 
developed more broadly than in only responding to the public consultation and 
reflect findings of the County Council ‘County Views’ exercise. 

• The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working with partners, particularly  
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport 
solutions for health and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation 
to the four proposed services changes, to strengthen current arrangements. 

All Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

• The transport impact overall as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics would continue to be monitored during the implementation and 
‘go live’ period of any agreed change. Including ensuring inequalities are not 
exacerbated. 

• The Lincolnshire health system is committed to tackling the impact of travel on 
air pollution through investment and engagement with staff, patients and the 
local authority. All the mitigations set out above will be developed and 
implemented in the context of this air pollution commitment and aim. 

Page 278



 

 145 

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Disability • Ensuring all services, if the changes are agreed, comply with the Accessible 
Information Standard to ensure that people who have a disability, impairment 
or sensory loss get information that they can access and understand, and any 
communication support they need from health and care services. 

 

9.3.12 On 21 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• Integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place of 
the current acute medical beds 

9.3.13 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, the updated Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

9.3.14 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and 
considered the: 

• Access criterion to be met 

9.3.15 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated EIA (Appendix H) the 
key comments made by the group in relation to the Access criterion are set out in the table 
below. 

Figure 57 – Acute medicine access criterion: key comments from the joint meeting of the 
ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Access 

Criteria Met 

• Distinction needs to be drawn between these proposals and the Urgent and 
Emergency Care proposal as these are based on admitted patients. 

• Supports repatriation of patients from Grantham and the surrounding areas so 
they can receive care closer to home  

• Ensure alignment with wider system strategies that are addressing digital 
poverty whilst exploring opportunities such as virtual wards and telemonitoring 

 

9.3.16 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

9.3.17 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

9.3.18 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment and updates against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working 
groups, including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs), as well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate 
and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

9.3.19 A particular area of focus would be the opportunities to work with partners to strengthen current 
travel arrangements including:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

Page 279



 

 146 

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

9.3.20 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work will be informed further through the 
monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This would include analysis and 
assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying 
mitigations. 

 

9.4 Affordability 

9.4.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the affordability criterion 
is Met. 

9.4.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Review by ICS Finance Leaders Group 

9.4.3 On 18 May 2022 the ICS Finance Leaders Group (FLG) met to consider the financial case and 
affordability of the four service change proposals. 

9.4.4 Consideration was given to the affordability of the four change proposals and focused on two 
questions: 

• Is the implementation of the option achievable and financially sustainable? 

• Does the proposed option make best use of capital resources? 

9.4.5 With regards to the first question in relation to ‘achievable and financially sustainable’  the view 
of FLG was this was ‘met’. Since preparing the Pre Consultation Business Case there has been 
no material change in the assumptions underpinning financial sustainability of the proposal. 
Therefore the proposal is seen to be achievable and financially sustainable. 

9.4.6 There is no capital requirement for this change proposal so the second question does not arise. 

 

9.5 Deliverability 

9.5.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the deliverability 
criterion is Met. 

9.5.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Statements of support from providers 

9.5.3 The United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Services NHS Trust (LCHS) supports the change proposal to provide integrated 
community/acute beds at Grantham and District Hospital. 

9.5.4 An overview of the key benefits to patients identified by ULHT and LCHS in relation to this 
change proposal are: 

• Quality of care: 

▪ Providing an excellent balance between access and sustainable long term outcomes. 

▪ Achieving a balance between access and ensuring the long term sustainability of 
services. 

▪ Grantham Hospital will become a hub for supporting community teams and 
community services across the county (including existing inpatient community 
hospital beds), reducing acute medicine admissions not just at Grantham Hospital but 
potentially across the county.  

Page 280



 

 147 

▪ The Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) unit will offer an expansion of the current 
Ambulatory Assessment Unit (AAU), which is to be re-named in line with the national 
shift to ‘Same Day Emergency Care’. The unit would receive referrals directly from 
the UTC, EMAS and primary / community care teams. The SDEC unit will be led by 
an Acute Physician team.  

▪ Complex Frailty Service will offer specialist care and support for elderly and frail 
patients, including those with complex needs. The team will offer a day assessment 
and care service, supporting frail/complex patients who require diagnostics, multi-
disciplinary assessment, medical review, therapy and social service assessments. 

▪ The proposal would enable Grantham Hospital to offer services which may not be 
offered elsewhere and build a centre of excellence for integrated multi-disciplinary 
care, particularly for frail patients 

• Access to care:  

▪ It is estimated that no more patients than currently do now will be travelling over 60 
minutes for non-elective care, the travel time threshold set by the local health system 
for activity of this type. 

▪ Patients are more likely to receive timely assessment, treatment and diagnosis when 
they arrive at hospital. 

▪ Patients are more likely to see the right specialist, first time, 24/7 and receive the best 
possible care. 

▪ More patients going to the right place for care first time and minimising subsequent 
transfers. 

9.5.5 Consideration by ULHT and LCHS identifies the proposed model supports a more sustainable 
workforce by: 

• Introducing exposure to community-based services for the medical teams, particularly 
trainee roles, developing new specialists for the future with a more detailed 
understanding of the capabilities of community teams and the growing capacity for higher 
acuity care in the community. 

• Reduce medical workload reliance and increase consistency of provision. 

• Supports a concentration (through service consolidation and the provision of fewer beds) 
of nursing staff at the Lincoln site, where there are currently fewer vacancies than at the 
Pilgrim site. 

• ULHT and the community provider would work together closely to establish the 
employment arrangements for the consultants and middle grades. 

• Recruitment and retention of medical staff has been a long-standing concern for ULHT, 
although Grantham and District Hospital has not had as many issues as Lincoln County 
Hospital and Pilgrim Hospitals, Boston. At Grantham Hospital the majority of consultant 
posts are held by permanent Trust employees offering a consistency of service and 
training provision. Though there has been an increase in agency cover for some 
specialties more recently.  

9.5.6 Key risks to delivery and their mitigations are included in the implementation chapter. If the 
change proposals are agreed, an implementation risk log would be established and managed 
by each service change proposal implementation group. 

 

9.6 Patient and Public Support (strong public and patient involvement) 

9.6.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the patient and public 
support criterion is Met. 

9.6.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Independent analysis of public consultation feedback 

Page 281



 

 148 

9.6.3 The overarching conclusion in the independent consultation report is ‘There was broad 
agreement with the proposal for community/acute medical beds, seen by many as an 
opportunity to better integrate hospital and community services to the benefits of patients’. 

9.6.4 There was majority support for the proposals to provide integrated community/acute medical 
beds across all stakeholder and consultation strands. Of note, however, is evidence of a level 
of uncertainty about the proposal, with many consultation respondents indicating that they 
neither agreed nor disagreed with the proposals, or that they felt unable to provide a view. 

9.6.5 Just over three fifths (62%) of NHS employees in the open questionnaire agreed with the 
proposal to provide integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District 
Hospital. There was also majority agreement from other individual questionnaire respondents 
(53%). 

9.6.6 Over three quarters (78%, +/- 6%) of Lincolnshire residents (telephone survey) expressed 
support for the proposals. 

9.6.7 Across consultation feedback, those who agreed with the proposal to provide integrated 
community/acute medical beds felt that it would provide benefits such as more efficient care, 
with patients being discharged more quickly while continuing to receive treatment and care in 
their communities. Indeed, staff and patient representatives said they would like to see this 
model replicated across the Trust. 

9.6.8 Those disagreeing with the proposal felt that Grantham and District Hospital should be a fully 
serviced hospital with acute medical beds (as opposed to integrated medical beds), especially 
given the need to account for the area’s growing and ageing population. There were also 
concerns around negative impacts on quality of care, and the potential for increased pressure 
on other hospital sites. 

9.6.9 Other concerns expressed were around overall bed numbers, costs, staff shortages, and 
capacity within primary and social care services. Further clarity was sought on the impact of the 
proposals on overall bed space at Grantham and District Hospital, and concerns were 
expressed about capacity within the other services that are essential in facilitating change - 
adult social care and primary care for example. 

9.6.10 Other worries focused on the cost of implementing the changes and the anticipated increase in 
staff workloads. Moreover, the latter would, it was felt, be compounded by shortages among 
community- and hospital-based staff, both of whom are crucial to the successful 
implementation of this proposal. 

 

9.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 

9.7.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the consistency with 
need for patient choice criterion is Met. 

9.7.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Choice statement from CCG 

9.7.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration in the NHS is that the proposed changes 
are consistent with the current and prospective need for patient choice, as enshrined in the 
NHS Constitution. 

9.7.4 The NHS Constitution states that individuals (subject to certain exclusions) have the right to 
choose the organisation or team that provides them with NHS care when referred for a first 
outpatient appointment with a service led by a consultant or by a named health care 
professional. There are certain exceptions including: 

• Where speed of access to diagnosis and treatment is particularly important, for example 
in an emergency 

• Attendance at cancer services under the two-week maximum waiting time. 

9.7.5 Having assessed the proposals it is considered that patients will continue to be able to exercise 
choice in line with the NHS Constitution. See Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG. 

Page 282



 

 149 

 

9.8 Support from clinical commissioners 

9.8.1 The findings of the assessment of the acute medicine proposal against the support from clinical 
commissioners criterion is Met. 

9.8.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Support statement from CCG clinical leads 

9.8.3 In developing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there was significant clinical discussion 
around the production of the options, including with clinical commissioners, but also 
counterparts from across the clinical workforce. 

9.8.4 There has been clear and robust clinical input throughout the process, including in options 
development and appraisal and in the planning and execution of the public consultation, 
including development of the public consultation material. 

9.8.5 NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads have been present at public meetings as part of the public 
consultation sharing information and hearing first-hand the views of the public and issues that 
need careful consideration. 

9.8.6 Since the completion of the public consultation the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads: 

• Have been part of the joint meetings of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group where the quality, clear clinical evidence base and access 
criteria were considered.  

• Have been part of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Executive discussions that have 
considered the change proposals against the criteria and informed the recommendations 
set out in this DMBC. 

9.8.7 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads also met as a group to explicitly discuss their support 
for the acute medicine proposal. The conclusion of this was ‘support the proposed service 
change’.  

9.8.8 In addition to support a number of points were made relating to implementation if the change is 
agreed: 

• Need to ensure recruitment to the model focuses on all workforce, irrespective of the 
stage of their career. 

• The proposed model has to look to reach outside of the Grantham area and provide 
support further afield. 

 

9.9 Bed closures 

9.9.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the bed 
closure criterion is Not Applicable. 

9.9.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• A statement in relation to bed closures 

9.9.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration is the consideration of bed closures. None 
of the changes described in the public consultation will require hospital bed closures. See 
Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire CCG. 

 

Page 283



 

 150 

10 Stroke – analysis of proposal following consultation to 
inform decision making 

 

10.1 Overview  

10.1.1 The change proposal consulted on was to consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services 
on the Lincoln County Hospital site, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation 
team. 

10.1.2 The table below provides an overview of the assessment of the stroke proposal, following 
public consultation, against local and national criteria. The rationale for the assessment and 
subsequent recommendations are set out in the remainder of the chapter. 

Figure 58 – Stroke: Overview of assessment against criteria 

Local Criteria National Criteria 

Criteria Finding Criteria Finding 

Quality Met Patient and public support Met 

Access Met 
Consistency with need for 
patient choice 

Met 

Affordability Met Clear clinical evidence base Met 

Deliverability Met 
Support from clinical 
commissioners 

Met 

  Bed closures Not applicable 

 

10.2 Quality and Clear Clinical Evidence Base 

10.2.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke proposal against the quality and clear clinical 
evidence base criterions is Met. 

10.2.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and Quality Impact 
Assessments (QIA) by ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group and CCG QPEC in context of public feedback on proposals and analysis of this by 
subject matter expert working groups 

10.2.3 The East Midlands Clinical Senate review team was asked to consider whether there is a clear 
clinical evidence base underpinning the Lincolnshire health system’s proposals. Specifically, 
the clinical review team was asked whether it supported the proposals based on clinical 
sustainability, workforce and clinical outcomes. 

10.2.4 The proposal to consolidate hyper-acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital 
was designed through a number of clinically led workshops headed by the Stroke Consultants 
at ULHT with support and contributions from Professor Rudd (the National Clinical Director for 
Stroke Services), and local acute, primary and community based health professional.  

10.2.5 When this model was presented to the East Midlands Clinical Senate they praised that it 
seemed to be well led clinically, and from the evidence provided to the panel, appeared it had 
been well researched.  

10.2.6 The East Midlands Clinical Sente reported that the proposed reconfiguration would reduce 
unwarranted variation in outcomes and would ensure a more consistent achievement of clinical 
standards and national guidelines. 

Page 284



 

 151 

10.2.7 The clinical review team supported the proposal for stroke services and recommended the 
health system proceed with it.  

10.2.8 The East Midlands Clinical Senate also made a number of recommendations. Responses to 
the clinical review team’s recommendation were included in the Pre Consultation Business 
Case and reviewed as part of the NHS England and Improvement assurance process which 
was completed before starting the public consultation. 

10.2.9 On 28 April 2022 a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held to review the conclusions of the working groups and 
consider if the information presented continued to support the establishment of: 

• Hyper-acute and acute stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, supported by 
an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation team. 

10.2.10 The group considered all the information presented including the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, an updated Quality 
Impact Assessment (QIA), and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken 
by the subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

10.2.11 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Quality criterion to be met; and 

• Clear clinical evidence criterion to be met 

10.2.12 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix F) and the actions identified in the updated QIA (Appendix G) key 
comments made by the group in relation to the quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base 
criterion are set out in the table below. 

Figure 59 – Stroke: quality criterion and clear clinical evidence base criterion: Key 
comments from the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Quality 

Criteria Met 

There is not enough work for two stroke centres in Lincolnshire and if there is not 
the critical mass of patients they are unlikely to be attractive to recruit and retain 
staff – c.50% vacancy rate across England for stroke doctors. 

Trying to operate a parallel service on two sites when there is already a stretched 
workforce both nationally and locally can lead to disservice and it is crucial that a 
high level 7-day service is provided from the one site. 

The temporary change has shown reduced times to diagnosis and treatment. 

The temporary change has shown thrombolysis can be achieved providing a first-
class service to stroke patients in the County regardless of where they live and that 
this is predicated on having the best expertise on one site that is clinically supported 
based on the evidence. 

Mechanical thrombectomy pathway between Lincoln County Hospital and Queen’s 
Medical Centre in Nottingham is straight forward and there are no delays - the 
thrombectomy time frame has been extended to anything between 16 and 24 hours 
depending on the centre that takes the patient. 

However the proposed service change is not just about thrombolysis (which 
accounts for approximately 10% of strokes) but for all stroke patients – if these 
patients are admitted to a well-staffed unit their outcomes overall are much better. 

It is not only the thrombolysis and the mechanical element but having the skilled 
and dedicated workforce that can provide the high-level Consultant led 7-day 
provision that augments the patient journey and improves outcomes. 

Proposals mirror the cardiology model and the way that organisations have 
consolidated services based on syndromes/diseases that need the 7-day 
Consultant led service. 

Clear clinical 
evidence base 

Criteria Met 

Page 285



 

 152 

Criterion Comments 

There is a very wide spectrum of rehabilitation needs for stroke patients and  
hospital is not the best place for a majority of these patients, the best place for 
rehabilitation is in the patient’s own home and they can progress with the right level 
of support - the longer a patient stays in hospital the more deconditioned the patient 
becomes and is more dependent. 

The rehabilitation element is an important part of the whole process and the 
proposed  Centre of Excellence is crucial to the development of community services 
– rotational posts for stroke rehabilitation between acute and community setting are 
being explored. 

The proposal will attract staff bringing in a higher skilled workforce which will 
ultimately improve the patient outcomes and develop the MDT approach.  

 

10.2.13 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

10.2.14 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-
Group the NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the 
groups conclusions on 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

10.2.15 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working groups, 
including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs), as 
well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

 

10.3 Access 

10.3.1 The findings of the assessment of the urgent and emergency care proposal against the access 
criterion is Met. 

10.3.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Recommendations of the East Midlands Independent Clinical Senate Review Panels; 
and 

• Review of the East Midlands Clinical Senate recommendations and independent Equality 
Impact Assessments by a joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate & CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub-Group and CCG QPEC in the context of the public feedback and 
the work completed by subject matter expert working groups to consider and respond to 
it 

10.3.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed for the proposed urgent and emergency 
care change prior to commencing the consultation with the public, this was included in the Pre 
Consultation Business Case. 

10.3.4 Within this initial assessment it was identified that the impact of the proposed service change 
proposals on access, particularly on groups with protected characteristics would be continued 
to be explored and understood through consultation with the public and following a review of 
the feedback and plans only finalised once that process is complete and decision made. 

10.3.5 In this initial assessment the groups with protected characteristics that were identified as 
potentially being impacted by the proposed service change were age and economically 
disadvantaged. 

10.3.6 Feedback to the public consultation included the view from some people that the proposal 
could widen health inequalities and negatively impact patient access as services would be 
removed from a deprived area. 

Page 286



 

 153 

10.3.7 Consultation feedback also suggested the stroke figures for the area served by Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston are higher owing to an ageing population. It was thought to make more sense, 
therefore, to have a centre of excellence in Boston to reduce travel times for the majority.  

10.3.8 The impact on patients’ loved ones was also noted, particularly elderly spouses/family who may 
be unable to visit due to the increased travel distance. The impact of this on patients' mental 
health and recovery may, it was said, have been overlooked.  

10.3.9 Feedback from members of protected characteristics groups and other key demographics 
tended to express some concerns about travel and transport along the same lines as other 
respondents. 

10.3.10 In the consultation questionnaire data, slightly more respondents from the most deprived 
communities disagreed with proposals for stroke services than agreed. It should be noted, 
however, that further analysis indicated that this was almost certainly a result of the majority of 
questionnaire respondents from deprived communities living in Boston and East Lindsey, 
closest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston.  

10.3.11 Boston and East Lindsey are geographic areas in which the views among respondents from 
both deprived and more affluent communities were more negative than elsewhere; the 
implication, therefore, is that it is shared concerns about loss of local services in Boston driving 
disagreement, rather than a particular or separate concern from those experiencing 
deprivation. 

10.3.12 In the residents survey there was some indication (at a 90% confidence level) that residents 
with disabilities that limit their activities a lot were also less likely to agree, and more likely to 
disagree. with this proposal, compared to other residents (although there was still majority 
agreement). 

10.3.13 As planned, the impact of the proposed service change proposals on access, particularly on 
groups with protected characteristics, was explored further in light of the feedback received 
through the consultation and the EIAs produced for the PCBC developed further, with 
independent support. An overview of these the considerations, actions and mitigations 
identified in the EIA is set out below. 

Figure 60 – Stroke: Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) considerations, actions and 
mitigations  

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

Emergency 
Transport & Non- 
Emergency 
Transport 

 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

 

• Hospital stroke services would be based on national clinical evidence, which 
has demonstrated stroke patients are more likely to survive, recover more 
quickly and spend less time in hospital 

• Hospital stroke services in Lincolnshire would be in a stronger position to 
attract and retain talented staff through building a strong, high quality and 
successful service – making it sustainable for the long term 

• More patients would benefit from hospital stroke services being located on the 
same hospital site as the highly successful Lincolnshire Heart Centre, with 
benefits including increased access to important time critical interventions and 
acute imaging services, further reducing time to treatment 

• Stroke patients would spend the minimum time necessary in a hospital bed, by 
ensuring enhanced community services have the right skills and capacity to 
provide high quality rehabilitation to stroke patients as they return home, or as 
close to home as possible 

• The experience of the temporary change made due to the pressures of Covid-
19 on the services sustainability has demonstrated that even though the 
service was still operating under immense pressure, the benefit of faster 
access to diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets the longer 
travel times for some patients.  

• Estimated c.500 patients per year who would have gone to Boston Pilgrim 
Hospital will be displaced to an alternative site: 

o Based on modelling completed for PCBC, estimated no patient would 
travel over 60 minutes for care. 

Page 287



 

 154 

Groups Considerations, actions and mitigations 

o Following temporary change to consolidate hyper-acute and acute 
stroke services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, the average travel 
time for patients from the old Lincolnshire East CCG footprint to 
receiving hospital was c.45minutes. 

• EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to be able to 
provide additional resources so that the impact of the proposed service 
changes on ambulance capacity is negligible.  

• It is fully expected that non-emergency patient transport services in 
Lincolnshire will be able to provide transport for eligible patients who have a 
longer distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at 
hospitals that are further away from their home and for the discharge from 
these hospitals.  

• The patient transport service is required to signpost patients who do not meet 
the eligibility for patient transport to alternatives transport providers. 

Other Transport 

For all patients 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 
who are ineligible 
for non-
emergency 
patient transport 
and transport for 
carers, relatives 
and visitors 

• This transport category presents the most complex area for consideration as it 
covers transport and travel services that the CCG does not have a duty to 
provide.   

• Solutions already exist such as voluntary care schemes and daily bus services 
between Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and Lincoln 
County Hospital and Grantham and District Hospital; transport needs to be 
developed more broadly than in only responding to the public consultation and 
reflect findings of the County Council ‘County Views’ exercise. 

• The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working with partners, particularly  
Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and transport 
solutions for health and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation 
to the four proposed services changes, to strengthen current arrangements. 

All Transport 

For all patients in 
all groups 
(specifically those 
in age, disability 
and economically 
disadvantaged) 

• The transport impact overall as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics would continue to be monitored during the implementation and 
‘go live’ period of any agreed change. Including ensuring inequalities are not 
exacerbated. 

• The Lincolnshire health system is committed to tackling the impact of travel on 
air pollution through investment and engagement with staff, patients and the 
local authority. All the mitigations set out above will be developed and 
implemented in the context of this air pollution commitment and aim. 

Disability • Ensuring all services, if the changes are agreed, comply with the Accessible 
Information Standard to ensure that people who have a disability, impairment 
or sensory loss get information that they can access and understand, and any 
communication support they need from health and care services. 

Race  • During engagement exercises, not having English as a second language was 
identified as a possible barrier to engagement. 

• This needs to be considered as part of accessible services provision 

 

10.3.14 Following completion of the public consultation, a joint meeting of the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical 
and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group was held on 28 April 2022 to 
consider if the information and evidence presented in light of and in response to the public 
consultation continued to support the consolidation hyper-acute and acute stroke services on 
the Lincoln County Hospital site, supported by an enhanced community stroke rehabilitation 
team. 

10.3.15 The group considered all the evidence presented including the Pre Consultation Business Case 
(PCBC), feedback themes and data from the public consultation, an updated Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) and further analysis and consideration of the proposal undertaken by the 
subject matter expert working groups in relation to the consultation feedback. 

Page 288



 

 155 

10.3.16 Following its considerations, the Lincolnshire ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group confirmed its continued support for the change proposal and considered 
the: 

• Access criterion to be met 

10.3.17 Building on the conclusions and actions identified by the working groups in response to the 
public feedback (Appendix K) and the actions identified in the updated EIA (Appendix H) the 
key comments made by the group in relation to the Access criterion are set out in the table 
below. 

Figure 61 – Stroke access criterion: Key comments from the joint meeting of the ICS 
Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group  

Criterion Comments 

Access 

Criteria Met 

• It needs to be made clear that access is not just about the travel time, it is also 
about access to the appropriate treatment and intervention and delivering  
good patient outcomes 

• It is the overall time from event to treatment that is most important and 
improves outcomes – the temporary changes have demonstrated reductions 
in the time taken for patients receive diagnosis and treatment at hospital, which 
makes up for any increases in travel time 

• Since the start of the temporary model, a good joint working model has been 
established between ambulance paramedics and stroke ACPs at Lincoln 
County Hospital to review previous medical history and decision for treatment 
commences as soon as patients arrives at hospital 

• The Lincolnshire division of EMAS has the most efficient on scene time of all 
East Midlands divisions/counties helping to reduce overall call to definitive 
treatment timescales 

• Consolidation of cardiology services on the Lincoln County Hospital site to 
concentrate capacity, skills and expertise has demonstrated improvements in 
outcomes for all Lincolnshire residents. 

• The public’s concerns about patients travelling further need to be recognised 
and if the change is agreed a communication and education strategy on the 
proposals, how to recognise stroke symptoms and how to access care need to 
be put in place 

• A targeted, local bespoke communication and education strategy on the 
proposal, how to recognise stroke symptoms and how to access care, with a 
specific focus on the deprived areas with the longest travel times is required 

• The additional analysis presented on patient outcomes should be included in 
the evidence together with the additional granular analysis on travel times that 
has been completed 

 

10.3.18 The minutes of the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Group are included in Appendix K. 

10.3.19 Following the meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sub-Group the 
NHS Lincolnshire Quality and Patient Experience Committee (QPEC) reviewed the groups 
conclusions on the 12 May 2022 and supported them. 

10.3.20 If the change proposals are agreed, as part of the implementation process continuous 
assessment and updates against the actions identified by the subject matter expert working 
groups, including the Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) and Equality Impact Assessments 
(EIAs), as well as those identified by the joint meeting of the ICS Clinical and Care Directorate 
and CCG Clinical Policies Sub Group and CCG QPEC will be undertaken and reported to the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). The IOG is described further in Chapter 15. 

 

 

Page 289



 

 156 

10.3.21 A particular area of focus would be the opportunities to work with partners to strengthen current 
travel arrangements including:  

• Promoting the use of public transport options to try to reduce reliance on car usage  

• Promote and use existing infrastructure wherever possible  

• Making the best use of existing public transport facilities wherever possible – including 
engagement with transport operators to discuss how services could accommodate 
changing travel patterns 

• Ensure users have clear and easily accessible information about public transport options to 
encourage uptake 

• Tackling issues relating to expanding existing volunteer driver schemes  

10.3.22 If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work will be informed further through the 
monitoring of the transport impact overall, as well as on those groups with protected 
characteristics, by the service change implementation groups. This would include analysis and 
assessment to understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying 
mitigations. 

 

10.4 Affordability 

10.4.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke proposal against the affordability criterion is Met. 

10.4.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Review by ICS Finance Leaders Group 

10.4.3 On 18 May 2022 the ICS Finance Leaders Group (FLG) met to consider the financial case and 
affordability of the four service change proposals. 

10.4.4 Consideration was given to the affordability of the four change proposals and focused on two 
questions: 

• Is the implementation of the option achievable and financially sustainable? 

• Does the proposed option make best use of capital resources? 

10.4.5 With regards to the first question in relation to ‘achievable and financially sustainable’  the view 
of FLG was this was ‘met’. Since preparing the Pre Consultation Business Case there has been 
no material change in the assumptions underpinning financial sustainability of the proposal. 
Therefore the proposal is seen to be achievable and financially sustainable. 

10.4.6 At the PCBC stage a number of estates solutions were considered for the proposed care 
model. The preferred estates solution identified was to design and build an extension to the 
existing unit to provide a consolidated service at Lincoln County Hospital. The FLG assessed 
whether this proposal made best use of capital resources and determined that there was no 
material change in the assumptions underpinning the capital requirement. The FLG 
acknowledged a risk for potential cost escalations, and this is referred to in the risk section of 
the finance chapter. 

 

10.5 Deliverability 

10.5.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke proposal against the deliverability criterion is Met. 

10.5.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Statements of support from providers 

10.5.3 The United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) and Lincolnshire Community Health 
Services Trusts (LCHS) support the change proposal to develop a sustainable stroke service in 
Lincolnshire for hyper acute and acute stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital.  This will be 
supported by a community stroke rehabilitation service across the county.  This will support 
earlier discharge for patients to have their rehabilitation and care closer to home. 

Page 290



 

 157 

10.5.4 An overview of the key benefits to patients identified by ULHT and LCHS in relation to this 
change proposal are: 

• Quality of care:  

▪ Ensuring hospital stroke services are based on national clinical evidence  

▪ The benefit of faster access to diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets 
the longer travel times for some patients.  The evidence of the temporary 
consolidation of hyper-acute stroke services demonstrated that on average patient’s 
diagnosis and treatment times were improved and all patients who were eligible for 
thrombolysis received this within the four hour window from onset of symptoms. 

▪ Hospital stroke services receive over 600 (over 1000 across the county) stroke 
patients a year so that our doctors and nurses here in Lincolnshire maintain and 
develop their specialist skills and expertise  

▪ Improving the ability of hospital stroke services to attract and retain talented and 
substantive staff by building a strong, high quality and successful service, reducing 
our reliance on agency locum staffing  

▪ Stroke patients spend the minimum time necessary in a hospital bed, by ensuring 
community services have the right skills and capacity to support stroke patients at 
home, or as close to home as possible 

• Access to care:  

▪ The benefit of faster access to diagnosis and treatment once at the acute site offsets 
the longer travel times for some patients.  The evidence of the temporary 
consolidation of hyper-acute stroke services demonstrated that on average patient’s 
diagnosis and treatment times were improved and all patients who were eligible for 
thrombolysis received this within the four hour window from onset of symptoms. 

▪ Patients are more likely to see the right specialist, first time and receive the best 
possible care upon arrival to the single site due to better staffing levels 

10.5.5 Providers stated it is not possible to provide a robust stroke service across two acute hospitals.  
It is difficult to recruit stroke consultants nationally, with over 50% of posts remaining unfilled.  
The current model where the on-call cover is spilt by three consultants on each site makes 
recruitment very difficult and results in a service that is vulnerable in the event of sickness or 
absence.  This has resulted in many of the posts being covered by agency staff.  Currently, 
there is only one substantive accredited consultant in stroke medicine in ULHT. 

10.5.6 ULHT and LCHS have identified that the proposed future model of acute stroke services 
supports a more sustainable and resilient workforce, particularly in the medical consultant and 
nursing groups, by: 

• Increases the chances of recruiting to substantive roles (and the retention) if the service 
is based at Lincoln County Hospital alongside other specialist services  

• Avoids having to spread 6.0 consultants across two sites which are covered mainly by 
locum consultants at present. 

• A reduction in a heavy reliance on locum and agency staff  

• Supports a concentration (through service consolidation and the provision of fewer beds) 
of nursing staff at the Lincoln site, where there are currently fewer vacancies than at the 
Boston site  

• Supports the services ambition to provide posts with an academic element which again 
would make these posts more attractive and potentially sub-specialist interests 

• There are gaps in the workforce at all levels.  A consolidated model facilitates increase 
specialisation and by concentrating, the workforce on one site allows a rota with greater 
coverage over the working day/week. 

 

Page 291



 

 158 

• Supports skill mix and facilitates Advanced Nurse, therapist and consultant Practitioners 
who can provide a site presence to reduce the demands on the medical workforce and 
support patients by facilitating faster access to diagnostics and workup so that the 
consultant can commence treatment faster. 

10.5.7 Key risks to delivery and their mitigations are included in the implementation chapter. If the 
change proposals are agreed, an implementation risk log would be established and managed 
by each service change proposal implementation group. 

 

10.6 Patient and Public Support 

10.6.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke proposal against the patient and public support 
criterion is Met. 

10.6.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Independent analysis of public consultation feedback 

10.6.3 The overarching conclusion in the independent consultation report is ‘There was also majority 
support across the consultation as a whole for the proposal to create a Centre of Excellence for 
acute and hyper-acute stroke at Lincoln County Hospital, supported by an enhanced 
community stroke rehabilitation service; however views did vary somewhat across different 
areas within Lincolnshire’.  

10.6.4 More than half (53%) of NHS staff responding to the consultation questionnaire agreed with the 
proposal for stroke services. This was also the case with other individual respondents to the 
questionnaire, just over half of whom expressed agreement (51%). 

10.6.5 Among Lincolnshire residents (telephone survey), there was more support for the proposed 
changes; approximately three quarters (72%, +/- 6%) of residents agreed with the proposal. 

10.6.6 There was evidence across the different consultation strands of differing views on the proposal 
for stroke services based on geography, with greater levels of concern expressed from those 
living closest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston.  

10.6.7 There is evidence that concerns about the proposals for stroke services are strongest among 
those living nearest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. This is most particularly marked in the 
questionnaire responses, in which more than two thirds (69%) of all individual respondents 
living closest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston expressed disagreement with the proposal, compared 
to just over a quarter (27%) who agreed. 

10.6.8 The residents telephone survey, by contrast, indicates that there is majority support from the 
overall resident population, including among living closest to Pilgrim Hospital, Boston where 
more than two thirds (69%) agree with the proposals. There was nonetheless also evidence of 
concern; more than a quarter (27%) of Boston residents disagreed with the proposals to 
provide a Centre of Excellence for stroke services at Lincoln County Hospital with Pilgrim 
Hospital, Boston no longer delivering specialist stroke services. 

10.6.9 Supporters of developing a specialist centre for hyper-acute and acute stroke services at 
Lincoln County Hospital felt that increasing expertise in this area would inevitably improve 
patient care and outcomes, and likely tackle many of the challenges faced by NHS 
Lincolnshire. It was also said that the centre could be a catalyst for further future investment 
into the area’s healthcare infrastructure.  

10.6.10 Those who disagreed (mostly residents of the Boston area) did so mainly for fear of a lack of 
local services and longer travel times, and a concern that it could lead to poorer patient 
outcomes 

10.6.11 Disagreement with the proposals for stroke services came largely from Boston residents, who 
worried that the removal of “life-saving” local services would be to the detriment and 
disadvantage of the area and suggested that if the population of Boston continues to increase 
at its current trajectory, acute stroke services will be required in future. There was also worry 
that the removal of stroke services would pose a threat to other services at Pilgrim Hospital.  

 

Page 292



 

 159 

10.6.12 Travel times, including by ambulance, to reach Lincoln were said to be too long, particularly in 
stroke cases when 'time is of the essence'. It was said that people living in places outside the 
'golden hour' of travel time to Lincoln will be disadvantaged by these proposals. Moreover, 
travelling to Lincoln to visit patients would be difficult for many families and carers, especially 
as the county’s travel infrastructure is poor.  

10.6.13 Other concerns centred around: a lack of ambulance availability in Boston as a result of more 
frequent journeys to Lincoln and lengthy handovers; whether Lincoln County Hospital has the 
capacity and infrastructure to deal with increased patient demand; the lack of additional 
specialist staffing proposed for the Lincoln site; and the presumption that specialist stroke staff 
will be able to easily relocate from Boston to Lincoln owing to personal circumstances and a 
lack of transport.  

 

10.7 Consistency with need for patient choice 

10.7.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke services proposal against the consistency with 
need for patient choice criterion is Met. 

10.7.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Choice statement from CCG 

10.7.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration in the NHS is that the proposed changes 
are consistent with the current and prospective need for patient choice, as enshrined in the 
NHS Constitution. 

10.7.4 The NHS Constitution states that individuals (subject to certain exclusions) have the right to 
choose the organisation or team that provides them with NHS care when referred for a first 
outpatient appointment with a service led by a consultant or by a named health care 
professional. There are certain exceptions including: 

• Where speed of access to diagnosis and treatment is particularly important, for example 
in an emergency 

• Attendance at cancer services under the two-week maximum waiting time. 

10.7.5 Having assessed the proposals it is considered that patients will continue to be able to exercise 
choice in line with the NHS Constitution. See Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire 
CCG. 

 

10.8 Support from clinical commissioners 

10.8.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke services proposal against the support from clinical 
commissioners criterion is Met. 

10.8.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• Support statement from CCG clinical leads 

10.8.3 In developing the Pre-Consultation Business Case there was significant clinical discussion 
around the production of the options, including with clinical commissioners, but also 
counterparts from across the clinical workforce. 

10.8.4 There has been clear and robust clinical input throughout the process, including in options 
development and appraisal and in the planning and execution of the public consultation, 
including development of the public consultation material. 

10.8.5 NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads have been present at public meetings as part of the public 
consultation sharing information and hearing first-hand the views of the public and issues that 
need careful consideration. 

 

 

 

Page 293



 

 160 

10.8.6 Since the completion of the public consultation the NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads: 

• Have been part of the joint meetings of the ICS Clinical & Care Directorate and CCG 
Clinical Policies Sub Group where the quality, clear clinical evidence base and access 
criteria were considered.  

• Have been part of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Executive discussions that have 
considered the change proposals against the criteria and informed the recommendations 
set out in this DMBC. 

10.8.7 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG clinical leads also met as a group to explicitly discuss their support 
for the stroke proposal. The conclusion of this was ‘support the proposed service change’.  

10.8.8 In addition to support a number of points were made relating to implementation if the change is 
agreed: 

• Need to ensure there is a robust and effective needs assessment prior to discharge that 
identified the most appropriate location for rehabilitation.  

• Need to ensure the enhanced community stroke rehabilitation service is: 

▪ Properly resourced to provide a high quality service and support appropriate 
discharge from hospital 

▪ Fully integrated with the hospital based stroke service to ensure safe discharge and 
appropriate skills development across the whole pathway 

▪ Considered in the context of a virtual ward model 

 

10.9 Bed closures 

10.9.1 The findings of the assessment of the stroke services proposal against the bed closure criterion 
is Not Applicable. 

10.9.2 This evidence base for this is: 

• A statement in relation to bed closures 

10.9.3 One of the national tests for service reconfiguration is the consideration of bed closures. None 
of the changes described in the public consultation will require hospital bed closures. See 
Appendix M for statement from NHS Lincolnshire CCG. 

 

Page 294



 

 161 

11 Economic and financial analysis  

 

11.1 Introduction and background 

11.1.1 The economic and financial analysis has been developed by the Lincolnshire Integrated Care 
System (ICS) finance team, working with the relevant service leads and reporting to the ICS 
Financial Leaders Group (FLG). 

11.1.2 Full details of the methodology and approach can be found in the Pre Consultation Business 
Case (PCBC). Since the production of the PCBC, the following activities have been 
undertaken: 

• Update the financial context within which the Lincolnshire health system is operating 

• Re-validation of the clinical model workforce requirements 

• Consideration of the responses to consultation feedback by working groups to 
understand financial impact 

• Review and update of financial risks 

• Updated financial projections  

11.1.3 The four services in the scope of this Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) are  forecast to 
deliver a modest financial benefit of c.£1.9m in total by the time all the service changes are in 
place. 

11.1.4 It should also be noted that there is an ongoing ‘cost’ of doing nothing, services will become 
more fragile and unstable that could not only result in additional cost to the health system but 
also directly impact on patient care and outcomes.  

11.1.5 This section articulates the financial impact of each of the four proposed service changes in 
detail. The basis for calculating savings is to compare the cost of the service once changes 
have been implemented against the cost of the services pre-change. The cost of the service 
pre-change is based on actual costs and wte not planned. 

11.1.6 Key headline assumptions which have been made in calculating the financial impact of the four 
proposed service changes are: 

• All posts currently being filled by interim/agency staff will be replaced with substantive 
appointments, given the proposed care models being more attractive to work in; 

• The service that has the potential to experience the largest proportion of its current 
activity flowing out of the county is stroke; and   

• Capital Investment necessary to facilitate any of the proposed service changes will be 
sourced from within Capital Allocation resources. 

 

11.2 System financial context 

11.2.1 The Lincolnshire Health System has been in severe financial deficit for a number of years. In 
the most recent completed financial year pre-COVID (2019/20) the system reported a deficit of 
circa £100m. The majority of this deficit sat within ULHT.  

11.2.2 The Coronavirus global pandemic and its associated impact on the delivery of NHS services 
resulted in the introduction of a fundamentally different financial regime for 2020/21. For the 
first six months of the financial year all systems were provided with enough financial resource 
to break-even irrespective of the level of expenditure. For the latter 6 months of 2020/21 
systems were provided with set allocations based on expenditure and income projections 
derived from recently posted financial submissions. This meant that there was closer alignment 
between the cost of providing healthcare services and the resource allocation provided to fund 
them. 

 

 

Page 295



 

 162 

11.2.3 Throughout all of 21/22 allocation based resourcing based on fair shares was re-introduced 
with additional allocations provided to support the delivery of healthcare services throughout 
the continued pandemic. It was always understood that these additional allocations were 
temporary and would be withdrawn once the effect of the pandemic subsided and infection and 
prevention control measures returned to pre-pandemic levels. 

11.2.4 Throughout the period of the pandemic the Lincolnshire Healthcare system has, with the 
support of additional non-recurrent funding, managed to deliver a balanced financial position. 
2022/23 has seen the financial regime mover much closer to that which operated pre-
pandemic. This has resulted in a significant element of financial resource provided to the 
Lincolnshire Healthcare system non-recurrently over the last two years being removed. That 
together with growth in costs associated with high levels of inflation and the need to deliver 
significant levels of elective activity which, was paused throughout the pandemic, has returned 
the Lincolnshire Healthcare system to a more challenged financial position.  

11.2.5 Significant work will be required to ensure the Lincolnshire Healthcare system can continue to 
live within the resources it has been provided with. This will prove to be a significant challenge. 
Arguably too many patients non-elective needs are treated within an acute hospital setting. 
This maintains Lincolnshire’s over-reliance on interim/agency staff which incur a premium cost. 
Also, too much acute elective activity either leaves the county or is delivered by the 
Independent Sector. This means a significant element of Lincolnshire’s financial resource 
leaves the county or the NHS. Improving productivity and efficiency would allow the repatriation 
of elective activity back to ULHT and make a significant contribution to meeting the fixed and 
semi-fixed costs associated with delivering hospital services over multiple sites.  

11.2.6 The abandonment of Payments by Results between Lincolnshire CCG and ULHT in 2019/20 
has brought with it a reduction in transactional costs but also eliminated the need to flex 
payments up and down based on the volume of activity performed. The contract value paid to 
ULHT by Lincolnshire CCG is now based on the cost of delivery rather than an activity x price 
mechanism. On this principle, activity movements to other providers as a result of consolidation 
of services onto one site are unlikely to affect the payments ULHT receive. There are a number 
of providers outside of Lincolnshire to whom significant levels of activity flow. 

11.2.7 With regards to the four services under the ASR scope it is not anticipated that there will be any 
significant alterations to patient flow to any of the acute providers external to Lincolnshire. The 
service that has the potential to experience the largest proportion of its current activity flowing 
external to United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust is stroke. Modelling on travel tolerances 
suggests that up to 261 spells of stroke activity would transfer to other hospitals. The impact of 
this can be seen later in this chapter. 

 

11.3 Orthopaedics 

11.3.1 Through the current orthopaedics pilot all appropriate elective orthopaedic cases are being 
undertaken at Grantham and District Hospital with dedicated ring fenced beds on site and 
County Hospital Louth has become a dedicated day case centre. 

11.3.2 The pilot has been running since August 2018 and as well as delivering improved quality of 
care and patient outcomes has delivered a number of efficiency and productivity benefits, 
including:  

• The reliance on interim locum medics across the four sites has been reduced to zero 
reducing the average employment cost of medics from £108.5k to £105.8k. This results 
in a cost reduction of £247k; 

• Improvements in productivity in theatre throughput has allowed the medical workforce to 
be reduced to 86.11 wte from 90 wte resulting in a saving of £412k; 

• Elimination in the use of agency nursing staff has resulted in saving of £918k; 

• A reduction in cancelled procedures on the day from 9.4 to 4.6 (Trust wide); 

• Reduction in utilisation of theatres so that two theatres (one at Lincoln County and one at 
Boston/Pilgrim) could now be relinquished; 

 

Page 296



 

 163 

• A reduction to zero “On the day” cancellations at Grantham and District Hospital; 

• Reduction in LOS at Grantham and District Hospital from 2.7 to 1.7 days; and 

• A movement of all non-complex elective activity from Lincoln County Hospital to 
Grantham and District Hospital. 

11.3.3 The financial impact of the orthopaedic pilot across ULHT sites are set out below. 

Figure 62 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change - Grantham and District 
Hospital 

Orthopaedic Service – Grantham and District Hospital 

Cost Category 

Establishment Pre-
Pilot 

Service Model Post-
Pilot Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 19.00 2,261 17.11 1,712 -1.89 549 

Nursing 36.83 1,310 34.38 815 -2.45 495 

Administration 7.61 167 7.09 175 -0.52 -8 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 3,572 - 2,974 - 598 

Totals 63.44 7,310 58.58 5,676 -4.86 1,634 

 

Figure 63 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – County Hospital Louth 

Orthopaedic Service – County Hospital Louth 

Cost Category 

Establishment Pre-
Pilot 

Service Model Post-
Pilot Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 3.00 238 3.00 217 0.00 21 

Nursing 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 

Administration 3.00 59 0.00 0 -3.00 59 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 970 - 1,259 - -289 

Totals 6.00 1,267 3.00 1,476 -3.00 -209 

 

Figure 64 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – Pilgrim Hospital, Boston  

Orthopaedic Service – Pilgrim Hospital, Boston 

Cost Category 

Establishment Pre-
Pilot 

Service Model Post-
Pilot Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 34.00 3,126 34.00 3,424 0.00 -298 

Nursing 68.88 2,865 59.88 2,202 -9.00 663 

Administration 12.45 287 15.14 393 2.69 -106 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 4,692 - 3,867 - 825 

Totals 115.33 10,970 109.02 9,886 -6.31 1,084 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 297



 

 164 

Figure 65 – Financial impact of Orthopaedic services change – Lincoln County Hospital 

Orthopaedic Service – Lincoln County Hospital 

Cost Category 

Establishment Pre-
Pilot 

Service Model Post-
Pilot Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 34.00 4,140 35.00 3,760 1.00 380 

Nursing 74.36 3,040 82.08 3,280 7.72 -246 

Administration 18.26 439 19.79 429 1.53 10 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 5,192 - 3,813 - 1,379 

Totals 126.62 12,811 136.87 11,282 10.25 1,529 

 

11.3.4 The financial impact as a result of the total Orthopaedics service changes is a savings of 
£4.04m and is set out in the table below. 

Figure 66 – Financial impact of total Orthopaedic services changes 

Orthopaedic Service – Overall Summary 

Cost Category 

Establishment Pre-
Pilot 

Service Model Post-
Pilot Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 90.00 9,765 89.11 9,113 -0.89 652 

Nursing 180.07 7,215 176.34 6,297 -3.73 918 

Administration 41.32 952 42.02 997 0.70 -45 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 14,426 - 11,913 - 2,513 

 Totals 311.39 32,358 307.47 28,320 --3.92 4,038 

 

11.3.5 Within the £4m savings quantum there is an element relating to recharges of £2.5m. These 
covered the cost of services charged to Orthopaedics relating to their utilisation of Theatres. 
Through efficiencies in waiting list management, scheduling and the reduction in cancellations 
the Orthopaedics service has been able to relinquish two theatres (one at Pilgrim Hospital, 
Boston and one at Lincoln County Hospital). This has reduced the charge to orthopaedics for 
support services and overheads as the orthopaedic service now consumes less theatre space. 

11.3.6 The improved theatre productivity enables the orthopaedic service to repatriate activity 
currently delivered by the Independent Sector or other NHS providers. Assuming this is 
achieved additional income will flow into the Lincolnshire health system and contribute to fixed 
costs. 

11.3.7 The working groups considering the public feedback did not identify any requirement to adjust 
the proposed clinical model workforce. 

 

11.4 Urgent and Emergency Care 

11.4.1 The current A&E facility at Grantham and District Hospital which currently operates with a 
reduced service of 8.00am -18.30pm 7 days a week (from a 24/7 service) will be re-designated 
to an Urgent Treatment Centre open 24hrs 7 days a week. The financial comparison set out 
below is against the reduced hours A&E service and not the full 24/7 A&E service that 
previously operated out of Grantham. 

11.4.2 As part of the cost comparison work, a review of the A&E cost base, when it was operating as a 
24/7 service, was undertaken to establish whether the cost of delivery (uplifted to current year 
prices) was materially different from the cost as a reduced hours facility. The conclusion was 
there was no material difference and therefore the A&E reduced hours service vs the UTC 24/7 
service was chosen as base for comparison. 

Page 298



 

 165 

11.4.3 The financial impact of this proposed service change is based on:  

• A reduction in consultant cover from 80 hours a week to 40 hours with no evening or 
weekend on call service;  

• A reduction in agency and locum spend; and 

• Rationalisation of Out of Hours Service. 

Figure 67 – A&E/UTC existing service model Vs proposed service model 

Cost Category 
Current Establishment Proposed Service Model Difference 

WTE Cost £’k WTE Cost £ WTE 
Cost 
£’k 

GPs 1.32 86 3.30 215 1.98 -129 

Medical Staffing 14.00* 1,766 12.20 1,304 -1.80 462 

Nursing 27.47 1,316 40.50 1,645 13.03 -329 

ACP’s 4.00 226 4.00 226 0 0 

Administration 3.11 108 3.11 108 0 0 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 380 - 380 - 0 

UTC/A&E Sub-
Total 

49.90 3,882 63.11 3,878 13.21 4 

GP’s 1.98 129 0.00 0.00 -1.98 129 

Nursing 6.49 305 0.00 0.00 -6.49 305 

Non-Registered 
Nursing 

6.44 138 0.00 0.00 -6.44 138 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 86 - 0.00 - 86 

Out of Hours Sub-
Total 

14.91 658 0.00 0.00 -14.91 658 

Totals 64.81 4,540 63.11 3,878 -1.70 662 

*Includes 1 wte agency coverage 

 

11.4.4 The working groups considering the public feedback did not identify any requirement to adjust 
the proposed clinical model workforce. However it was identified that if the proposed service 
change is agreed detailed workforce planning, including rota development, will be required as 
part of the implementation process. 

 

11.5 Acute Medicine  

11.5.1 The Grantham Acute Medicine Service will adopt an integrated acute/community bed base 
model based on patient acuity and admission criteria. 

11.5.2 The financial impact of this proposed service change is based on:  

• A dedicated medical establishment for Grantham based on the preferred clinical model;  

• A substantive medical and nursing establishment which eliminates the reliance on 
locums and agency nursing; and 

• Over time a reduction in consultant cover on-call. 

 

 

 

 

Page 299



 

 166 

Figure 68 – Acute medical beds existing service model vs proposed service model 

 

11.5.3 The working groups considering the public feedback did not identify any requirement to adjust 
the proposed clinical model workforce. However it was identified that if the proposed service 
change is agreed detailed workforce planning, including rota development, will be required as 
part of the implementation process. 

 

11.6 Stroke services 

11.6.1 The proposal for stroke services is to consolidate the hyper-acute and acute stroke services on 
the Lincoln County site from its current configuration of two sites at Lincoln County Hospital and 
Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

11.6.2 The financial impact of this proposed service change is based on:  

• The closure of the 28-bed facility at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston and an increase in the 
Lincoln County Hospital facility from 28 to 35 beds; 

• A significant increase in the Community Stroke Rehab Team of 15.29 wte; 

• A change in skill mix with a greater focus on Advanced Care Practitioners; 

• Capital Investment of £7.5m (assumed to be treasury funded) in the Lincoln County 
Hospital facility to increase the number of beds to 35;  

• A move to get the average length of stay down to 10 days; and 

• A requirement to purchase two extra stroke beds at North West Anglia NHS Foundation 
Trust (NWAFT) and one extra bed at Queen Elizabeth Hospital (Kings Lynn) NHS 
Foundation Trust (QEH). 

11.6.3 The consolidation of the hyper-acute and acute stroke facilities results in the potential 
displacement of up to 261 spells of stroke activity out of Lincolnshire. Of the 261 spells of 
activity which could leave the county the consolidated Stroke service at Lincoln County Hospital 
would have the capacity to deal with all but 121 (86 to North West Anglia NHS Foundation 
Trust and 35 to Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust). If this movement of spells 
occurred, it would result in additional capacity being required at both Trusts. The estimated 
capacity would be two additional beds at NWAFT and one additional bed at QEH. The patient 
flow analysis is set out in detail in the Stroke Services chapter. 

 

 

 

Cost Category 
Current Establishment Future Establishment Difference 

WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k WTE Cost £k 

Medical Staffing 23.15 3,109 27.00 3,396 3.85 -287 

-  General 10.00 1,568 11.00 1,355 1.00 213 

-  Cardiology 1.00 95 0.0 0 -1.00 95 

-  Gastroenterology 2.00 142 0.0 0 -2.00 142 

-  CoE 7.00  812 8.00 861 1.00 -49 

-  Respiratory 3.15 492 8.00 1,180 4.85 -688 

Nursing 75.02 3,701 94.00 3,549 18.98 152 

Administration 13.17 346 19.26 466 6.09 -120 

Non-
Pay/Recharges 

- 1,464 -  1,464  - - 

Totals 111.34 8,620 140.26 8,875 28.92 -255 

Page 300



 

 167 

11.6.4 The £7.5m of capital necessary to reconfigure stroke services will be found from within capital 
allocations over the next two years. Whilst the stroke reconfiguration is a priority a confirmed 
list of capital schemes over the next three years is still to be signed off by the system. Currently 
the values attributable to the list of proposed schemes exceeds the capital resource available. 
A process of prioritisation undertaken by the Lincolnshire Infrastructure and Investment Group 
will take place throughout the year to determine the schemes that will be progressed in 22/23 – 
24/25 as part of the systems signed off Capital Plan. It is anticipated that the Stroke 
reconfiguration will be included in the list of confirmed schemes. 

11.6.5 The financial impact of the stroke activity leaving the county plus the other proposed service 
changes are reflected in the table below. 

Figure 69 – Stroke service existing service model vs proposed service model 

Cost Category 

Current 
Establishment 

Proposed Service 
Model Difference 

WTE Cost £ WTE Cost £ WTE Cost £ 

Medical Staffing 19.66 1,632 19.66 1,632 0.00 0 

Nursing 85.72 3,471 73.52 3,137 -12.20 333 

AHP's 39.36 1,527 33.67 1,220 -5.69 307 

ACP’s 0.00 0 5.80 447 5.80 -447 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 2,612 - 2,409 - 203 

Acute Sub-Totals 144.74 9,242 132.65 8,845 -12.09 397 

Therapists 45.95 1,608 58.24  2,034 12.29 -426 

Dieticians 0.00 0 1.00 47 1.00 -47 

Psychologists 0.00 0 1.00 56 1.00 -56 

Assistant Psychologists 0.00 0 1.00 30 1.00 -30 

Non-Pay/Recharges - 812 - 919 - -107 

Community Sub-Totals 45.95 2,420 61.24 3,086 15.29 -666 

NWAFT/QEH Capacity - - - 758 - -758 

Cost of Capital (Revenue) - - - 530  -530 

Total Cost 190.69 11,662 193.89 13,219 3.20 -1,557 

 

11.6.6 The working groups considering the public feedback did not identify any requirement to adjust 
the proposed clinical model workforce. However it was identified that if the proposed service 
change is agreed detailed workforce planning, including rota development, will be required as 
part of the implementation process. 

11.6.7 Analysis was also conducted by the working groups to compare the modelled destination 
hospital in the PCBC (based on 15-minute preference for Lincoln County Hospital) and the 
actual destination hospital during the temporary change to ULHT’s stroke services 
(consolidation on the Lincoln County Hospital site). 

11.6.8 This demonstrated very close alignment between the modelled activity in the PCBC for the 
overall number of stroke patients going to hospitals outside of Lincolnshire compared to the 
actual numbers during the temporary change. 

 

 

 

 

Page 301



 

 168 

Figure 70 – Comparison of modelled destination hospital in PCBC and actual destination 
hospital during temporary change 

Destination Hospital PCBC modelling 
baseline 
2019/20 

PCBC modelling 
forecast to 

2022/23 

During temporary 
change 
2020/21 

Peterborough City Hospital 86 89 104 

Queen Elizabeth Kings Lynn 35 36 21 

Grimsby Diana Princess of 
Wales 

- - 3 

Scunthorpe General Hospital  - - 1 

Total 121 125 129 

 

11.7 ASR financial summary  

11.7.1 The previous sections outlined the financial Impact of the four proposed service changes under 
the scope of the ASR once all proposed service changes are implemented. The overall 
financial impact across the four proposed service changes following completion of full 
implementation will be c.£1.9m.  

11.7.2 One of the four service change proposals, stroke services, requires capital funding to enable its 
implementation. The current cost estimate of the estates solution that is the preferred way 
forward at this stage is £7.5m. The revenue consequences of this are included in the overall 
financial impact. 

11.7.3 In addition to the financial impact attributable to the four service change proposals a 
contingency of £1m has been set aside to cover the cost of additional Emergency Ambulance 
journeys and Patient Transport Services (PTS). This will help reduce the impact on patients 
who may be required to travel to different ULHT sites for their services. Current estimates of 
the aforementioned costs are £349.5k for Emergency Ambulance services and £277.6k for 
PTS (Total cost estimate £627.1k). A breakdown of the financial impact summary by service is 
set out below. 

Figure 71 – Financial impact of ASR following full impact of service changes 

Service Cost of Current 
Service £k 

Cost of Proposed 
Service £k 

Difference 
£k 

Orthopaedics 32,358 28,320 4,038 

A&E/UTC 4,540 3,878 662 

Acute Medical Beds (Inc Ambulatory Care) 8,620 8,875 -255 

Stroke Pathway 11,662 13,219 -1,557 

Financial Impact of Service Change 57,180 54,292 2,888 

Contingency for additional Patient 
Transport 

- 1,000 -1,000 

Overall ASR Financial Impact 57,180 55,292 1,888 

 

Figure 72 – Breakdown of future savings by category 

Service Impact due to 
WTE/Skill Mix 
Movement £k 

Impact due to 
Interim/Agency 
saving £k 

Impact due to 
Non-Pay £k 

Total Impact £k 

UTC/A&E -20 596 86 662 

Acute Medicine -386 131 0 -255 

Stroke -365 0 -1,192 -1,557 

Total -771 727 -1,106 -1,150 

 

 

Page 302



 

 169 

11.7.4 In the case of orthopaedics, the savings identified are reflected in the 2022/23 position as the 
service changes have already been made as part of the Orthopaedics Pilot. As the three 
remaining services under scope have not yet commenced their service change the financial 
impact attributable to these changes won’t start to be realised until the latter half of 2022/23.  

11.7.5 The Lincolnshire System recognises the importance of progressing the agreed changes 
identified as part of the Acute Services Review. The revenue consequences resulting from the 
proposed changes in the four service areas have been communicated clearly to finance and 
planning leads within Lincolnshire’s four constituent organisations. 

11.7.6 In some circumstances these costs are already being incurred where there was a pre-22/23 
component. In examples where the cost will be incurred from 22/23 onwards the organisational 
impact is already being reflected in 22/23 financial baseline calculations and will be provided for 
from within the financial allocations the Lincolnshire System has received as part of the 22/23 
resource allocation. This is in accordance with the investment principles Lincolnshire ICS 
applies to all its service transformation priorities. 

 

11.8 Financial Projections 2022/23 – 2025/26 

11.8.1 The changes within the four proposed service changes will not be immediate. If the changes 
are agreed, due to implementation timeframes, it is unlikely that any changes will take place 
until the latter half of 2022/23 at the earliest. The only exception to this is orthopaedics. The 
following table compares the cost of each service to its pre-change position.   

Figure 73 – Profiled financial impact of service changes 

Service 
Cost Pre 

ASR 
Change £k 

Estimated 
22/23  

Cost £k 

Difference 
£k 

Estimated 
23/24 

Cost £k 

Difference 
£k 

Estimated 
24/25 

Cost £k 

Difference 
£k 

Estimated 
25/26 

Cost £k 

Difference 
£k 

 - Orthopaedics 32,358 28,320 4,038 28,320 4,038 28,320 4,038  28,320 4,038  

 - A&E/UTC 4,540 4,540 0 3,878 662 3,878 662  3,878 662  

 - Acute Medical 
Beds 

8,620 8,620 0 8,875 -255 8,875 -255  8,875 -255  

 - Stroke Pathway 11,662 11,729 -67 11,797 -135  13,219 -1,557  13,219 -1,557  

 - Patient Transport 
Contingency 

0 500 -500 1,000 -1,000 1,000 -1,000  1,000 -1,000  

Totals 57,180 53,709 3,471 53,870 3,311 55,292 1,888 55,292 1,888 

 
 

11.8.2 The 2022/23 financial impacts are as follows: 

• 0% of the Cost of Capital - Stroke 

• 0% of the Out of County impact for Stroke  

• 25% of all Stroke Service Changes costs - £0.07m 

• 100% savings impact from the Orthopaedic Service Changes - £4.04m 

• 50% of the Patient Transport Contingency cost - £0.5m 

• 0% of all Acute Medical Bed Service Changes costs  

• 0% of all A&E/UTC Service Changes savings  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 303



 

 170 

11.8.3 The 2023/24 financial impacts are as follows:  

• 0% of the Cost of Capital - Stroke 

• 0% of the Out of County impact for Stroke  

• 50% of all Stroke Service Changes costs - £0.13m 

• 100% savings impact from the Orthopaedic Service Changes - £4.04m 

• 100% of the Patient Transport Contingency cost - £1.0m 

• 100% of all Acute Medical Bed Service Changes costs - £0.26m 

• 100% of all A&E/UTC Service Changes savings - £0.67m 

11.8.4 The 2024/25 financial impacts are as follows: 

• 100% of all Stroke Service Changes costs £1.6m 

• 100% savings impact from the Orthopaedic Service Changes - £4.04m 

• 100% of the Patient Transport Contingency cost - £1.0m 

• 100% of all Acute Medical Bed Service Changes costs - £0.26m 

100% of all A&E/UTC Service Changes savings - £0.67m 

11.8.5 The 2025/26 financial impacts are as follows:  

• 100% of all Stroke Service Changes costs £1.6m 

• 100% savings impact from the Orthopaedic Service Changes - £4.04m 

• 100% of the Patient Transport Contingency cost - £1.0m 

• 100% of all Acute Medical Bed Service Changes costs - £0.26m 

• 100% of all A&E/UTC Service Changes savings - £0.67m 

 

11.9 Financial risks 

11.9.1 There are three financial risks presented within the financial case which warrant further 
explanation. The first relates to the potential savings identified as part of the service changes in 
Acute Medicine and A&E/UTC at Grantham and District Hospital. With respect to both these 
services there is an amount attributable to the replacement of interim/agency staff with 
substantive staff (£131k in Acute Medicine and £596k in A&E/UTC). United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust has a long established over-reliance on interim/agency staff for which is 
has become dependent to operate services. Whilst concerns exist that the reliance on 
interim/agency staff will continue post the service changes it is important to point out that the 
management of both Acute Medicine and A&E/UTC will include a role for a community services 
provider as part of the proposed service changes. We would expect that this change will help 
break the reliance on interim/agency staff. 

11.9.2 In recognition of this risk the table below sets out the impact of the sensitivity analysis 
performed on the potential savings associated with the replacement of interim/agency staff. 
Three scenarios have been included to demonstrate the impact both on the individual services 
and the overall ASR saving. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 304



 

 171 

Figure 74 – Interim/Agency savings sensitivity analysis 

Service 
Identified 

Savings £k 
75% Saving 

Delivery 
50% Saving 

Delivery 
25% Saving 

Delivery 

A&E/UTC 596 447 298 149 

Acute Medicine 131 98.25 65.5 32.75 

Total 727 545.25 363.5 181.75 

          

Revised Total ASR 
Savings 1,888 1,706 1,525 1,343 

 

11.9.3 The second risk relates to the theatre productivity gains in orthopaedics. Included within the 
Orthopaedics savings is a number (£2,513k) associated with the reduction in overhead 
recharges attributable to orthopaedics. This results from efficiency improvements in theatre 
utilisation which allows the orthopaedics service to relinquish two theatres. The improved 
theatre productivity enables the orthopaedic service to repatriate activity currently delivered by 
the Independent Sector or other NHS providers. Assuming this is achieved additional income 
will flow into the Lincolnshire health system and contribute to fixed costs. 

11.9.4 In 2019/20 Lincolnshire CCG commissioned £13.6m of Orthopaedic activity from the 
Independent Sector. Of this £4.3m related to Day Case activity and £9.2m related to Inpatient. 
Of these values £2.3m of Day Case activity and £6.8m of Inpatient activity was leaving to 
Independent Sector providers outside of Lincolnshire. This activity cohort was identified as the 
1st cohort to be repatriated under the systems elective activity repatriation plan, the 2nd cohort 
to be addressed was those patients attending an Independent Sector provider in a 
neighbouring healthcare system, with the final cohort being those patients attending an 
Independent Sector provider within Lincolnshire. Due to the required NHS response to the 
COVID pandemic and the resulting impact on elective waiting times the plan to repatriate 
activity back to ULHT from the Independent Sector needs to be refreshed and new timeframes 
implemented to address the respective prioritised activity cohorts highlighted above.  

11.9.5 The third risk relates to the cost of capital projects. Due to the significant rise in inflation the 
cost of capital projects are exceeding previous estimates. At the PCBC stage the cost of the 
stroke capital project was estimated at £7.5m. Assuming an 8% increase in the costs of the 
project would see a rise of £0.6m to £8.1m. This is currently an estimate and as the costs of the 
stroke capital project have not yet been revisited these estimated costs increases cannot be 
confirmed. Due to the uncertainty around the cost rises and the immateriality with regards to 
the revenue consequences mean that the overall impact of the ASR changes have not been 
adjusted as a result of this identified risk. 

 

 

Page 305



 

 172 

12 Workforce 

 

12.1 Introduction 

12.1.1 Making services more attractive so they can recruit and retain great staff dedicated to high 
quality care is one of three key interdependent aims for all the change proposals set out in this 
Decision Making Business Case.  

12.1.2 These three aims and how they relate is set out in the diagram below. 

Figure 75 – Key aims of change proposals  

 

 

 

12.1.3 As set out in the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) and detailed through the 
consideration of the feedback received through the public consultation by the working groups 
(Chapter 5 of this DMBC and Appendix F), workforce is a key focus of all four of the change 
proposals. 

12.1.4 An overview of the key workforce considerations relating to the four proposed clinical models, if 
they are agreed, is set out below.  

 

12.2 Retention 

12.2.1 Retention initiatives and reviews of workforce pressures will be considered across whole 
pathways in all four areas to ensure that specific actions (e.g. recruitment and retention plans, 
employee experience in all care settings) are undertaken in a coordinated manner to avoid 
damaging recruitment and retention in differing settings or parts of the pathways. This is 
particularly important for the urgent and emergency care, acute medicine and stroke proposals 
given the increased integration they bring across organisational boundaries. 

12.2.2 Development of relevant apprenticeship posts, rotations, new roles for internal development 
(e.g. Advanced Care Practitioners) will provide a greater opportunity for staff to develop and 
maintain skills across pathways which will also support staff retention in all four service areas. 

12.2.3 Prior to formal organisational change processes, a series of communication briefings and 
engagement workshops will be held to ensure all relevant staff are well sighted on the details of 
the future state plans and service specifications. This is aimed at supporting staff in 
understanding how the future of the four services will work and to mitigate turnover.  

 

 

 

Page 306



 

 173 

 

12.3 Rotations 

12.3.1 As part of the implementation of the four service change proposals, it is recognised that to 
achieve the best outcomes for patients services will need to work differently across the 
pathway. 

12.3.2 A key feature of this will be more collaborative working as part of developing ‘one workforce’ in 
each of the four service areas. The impact of this for doctors, nurses and therapists will be the 
ability to bolster and further develop service specific competencies to support patients. One of 
the routes for this will be inter organisational rotations across the pathway for all professions.  

12.3.3 Rotations already happen in certain areas in the Lincolnshire health system to support the 
various professions achieve the right skill set, for example in musculoskeletal (MSK) medicine.  

12.3.4 The proposals for rotation would include all professions involved in delivering the four services 
where there would be an identified benefit for patients and staff to develop a rotation across the 
pathway.  

12.3.5 The key benefits would include:  

• Development and maintenance of service specific competencies  

• Maintaining and improving staff retention  

• Attracting and recruiting staff into Lincolnshire 

• Providing increased consistency of practice and patient experience. 

 

12.4 Role consistency and standardisation 

12.4.1 Roles will be developed across the pathways to provide a consistent and standardised 
approach where appropriate and with the principle of avoiding unwarranted variation. This will 
enable a greater level of flexibility and support staff retention.  

12.4.2 The approach to staffing will be to meet the appropriate standards as set out in the relevant 
guidance documentation relating to the services. Staff deployed to support the services will be 
determined in line with national standards and associated aligned staffing requirements (i.e. 
‘Safe Staffing levels’).  

12.4.3 Where appropriate consideration will be given to the standardisation of Terms and Conditions 
across employing organisations under national terms and conditions or alignment against these 
where employers are non-NHS.  

12.4.4 Organisationally specific policies will however remain relevant to the organisations in which 
individuals are employed. 

 

12.5 Clinical and management governance 

12.5.1 Professions will be led by the clinically appropriate lead responsible within each of the services. 
Clinical leads for the service will oversee the patient pathways with clinical governance covered 
for the respective organisation in which the patient is treated.  

12.5.2 Overall performance of the four service will be monitored through measures and metrics 
including nationally recognised audits (such as the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
(SSNAP)).  This will identify if particular aspects of the pathway are giving cause for concern 
and can be escalated appropriately. 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



 

 174 

12.6 Workforce implementation 

12.6.1 If the service change proposals are agreed, a key part of the implementation will be to develop 
the detailed staffing models and rota arrangements for the change proposals, building on the 
workforce models developed for the Pre Consultation Business Case. 

12.6.2 Another key element of the implementation will be a series of engagement workshops held to 
support the socialisation of the service changes. These will provide opportunities for staff who 
have not had direct involvement in the work to better understand the future service delivery. 
Where required, formal organisational change processes will be put in place. 

Page 308



 

 175 

13 Digital 

 

13.1 Overview 

13.1.1 Lincolnshire has the vision for an integrated health and care system that has all the data and 
information it needs, delivered in an accessible and timely way, to enable it to support health 
and care services to achieve the best possible outcomes for the population of Lincolnshire. 

13.1.2 People use digital technology to access services every day, and the health and care system 
needs to support and enable the population to access health and care services this way too.  
Digital tools can support people to have more choice and control over the way care is planned 
and delivered.  It can enable people to access and contribute to their own care record, be cared 
for safely at home for longer and reduce unnecessary travel for face to face appointments. 

13.1.3 To care for the local population a digitally enabled workforce is required, with the right tools so 
they can work flexibly, reducing the burden of bureaucracy. The power of the data already held 
needs to be harnessed to not only support direct care, but also plan for the future by supporting 
a better understand of the local population and its health and care needs; shifting the emphasis 
from treatment to prevention. 

 

13.2 Future state 

13.2.1 The role of digital will be a key factor in facilitating the benefits of the change proposals set out 
in this document, including supporting the further integration of care.  The table below provides 
an overview of how it can support each of the four areas. 

Figure 76 – Digital support to change proposals  

Service Change Proposal Digital enablers 

Orthopaedics (elective and non-
elective) 

• Smart forms for pre-appointment and pre-op 
questionnaires to reduce requirement to attend hospitals 
ahead of surgery/procedures at Grantham and District 
Hospital. 

• Support eConsultations and video consultations between 
hospital sites and between specialists and the patients’ 
home for follow-up care e.g. patient can attend their 
nearest hospital and the consultant can be in a different 
hospital.  

• Smart form algorithms to enable long term remote 
monitoring thus reducing the need to attend hospital. 

• Virtual fracture clinics and telemedicine to support access. 
e Trauma and Virtual clinics to reduce the patient travel. 

• Video calls to enable patients staying in hospital to talk to 
friends and family 

Urgent & Emergency Care • Use e Trauma software to support Grantham UTC obtain 
Trauma and Orthopaedic expertise, advice and guidance 
from Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

• Support identification of undiagnosed disorders earlier 
thereby reducing demand for urgent and emergency care 
at Grantham and District Hospital. 

• Actively identify and manage the population using risk 
stratification and proactive management to reduce 
exacerbations and the need for urgent and emergency 
care at Grantham and District Hospital. 

• The roll out of ‘111 First’ to support a reduction in 
A&E/UTC attendances 

Page 309



 

 176 

Acute Medicine • Digital/video link between Grantham and District Hospital 
and Lincoln Hospital to provide remote on-call cover. 

• Notification function to Neighbourhood teams to flag when 
patients are admitted/discharged or have had an 
emergency admission to Grantham and District Hospital to 
provide integrated acute/community care pathway. 

• Virtual Wards to support early and safe discharge (step 
down) for with enhanced remote monitoring on the virtual 
ward (supervised from secondary care/community 
providers) with daily calls and hospital treatments for 
patients. 

• Video calls to enable patients staying in hospital to talk to 
friends and family 

Stroke Services • Support identification and management of those at risk of 
having a stroke. 

• Support self-management of those at risk of having a 
stroke and those who have had one including providing 
training, skills and confidence in technology that can 
support these patients – including the Lincolnshire Stroke 
YouTube Channel 

• Support eConsultations and video consultations between 
Lincoln County Hospital and other hospital sites and 
between specialists and the patients home for follow-up 
care e.g. patient can attend their nearest hospital and the 
consultant can be in a different hospital. 

• Enabled (hospital) WebV access for Social Care 
colleagues 

• Support a shared care record accessible by health (acute 
and community) and social care to optimise rehabilitation 
provide by the enhanced community team. 

• Video calls to enable patients staying in hospital to talk to 
friends and family 

• Work with regional Integrated Stroke Delivery Network to 
explore and move forward on plans for a telemedicine 
service within Lincolnshire 

• Mobile Stroke Unit (MSU) for Lincolnshire to be explored 
further 

 

13.2.2 Several of these initiatives address directly the concerns raised through the public consultation. 
For example, concerns relating to access to pre and post-operative clinics and those relating to 
friends and family access for people admitted to hospital. 

13.2.3 The last 12 months has seen rapid uptake and adoption of digital technologies across the 
health and care system as ways of working changed in response to the pandemic. The 
identified initiatives act as important enablers for the proposed future care models and will form 
a key element of quality of care and equity of access for people across Lincolnshire. 

Page 310



 

 177 

14 Governance and decision-making, and recommendations 
to the CCG Board 

14.1 Overview 

14.1.1 The Lincolnshire Integrated Care System (ICS), comprised of commissioning organisations and 
health and social care delivery partners, has provided the overarching governance and 
programme structure to the consideration of the public consultation feedback and development 
of the Decision Making Business Case (DMBC). 

14.1.2 However, it is fully understood and acknowledged by ICS partners that it is the NHS 
Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) that is legally responsible for making any 
decisions on service change following the public consultation, through the DMBC. 

14.1.3 This is set out in the diagram below. 

Figure 77 – Overview of governance and decision making 

 

 

14.2 Timeline 

14.2.1 To enable this and facilitate the governance and assurance process, the programme has 
involved stakeholders from across the Lincolnshire health and care system to provide input and 
advice to the decision making process.  

14.2.2 An overview of the governance and decision making timeline is set out in the table below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 311



 

 178 

Figure 78 – Overview of governance and decision making timeline 

Date Activity / Meeting Meeting Purpose 

23 Dec 2021 Consultation finished  

25 Feb 2022 
First draft of independent 
consultation report 

 

07 Mar 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and consideration 

21 Mar 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and consideration 

30 March 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board - 
Closed 

Receive independent consultation report (from ORS) and role 
of the CCG Board 
Receive update from the Consultation Institute (as part of 
assurance support put in place by NHS Lincolnshire CCG prior 
to commencing public consultation 

04 April 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and evaluation 

07 April 2022 NHS Lincolnshire CCG Exec Consider of Travel and Transport Report 

13 April 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board - 
Closed 

Discuss DMBC approach and timeline 
Discuss Travel and Transport Report 
Discuss draft Board agenda for May 

19 April 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and evaluation 

21 April 2022 NHS Lincolnshire CCG Exec Discuss approach to decision making 

21 April 2022 
Joint meeting of ICS Clinical 
Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Committee 

Urgent and Emergency Care & Acute Medicine 

Review of Clinical Senate recommendations, QIAs, EIAs and 
working group considerations of consultation feedback by ICS 
Clinical and Care Directorate & NHS Lincolnshire CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub-Group  

25 April 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and evaluation 

27 April 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board - 
Closed 

Discuss progress on responding to consultation feedback 
Discuss Board approach to decision making  
Update on outcome of clinical assessment of UEC and Stroke 
proposals 
Provide update on development of transport response to 
consultation feedback 
Highlight key information that will be circulated to board 
members to revie ahead of receiving DMBC 

28 April 2022 
Joint meeting of ICS Clinical 
Directorate and CCG Clinical 
Policies Sub Committee 

Orthopaedics and Stroke 

Review of Clinical Senate recommendations, EIAs and working 
group considerations of consultation feedback by ICS Clinical 
and Care Directorate & NHS Lincolnshire CCG Clinical Policies 
Sub-Group and CCG  

03 May 2022 LCH Executive Consider provider statements of support 

05 May 2022 NHS Lincolnshire CCG Exec Consider patient and public support criterion 

06 May 2022 System Finance Committee Review financial impact of proposals  

09 May 2022 Consultation Steering Group Oversight of consultation feedback, analysis and evaluation 

10 May 2022 LCHS Board - Private Consider provider statements of support 

11 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board - 
Closed 

Consider agenda structure to decision making Board meeting 

12 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Clinical 
Leads 

Consider clinical commissioner support criterion 

12 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Quality 
and Patient Experience 
Committee 

Consider and review conclusions of joint meetings of ICS 
Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical Policies Sun Committee 

12/13 May 2022 ULHT Executive/Board (private) Consider provider statements of support 

12 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG 
Executive 

Consider deliverability, patient choice and bed closure criterion   

19 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG 
Executive 

Formation of DMBC recommendations to go to NHS 
Lincolnshire CCG Board for decision   

25 May 2022 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board - 
Open 

DMBC for consideration and decision 

 

Page 312



 

 179 

15 Recommendations to the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board 

 

15.1 Overview 

15.1.1 This document asks the Board of the NHS Lincolnshire CCG as the Consulting Authority for the 
four NHS service changes relating to orthopaedics, urgent and emergency care, acute 
medicine and stroke to approve key changes to the configuration of commissioned services. 

15.1.2 These proposals have the full support of local senior clinicians and health providers across 
Lincolnshire. 

 

15.2 Recommendation 1: Orthopaedics 

15.2.1 Consolidate planned orthopaedic surgery at Grantham and District Hospital, to establish a 
‘centre of excellence’ in Lincolnshire, and establish a dedicated day-case centre at County 
Hospital Louth for planned orthopaedic surgery. This reflects the orthopaedics pilot 
arrangements. 

• Outpatients clinics would be unaffected. 

• This would mean Grantham and District Hospital would not provide unplanned 
orthopaedic surgery. 

• Lincoln County Hospital and Pilgrim Hospital, Boston would continue to provide 
unplanned orthopaedic surgery, and some planned orthopaedic surgery for high risk 
patients with multiple health problems, which is comparatively small in volume. 

 

15.3 Recommendation 2: Urgent and emergency care 

15.3.1 Establish a 24/7 walk-in Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) at Grantham and District Hospital. 

• This would be in place of the current Accident & Emergency (A&E) department. 

 

15.4 Recommendation 3: Acute medicine 

15.4.1 Establish integrated community/acute medical beds at Grantham and District Hospital, in place 
of the current acute medical beds. 

• This is in place of the current acute medicine beds. 

 

15.5 Recommendation 4: Stroke services 

15.5.1 Establish a ‘centre of excellence’ for hyper-acute and acute stroke services at the Lincoln 
County Hospital site. This would be supported by increasing the capacity and capability of the 
community stoke rehabilitation service. 

• This would mean hyper-acute stroke services would be consolidated at Lincoln County 
Hospital and no longer be provided from Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

• Transient ischaemic attack (TIA) clinics would be unaffected at Pilgrim Hospital, Boston. 

 

Page 313



 

 180 

16 Implementation  

 

16.1 Implementation governance 

16.1.1 If the NHS Lincolnshire CCG Board approves the proposals, services will be commissioned 
through standard commissioning processes. 

16.1.2 In this context CCGs are currently required to comply with two sets of regulations when 
awarding contracts for healthcare services: 

• The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (“PCR”); and 

• The NHS (Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition) (No.2) Regulations 2013 
(“NHS Procurement Regulations”) 

16.1.3 However, in 2022, in the context of awarding contracts for healthcare services, it is expected 
that the PCR and NHS Procurement Regulations will be replaced by the “Provider Selection 
Regime”. The consultation on this is now closed but it is not expected that the regulations will 
be in force until at least October. 

16.1.4 It is also recognised that the intent is for CCGs to be dissolved and replaced by an Integrated 
Care Board (ICB). Guidance from NHS England and Improvement issued in March 2022 sets 
out that the CCG should be ensuring that ICB designates are involved and consulted on 
commissioning decisions for healthcare services and contracting decisions for non-healthcare 
services from the date of this publication up to the point of transfer.  

16.1.5 Both the PCR and NHS Procurement Regulations require CCGs to be transparent, treat 
providers equally and in a non-discriminatory manner and to act proportionately. If the decision 
is made to proceed with the proposals the relevant commissioning body will act in accordance 
with these existing regulations and any future regulations that may be brought in to replace 
them. 

16.1.6 The implementation of the proposals for change will be provider led and delivered via a 
collaboration between NHS providers and where relevant Lincolnshire County Council and the 
voluntary sector. 

16.1.7 If the recommendations set out in this document are approved, as the system moves from 
planning to implementation it is proposed a new system-wide co-ordination group is set up, the 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). As part of its establishment its relationship with existing 
Integrated Care System, commissioner and provider governance arrangements as well as 
wider stakeholders such as the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire would be confirmed. 

16.1.8 It is anticipated that the Implementation Oversight Group (IOG) would comprise a core 
membership of senior clinicians and officers from across the health and care system 
commissioners and providers as well as service users. As required by the matters under 
consideration, relevant service implementation group leads will be invited to attend the IOG to 
discuss progress. 

16.1.9 It is proposed there would be a dedicated implementation group for each of the four service 
change proposals that would ensure the project is delivered and embedded, reporting into the 
Implementation Oversight Group. These implementation groups will: 

• Meet often (at least monthly) to provide direction and ensure effective co-ordination, 
resolve issues an manage risks 

• Involve members of the whole health system such as acute trusts, community trusts, 
local GPs, commissioners and wider partners such as Lincolnshire County Council and 
the voluntary sector as required. 

• Appoint a Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the project  

• Agree and monitor performance metrics to track and manage progress against key 
metrics  

• Align any other key programmes in place both within individual organisations but also the 
wider health and care system   

Page 314



 

 181 

 

16.1.10 It is anticipated that reporting into the implementation group for each of the four service change 
proposals would be clinical and non-clinical workstreams. 

16.1.11 The clinical work streams would focus on areas such as: 

• Agreeing pathways for patients  

• Ensuring function of other aspects of ASR fit into the medical bed model, along with 
SDEC and frailty units and other system health / social care provision.  

• Defining how service changes will be made, for example will there be double running / 
when will services start. 

• Approach to management structures, workforce issues , governance including policies 
and protocols 

• Approach to management of the deteriorating patient  

16.1.12 The non-clinical work streams would include: 

• Workforce 

• Estates 

• Equipment 

• Communications and stakeholder management 

• Finance 

16.1.13 The organisations impacted by the changes and NHS Lincolnshire CCG will continue to 
monitor the entirety of the core quality schedule through an established infrastructure in order 
to ensure that there is no unplanned adverse impacts in any areas of care provision. 

16.1.14 An overview of the high level implementation timelines and benefits plans for each of the four 
changes proposals is set out below. 

16.1.15 The starting point for these high level plans is from agreeing to implement the changes 
following any necessary procurement process in line with regulations as outlined earlier in this 
chapter. 

 

16.2 Orthopaedics 

16.2.1 The proposed changes to orthopaedic services have been in place as part of a national pilot 
since August 2018. 

16.2.2 Therefore if the proposed change was approved provisions would need to be made for this pilot 
to become a permanent change. 

16.2.3 Key aspects of this would be the need to review internal governance around the programme 
and any necessary HR facets, such as staff consultation. 

16.2.4 However, given the proposed service changes are currently being delivered through the pilot 
arrangements it is anticipated these shouldn’t be a protracted timeframe. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



 

 182 

 

16.2.5 The initial benefits plan for orthopaedics change proposal is set out below, if the proposed 
change is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

16.2.6 The metrics would be included in a benefit log and then measured throughout the 
implementation stage of the project and post implementation to inform an evaluation report. 

Figure 79 – Orthopaedics: Initial benefits plan 

 

 

16.3 Urgent and emergency care 

16.3.1 The high level implementation plan for the urgent and emergency care change proposal is set 
out below. If the proposed change is agreed this would be developed further through 
implementation. 

Figure 80 – Urgent and emergency care: High level implementation plan 

 

Page 316



 

 183 

16.3.2 The initial benefits plan for orthopaedics change proposal is set out below, if the proposed 
change is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

16.3.3 The metrics would be included in a benefit log and then measured throughout the 
implementation stage of the project and post implementation to inform an evaluation report. 

Figure 81 – Urgent and emergency care: Initial benefits plan 

 
 

16.4 Acute medicine 

16.4.1 The high level implementation plan for the acute medicine change proposal is set out below. If 
the proposed change is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

Figure 82 – Acute medicine: High level implementation plan 

 

 

16.4.2 The initial benefits plan for orthopaedics change proposal is set out below, if the proposed 
change is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

16.4.3 The metrics would be included in a benefit log and then measured throughout the 
implementation stage of the project and post implementation to inform an evaluation report. 

Page 317



 

 184 

Figure 83 – Acute medicine: Initial benefits plan 

 
 

16.5 Stroke 

16.5.1 The high level implementation plan for the stroke service change proposal is set out below. If 
the change proposal is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

Page 318



 

 185 

Figure 84 – Stroke: High level implementation plan 

 
 

16.5.2 The initial benefits plan for orthopaedics change proposal is set out below, if the proposed 
change is agreed this would be developed further through implementation. 

16.5.3 The metrics would be included in a benefit log and then measured throughout the 
implementation stage of the project and post implementation to inform an evaluation report. 

Figure 85 – Stroke: High level benefits plan 

 
 

Page 319



 

 186 

16.6 Implementation risks 

16.6.1 Building on the work completed for the Pre Consultation Business Case and developed further 
through the provider statements of support a number of key implementations risks have been 
identified. These are set out in the table below. 

Figure 86 – Key implementation risks 

Service area Risk Mitigation 

Orthopaedics 

Patient’s willingness to 
travel to Grantham and 
Louth for surgery 

Through the pilot this has not proved to be an issue 

Recruitment and retention 
of staff 

Has already improved since the commencement of the 
orthopaedic pilot, which has demonstrated positive 
benefits in relation to establishing a sustainable 
orthopaedic workforce 

It is anticipated that if the proposed model of care is made 
permanent this will be a model that would allow for staff 
development and will improve recruitment and retention 

More pressure on the 
emergency orthopaedic 
theatre list at Lincoln and 
Boston hospitals 

As demonstrated through the pilot, this can be offset and 
more theatre time freed up by the elective orthopaedic 
care going to Grantham and District Hospital and County 
Hospital Louth. 

Urgent and 
Emergency 
Care 

Ability to recruit staff 
Service stability and certainty along with general 
improvements in nursing and medical will mitigate the risk 

The workforce not being 
trained and hold the 
competencies in specific 
areas required in the UTC 

This would need to be addressed by the new provider. 
The majority of staff working in the UTC would be 
required to have individualised training and development 
plans to support their confidence and competence in the 
care of minor injuries and illness. However, it could be 
expected that some of the current Emergency care staff 
already employed in the Grantham department transfer 
over to the UTC, along with their skills 

Public understanding of the 
changes – they may not 
attend the correct location 
for treatment or care 
initially 

The provider would need to ensure that they complete a 
comprehensive communication plan and ensure that local 
residents are fully aware of the conditions that can be 
managed at the proposed 24/7 UTC. 
This communication plan would be developed in line with 
the national requirement of the ‘NHS 111 First’ initiative 

Acute 
Medicine 

The lower acuity ward 
cannot be staffed 

Recruitment plan put in place and having certainty for the 
site will support this new community bed function 

The associated units that 
are part of the overall 
Grantham offer such as the 
Frailty assessment unit and 
the SDEC are not in place, 
weakening the delivery 
aims 

The SDEC model at Grantham was delivered during the 
Green site as it was across all sites. 

Frailty services have also been successfully able to 
deliver their units so Grantham’s risk needs to be seen in 
the context of these successes as a service as a whole. 

Staff leave Grantham as a 
result of all the changes 
made  

Certainty of the ASR should see an increased ability to 
recruit staff when they see a developed plan for 
Grantham that aims to strength the offer for the site.  

Stroke 

Ability to recruit staff 
Service stability and certainty along with general 
improvements in nursing and medical will mitigate the risk 

Securing  funding for the 
proposed extension of the 
stroke unit at Lincoln 
Hospital  

Discussed at system level and included within system 
capital process 

Patient activity rises above 
levels set out in business 
case 

All activities will be monitored and mitigations considered 
as with any service.  
 

Page 320



 

 187 

 

16.6.2 If the change proposals are agreed, an implementation risk log would be established by each 
service change proposal implementation group, which would be overseen by the proposed 
Implementation Oversight Group (IOG). 

16.6.3 In addition to the specific risk identified for each of the change proposals a further risk has been 
identified that is common to all. This is the risk of increasing health inequalities due to patients 
facing challenges in terms of accessing the services. 

16.6.4 In response to this risk three mitigations have been identified:  

• Emergency transport: EMAS have been fully engaged in the ASR and fully expect to 
be able to provide additional resources to mitigate the impact of the proposed care 
models. EMAS have confirmed they are able to accommodate the additional small 
demand on their services. 

• Non-emergency patient transport: Non-emergency patient transport services will 
continue to be offered and provide transport for all eligible patients who have a longer 
distance and journey time to attend for assessment and treatment at hospitals that are 
further away from their home and for discharge from these hospitals. The Lincolnshire 
health system is committed to using any revisions arising from the implementation of the 
national criteria, including any flexibility in those criteria, to the full for the benefit of 
patients in Lincolnshire.  

• Other transport: The NHS in Lincolnshire is committed to working in partnership with all 
partners, particularly Lincolnshire County Council, to support and improve travel and 
transport solutions for health and care services in the widest sense, not just in relation to 
the four proposed services changes.  

▪ If the change proposals are agreed, this ongoing work between the NHS and Local 
Authority will be informed further through the monitoring of the transport impact 
overall, as well as on those groups with protected characteristics, by the service 
change implementation groups. This would include analysis and assessment to 
understand whether the changes are exacerbating inequalities and identifying 
mitigations. 

 

16.7 Neighbouring health systems 

16.7.1 The activity modelling for the Pre Consultation Business Case (PCBC) took into consideration 
the impact of the four change proposals on neighbouring health systems. This identified the 
one that would have the largest impact if implemented is stroke, and the impact would be on 
Peterborough City Hospital. 

16.7.2 Following the temporary changes to Hyper Acute Stroke services at ULHT and the 
consolidation of these services on the Lincoln County Hospital site, the change in the pathway 
has already occurred which has resulted in an additional 108 patients being taken to 
Peterborough Hospital over a 12 month period, which is the equivalent of 2 patients a week. 
This is in line with the modelling carried out for the PCBC. 

16.7.3 The NHS Lincolnshire CCG currently has monthly contract meetings with North West Anglia 
NHS Foundation Trust (NWAFT) to discuss quality and contract issues. When the temporary 
stroke changes were initially put in place NWAFT did identify concern, which led to changes to 
the ambulance protocols being made. Over the past 12 months the Trust have not identified 
any additional issue with the stroke pathway at the contract meetings and have been able to 
receive the additional patients.  

16.7.4 In terms of potential service changes being made in neighbouring systems, the Lincolnshire 
NHS System have meetings with the Humber Acute Services Programme every six weeks to 
discuss the change proposals that are being developed. 

 

 

Page 321



 

 188 

16.7.5 This programme is considering a range of options to reconfigure their services some which will 
impact on surrounding systems but at this stage there are no confirmed proposals in place. 
These meetings will continue to take place and the Lincolnshire NHS will highlight any 
concerns to the Health Scrutiny Committee on the impact that may be felt at ULHT. The four 
proposals made by NHS Lincolnshire CCG do not impact trusts in North Lincolnshire. 

Page 322



 

 189 

17 Conclusion 

17.1.1 This Decision Making Business Case has presented and summarised the extensive work 
undertaken on four NHS services as part of the Lincolnshire Acute Services Review. 

17.1.2 This technical document follows the Pre Consultation Business Case and has described the 
proposals for reconfiguring orthopaedic, urgent and emergency care, acute medicine and 
stroke services across Lincolnshire, to enable decision makers to decide whether there is a 
case to implement the changes to these service areas.  

17.1.3 The Acute Service Review has brought together stakeholders from all backgrounds and 
professions around a shared vision for the future of acute services in Lincolnshire. 

17.1.4 The Acute Service Review has been underpinned by public involvement. If the change 
proposals are agreed further engagement will continue through the implementation phase to 
ensure that the changes to enable the Lincolnshire health service to better meet the needs of 
the local population to deliver improved outcomes and experience of care. 

17.1.5 As set out at the start of this document, the clinical models put forward for each of the four area 
are aligned to the NHS Long Term Plan and centred around the needs of the Lincolnshire 
population. 

17.1.6 Delivering the recommendations put forward in this document will result in real, meaningful 
clinical benefits for the people of Lincolnshire. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



 

 190 

Glossary 

#NOF Fractured Neck of Femur 

A&E Accident and Emergency 

AAC Assessment and Ambulatory Care 

ACP Advanced Clinical Practitioner 

AHP Allied Health Practitioner 

ASR Acute Services Review 

BBC British Broadcasting Corporation 

BM Backlog Maintenance 

BPPC Better Payment Practice Code 

BPT Better Payment Tariff 

CAS Clinical Assessment Service 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CHD Coronary Heart Disease 

CIP Cost Improvement Plans 

CIR Critical Infrastructure Risk 

CNST Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trust 

COIN Community of Interest Network 

COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 

CPD Continuing Professional Development 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

CRL Capital Resource Limit 

CSRR Continuity of Service Risk Ratings 

CT Computer Tomography 

CVD Cardiovascular Disease 

CYPAU Children’s and Young People Assessment Unit 

D&B Design and Build Construction Procurement 

DASR Directly Aged Standardised Rates 

DBB Design Bid Build construction procurement 

DC Day Case 

DD Digital Dictation 

DHSC Procure 22 Department of Health ProCure 22 Framework 

DMBC Decision Making Business Case 

DOS Directory Of Service 

DSN Diabetes Specialist Nurse 

DTOC Delayed Transfer of Care 

DTOC Delayed Treatment of Care 

DWP Department of Work and Pensions 

EAU Emergency Assessment Unit 

ED Emergency Department 

EFL External Financing Limit 

e-HR E-health Record 

EIA Equality Impact Assessment 

EL Elective Care 

EMAS East Midlands Ambulance Service 

Page 324



 

 191 

 

ENT Ear Nose Throat 

ePMA E-prescribing 

ESD Early Supported Discharge 

EU European Referendum 

FEP Financial Efficiency Plan 

FM Facilities Management 

FOI Freedom of Information 

FRR Financial Risk Rating 

FT Foundation Trust 

FTE Full Time Equivalent 

GDH Grantham District Hospital 

GI Gastrointestinal 

GP General Practitioner 

GPFV GP Forward View 

Haem Haematology 

HART Hospital Avoidance Response Team 

HASU Hyper-acute Stroke Unit 

HBN Health Building Note 

HCE Healthcare Educator 

HCSW Health Care Support Worker 

HEE Health Education England 

HEI Higher Education Institutions 

HEY Hull and East Yorkshire 

HM Her Majesty 

HSC Health Scrutiny Committee 

HSE Health and Safety Executive 

I&E Income and Expenditure 

ICS Integrated Care System 

ICU Intensive Care Unit 

IMD Index of Multiple Deprivation 

IMTEG IM&T Enabler Group 

INW Integrated Neighbourhood Working 

IP Internet Protocol 

ISTC Independent Sector Treatment Centre 

IT Information Technology 

IUC Integrated Urgent Care 

IV Intravenous 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

LCB Lincolnshire Co-ordinating Board 

LCH Lincoln County Hospital 

LCHS Lincolnshire Community Health Services NHS Trust 

LDR Local Digital Roadmap 

LHAC Lincolnshire Health and Care 

LMC Lincolnshire Medical Council 

LMS Local Maternity System 

Page 325



 

 192 

 

LNU Local Neonatal Unit 

LoS Length of Stay 

LPFT Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

LSOA Lower Level Super Output Areas 

LTC Long Term Condition 

LWAB Lincolnshire Workforce Advisory Board 

M&E Mechanical and Electrical 

MDT Multi Disciplinary Teams 

MIU Minor Injury Unit 

MLU Midwifery Led Unit 

MP Member of Parliament 

MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging 

MSK Musculoskeletal 

MSP Managing Successful Projects 

NED Non Executive Director 

NEL Non-Elective Care 

NEWS National Early Warning Score 

NHS National Health Service 

NHSE NHS England 

NHSI NHS Improvement 

NHSLA NHS Litigation Authority 

NICE National Institute for Clinical Excellence 

NIV Non Invasive Ventilation 

NLAG North Lincolnshire and Goole 

NT Neighbourhood Team 

OB Outline Business Case 

OBC Outline Business Case 

OMF Oral Maxillofacial 

Onc Oncology 

ONS Office National Statistics 

OP Outpatient 

OPA Outpatient Appointment 

OPD Outpatient Department 

OT Occupational Therapy 

P22 Department of Health ProCure 22 Framework 

PA Programmed Activities 

PALS Patient Advisory Liaison Service 

PAU Paediatric Assessment Unit 

PCBC Pre Consultation Business Case 

PCDU Psychiatric Clinical Decisions Unit 

PDC Public Dividend Capital 

PF2 Private Finance 2 

PFI Private Finance Initiative 

PHB Pilgrim Hospital Boston 

PHE Public Health England 

Page 326



 

 193 

PHOF Public Health Outcomes Framework 

PLACE Patient Led Assessments of the Care Environment 

PMH Perinatal Mental Health 

PMO Programme Management Office 

POD Point of Delivery 

PSA Prostate Specific Antigen 

PT Physiotherapy 

Q&A Question and Answer 

QIPP Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention 

QOF Quality Outcome Framework 

RCHPH Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 

RCN Royal College of Nursing 

RDEL Resource Departmental Expenditure Limit 

RFS Referral Facilitation Service 

RTT Referral to Treatment 

SCBU Special Care Baby Unit 

SET System Executive Team 

SI SystmOne 

SLF Senior Leadership Forum 

SLR Service Line Reporting 

SLT Speech & Language 

SR Speech Recognition 

SRO Senior Responsible Officer 

SSNAP Stroke National Audit Programme 

SSPB Shared Services Partnership Board 

STP Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 

SWIPE 
Strategic Workforce Planning Framework developed by Whole System 
Partnership 

T&O Trauma and Orthopaedics 

TACC Theatres and Critical Care 

U&EC Urgent and Emergency Care 

U/S Ultrasound 

ULHT United Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust 

UTC Urgent Treatment Centre 

VAT Value Added Tax 

VC Video Conferencing 

VDI Virtual Desktop Infrastructure 

WTE Whole Time Equivalent 

 
 

Page 327



 

 

                                                                       Decision Making Business Case - Appendices 

 

Lincolnshire Integrated Care System 

Acute Services Review: 

• Orthopaedics (elective and non-elective) 

• Urgent & Emergency Care 

• Acute Medicine 

• Stroke Services 

     

 

Appendix A   Communication and Consultation Activity Report 

Appendix B   Equality Review of consultation process 

Appendix C NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback Report 

Appendix D Themed detailed consultation feedback 

Appendix E Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire response to public 

consultation 

Appendix F Consideration of public feedback by subject matter expert working 

groups 

Appendix G  Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) 

Appendix H   Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) 

Appendix I  Travel and Transport Report 

Appendix J   Recommendations of East Midlands Clinical Senate 

Appendix K Minutes of joint meeting of the ICS Clinical Directorate and CCG Clinical 

policies Sub-Group 

Appendix L Statements of support from providers 

Appendix M   CCG statement on choice and bed closures 

Page 328



 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham 
Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to 
 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 
 
15 June 2022 
 
Engagement by the NHS in Lincolnshire on Lincolnshire’s Second 
Community Diagnostic Centre 

 

Summary  
 
This report invites the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire to consider a presentation on 
community diagnostic centre in Lincolnshire and invites the Committee to express a preference 
for one of three options for the second diagnostic centre.   
 

 

Actions Required:  
 
(1) To note the presentation on Community Diagnostic Centres in Lincolnshire. 
 
(2) As part of the engagement exercise, to express a preference for the location of the second 

Community Diagnostic Centre in Lincolnshire at one of the following three locations: 
 

(a) a large Community Diagnostic Centre in Lincoln; 
(b) a large Community Diagnostic Centre at Louth County Hospital as a hub, with spokes 

located at Skegness and Mablethorpe; or 
(c) a Community Diagnostic Centre in Boston as a hub, with spokes at Skegness, 

Mablethorpe and possibly Spalding.  
 
(3) To note that, depending on the availability of central NHS funding, plans for further 

Community Diagnostic Centres may be developed in Lincolnshire. 
  

 

Page 329

Agenda Item 8



1. Background  
 
The Committee is invited to consider a presentation on Community Diagnostic Centres 
from the following colleagues in the Lincolnshire NHS: 
 

• Sarah Brinkworth, System Planned Care Programme Lead, NHS Lincolnshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group  

• Simon Evans, Chief Operating Officer, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

• Clair Raybould, Director of Operations, NHS Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

• Claire Lloyd, Clinical Transformation Lead, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS 
Trust and Project Lead for Community Diagnostic Centres 

 
A copy of the presentation is attached to this report at Appendix A. 
 

2. Consultation 
 

This is not a formal consultation, but is an engagement exercise in which the 
Committee is being asked to express a view on the location of the second Community 
Diagnostic Centre in Lincolnshire. 

 
3. Conclusion 
 

The Committee is invited to consider the information presented and to express a view 
on the location of the second Community Diagnostic Centre in Lincolnshire, at one of 
the following three locations: 
 
(a) a large Community Diagnostic Centre in Lincoln; 
(b) a large Community Diagnostic Centre at Louth County Hospital as a hub, with 

spokes located at Skegness and Mablethorpe; or 
(c) a Community Diagnostic Centre in Boston as a hub, with spokes at Skegness, 

Mablethorpe and possibly Spalding.  
 
Depending on the availability of central NHS funding, plans for further Community 
Diagnostic Centres may be developed in Lincolnshire.    
 

4. Appendices 
 
 These are listed below and attached to this report. 
  

Appendix A Presentation on Community Diagnostic Centres in Lincolnshire 

 
6. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 

Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 553607 or simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Page 330

mailto:simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Community Diagnostic Centres

Health Scrutiny Committee

15.06.22

P
age 331



Agenda

• Background

• What is a CDC?

• Work done to date

• What’s next?

• Engagement

P
age 332



Background

• Professor Sir Mike Richards’ conducted an independent review of NHS
diagnostic services in October 2020, Diagnostics: Recovery and
Renewal.

• There were several recommendations of this report including
separating acute and elective diagnostics and increasing the amount of
imaging equipment.

• One of the key recommendations of the report was for the rapid
establishment of Community Diagnostic Hubs (now called Community
Diagnostic Centres/CDCs).

P
age 333

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/diagnostics-recovery-and-renewal-independent-review-of-diagnostic-services-for-nhs-england-2.pdf


CDC Aims
All CDCs must contribute to the following primary aims:

1. To improve population health outcomes by reaching earlier, faster and more accurate diagnoses of health
conditions.

2. To increase diagnostic capacity by investing in new facilities, equipment and training new staff,
contributing to recovery from COVID-19 and reducing pressure on acute sites.

3. To improve productivity and efficiency of diagnostic activity by streamlining provision of acute and
elective diagnostic services where it makes sense to do so; redesigning clinical pathways to reduce
unnecessary steps, tests or duplication.

4. To contribute to reducing health inequalities driven by unwarranted variation in referral, access, uptake,
experience and outcomes of diagnostic provision.

5. To deliver a better and more personalised diagnostic experience for patients by providing a single point of
access to a range of diagnostic services in the community.

6. To support integration of care across primary, community and secondary care.

P
age 334



CDCs Must as a Minimum
• Be located separately from the main acute hospital facilities or if on an acute hospital site

have a separate entrance and accessed without passing through the emergency facilities.

• Be accessible for extended hours (12-14 hours per day, 7 days per week).

• Receive referrals from primary, community and secondary care. Referrals can cover both
tests for new diagnoses and follow up patients. CDCs may consider accepting self referrals
but this is not considered a minimum requirement.

• Be a freestanding, digitally connected, multi-diagnostic facility that can be, as an option
where appropriate, combined with mobile / temporary units. They must also report in a
timely way to the referrer.

P
age 335



Other Considerations

• Achieving value for money: This should be a guiding principle, balancing the ability to optimise

funding in 2021/22 and deliver value for money in the long term.

• Longer-term impact: Systems should consider opportunities to continue to develop diagnostic

services and CDC provision beyond 2021/22 in line with local need and subject to further funding.

• Speed of deployment: Sites should be selected that can be developed within the first year, to

maximise elective recovery and transformation of diagnostics services. This may mean selecting a

site to provide a limited range of diagnostic services in 2021/22, but with the ability to expand

from year 2 onwards.

• Coordination with local and regional priorities and estates plans: Including access to and

distribution of diagnostic facilities across a region.

• Staff and patient engagement: Systems should consider engaging staff and patients as part of

location or site selection.

P
age 336



National Guidance for CDCs

P
age 337



Models of CDCs
Archetype Description

Standard Model

A CDC that provides the minimum diagnostic tests, except for endoscopy, and any other diagnostic test 

deemed a priority locally. Only diagnostic testing is required to be carried out in this archetype; however, 

provision of consulting rooms should be considered if there is an opportunity for streamlining and 

providing more efficient overall patient pathways.  

Large Model

A large CDC that offers all minimum services and endoscopy, and potentially provides some of the optional 

components in the diagnostic pathway e.g. consultation. Delivery of endoscopy needs to be embedded 

within a Regional Network and be aligned to any local endoscopy training academies. 

Hub and Spoke 

Model

The central hub must include all minimum diagnostic tests to support a coordinated service for patients 

that requires multiple tests. CDC ‘spokes’ provide further capacity to ‘hubs’ for specific tests through a 

satellite location, mobile unit or pop-up. Spokes can be used to meet specific service needs (e.g.to reach 

certain populations or increase local capacity for specific tests). The spokes can help integrate CDC models 

with other community diagnostic expansion (e.g. primary care diagnostic services) or to deliver care at 

home where this helps to progress the intended aims of the programme. Spokes should also be considered 

in areas that can support local recovery from COVID-19. There must be digital connectivity and 

interoperability between the different facilities comprising the hub and spoke model. 

P
age 338



Pathways for consideration to include in 
CDCs

• Cardiorespiratory/ 
cardiovascular health

• Cancer pathways

• Musculoskeletal conditions

• Urology pathways

• Gynaecology pathways

• Maternity services

• ENT services

• Health Check and Screening 
services

• Gastro and liver services

• Ophthalmology

• Diabetes

• Long covid

P
age 339



Work to Date – the last 12 months

May 2021 
Establish 

programme 
leadership and 

governance

17/05/21
CDC bid 

submitted for 
year 1 for 
Grantham

14/06/21 
Verbal feedback 

that bid was 
approved and 
business case 

needed drafting

June 2021
Engaged with 

Lincoln University 
regarding starting 

a radiographer 
course

07/07/21 
Grantham 

CDC business 
case 

submitted

16/08/21
Spending review 
bid submitted for 

funding for the 
next 5 years. This 

focussed on 3 
additional sites

28/09/21 
Formal approval 

for Grantham 
CDC funding

24/12/21
Formal 

notification of 
capital outcome 
of the spending 

review

03/01/22 
Work started 
at Gonerby 

Road, 
Grantham CDC

18/01/22 –
18/02/22
Phase 1 
patient 

engagement

25/04/22 
First patients 

seen at 
Grantham 

CDC

End of April 2022
Phase 2 patient 

engagement launched 
for 8 week period

End of April/ 
beginning of 

May 2022
Stakeholder 
engagement 
on second 

CDC optionsP
age 340



Plans for Expansion of CDCs across Lincolnshire

• Expansion of the Grantham CDC business case to be drafted by end of June.

• Development of the second Lincolnshire CDC business case to be completed
by the summer - the East Coast remains a focus due to poor access and high
health inequalities.

• Public Health analysts have developed some proposed options on ‘where’
the next CDCs could be located based on health inequalities and access to
current services.

• They are also working on the ‘what’ could be included based on health
pathways that are prevalent in those areas.

• Further engagement with stakeholders and the public.

P
age 341



CDC Engagement and Involvement 

• Our patients, public, staff and stakeholders have been involved throughout the
programme with their views and feedback shaping the principles and future
options for the development of the CDCs.

• Our engagement has enabled a continuing and on-going process of developing

relationships and partnerships so that the voice of local people and partners is

heard and that our plans are shared at the earliest possible stages.

• This CDC programme is the development of additional services and not

considered a substantial change or variation in the provision of a service and

therefore a formal consultation is not required.

P
age 342



PHASE 1 (Jan/Feb 22)
Engagement on principles for future CDCs

PHASE 2 (May - current)
Testing options with stakeholders, public and 

patients via:

1. Stakeholder briefing and survey on future 
options

3. Public and patient survey on future options

Underpinned by ongoing patient experience survey and opportunities to volunteer to play a more active role in shaping the 
project 

2. Further discussions with neighbouring Trusts 
and CCGs, Path Links and independent 

sector providers

• Considered by system clinical leads, partners 
and CDC board

Detailed feedback from phase 1 engagement

• Discussed at two stakeholder engagement 
events 

• Considered at a stakeholder away day and 
options appraisal

• Discussions undertaken with NHSEI, other 
NHS systems and out of county and 

neighbouring stakeholders

Feedback from phase 1 engagement shaped the 
development of options for locations of future 

CDCs

Once fully analysed, feedback from phase 2 
engagement will be considered by system 
clinical leads, partners and the CDC Board

P
age 343



In addition to the activities discussed on the previous slide, initial CDC 
engagement was carried out between 18 January to 18 February 2022, 
and we received 1054 responses. 

The aim of the survey was to understand what is most important to the 
public when providing CDCs and what the benefits and concerns are 
for them, so that we can mitigate these in the future. Feedback from 
this engagement informed the CDC decision making process to help 
shape the principles for the future CDCs and informed the 
development of the options for CDC2.

The graph to the right shows the extent of which respondents were 
satisfied with the proposed future CDC locations.

We heard that:

• Respondents felt most satisfied with Lincoln as a potential future 
location for a fixed CDC, this was closely followed by Louth.

• Overall, a higher number respondents were satisfied with Sleaford 
as a proposed mobile site, compared to Mablethorpe.

• Boston, Gainsborough, Horncastle and Stamford were regularly 
suggested as other appropriate locations.

Extent of which respondents were satisfied with the proposed future CDC 
locations

Full analysis and reporting has been considered and looked at in workshops to help support the options development for future sites.

Phase 1 Engagement

P
age 344



Phase 2 Engagement 

Engagement for the second CDC is currently underway:

• Stakeholder engagement on the potential location options for CDC2 and opportunities for

collaboration was launched on Thursday 28th April and was available until Thursday 12th May.
This deadline was extended and all entry submissions were allowed up until the point of

report writing.

• The stakeholder survey and briefing pack was circulated to over 100 stakeholders.
Subsequently further discussions were held with stakeholders such as Path Links, out of

county and neighbouring Trusts and CCGs and private sector providers.

• A public and patient survey on the potential location options for CDC2 was launched Thursday

28th April and will run for a minimum of 8 weeks. This can be extended if time allows to
submit the business case.

• A patient experience survey, which is ongoing is currently live to gather feedback on patient’s

experiences of the services received and what changes they would like to see in the future.

P
age 345



Options Being Considered for CDC 2

Lincoln as a large CDC (one that includes endoscopy)

• Largest catchment area for both patient demand and workforce

• Would address the requirement to have a large CDC in the county

• Would support training facilities and urgent care pathways

• Doesn’t address areas of highest health inequalities (East Coast) or challenges in access

Louth Hospital as the hub (including endoscopy), with spokes at Skegness and Mablethorpe

• Would address the requirement to have a large CDC in the county

• Would address health inequalities and some of the access challenges

• Capacity is currently difficult to use at Louth due to patients being unwilling to travel

• North Lincs may be looking at locations in Cleethorpes and Grimsby

Boston as a hub, with spokes at Skegness, Mablethorpe and possibly Spalding

• Would address health inequalities and some of the access challenges

• Has better transport links to/from the East of county than other two sites

• May not be able to have an endoscopy room – would need conversations with NHSEI about the expectation to have a large 
CDC in the county

P
age 346



Summary of Next Steps

• Expand Grantham CDC

•Develop a second CDC

•Consider opportunities for future developments for CDCs

P
age 347



Any Questions?

P
age 348



            

 
 

 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Open Report on behalf of NHS England and NHS Improvement (Midlands) 

 

Report to 
 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 
 
15 June 2022 
 
NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire 

 

Summary  
 
This report invites the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire to consider a report from NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (Midlands) on NHS dental services in Lincolnshire.  This topic was 
previously considered by this Committee in November 2021.  This report includes the information 
requested at that meeting, as well as a series of questions submitted by members of the 
Committee in advance of the publication of this report.   
 

 

Actions Required:  
 
(1) To note the information presented by NHS England and NHS Improvement (Midlands) on 

NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire.  
 
(2) To consider the timing of any further updates on NHS dental services in Lincolnshire. 

 

 
 
1 Background and information 
 
1.1 The Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire received a report on access to NHS Dental 

Services in November 2021 and requested a further briefing to provide: 
 

• an update and comparable position on NHS dentistry access for Lincolnshire 

• detailed oral health data for the East Coast 

• understanding activity uptake within the private dentistry sector. 

Page 349

Agenda Item 9



 
1.2 This report also includes oral health improvement initiatives and activities which are the 

statutory responsibilities of the local authority Public Health team. 
 
1.3 For the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire is requested to note that NHS England 

and NHS Improvement (NHS E/I) is currently responsible for the commissioning of all NHS 
dental services, but this responsibility will be delegated to the Lincolnshire Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) on 1 April 2023.   

 
1.4 The report has been developed by: 
 

• NHS E/I commissioning team senior managers  

• NHS E/I Consultant in Dental Public Health  

• Public Health colleagues at Lincolnshire County Council  
 
1.5 Representatives from NHS E/I will be present at the Lincolnshire HOSC meeting. In addition, 

the Consultant in Public Health and Chair of the Lincolnshire Oral Health Alliance Group and 
representative for NHS Lincolnshire CCG for the Lincolnshire ICB have also been invited to 
attend the meeting.  

 
2 National NHS Dental Contract  
 
2.1 NHS E/I is currently responsible for commissioning all NHS dental services including those 

available on the high street (primary care dental services), specialist dental services in 
primary care e.g. Intermediate Minor Oral Surgery (IMOS) and Community Dental Services 
(CDS) as well as from Hospital Trusts.  Private dental services are not within the scope of 
responsibility for NHS E/I.  

 
2.2 Although NHS E/I is responsible for commissioning all NHS general dental services, the 

limitations of the current national contract does not allow for any local flexibility. 
   
2.3 The current NHS dental contract for primary and community dental care was introduced in 

2006. Prior to that, dentists could choose to set up a dental practice anywhere in the 
country. They could also see and treat as many patients who attended, and they claimed 
for each element of the dental treatment that was carried out under the old ‘Items of 
Service’ contracting arrangements e.g. if a patient had two fillings, the dentist was paid 
twice the unit cost of a filling etc. However, the old dental contract did not work for various 
reasons, therefore, there was a reference period in 2005 which determined how many 
Units of Dental Activity (UDAs) each NHS dental practice that existing at that time would 
be allocated per annum and it was no longer possible for dentists to set themselves up as 
an NHS provider on an ad hoc basis. Any new NHS dental service had to be specifically 
commissioned by the then Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) within their capped financial 
envelope. 

 

Page 350



2.4 In effect, the former PCTs, and subsequently NHS England, ‘inherited’ those practices that 
were already in existence and that wished to continue to provide NHS dentistry under the 
new contracting arrangements. Sadly, a number of dental practices opted out of the NHS 
to become fully private at this time as they did not feel that the new UDA system would 
adequately recompense them for their work. This had a significant impact on the number 
of NHS dental appointments available. The PCT had no control over where these ‘inherited’ 
dental practices were situated or over the number of UDAs commissioned in each 
geographical area. Hence, capacity did not (and in some areas continues to not) necessarily 
meet demand. Although there has been significant population changes in subsequent 
years, the number of UDAs commissioned (which is set contractually and cannot be 
amended without the agreement of both parties) has not always increased/decreased 
accordingly in order to meet the changing demand and need. 

 
2.5 Unlike General Medical Practice (GMP), there is no system of patient registration with a 

dental practice and patients are free to choose to attend any dental practice, regardless of 
where they live. Dental practices are responsible for patients who are undergoing dental 
treatment under their care and once complete (apart from repairs and replacements), the 
practice has no ongoing responsibility.  However, people often associate themselves with 
a specific dental practice. Many dental practices may refer to having a patient list or taking 
on new patients, however there is no registration in the same way as for GMP practices 
and patients are theoretically free to attend any dental practice that has capacity to accept 
them.       

 
2.6 Prior to the pandemic, patients would often make their ‘dental check-up appointments’ at 

their ‘usual or regular dental practice’. During the pandemic, contractual responsibilities 
changed, and practices were required to prioritise: 

 

• urgent dental care 

• vulnerable patients (including children)  

• those at higher risk of oral health issues 
 

For many practices, there has not been sufficient capacity to be able to offer routine 
dental check-up appointments. 

 
3 NHS Dental Services across Lincolnshire 
 
3.1 NHS General Dental and Orthodontic Services 
 

3.1.1 There are 61 NHS dental practices spread across Lincolnshire as follows: 
 

• North Kesteven: 4 

• South Kesteven: 13 

• Lincoln: 13 

• East Lindsey: 14 

• West Lindsey: 5 

• Boston: 7 

• South Holland: 5 

Page 351



 

3.1.2 Fifteen of these also provide NHS orthodontic services: 
 

• North Kesteven: 1 

• South Kesteven: 7 

• Lincoln: 3 

• East Lindsey: 2 

• West Lindsey: 1 

• Boston: 0 

• South Holland: 1 
 

There are also 2 specialist NHS Orthodontic practices based in: 
 

• Boston  

• Spalding  
 
3.2 Extended hours, urgent dental care and out of hours 

 
3.2.1 Extended or out of hours cover is provided by three 8-8 NHS dental contracts: 

 

• Lincoln 

• Sleaford 

• Spalding 
 
These are NHS dental services which provide access to patients from 8am to 8pm every 
single day of the year (365 days) and provide both routine and urgent dental care.   
 

3.2.2 There are an additional 7 NHS dental contracts which offer extended or out of hours 
cover during weekdays, weekends and certain bank holidays for both routine and urgent 
care: 

 
o Boston 
o Gainsborough 
o Louth 
o Lincoln 
o Sleaford 
o Skegness 

 
3.2.3 Out of hours dental services only provide urgent dental care. Urgent dental care is 

defined into three categories as shown in Table 1 along with best practice access 
timelines for patients to receive self-help or face to face care. 

 

Page 352



Table 1: Timelines in accordance to dental need 
 

Triage Category 
 

Time Scale 

Routine Dental 
Problems 

Provide self-help advice and access to an appropriate service 
within 7 days, if required.  
Advise patient to call back if their condition deteriorates 

Urgent Dental 
Conditions  

Provide self-help advice and treat patient within 24 hours. 
Advise patient to call back if their condition deteriorates 

Dental Emergencies 
Provide contact with a clinician within 60 minutes and 
subsequent treatment within a timescale that is appropriate 
to the severity of the condition 

 
3.2.4 If a person has a regular dental practice and requires urgent dental care: 

 

• During surgery hours, they should contact their dental practice directly 

• Out of hours, they should check their dental practice’s answer machine for 
information on how to access urgent dental care. Most people are signposted to 
contact NHS 111 (interpreters are available). For deaf people, there is also the NHS 
111 BSL Service (alternatively, they can also call 18001 111 using text relay). There is 
also an online option for contacting NHS 111 that will often be quicker and easier than 
phoning.  

 
3.2.5 If a person does not have a regular dental practice and requires urgent dental care, they 

can contact: 
 

• any NHS dental practice during surgery hours to seek an urgent dental appointment 
and this would be dependent on the capacity available at each dental practice on any 
given day. They can use the Find a Dentist facility on the NHS website 

• NHS 111, either online or on the phone (interpreters are available). For deaf people, 
there is also the NHS 111 BSL Service (alternatively, they can also call 18001 111 using 
text relay) 

• Healthwatch Lincolnshire 

• NHS England’s Customer Contact Centre on 0300 311 2233 
 

3.2.6 Patients with dental pain should not contact their GP or attend A&E as this could add 
further delays in gaining appropriate dental treatment as both GP and A&E services will 
be redirecting such patients to a dental service.  

 
3.3 People who require urgent out-of-hours dental care can attend any service in the 

Midlands area and for Lincolnshire residents, the nearest 8am to 8pm, 365 days sites are 
as follows: 

 

• Lincoln 

• Sleaford 

• Spalding  

Page 353

https://signvideo.co.uk/nhs111/
https://signvideo.co.uk/nhs111/
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-Dentist
https://111.nhs.uk/
https://signvideo.co.uk/nhs111/


 
Extended access sites are: 

 

• Boston 

• Gainsborough 

• Lincoln 

• Louth 

• Sleaford 

• Skegness  
 

At times of peak demand, patients may have to travel further for treatment depending 
on capacity across the system. 

 
3.4 Community (Special Care) Dental Service 
 
3.4.1 The Lincolnshire Community (Special Care) Dental Services provides dental treatment to 

patients whose oral care needs cannot be met through NHS primary dental care due to 
their complex medical, physical or behavioural needs. The service uses behavioural 
management techniques and follows sedation and general anaesthesia (GA) pathways. 
Dentists and/or health care professionals can refer into the service. There is 1 dental 
provider (CDS-CIC) treating children and adults from 7 clinics across Lincolnshire: 

 

• Louth  

• North Hykeham 

• Skegness 

• Boston 

• Grantham 

• Spalding 

• Gainsborough  
 
3.4.2 The GA pathway for children and special care adults is managed between CDS-CIC and the 

United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust (ULHT) which is commissioned on a system area 
footprint. 

 
3.4.3 CDS-CIC are also commissioned to provide NHS dental care and treatment for those who 

are unable to leave their own home or care home. Some limited dental care can be 
provided in a person’s own setting such as a basic check-up or simple extraction, but 
patients may still need to travel into a dental surgery (as this is the safest place) to receive 
more complex dental treatment.  If such patients require a dental appointment, they or 
their relative/carer can contact the local domiciliary provider via NHS 111.   

 
3.5 Intermediate Minor Oral Surgery (IMOS) Service 
 
3.5.1 The IMOS service is a specialist referral service in primary care providing complex dental 

extractions for Lincolnshire patients over the age of 16 years who meet the clinical 
criteria.  There are 5 providers across Lincolnshire: 

 

Page 354



• Boston 

• Skegness 

• Lincoln 

• Grantham 

• Gainsborough 
 

3.6 A map of the location of local NHS dental practices or clinics (including orthodontic and 
community sites) across Lincolnshire is in Appendix 1.  In some cases, there are practices 
in close proximity and the numbers on the map reflect this as the scale does not permit 
them to be displayed individually.  The maps are also shaded to demonstrate accessibility 
of NHS dental services and travel times by public transport or car within 30 minutes. 

  

3.7 Hospital Dental Care 
 
3.7.1 Secondary care dental services e.g. orthodontics, oral surgery, oral medicine, maxillofacial 

are commissioned from ULHT to deliver complex dental (often multi-disciplinary) 
treatment to patients who meet the clinical criteria in line with the NHS E/I commissioning 
guides.  Activity and contract values are agreed annually with acute trusts.  

 
4 Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board 
 
4.1 NHS E/I will be delegating full commissioning responsibility for NHS dental services to the 

ICB as of 1 April 2023. 
 
4.2 In preparation for this, as of 1 April 2022, joint commissioning arrangements were set up 

between NHS E/I and the ICB in advance of the full delegation next year. This is where 
there will be opportunities within the integration agenda to deliver place-based 
commissioning that is specific to the system rather than on a wider footprint. This does 
not mean that working on a wider footprint is not beneficial as there are times when it 
provides the opportunity to streamline services to provide best value for money (public 
funds) whilst ensuring best patient outcomes. 

 
4.3 In addition, Public Health colleagues at Lincolnshire County Council are currently 

undertaking a rapid oral health needs assessment in order to better understand some of 
the impacts of the pandemic on oral health and oral health inequalities across 
Lincolnshire.  

 
5 NHS Dental Charges 

 
5.1 Dentistry is one of the few NHS services where patients pay a contribution towards the 

cost of NHS care. The current charges are: 
 

• Emergency dental treatment – £23.80 This covers emergency dental care such as 
pain relief or a temporary filling. 

• Band 1 course of treatment – £23.80 This covers an examination, diagnosis 
(including X-rays), advice on how to prevent future problems, a scale and polish if 

Page 355

https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/help-with-health-costs/when-you-need-to-pay-towards-nhs-care/
https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/help-with-health-costs/when-you-need-to-pay-towards-nhs-care/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/x-ray/


clinically needed, and preventative care such as the application of fluoride varnish 
or fissure sealant if appropriate. 

• Band 2 course of treatment – £65.20 This covers everything listed in Band 1 above, 
plus any further treatment such as fillings, root canal work or removal of teeth but 
not more complex items covered by Band 3. 

• Band 3 course of treatment – £282.80 This covers everything listed in Bands 1 and 
2 above, plus crowns, dentures, bridges and other laboratory work. 

 
More information is available here. All NHS dental practices have access to posters and 
leaflets that should be displayed prominently. 

 
5.2 Exemption from NHS charges is when patients do not have to pay these costs for instance 

when receiving certain benefits.  If this is the case, then proof of entitlement would need 
to be presented at the NHS dental practice.  It is the patient’s responsibility to check 
whether they are entitled to claim for free dental treatment or prescription.  Financial 
support is also available for patients on a low income through the NHS Low Income 
Scheme. 

 
6 Impact of the Pandemic 
 
6.1 The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has had a considerable impact on dental services and the 

availability of NHS dental care; the long-term impact on oral health is as yet unknown but 
it is a cause for concern. All routine dental services in England were required to cease 
operating when the UK went into lockdown on 23 March 2020. A network of Urgent 
Dental Care Centres (UDCCs) was immediately established across the Midlands in early 
April 2020 to allow those requiring urgent dental treatment to be seen. These UDCCs are 
currently still operational however referrals are of a very low volume as routine dental 
practices have now reopened.  The UDCCs remain on standby in case of future 
uncontrolled issues that may affect delivery of NHS dental services (such as staff 
shortages due to sickness – for example as a consequence of a Covid-19 outbreak).   

 
6.2 From 8 June 2020, dental practices were allowed to re-open however additional infection 

prevention and control measures were needed to be implemented as well as social 
distancing requirements for patients and staff. A particular constraint was the 
introduction of the so-called ‘fallow time’ – a period of time for which the surgery must 
be left empty following any aerosol-generating procedure (AGP).  An AGP is one that 
involves the use of high-speed drills or instrument which would include dental fillings or 
root canal treatment.  This has had a marked impact on the throughput of patients and 
the number of appointments that could be offered.  For a large part of 2020, many 
practices were only able to provide about 20% of the usual number of face-to-face 
appointments and relied instead on providing remote triage of assessment, advice and 
antibiotics (where indicated). The situation improved in early 2021, with reductions in 
fallow time requirements and since then practices have been required to deliver 
increasing levels of dental activity.  
 

Page 356

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/fluoride/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/root-canal-treatment/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dentures/
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/dentists/dental-costs/understanding-nhs-dental-charges/
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/2020-12/CCS155_CCS1020381890-003_Dental_Care_Poster_Nov_2020.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/help-with-health-costs/nhs-low-income-scheme-lis/
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-low-income-scheme
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-low-income-scheme


6.3 NHS dental practices are currently required to offer dental services to patients throughout 
their contracted normal surgery hours (some practices are offering extended opening 
hours to better utilise their staff and surgery capacity). They are also required to have 
reasonable staffing levels for NHS dental services to be in place. Increases in capacity have 
been gained in line with subsequent changes to national protocols for infection 
prevention and control such as reducing social distancing requirements and the 
introduction of risk assessments for patients who may have respiratory infections.  
 

6.4 All NHS dental practices are required to maximise capacity and also to prioritise urgent 
dental care for: 
 

• their regular patients 

• patients without a regular dental practice referred via NHS 111 

• all vulnerable patients 
 

6.5 Infection prevention and control measures have been regularly reviewed and the 
following minimum requirement for the recovery of dental activity has been imposed on 
NHS dental contracts: 
 

• Q3 2021/22: 65% of contracted activity for general dentistry and 80% of contracted 
activity for orthodontics 

• Q4 2021/22: 75% of contracted activity for general dentistry and 90% of contracted 
activity for orthodontics 

• Q1 2022/23:  95% of contracted activity for general dentistry and 100% of contracted 
activity for orthodontics 

• Q2 2022/23: 100% of contracted activity for general dentistry and orthodontics 
 

6.6 Figure 1 shows the level of NHS dental activity delivered across Lincolnshire during the 
pandemic against the minimum threshold activity set by the national team and against the 
Midlands total.  It can be seen that there have been lower levels of activity for Lincolnshire 
as a whole against the minimum threshold requirements. Unfortunately this data is only 
available at an ICB level and therefore cannot be reported at a lower level. Appendix 2 
shows the average pattern of delivery of NHS dental activity over the course of the 
pandemic across the Midlands.  

 

Page 357



Fig 1: Lincolnshire Primary Care Dental Activity vs Minimum Thresholds 
 

- - - - - - -  Midlands Total 
_______  Lincolnshire 
……….....  Minimum Thresholds 

 

 
6.7 Figure 2 shows the Units of Dental Activity delivered by NHS dental practices within 

Lincolnshire County Council during the pandemic (although NHS dental practices are not 
contractually associated to them). By 30 September 2021, NHS dental practices in 
Lincolnshire had recovered 60% of pre-pandemic dental activity. 

 

Figure 2: Units of Dental Activity delivered by local authority during the pandemic 
 

 
 

6.8 The national minimum requirement for all NHS dental contracts was set at 65% for Q3 
2021/22. Tables 2 and 3 show that NHS dental practices across Lincolnshire achieved 60%, 
with 28 out of 61 (45.9%) of NHS dental practices meeting or exceeding this requirement 
(compared to 60.8% in the Midlands region). 

30th. 
June 
2019

30th. 
Sept 
2019

31st. 
Dec 

2019

30th. 
March 
2020

30th. 
June 
2020

30th. 
Sept 
2020

31st. 
Dec 

2020

30th. 
March 
2021

30th. 
June 
2021

30th. 
Sept 
2021

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

Units of dental activity delivered

Page 358



 
6.9 The national minimum requirement for all NHS dental contracts was set at 75% for Q4 

2021/22. Tables 2 and 3 show that NHS dental practices across Lincolnshire achieved 70%, 
with 14 out of 61 (23%) of NHS dental practices meeting or exceeding this requirement 
(compared to 38.3% in the Midlands region). 

 

Table 2: Proportion of Units of Dental Activity delivered in Q3 and Q4 of 2021/22 by NHS 
General Dental Practices in Lincolnshire 

 

 Period Threshold System achieved 
overall 

Lincs Q3 65% 59.9% 

Lincs Q4 75% 70.0% 

All Midlands Q3 65% 66.2% 

All Midlands Q4 75% 76.9% 
 

Table 3: Number of NHS dental contracts meeting / exceeding national minimum 
requirements during Q3 and Q4 of 2021/22 in Lincolnshire 

 

 Period Outcome – number meeting or exceeding 
thresholds 

Lincs Q3 28 out of 61 (45.9%) 

Lincs Q4 14 out of 61 (23.0%) 

All Midlands Q3 718 out of 1,181 (60.8%) 

All Midlands Q4 452 out of 1,181 (38.3%) 
 

7 NHS Dental access 
 

7.1 Figure 3 shows the percentage of children (0-17 years) accessing NHS general dental 
practices during the pandemic. The impact of the national lockdown can be seen by the 
drastic reduction in access in 2020. The proportion of children living in the East Midlands 
accessing NHS dentistry is higher than the National average. There is a higher proportion 
of children living in South Kesteven accessing NHS dentistry when compared against both 
the national and regional averages. The proportion of children living in North Kesteven is 
similar to the regional average, which is higher than the national average. The proportion 
of children living in West Lindsey and East Lindsey is similar to the national average, which 
is lower than the regional average. The proportion of children living in Boston and South 
Holland has consistently been below both the national and regional averages. Although 
the proportion of children living in Lincoln accessing NHS dentistry prior to the pandemic 
was similar to the national average, it is now lower than the national average.   

 

7.2 The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) does not support routine 6-
monthly dental check-ups universally for all patients. It recommends that dentists should 
take a risk-based approach to setting the frequency of dental check-ups and that the 
longest gap between dental check-up appointments for every child (younger than 18 
years) should be 12 months. Figure 4 demonstrates that the overall proportion of 
Lincolnshire children accessing NHS dentistry within 12 months (as per NICE 
recommendations) has constantly been below the national average, both prior and during 
the pandemic.  

Page 359



 
7.3 Figure 4 also shows the impact of the pandemic lockdown of March 2020 on access which 

can be observed 12 months later (March 2021).  It can also be observed that as NHS dental 
services have gradually been recovered and restored, the proportion of children accessing 
NHS dentistry are increasing again. As of 31 December 2021, the proportion of children 
accessing NHS dentistry within 12 months in England was at 75% of that reported for 
31 December 2019 i.e. prior to the pandemic. Recovery of access for children across 
Lincolnshire has been lower than England at 74% for Lincolnshire. 

 
Fig 3: Proportion of children (0-17 years) accessing NHS dentistry during the pandemic 

 

 
 

Jan-Jun 2019 Jul-Dec 2019 Jul-Dec 2020 Jan-Jun 2021 Jul-Dec 2021

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

% of children accessing NHS dentistry during the pandemic

Boston East Lindsey Lincoln West Lindsey North Kesteven

South Holland South Kesteven East Midlands England

Page 360



Figure 4: Proportion of Lincolnshire children accessing NHS dentistry within 12 months 
 

  
 

7.4 Figure 5 shows the percentage of adults accessing NHS general dental practices during 
the pandemic. It can be seen that the proportion of adult in the East Midlands accessing 
NHS dentistry is higher than the national average. For residents of Lincolnshire, the 
proportion of adults living in South Kesteven and East Lindsey accessing NHS dentistry are 
above both the regional and national averages. The proportion of adults living in West 
Lindsey accessing NHS dentistry is similar to the regional average, which is higher than 
the national average. Although the proportion of adults living in North Kesteven was 
similar to the regional average (therefore higher than the national average) prior to the 
pandemic, this has dropped during the recovery phase but is still above the national 
average. The proportion of adults living in Boston, South Holland and Lincoln have 
consistently been below both the regional and national averages.   

 

7.5 As mentioned earlier, NICE does not support routine 6-monthly dental check-ups 
universally for all patients. It recommends that dentists should take a risk-based approach 
to setting the frequency of dental check-ups and that the longest gap between dental 
check-up appointments for every adult (over 18 years) should be 24 months. Figure 6 
demonstrates that the proportion of Lincolnshire adults accessing NHS dentistry within 
24 months (as per NICE recommendations) was   lower than the national average prior to 
the pandemic and similar to the national average during the pandemic. When making 
comparisons of proportionate loss between December 2021 and December 2019, 
England saw a 27% loss compared to Lincolnshire at 24%.  

 

7.6 It is estimated that across the Country there has now been the equivalent of a year’s 
worth of appointments lost in primary care dentistry since the start of the pandemic.  The 
effects have been similar in community and hospital care due to restricted capacity from 
staff absences or re-deployment to support Covid-19 activities. 

 

7.7 A strategic review of dental access is planned for 2022/23 and NHS E/I anticipates having 
access shortly to a mapping tool which will help to identify local areas which may have 
specific issues in order to assist with a more targeted approach in tackling them.  

 

30th. 
June 
2019

30th. 
Sept 
2019

31st. 
Dec 

2019

30th. 
March 
2020

30th. 
June 
2020

30th. 
Sept 
2020

31st. 
Dec 

2020

30th. 
March 
2021

30th. 
June 
2021

30th. 
Sept 
2021

31st. 
Dec 

2021

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

% of children accessing NHS dentistry
within 12 months

Lincolnshire County Council England

Page 361



7.8 NHS E/I are aware that information provided by local dentists on the NHS website may 
not always be up to date as it is unfortunately not a contractual requirement for dental 
providers to do so. Nevertheless, NHS E/I are continuously working with all local dental 
providers to improve the accuracy of this information. 

 

7.9 NHS E/I also recognise the backlog of NHS dental care which has accumulated during the 
period where dental services have not operated at full capacity.  Many NHS dental 
contractors are already delivering over 100%, and it is critical for those providers who are 
not to make progress as quickly as possible. Unfortunately, many practices are struggling 
to recruit staff (both dentists and nurses) and this is having an impact on capacity. 
Nevertheless, NHS E/I are expecting all NHS general dental practices to reach a minimum 
of 95% of contracted activity during Q1 of 2022/23 with full (100%) delivery of contracted 
dental activity from July 2022.  

 

7.10 It is acknowledged that Lincolnshire have not met Q3 and Q4 contracted activity 
thresholds set, which does raise concern regarding reaching the minimum activity 
threshold of 95% contracted activity for Q1 of 2022/23.  NHS E/I is working closely with 
the Local Dental Network Chair and NHS Dental practices within Lincolnshire to 
understand the reasons for the low activity delivery data and how to increase uptake of 
initiatives to increase access for patients, as uptake from NHS Dental practices within 
Lincolnshire has been very low as demonstrated in section 11 below. 

 
Fig 5: Proportion of Lincolnshire adults accessing NHS dentistry during the pandemic 

 

 

Jan-Jun 2019 Jul-Dec 2019 Jul-Dec 2020 Jan-Jun 2021 Jul-Dec 2021

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

35.00

40.00

% of adults accessing NHS dentistry during the pandemic

Boston East Lindsey Lincoln

West Lindsey North Kesteven South Holland

South Kesteven East Midlands England

Page 362



Figure 6: Proportion of Lincolnshire adults accessing NHS dentistry within 24 months 
 

  

8 Private Dentistry 
 

Private dental services are not within the scope of responsibility for NHS E/I.   Therefore, 
NHS E/I are unable to provide any information on activity uptake within the private 
dentistry sector.   

 

8.1 It should be noted that dental practitioners are independent contractors to the NHS and 
therefore many dental practices operate a mixed private/NHS model of care and although 
NHS contract payments have been maintained by NHS E/I during the pandemic, the 
private element of their business may have been adversely affected.   

 

8.2 The Chief Dental Officer for England set up a time limited working group who undertook 
an investigation into the resilience of mixed economy practices.  They concluded that 
whilst there would have been an interruption of income, the risk of a large number of 
dental practices facing insolvency over the next 12 to 18 months was low.   

 

8.3 Some patients who have previously accessed dental care privately may now be seeking 
NHS dental care due to financial problems related to the pandemic or due to the 
additional Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) charges that are apparently being levied 
by some private dental practices.  This is putting additional pressure on NHS services at a 
time when capacity is constrained.  Although these patients are eligible for NHS dental 
care, they may have difficulty in finding an NHS dental practice with capacity to take them 
on. 

 

8.4 There have been anecdotal reports of some practices’ reluctance across the Midlands 
region in offering NHS appointments (particularly routine) and instead offering the option 
to be seen earlier as a private patient.  NHS E/I does not support any stances of pressuring 
patients into private dental care.  NHS E/I will investigate any report of this nature but will 
need detailed information so that this can be raised with the practice for a response.  Any 
such concerns can be raised via a complaint about any specific practice/s by contacting 
the NHS England Customer Contact Centre on 0300 311 22 33 or 
www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/.  

30th. 
June 
2019

30th. 
Sept 
2019

31st. Dec 
2019

30th. 
March 
2020

30th. 
June 
2020

30th. 
Sept 
2020

31st. Dec 
2020

30th. 
March 
2021

30th. 
June 
2021

30th. 
Sept 
2021

31st. Dec 
2021

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

% of Lincolnshire adults accessing NHS dentistry within 
24 months

Lincolnshire County Council England

Page 363

http://www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/


9 Dental Contract Hand-Backs 
 
9.1 Since the start of the pandemic, two NHS contracts have been handed back to NHS E/I as 

follows: 
 

• one NHS general dental contract 
NHS E/I are currently undertaking a review of access data within the surrounding 
area of the terminating dental contract and will progress with a dispersal process 
as relevant to ensure the provision is maintained. 
  

• one NHS specialist orthodontic dental contract   
all patients who had previously been under the care of this specialist orthodontic 
dental contract have been transferred to a new Provider within Lincolnshire 
following an open procurement process.  As part of the transition to the new 
Provider, all patients transferred are being assessed and treated in accordance with 
their clinical need as it has become apparent that the oral health needs of this 
patient group have been negatively impacted by the restrictions imposed through 
the pandemic.  This has led to longer waiting times with the new Provider as 
demand has increased with the resumption of NHS orthodontic services. 

 
To reduce waiting times, NHS E/I is seeking to create additional orthodontic 
appointments with alternative / additional specialist orthodontic practices.  This is 
currently on-going, and it is expected that additional specialist orthodontic 
practices will be working with us by July 2022.  NHS E/I is working closely with the 
current specialist orthodontic practice who are continuing to treat patients; any on-
going orthodontic treatments will continue and will be completed. 

 
9.2 As part of the dental activity dispersal process, the NHS dental practice that is handing 

back their NHS activity must agree a communication letter for their patients with NHS E/I.  
This letter is to notify patients that the NHS dental practice will no longer be providing 
NHS dental care with appropriate sign posting provided on how to continue gaining access 
to NHS dental care from elsewhere. This provides assurance to NHS E/I that there is no 
inappropriate/forced signup to private dental services and enables informed patient 
choice. 

 

10 Restoration of NHS Dental Services  
 

10.1 The NHS E/I commissioning team is working with the local dental profession to restore 
NHS dental services and deal with the inevitable backlog of patients that has built up since 
the Covid-19 pandemic. In line with national guidance issued, all NHS dental practices in 
England are currently working towards providing routine dental care in the same way as 
they were prior to the pandemic, with the expectation of full (100%) delivery of 
contracted dental activity from July 2022.  

 

Page 364



10.2 It is important to note that patients should expect to be contacted and asked to undergo 
an assessment (undertaken remotely in most instances) prior to receiving an 
appointment.  The latest guidance is that patients will be directed to the most appropriate 
service depending on whether they: 

 

• have any respiratory symptoms 

• need urgent dental care  
 

This pathway will not change due to the removal of free Covid-19 tests and patients will 
also not be required to purchase these tests in order to gain access to NHS dental services. 

 
10.3 Reduced access to NHS dental care over the course of the pandemic will have resulted in 

compromised outcomes for some patients. Due to the duration of the lockdown and the 
length of time during which routine face to face activity ceased, a number of patients who 
ordinarily would have had a clinical intervention may have struggled to gain access to NHS 
dental care. Some who were part way through dental treatment will undoubtedly have 
suffered and may have lost teeth they would not have otherwise - temporary fillings 
placed pre-lockdown, for example, and only intended as temporary measures, may have 
come out causing deterioration in outcome.  

 
10.4 Orthodontic patients who are routinely seen for regular reviews will have missed 

appointments, though harm reviews and remote consultations should have helped 
identify any urgent issues. The ongoing backlog and ever-increasing waiting lists do 
however mean that there is still a risk of those recall intervals being extended to try and 
free up capacity to see new patients. Patient compliance with the required oral hygiene 
measures may decrease over time and consequently there is an increased risk of decay 
developing around the orthodontic appliances if treatment is prolonged in this way. 

 
10.5 Aside from the effects of reduced dental access, it is possible that the pandemic will have 

other long-term impacts on oral and general health due to changes in nutritional intake – 
for example, increased consumption of foods with a longer shelf life (often higher in salt 
or sugar) coupled with possible increased intake of high-calorie snacks, takeaway foods 
and alcohol. Increases in sugar and alcohol intake could have a detrimental effect on an 
individual’s oral health. Those impacted to the greatest extent by this are likely to be 
vulnerable population groups and those living in the more deprived areas, thus further 
exacerbating existing health inequalities. 

 

10.6 It is important to note that some of the most vulnerable in the population, whose oral 
health may have been affected by the pandemic as described above, could also be at 
greater risk of contracting Covid-19 and of experiencing worse outcomes due to risk 
factors linked to other long term health conditions. 

 

Page 365



10.7 NHS E/I have been working on a new scheme to encourage local child friendly dental 
practices to provide support to local Community Dental Services in collaborating on a 
shared care model. This serves to free up capacity for specially trained staff to focus on 
tackling backlogs of child patients requiring complex dental treatment.  NHS E/I secured 
interest from one dental practice within Lincolnshire to participate in this scheme.  It is 
part of NHS E/I’s investment plan to continue this scheme into 2022/23 and will continue 
to seek further interest and support from NHS dental practices across Lincolnshire. 

 
10.8 Figure 7 below demonstrates that access for Children Looked After across the East 

Midlands has significantly deteriorated since the pandemic. 
 

Figure 7: Percentage of Children Looked After for 12 Months and Dental Attendance 
 

 
 

10.9 In recognition of the access difficulties for children in care, NHS E/I, the Local Dental 
Network Chairs in the East Midlands with support from the Orthodontic and Paediatric 
MCN Chairs, Public Health, Local Authorities and clinical colleagues have worked with 
safeguarding colleagues to support dental access for children taken into care.  To assist 
with the process, an oral health assessment support sheet was developed for those 
undertaking general examination and, in acknowledgement of the difficulties in accessing 
NHS dental care, a pathway was also developed to enable children identified with acute 
dental problems at the Initial Health Assessment to be directed straight to CDS-CIC (the 
local community special care dental service) for a comprehensive dental examination.  
NHS E/I wrote to all Directors of Children’s Services in the East Midlands to clarify the 
position regarding access to dentistry and the Looked After Children pathway that was 
developed.  This has meant that no child being taken into care with urgent dental need 
was disadvantaged as a result of the challenges related to the pandemic.  The pathway 
was completed in April 2021. 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

% of CLA for 12 months and dental attendance

2018 2019 2020 2021

Page 366



10.10 For children who were being taken into care and not identified with an urgent dental 
need, their foster carers have been asked to take them to a local dentist. NHS E/I are 
aware that it has been very difficult during the pandemic for foster carers to find 
appointments for these vulnerable children. We have therefore reminded NHS dental 
practices (and continue to do so) that these children are a priority for dental access. If the 
foster family regularly attends the practice, the children should be considered as part of 
that arrangement. It is expected that NHS dental practices would manage the child within 
the general dental practice setting (high street dental practice) as they would any other 
child.  

  
10.11 The transfer process for orthodontic treatment for these patients has also been reviewed 

in order to make this as seamless as possible. Foster carers will be made aware of the 
process.  The refined Children in Care pathway was communicated to all Directors of 
Children’s Service in the East Midlands which clarified the current position regarding 
access to NHS dentistry. 

 
10.12 For those in the categories who are vulnerable or shielded due to age or underlying health 

conditions, special arrangements have been made to ensure they are able to access care 
safely.  Some patients may be seen by their usual practice but will usually be offered an 
appointment at the beginning or end of a session. 

 
10.13 In addition, there are groups of patients particularly those experiencing Severe Multiple 

Disadvantage who are less likely to engage with routine dental services and likely to 
experience worse oral health. NHS E/I are working with the Lincolnshire Oral Alliance 
Group to address this inequality.   

 
10.14 Additional dental capacity was also commissioned to support Afghan refugees repatriated 

to the UK and housed in local hotels.  This was provided by way of dedicated domiciliary 
support to quarantine hotels and ongoing additional capacity at two local practices within 
Lincolnshire. 

 
10.15 NHS E/I is also aware that other vulnerable groups are also finding it harder than usual to 

access services. We are continuing to review pathways and treatment arrangements for 
these patients to ensure that they can continue to access urgent dental care, should they 
need to.  Primarily, this has been facilitated through NHS 111.  The special care dental 
provider has also been ensuring access for vulnerable patients through their network of 
local clinics and dental access centres. 

 
10.16 Prior to the pandemic, work was underway to look at new ways of collaborative working 

with primary care networks to strengthen support to care homes in improving the oral 
health of their residents and access to NHS dental services.  This remains a priority and 
NHS E/I has been working with the Lincolnshire Oral Health Alliance on this agenda. The 
Lincolnshire Swallowing, Oral Health and Nutritional Ambassadors (SONA) programme, 
delivered by LinCA, supports this work.  The SONA programme was paused during the 
COVID pandemic; however, it has now resumed with 3 further cohorts planned.  Oral 
health is also a key part of the enhanced health in care home framework.   

 

Page 367



11 NHS Dental Services Recovery Initiatives 
 

11.1 A large financial investment has been made to facilitate initiatives designed to increase 
access across primary, community and hospital dental care, as follows: 

 

• Weekend Sessions – For Lincolnshire, 1 NHS dental practice was contracted to provide 
28 additional sessions at a cost of £18,312.  This dental practice is located in Lincoln.  
Additional national funding was allocated as part of a national scheme and further 
applications were reviewed on an on-going basis until the scheme ended on 31 March 
2022. 
 

• Weekday Sessions – For Lincolnshire, 1 NHS dental practice was contracted to 
provided 7 additional sessions at a cost of £4,578.  This dental practice is located in 
Lincoln.  Additional national funding was allocated as part of a national scheme and 
further applications were reviewed on an on-going basis until the scheme ended on 
31 March 2022. 

 

• NHS E/I approached the 5 dental providers across Lincolnshire (3 who are contracted 
to open from 8am to 8pm and 2 who are contracted to open extended hours) with 
the view to commissioning additional funded sessions.   Unfortunately, none of the 
providers felt that they had any capacity to provide any further sessions.  

 

• Additional Orthodontic Case Starts – an offer has been made to practices with capacity 
for additional activity to address orthodontic waiting lists.  Expressions of interest 
were received from 3 practices, where 1 of these were approved equating to an 
additional 10 case starts.  This dental practice is located in Grantham. 

 

• Community Dental Services (CDS) Support Practices – the NHS E/I team have 
commissioned a number of dental practices across the Midlands to work 
collaboratively with local dental providers delivering special care dental services. This 
pilot is intended to provide additional capacity to assist in routine review and support 
the management of special care dental patients who are in the system. There is one 
NHS dental provider in Lincoln who is taking part in the pilot; however, NHS E/I are 
currently trying to secure additional funding to re-run the pilot for financial year 22/23 
and hope to encourage further uptake from NHS dental providers in Lincolnshire. 
 

• Dedicated In Hours Urgent Care Slots (voluntary service from NHS general dental 
practices) – additional capacity for NHS 111 to signpost patients without a regular 
dental practice who require urgent dental care. One practice in Lincolnshire 
(Gainsborough) was taking part and providing 5 extra appointments per week.  This 
dental practice ceased further delivery under this arrangement during April 2022. 
 

• Additional funding has also been provided to local authorities: 
o £75,000 recurrent for 2 years to support oral health improvement initiatives 

and activities  
o £40,000 non recurrent to support purchase and distribution of toothbrushing 

packs to food banks and other venues 

Page 368



 
All the above funding was allocated to Lincolnshire County Council. Agreement on the 
spending of the additional funding will be discussed and agreed at the Lincolnshire Oral 
Health Alliance Group to ensure alignment with oral health needs of the area.   

 

• Non recurrent investment to support IMOS providers in reducing waiting times for 
patients to be seen within 6 weeks of referral into the specialist service.  At March 2022, 
there were 1,678 Lincolnshire patients accepted onto the IMOS pathway and 1,037 
(62%) had been waiting over six weeks to be treated. This has been reduced from 1,489 
as at June 2021 when the waiting list initiative was launched. 

 

• Non recurrent investment of £30,665 to support waiting list initiatives for Lincolnshire 
Community (Special Care) Dental Service (CDS-CIC) during 2021/22.  The waiting list 
initiatives ran additional sessions for new referrals, first and follow up appointments 
for patients with open courses of treatment. Additional dental hand pieces were also 
purchased to support improving efficiency of dental clinics resulting in reduced fallow 
time between patients.  Commitment has also been secured for 2022/23 to support 
reducing GA waiting list (subject to securing additional sessions at the hospital trust).   

 

• Unfortunately, ULHT were unable to accept any additional non recurrent investment in 
2021/22 to support secondary care dental waiting list initiatives. Trusts are monitored 
on referral to treatment (RTT) within 18 weeks, 52 week waits and in addition due to 
the impact of the pandemic, monitoring 104 week waits. All Trusts are required to clear 
any 104 week waits by July 2022. As at March 22, there were no Lincolnshire patients 
waiting over 104 week waits for Orthodontics and Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 
Please see Appendix 3 for Midlands Oral Surgery Referral to Treat Trends.  Referrals 
into secondary care have started to recover, please see Appendix 4, however, these 
remain lower than previous levels due to the reduction in routine appointments in 
primary dental care. 
   

12 Commissioning and Procurement Plans 
 

12.1 Following the procurement exercise undertaken in 2019, NHS E/I were unable to secure 
a new provider of NHS Dental Services in the Mablethorpe area.  As a result, NHS E/I has 
commissioned Urgent NHS Dental care sessions until March 2023 whilst longer term 
commissioning intentions and plan to commission new services are finalised. 

 
An Oral Health Needs Assessment (OHNA) has been undertaken by our colleagues in 
Public Health and the findings highlight a need to commission routine dental services 
within Mablethorpe, however since the pandemic the impacts of Covid-19 and the 
omicron wave has had a detrimental impact on patient access to general dental services 
across the Region 

 
Longer term commissioning intentions and plans to commission new services continue 
whilst working through the safe recovery of NHS Dental services.  It is planned that a 
general dental service will be in place for 2022/23 within Mablethorpe. 

 

Page 369



12.2 NHS E/I are aware of the limited number of Specialist Orthodontic Providers within 
Lincolnshire and are reviewing longer term commissioning intentions and plans to 
commission new Orthodontic services across the Midlands Region as a whole.  This is 
being reviewed on a regional level and will be prioritised by area of urgent need.  The NHS 
E/I Midlands Team will ensure that issues within Lincolnshire are at the forefront of this 
review and will work closely with Public Health colleagues to progress as swiftly as 
possible.  As per point 10.4 and 12.1, Covid-19 and the omicron wave has meant that 
Orthodontic waiting lists have increased.  Should NHS E/I receive requests to terminate 
orthodontic contracts, we are committed to managing relevant close-downs to ensure 
that provision of services remain for patients currently within treatment. 

 
13 Oral Health and Inequalities 
 
13.1 Whilst NHS E/I is responsible for commissioning NHS dental services, the responsibility for 

public health, including oral health improvement, is with local authorities who have the 
statutory role in assessing local oral health needs and commissioning or providing 
evidence based oral health improvement programmes appropriate to those needs. In 
addition, the Local Authority is also responsible for oral health surveys to facilitate the 
planning and evaluation of the arrangements for provision of dental services as part of 
the health service and NHS E/I are working with Public Health local authority colleagues 
on this. 

 
13.2 Oral diseases continue to be a leading public health problem with significant inequalities. 

Those living in more deprived areas and vulnerable individuals are more at risk, both of 
and from, oral diseases. Whilst there has been an overall improvement in oral health in 
recent decades, further work is needed to improve oral health and reduce inequalities.  

 
13.3 Figure 8 shows that oral health remains in the top 20 rankings of the most prevalent 

causes affecting the overall health and wellbeing of people living across Lincolnshire from 
1990 to 2019: 

 

• staying at rank 2 – dental decay (caries)  

• up 2 ranks from 15 to 13 – edentulism (no teeth) 

• staying at rank 19 – periodontal (gum) disease) 
 

Page 370



Figure 8: Ranking of prevalent cases per 100,000 affecting overall health and wellbeing of 
people living across Lincolnshire (Global Burden of Disease) 

 

 
 

13.4 The findings of the 2017/18 survey of adults attending general dental practices in England 
showed that poorer oral health disproportionately affected those at the older end of the 
age spectrum and those living in more deprived areas.   

 
13.5 The 2018/19 national oral health survey of 5-year-old children showed wide variation in 

both the prevalence and severity of dental decay among young children across 
Lincolnshire (Figure 9). It can be seen that 5-year-old children in Boston have significantly 
worse oral health compared to those living in the rest of Lincolnshire, East Midlands, and 
England.   

 
Figure 9: Percentage of 5-year-olds with visually obvious dental decay (2018/19) 
 

 

Page 371



13.6 Within Boston, the highest levels of experience of dental decay are clustered around 
Fenside, Skirbeck, Trinity and Witham wards, with tooth decay rates around 50% and 
above of children affected (Figure 10). 

 

Figure 10: Percentage with experience of tooth decay in Boston and surrounding area 
 

 
 

13.7 Lincolnshire County Council (Public Health) commissioned extending sampling in Boston 
in order to gain further understanding of oral health for children living in this area. 
Colleagues are currently undertaking a rapid oral health needs assessment which is 
scheduled to be completed by the end of June 2022. This piece of work will contain further 
analysis of the extended sampling. 

 

13.8 Dental health remains a significant public health concern with approximately 37,000 
hospital admissions of children to extract decayed teeth in 2019-20 nationally. The 
estimated cost to the NHS of all tooth extractions in children is £50 million per year, most 
of which were due to avoidable tooth decay. Evidence supports water fluoridation as an 
effective public health measure that has the ability to benefit both adults and 
children, reduce oral health inequalities and offer a significant return on investment.  

 

13.9 Fluoridated water is currently supplied to ten percent of the population in England and 
this includes some parts of Lincolnshire. Around 250,000 people are supplied with 
artificially fluoridated water in Lincolnshire. Fluoridated water is provided locally by 
Anglian Water, who are under agreement to raise the fluoride levels in water supplied 

Page 372



from Elkesley, Welton and Waneham Bridge so as to have a fluoride content of one 
milligramme per litre. Fluoridated communities include Lincoln, Gainsborough, parts of 
Market Rasen and a large number of rural communities across the west and central areas 
of the county.  

 

13.10 Figure 11 shows the distribution of water fluoridation in Lincolnshire against the 
prevalence of experience of dental decay of 5-year-olds in Lincolnshire.  It can be seen 
that there is effectively a clear East and West divide with children living in the East of the 
county experiencing poorer oral health and higher levels of tooth decay, with no benefits 
of water fluoridation compared to children in the West of the country with better oral 
health and lower levels of tooth decay due to the benefits of water fluoridation measures 
that are in place. 

 

Figure 11: Distribution of water fluoridation in Lincolnshire (left) and prevalence of 
experience of dental decay of 5-year-olds in Lincolnshire (right) 

 

  
 

13.11 Anglian Water have notified the Director of Public Health at Lincolnshire County Council 
of forthcoming infrastructure works to the water supply system in the region. These 
necessary strategic works will require temporary changes to the supply infrastructure 
which will mean it is not technically possible to continue to supply only the agreed areas 
with fluoridated water. In order to maintain supply of fluoride, additional areas would 
have to be supplied with fluoride where there is no legal agreement to do so. There is no 
provision in law for such a change. However, water providers are legally able to cease 
provision of fluoridated water in order to allow for infrastructure works to take place, and 
therefore Anglian Water are planning to cease provision of fluoride to Lincolnshire for the 
duration of the infrastructure works; this is expected to be from early 2024 until March 
2025. This is likely to have a negative impact on oral health in the west of the county 
during this period of time. 

 
13.12 The Health and Care Bill was granted Royal Assent on the 29 April 2022 for healthcare 

recovery and reform. We are currently waiting for secondary legislation through 
parliament for the new Health and Care Act 2022 to come into force. The new Health and 
Care Act 2022 introduces measures that will level up disparities in oral health by making 
it simpler to add fluoride to the water in more areas across England. For the moment, the 

Page 373



statutory responsibility with regards to decision making on water fluoridation still lies with 
local authorities but when the new Health and Care Act 2022 commences, it will change 
the decision-making responsibility on water fluoridation that has resided with local 
authorities since 2013 by transferring the responsibility for such decisions to be made 
centrally.   Adding fluoride to drinking water can significantly reduce tooth extractions 
and cavities among children and young people.  The evidence shows that children and 
young people in areas in England with higher fluoride concentrations were up to 63% less 
likely to be admitted to hospital for tooth extractions due to decay than those in areas 
with low fluoride concentrations.  The difference was greatest in the most deprived areas 
as children and young people in these areas benefited the most from fluoridation. 

 
13.13 Figure 12 shows that although mortality rates from oral cancer are lower than the national 

average, it has been increasing over the years, both in Lincolnshire and England.  Although 
tobacco use has been proven to increase the risk of oral cancer, people who use both 
alcohol and tobacco are at an especially high risk of contracting the disease. 

 
Figure 12: Oral Cancer Mortality Rates 

 

 
 

13.14 The Local Dental Network publicised Mouth Cancer Awareness month in November 2021 
and distributed a set of key messages to dental practices to help them raise awareness, 
identify patients with symptoms, and ensure they are aware of how to refer patients 
quickly to the appropriate services.  This is as a proactive local follow up to a dental 
bulletin issued by the Chief Dental Officer in May 2021 https://bit.ly/3vK70Ez.   

 
14 Collaborative Working   

 

14.1 The local NHS E/I dental commissioning team works collaboratively with Public Health 
colleagues in Lincolnshire County Council around prevention initiatives linked to oral 
health improvement and in amplifying key oral health messages. Further information has 
been provided by the Council’s public health team on the local oral health improvement 
initiatives across Lincolnshire in Appendix 5. 

 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

5.00

England Lincolnshire

2001-2005 2002-2006 2003-2007 2004-2008 2005-2009 2006-2010

2007-2011 2008-2012 2009-2013 2010-2014 2011-2015 2012-2016

Page 374

https://bit.ly/3vK70Ez


14.2 There have been regular meetings with the profession via the Local Dental Committee. 
The local dental commissioning team at NHS E/I are grateful for the co-operation received 
from the dental profession in mobilising Urgent Dental Care Centres and co-producing 
solutions to help manage the current restrictions in NHS dental services.  This has included 
joint working between the local Community (Special Care) Dental Service and General 
Dental Practices.   

 

14.3 There is a Local Dental Network (LDN) covering Lincolnshire with a LDN Chair in place.  
There are also a number of East Midlands Managed Clinical Networks (groups of local 
clinicians) who have continued to meet virtually to plan care and agree good practice 
guidance to support practices in managing their patients.  The Urgent Care Network met 
weekly early on in the pandemic to help plan and deliver ongoing access to urgent dental 
care. 

 

14.4 The NHS E/I commissioning team have also been working with colleagues in the 
Communications team to draft a series of stakeholder briefings to update key partners 
and the public on the situation with respect to NHS dental services. These have been 
distributed to local authorities, Directors of Public Health and CCGs. Examples of tweets 
that have been shared on Twitter are given in Appendix 6. Furthermore, there is ongoing 
concern about a reluctance amongst some people to present for dental care because of 
the pandemic either because they do not want to be a burden on the health service or 
because they fear getting coronavirus. A campaign reassuring people that it is safe to 
attend NHS dental appointments has also been launched by NHS E/I.  

 

14.5 NHS E/I have also engaged with Healthwatch Lincolnshire and they have shared 
intelligence on local concerns or on difficulties people may be having accessing NHS 
dental services. 

 
15 Questions from Members of the Committee 
 

During the process of drafting the report, additional questions were received from 
members of the Committee.  These questions together with a response are set out in 
Appendix 7 to this report. 

 
16 Consultation 
 
 This is not a direct consultation item. 

Page 375



17 Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the end of this report 
 

Appendix 1 Location of Dental Practices and Clinics across Lincolnshire 

Appendix 2 Activity Trends in Primary Care 

Appendix 3 
Midlands Oral Surgery Referral to Treatment (18 week and 52 week 
Waiters) 

Appendix 4 Midlands Secondary Care Dental Referral Trends 

Appendix 5 
Oral Health Improvement activities across Lincolnshire - Led by 
Lincolnshire County Council Public Health team 

Appendix 6 Examples of Tweets shared by the NHS England Communication Team 

Appendix 7 
Executive Summary and Response to Questions from Health Scrutiny 
Committee Members 

 
16 Background Papers 
 

No Background papers, as defined by Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972, were 
used in the compilation of this report. 

 
This report was written by NHS E/I Commissioning Team, and further information may be 

obtained from Rose Lynch – Senior Commissioning Manager NHS E/I 
Email Rose-Marie.Lynch@nhs.net 

 
 
 

Page 376

mailto:Rose-Marie.Lynch@nhs.net


APPENDIX 1 
 

Location of NHS Dental Practices or Clinics 
(including Orthodontic and Community Sites) 

 
NB:  

• The numbers denote the number of NHS dental practices within the location 

• DSE (dental service) indicates one NHS dental practice within the location 
 

Map 1: Location of NHS dental practices and clinics (including orthodontics and 
community sites: Lincolnshire 

 

  
 

Page 377



Map 2 demonstrates that every dental practice or clinic (including orthodontic and 
community sites) is within a 10 mile radius of every Lincolnshire resident living in Lincolnshire, 
apart from those living in the Northern point of West Lindsey who may be accessing NHS 
dental care from dental practices in North Lincolnshire and/or North East Lincolnshire. 

 
Map 2: 10 mile reach of NHS dental practices and clinics across Lincolnshire 

 

 

 
 

Page 378



Map 3 demonstrates the accessibility of NHS dental practices in neighbouring local authority 
areas (within a 10 mile radius) for residents living near the boundaries of Lincolnshire County 
Council. 
 
Map 3: 10 mile reach of NHS Dental Practices and Clinics in Neighbouring Local Authority 

areas 

 

 
  

Page 379



 
Map 4 demonstrates that every dental practice or clinic (including orthodontic and 
community sites) is accessible by car within 30 minutes in rush hour, apart from those living 
in the most south-eastern side of East Lindsey and north-eastern side of South Holland who 
may face a slightly longer travel time.  
 

Map 4: 30 minute travel by car (rush hour) to NHS dental practices and clinics across 
Lincolnshire 

 

 

 
  

Page 380



 
Map 5 demostrates that not every dental practice or clinic (including orthodontic and 
community sites) is accessible by public transport within 30 minutes on a typical weekday 
morning for Lincolnshire residents. However, all dental practices and clinics are accessible by 
public transport within 30 minutes for every resident of Lincoln city. 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 381



APPENDIX 2 
 

Activity Trends in Primary Care for Units of Dental Activity (UDA) - Midlands 
 

  
  

Page 382



APPENDIX 3 
 

Midlands Oral Surgery Referral to Treatment (18 week and 52 Week Waiters) 
  
Note – the increase in 52-week waiters in April is largely due to a change in reporting process 
whereby maxillofacial surgery data was included for the first time.  The proportion of the total 
waiting list that have been waiting 52 weeks or more has fallen from 19 per cent to 10 per 
cent between March 2021 and February 2022. 
 
At the current time data cannot be split to report for Lincolnshire. 
 

 
 

 

Page 383



 
APPENDIX 4 

 

Midlands Secondary Care Dental Referral Trends 
 
 

 
 

Page 384



APPENDIX 5 
 

Oral Health Improvement Activities across Lincolnshire 
Led by the Lincolnshire County Council Public Health Team 

 
Oral health is a public health priority in Lincolnshire because of the significant inequalities 
that exist in oral health, and because most people are at risk of developing some oral disease 
during their lifetime.  The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire has a strong 
emphasis on prevention and early intervention and tackling inequalities and equitable 
provision of services. Oral Health is one of the topics in the Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.   
 
Within Lincolnshire, a wide range of preventative interventions are taking place to improve 
oral health.  This is across the three stages of prevention (primary, secondary, and tertiary) 
and a range of interventions, for example, behaviour changes that support oral health (for 
example, improving oral hygiene, supporting people to stop smoking and reducing harmful 
alcohol consumption).  We have an Oral Health Alliance Group (OHAG) to coordinate this 
work across the Lincolnshire system. 
 
Lincolnshire County Council commissions an oral health promotion and epidemiology service, 
which is provided by Community Dental Services.  This service delivers a wide range of 
programmes, which contributes to the delivery of the Lincolnshire Oral Health Alliance Group 
(OHAG) work plan.   
 
Some of the oral health promotion activities taking place across the Lincolnshire OHAG 
partnership include: 
 

• Providing a supervised toothbrushing programme (Lincolnshire Smiles) across 
targeted education settings. 

• Providing training for staff to be able to deliver the oral health component of the Early 
Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Framework. 

• Providing a food and oral health pilot project in targeted nurseries.  

• Carrying out the national dental epidemiology survey (currently amongst 5-year-olds) 
in sampled settings.    

• Carrying out targeted oral health activities for vulnerable groups, for example, Afghan 
refugees, people who are homeless. 

• Incorporating oral health into the Lincolnshire holiday activities and food (HAF) 
programme.    

• Providing a Swallowing, Oral Health and Nutritional Ambassadors (SONA) programme 
for social care providers. 

• Supporting several oral health campaigns, for example National Smile Month, which 
promotes good oral health. 

• In addition to the specific developments above, there are a wide range of other 
programmes that support oral health, in relation to healthy eating, smoking and 
tobacco use and alcohol. 

 
If you would like further information on the oral health promotion work, please contact 
Emma Marshall, Public Health Programme Manager – 
emma.marshall@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 385

mailto:emma.marshall@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 
APPENDIX 6 

 

Examples of Tweets shared by the NHS England Communication Team 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 386



Appendix 7  

Lincolnshire Health Overview Scrutiny Committee 
Additional Questions Update Paper on 

NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire 

 
General Access and Availability 
  
1. Can you indicate how many of those entitled to free NHS dental services are able to 

do so?  
 
NHS E/I are not able to provide figures on exactly how many people entitled to free 
NHS dentistry are able to do so as this information is not collated or reported on. 
However, we can report on the proportion of those accessing NHS dentistry who are 
exempt from NHS dental charges as demonstrated in the figure below. The figure 
below shows the Lincolnshire comparison against England and its statistical 
neighbours and demonstrates that although Lincolnshire is below the national 
average, it is comparable against all its statistical neighbours with five of its statistical 
neighbours being below the Lincolnshire average. 

 

 
 
2.  Do you measure the number of patients who are unable to access NHS dental 

services, because of availability?  
 

There is currently no mechanism for NHS E/I to collate this information; however, we 
do receive other sources of local intelligence such as Healthwatch Lincolnshire 
reports, details from the NHS England Customer Contact Centre and MP letters where 
access to services may have been highlighted as a concern. 
 

Page 387



3. Can overall statistics on this be shared?  
 
 As above, at present NHS E/I do not hold this information. Section 7 of the report 

contains the current information on the levels of access to NHS Dental Services in 
Lincolnshire.  

 
4. Is there evidence of NHS practices ‘re-registering’ patients as private patients? Can 

NHS England and NHS Improvement do anything about this?  
 

Unlike General Medical Practice (GMP), there is no system of patient registration with 
a dental practice and patients are free to choose to attend any dental practice, 
regardless of where they live. Therefore, patients are not bound to any particular 
catchment area.  NHS Dental practices are responsible for patients who are 
undergoing dental treatment under their care and once complete (apart from repairs 
and replacements), the practice has no ongoing responsibility.  Many dental practices 
may refer to having a patient list or taking on new patients, however there is no 
registration in the same way as for GMP practices and patients are theoretically free 
to attend any dental practice that has capacity to accept them.  

 
NHS Dental practices will not always have the capacity to take on new NHS patients. 
Therefore, patients may have to join a waiting list, look for a different dental practice 
who is taking on new NHS patients, or be seen privately.  

 
It should be noted that dental practitioners are independent contractors to the NHS 
and therefore many dental practices operate a mixed private/NHS model of care. 
Therefore, patients may be seen and treated wholly NHS, a mixture of NHS and private 
or wholly private, the option of private or a mix of NHS and private will be available in 
the majority of NHS dental practices and forms part of the patients choice.  

 
There have been anecdotal reports that some dental practices across the Midlands 
region being reluctant in offering NHS appointments (particularly routine) and instead 
offering the option to be seen earlier as a private patient. NHS E/I does not support 
any stances of pressuring patients into private dental care. NHS E/I will investigate any 
report of this nature but will need detailed information so that this can be raised with 
the practice for a response. Any such concerns can be raised via a complaint about any 
specific practice/s by contacting the NHS England Customer Contact Centre on 0300 
311 22 33 or www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us.  

 
Furthermore, since the start of the pandemic, some NHS dental contracts have been 
handed back to NHS E/I. There is a procedure in place where the NHS dental practice 
that is handing back their NHS activity must agree their patient communication letter 
with NHS E/I. The letter is to notify patients that the dental practice will no longer be 
providing NHS dental care and provides appropriate sign posting on how to continue 
gaining access to NHS dentistry from elsewhere. This provides assurance to NHS E/I 
that there is no inappropriate/forced signup to private dental services and enables 
informed patient choice. 

  

Page 388



5. How has NHS England responded to feedback from Healthwatch Lincolnshire?  
 
Section 14 of the report details the collaborative working that is taking place across 
dental services. NHS E/I have on-going dialogue with local Healthwatch teams and met 
recently in March 2022 where the feedback was positive. NHS E/I Commissioning and 
Clinical colleagues attended the YourVoice@healthwatch public event on 30 March 
2022 which tried to address the concerns regarding “Dental Services in Lincolnshire”.  

 
Access and Availability – Specific Areas  
 
1. Availability of NHS dentists in the east of the county. Are there any other gaps? How is 

NHS England and NHS Improvement working to plug those gaps?  
 

As highlighted in 4.3 of the report, Public Health colleagues at Lincolnshire County 
Council are currently undertaking a rapid oral health needs assessment. NHSE/I are 
awaiting the results of this document and will review the findings to understand where 
oral health inequalities may exist in terms of access to NHS dental services in 
Lincolnshire.  

 
2. Is there any progress that could be shared with the NHS dentist contracts in Spilsby, 

Mablethorpe and Skegness?  
 

Section 12 of the report provides information on the NHS E/I Commissioning and 
Procurement Plans and confirms that a planned procurement for an NHS general 
dental service will be undertaken in 2022/23 within Mablethorpe.  

 
3. Is there, or could there be, a system within the NHS for a team of dentists to be sent 

into deprived areas that have low numbers of NHS dentists to treat patients who have 
been unable to access, or afford treatment? Could such a system be aimed at 
appointments for children?  

 
In the current commissioning and contractual arrangements, NHS E/I are not able to 
deliver the service model described above. However, if new initiatives are being 
considered in the future this could be highlighted as an idea to be investigated further, 
subject to the workforce requirements.  

 
NHS E/I restoration initiatives do include a scheme which encourages local child 
friendly dental practices in providing support to the local Community Dental Services 
in collaborating on a shared care model (see point 10.7 in the report). There is 
currently one dental provider in Lincolnshire taking part and it is part of NHS E/I’s 
investment plan to continue this scheme into 2022/23 and will seek interest and 
support from other NHS dental practices across Lincolnshire in order to encourage 
further uptake.  

 

Page 389



Children’s Oral Health  
 
1. What are the plans for the future to address the poor state of children’s dental health 

in the coastal area?  
 

The Lincolnshire Oral Health Alliance Group has identified a number of specific 
activities to improve the oral health of children in the coastal area.  
 
Firstly, fluoridated water is a good way to safely and effectively lower the frequency 
and severity of dental decay. Despite the good evidence base for fluoridation, the east 
of Lincolnshire does not currently have a fluoridated water supply. The Health and 
Care Bill that received royal ascent in April 2022 passes responsibility for fluoridation 
to the Secretary of State. We are working to influence the national team to recognise 
the urgency of oral health inequalities on the Lincolnshire coast, that could be 
improved through fluoridation of the water supply.  
 
Secondly, Lincolnshire County Council (Public Health) have implemented some 
targeted schemes to improve oral health in areas with very high levels of dental decay. 
For example, to support good oral health behaviours and access to fluoride toothpaste 
from a young age, toothbrushes and toothpaste are being provided to families living 
in Boston when their child reaches 6-8 weeks of age. Additionally, the Lincolnshire 
Smiles Programme, delivered by the Oral Health Improvement Team in the 
Community Dental Service (and commissioned by Lincolnshire County Council), 
delivers a supervised toothbrushing programme in early years and primary education 
settings to prevent decay and establish good life- long oral health behaviours.  
 
Finally, Lincolnshire County Council (Public Health) are also working to develop and 
introduce new oral health initiatives that will improve oral health outcomes in areas 
of highest need, for example working with the Holiday Activity and Food Programme 
to share oral health information and advice to children and families and distributing 
toothbrushing packs and delivering oral hygiene advice through food banks. 
 

Funding  
 
1. Does NHS England’s statistical information measure NHS spend per head of population 

on dental services by local areas?  
 

NHS E/I reporting does not currently include the spend for head of population on NHS 
dental services.  As part of future reporting, additional information and data sets will 
be produced, one of these shows the units of dental activity (UDA) commissioned per 
head of population.  

 
In the East Midlands, Lincolnshire has a higher UDA per head of population than 
Derbyshire and Northamptonshire, the same value as Leicester, Leicestershire, and 
Rutland and lower than Nottinghamshire.  

 

Page 390



2. How much is allocated to Lincolnshire Dental Services? What happens if there is an 
underspend?  

 
At present, funding is not allocated to individual areas and is based on current 
contractual spend.  NHS E/I apply both mid-year and year-end processes on all NHS 
dental contracts and will reclaim the appropriate proportion of monies paid to 
underperforming providers. Any funding released will be reinvested in schemes 
designed to support access to services in those local areas.  

3. Do the statistics of deprivation have any influence on amounts awarded to the 
Midlands NHS region, and subsequently to Lincolnshire? 

No, the funding allocated is based on baseline budget values adjusted for growth, 
uplift (annual increase due to changes in pay and prices for Dental), and any national 
adjustments to allocations. 

 
Use of Funding Specific for 2021/22 
 
1. Can the reasons for the low take up of the additional funding by Lincolnshire dental 

practices for dental activity at the end of 2021/22 be explored? 
 

NHSE/I is working closely with the Local Dental Network Chair and NHS Dental 
practices within Lincolnshire to understand the reasons for the low uptake of 
initiatives to increase access for patients. At present the main reason appears to be 
the practice capacity which is influenced by the local workforce situation.  It should 
also be noted that the number of dental practices for the population size is lower than 
other areas therefore this may also affect the take-up rate. 

2. How many of the 35 patients treated were children? 

The additional funding was allocated for 35 clinical sessions (3.5 hours per session) 
rather than 35 patients, with a minimum expectation of 4-6 patients (adults and 
children) per clinical session. 

3. What can be done to increase the “interest” from Lincolnshire dentists in any future 
schemes of a similar type? 

As part of the development of future initiatives, NHS E/I will look at how we adapt or 
create different strategies for Lincolnshire taking into account the feedback the Local 
Dental Network chair collects from local dental practices. 
 

4. Does the money notionally allocated to Lincolnshire which was not used get returned 
to the government? 

 
The additional national funding was allocated on a regional basis to NHS England and 
Improvement (NHS E/I) Midlands. In order to ensure as much of this funding was 
utilised, NHS dental practices were encouraged to submit expressions of interest and 
the funds were secured to cover the additional sessions delivered. 

Page 391



Comparative Information 
 
1. Comparative information on other areas, for example in the East Midlands, on the 

availability of dental services. 
 

Where comparable data is available this has been included in the report. 
 
Recruitment and Staff Development 

1. What is the latest position with the recruitment of overseas dentists? 

The Performers List Validation by Experience (PLVE) is a process for overseas (non- 
UK/EEA) dental school graduates who have clinical experience in their home country 
to confirm they have the necessary experience and training to work in the NHS within 
the UK. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has generated delays in the PLVE process and elements such 
as the language testing have experienced significant delay during the last two years 
however the situation has improved, and the applications are now moving forward. 

 
The British Dental Association (BDA) has reported that there are sufficient dentists in 
England to deliver NHS dental services, however this does not reflect dentists personal 
choice to choose a part-time role or private. 

2.  Are there any developments with the therapist and hygienist roles? 

This would form part of the future contract reform programme and workforce skill mix 
opportunities. 

3. Can anything be reported on plans to establish some form of dental school in 
Lincolnshire, perhaps as part of University of Lincoln? 

NHS E/I and colleagues from the Lincolnshire Oral Health Alliance Group are working 
closely with Health Education England, School of Dentistry for the Midlands to 
understand the potential opportunity and outcome that a local Dental School may 
have in the area, as well as understanding the current training facilities and academics 
available in Lincolnshire. 

 
Recognising significant workforce challenges that require a different approach to 
attract and retain dentist, therapists, hygienists, and dental nurses, in Lincolnshire 
there are conversations ongoing around the opportunity some form of dental training 
establishment might bring to alleviating workforce pressures. There are challenges in 
establishing a dental school in Lincolnshire, not least the absence of a dental hospital. 
Any dental school would be a long-term ambition. More recently conversations have 
focused on the opportunities that a Centre for Postgraduate Dental Development 
might bring to Lincolnshire, with a focus on further training for the whole dental 
workforce and dental community building. The Centre could also support 
internationally trained dentists looking to move to the UK to complete the training 

Page 392



required to secure an NHS performer number and attract dentists with a specialism 
and an interest in dental education to Lincolnshire to build local specialist capacity. 
Alongside maximising other opportunities (such as increasing the number of 
Foundation Dental Training Placements in Lincolnshire and longer- term strategies to 
support young people in Lincolnshire into dental careers), such a Centre could be a 
viable options to ameliorate dental workforce challenges in the medium term. 

 
Commissioning Arrangements 
 
1. Can the shadow commissioning arrangements (NHS England + Lincolnshire ICB) 

between 1 July 2022 and 31 March 2023 be explained? 

• ICBs will assume delegated responsibility for Primary Medical Services from 1 July 
2022 and for Dental (Primary, Secondary and Community), General Optometry 
and Pharmaceutical services (including Dispensing doctors) from 1 April 2023, 
subject to formal sign-off by NHS E/I. 

• The Midlands Primary Care Operating Model has been co-designed to provide an 
approved framework for the delegation of the function to the ICBs. 

• This Operating model provides an overview of the functions and sets out the key 
design principles that support the transition in 2022/23.  

• ICS Approval of this model is one of the necessary gateways in the national NHS 
E/I delegation assessment framework  

• This Operating Model sets out the principles, pathway, key governance, 
workforce, and financial information that will be co-designed with ICB. during the 
transition period for the safe and effective delegation of these functions  

• The transition process will: 

➢  provide the detail that enables ICBs to undertake the workforce and contract 
due diligence as well as setting out the key financial principles for delegation 
of the commissioning budgets.  

➢ manage the risk of moving from a regional budget to splitting across eleven 
systems.  

➢ be transparent and ordered through finance governance groups to complete 
the due diligence and safe transfer to ICBs from April 2023.  

• A Governance structure has been proposed that enables ICBs to set the annual 
plan and strategic direction of the Pharmacy, Optometry and Dental functions and 
make localised decisions where possible, whilst the current team are enabled to 
deliver day to day contracting and commissioning functions.  

• The process has been designed to ensure minimal disruption and smooth 
transition to support both services and patients.  

2. Can the future commissioning arrangements (Lincolnshire ICB) from 1 April 2023 be 
explained?  

Section 4 in the paper covers the arrangements for the Lincolnshire Integrated Care 
Board. 

 

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland District 
Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham 
Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to 
 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 
 
15 June 2022 
 
Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment – Response of the 
Committee to the Consultation Draft 

 

Summary  
 
This report invites the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire to consider its response to the 
consultation draft of the Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.  A working of the 
Committee met on 23 May 2022 and considered a presentation and agreed an outline response, 
which is attached to this report for the Committee’s consideration and approval.   
 

 

Actions Required:  
 

To consider and approve a response to the consultation draft of the Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment 

 

 
1. Background  

 
Each Health and Wellbeing Board in England is required by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 to assess the needs for pharmaceutical services in its area and approve and publish 
a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).   
 
The PNA is used to identify any gaps in current service provision or improvements that 
could be made in future pharmaceutical service provision.  To prepare the PNA, data are 
gathered from pharmacy contractors, dispensing GP practices, pharmacy users and 
residents, and from a range of other sources (commissioners, planners and others).    
 

Page 395

Agenda Item 10



 The consultation draft of the Lincolnshire PNA was published on 19 April 2022.  All the 
documentation relating to the consultation is available on the County Council’s website:  

 
  Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2022 | Let's Talk Lincolnshire 
 
2. Working Group 

 
 The Committee established a working group comprising councillors Carl Macey, Angela 

White and Linda Wootten, which met on 23 May 2022.  The PNA consultation draft was 
presented to the working group by Lucy Gavens, Consultant in Public Health; Alison 
Christie, Programme Manager Strategy and Development; and Anjay Gallas, Senior 
Professional Pharmacist at the University of Lincoln. 

 
 The working group’s findings have been compiled into a draft response, which is attached 

at Appendix A to this report.   
 
3. Consultation 
 

A period of consultation on the draft PNA began on 19 April and the statutory 60 day 
consultation period is due to conclude on 20 June 2022.   

 
4. Conclusion 
 

 The PNA will be formally approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 27 September 
2022 and published on the council’s website by 1 October 2022.  
 

5. Appendices 
 
 These are listed below and attached to this report. 
  

Appendix A 
Proposed Response of the Health Scrutiny Committee for 
Lincolnshire to the Consultation Draft of the Lincolnshire 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

 
 
6. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government 

Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, who can be contacted on 01522 553607 or 
simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 396

https://www.letstalk.lincolnshire.gov.uk/pna-2022-60-day-consultation
mailto:simon.evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 
 

 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR 
LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey 
District Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire 
County Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland 
District Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey 
District Council 

 

PROPOSED RESPONSE OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
TO THE CONSULTATION DRAFT OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE 

PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 

Introduction 
 

This is the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire’s response to the consultation, being 
undertaken on behalf of the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board, on its Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment, which is due to take effective for a three year period beginning on 1 October 
2022.    
 
Main Findings 
 
Existing and Future Provision in Lincolnshire 
 
The consultation draft of the Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment includes the 
following conclusion: 
 

“Conclusion 
 
“The Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board considered the number, distribution, access 
and choice of pharmaceutical contractors covering each of the seven districts in 
Lincolnshire and concluded that the existing evidence indicates that residents of 
Lincolnshire are adequately served by providers of pharmaceutical services and no current 
and future gaps have been identified in the provision of necessary and other relevant 
services hours across Lincolnshire. Changes affecting pharmaceutical provision such as 
substantial changes in current provision or population demographics will be monitored 
and reviewed by the HWB and the PNA will be updated with supplementary statements 
where necessary. Any expansion of services will continue to happen within the existing 
network of pharmaceutical contractors where possible.” 

 
The Health Scrutiny Committee is satisfied with the PNA’s conclusion, as set out above, that the 
residents of Lincolnshire are adequately served by providers of pharmaceutical services and no 
current and future gaps were identified in the provision of necessary and other relevant services 

Page 397



across Lincolnshire.  The Committee has accepted the evidence put forward in support of this 
conclusion, which included: 
 
(1) Pre-Consultation Engagement – This included public engagement by Healthwatch 

Lincolnshire, who received submissions from 203 members of the public, of whom 
17.3 per cent rated their pharmacy services as ‘poor’ or ‘very poor’.  There were no 
distinct patterns to these responses, both in terms of geography and providers and the 
concerns raised were outside the scope of the PNA.  In addition questionnaires were sent 
to community pharmacies and dispensing GP practices.   

 
(2) Detailed Analysis of the Demographics – Substantial detail was provided in the draft 

document on the demographics in Lincolnshire, including deprivation and vulnerable 
populations.  Details on the locations of community pharmacies and dispensing GP 
pharmacies have been included.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

 
(3) Assessment of the Impact New Developments – The consultation draft of the PNA set out 

detailed information on new housing developments, anticipated between 2022 and  
2036.  None of the developments would impact on the demand for services during the 
lifetime of the 2022 PNA.    

 
(4) Views of Other Groups – The Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group, the Lincolnshire 

Local Pharmaceutical Committee and the Lincolnshire Local Medical Committee had 
indicated that they are satisfied with the proposed PNA.   

 
Monitoring of Provision 
 
The Health Scrutiny Committee is advised that the Health and Wellbeing Board, together with 
the PNA Steering Group, will continue to monitor changes in current provision or demographics.  
 
Reach of Consultation 
 
The Committee generally would like to see as many responses as possible to the consultation.  
However, the scope of the PNA is specific to its limited statutory purpose, and thus might mean 
comments are received which fall outside this scope.   
  
Other Comments 
 
The Health Scrutiny Committee recognises that the PNA is a framework used to commission 
pharmacy services and its scope is limited to essential services provided by community 
pharmacists.    
 
 

Page 398



 

THE HEALTH SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

Boston Borough 
Council 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

Lincolnshire County 
Council 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

South Holland 
District Council 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

West Lindsey District 
Council 

 

Open Report on behalf of Andrew Crookham 
Executive Director - Resources 

 

Report to 

 
Date: 
 
Subject:  

Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire 

 
15 June 2022 
 
Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire - Work Programme  

 

 

Summary  
 
This report sets out the Committee's work programme, and includes items listed for 
forthcoming meetings, together with other items, which are due to be programmed.    The 
Committee is required to consider whether any further items should be considered for 
addition to or removal from the work programme.   
 

 

Actions Requested 
 

To consider and comment on the Committee's work programme.  
 

 
1. Background 
 
At each meeting, the Committee is given an opportunity to review its forthcoming work 
programme.  Typically, at each meeting three to four substantive items are considered, 
although fewer items may be considered if they are substantial in content.    
 

Page 399

Agenda Item 11



2. Work Programme for Today’s Meeting 
 

15 June 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1  

Reconfiguration of Four NHS Services in 
Lincolnshire: Orthopaedics; Urgent and 
Emergency Care; Acute Medicine; and 
Stroke Services 

Pete Burnett, System Strategy and Planning 

Director, NHS Lincolnshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

2  
Engagement by the NHS in Lincolnshire 
on Lincolnshire’s Second Community 
Diagnostic Centre 

• Sarah Brinkworth, System Planned Care 
Programme Lead, NHS Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

• Simon Evans, Chief Operating Officer, 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

• Clair Raybould, Director of Operations, 
NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group  

• Claire Lloyd, Clinical Transformation Lead, 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust 
and Project Lead for Community Diagnostic 
Centres 

3  NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire 

Representatives from NHS England and NHS 
Improvement: 

• Rose Lynch, Senior Commissioning 
Manager  

• Jane Green, Commissioning Manager  

• Adam Morby, Regional Chief Dentist for 
the Midlands  

• Kenny Hume, Lincolnshire Local Dental 
Network Chair  

• Jasmine Murphy, Consultant in Dental 
Public Health 

 
NHS Lincolnshire CCG Representative: 

• Sandra Williamson, Chief Operating Officer 
 

4  
Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment – Response of the 
Committee to the Consultation Draft 

Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer 

Page 400



 
3. Future Work Programme 
 

13 July 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1  Cancer Care Update  

Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group: 

• Clair Raybould, Director of Operations, 
Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

• Louise Jeanes, Programme Lead Cancer 
Care 

United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust: 

• Colin Farquharson, Medical Director 

2  
Staffing Challenges in Hospitals and NHS 
Lincolnshire People Plan  

Maz Fosh, Chief Executive, Lincolnshire 
Community Health Services NHS Trust. 

Ceri Lennon, Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Lincolnshire People Board (to be confirmed) 

3  
Humber Acute Services Programme 
Update  

Representatives from the Humber Acute 
Services Programme 

 
 

14 September 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1  
Sustainability Transformation 
Partnership Clinical Care Portal Data 
Sharing - Update 

Lincolnshire County Council (Adult Care and 
Community Wellbeing) Representatives:  

• Theo Jarratt, Head of Quality and 
Information 

• Samantha Francis, Information and Systems 
Manager 

Representative from United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals NHS Trust 

2  
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust – Consultation on 
Mental Health Rehabilitation Services 

Representatives from Lincolnshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust 

3  
Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment – Consideration of Final 
Draft 

Shabana Edinboro, Senior Public Health 
Officer, Lincolnshire County Council 

 
 

Page 401



12 October 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1  
East Midlands Ambulance Service 
Update 

Representatives from the East Midlands 
Ambulance Service: 

• Ben Holdaway, Director of Operations 

• Sue Cousland Divisional Director, 
Lincolnshire Division  

2  Update on GP Services 
Representatives from the NHS Lincolnshire 
Integrated Care Board. 

 

9 November 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1    

 
 

14 December 2022 

 Item Contributor 

1    

 
 

Items to be Programmed 
 
The following items are due to be programmed at forthcoming meetings:  

 

• Lincoln Medical School – It was requested on 18 May 2022 that an item be brought 
forward to the Committee on the progress of the Lincoln Medical School.     
 

• Future Commissioning Arrangements for Dental Services, Ophthalmology and 
Pharmaceutical Services – The commissioning of these services is due to transfer 
to the Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board from April 2023.  The item on NHS Dental 
Services in Lincolnshire on this agenda provides information on the future 
commissioning arrangements for NHS dental services.    

 

• Lakeside Medical Practice Stamford – A further inspection report is due to be 
published, and depending on its content may merit further consideration by the 
Committee.     

 

Page 402



4. Working Group Activity 
 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
 
This working group, comprising Councillors Carl Macey, Linda Wootten and Angela 
White, met on 23 May 2022 and the working group’s proposed response to the 
consultation draft of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment is on this agenda for the 
Committee’s consideration and approval.   
 
Quality Accounts 
 

 This working group, comprising Councillors Carl Macey, Linda Wootten, Richard Cleaver, 
Sarah Parkin and Angela White met on 12 May 2022 and considered the draft quality 
accounts of the North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust and the East Midlands 
Ambulance Service NHS Trust.  Statements have been made, which will be included in 
each trust’s published quality account, which will be available after 30 June 2022.   

 
The working group is also due to meet on 7 June to consider the draft quality account 
of United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust.   

 
 Suicide and Mental Health 
 
 This working group, comprising Councillors Carl Macey, Sarah Parkin, Tom Smith, Angela 

White and Mark Whittington was established on 13 April, following consideration of 
items on Suicide the Prevention Strategy (16 February 2022); and an update from 
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (13 April 2022).  The first meeting of the 
working group is being planned for July.   

  
5. Background Papers - No background papers within Section 100D of the Local 

Government Act 1972 were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 

This report was written by Simon Evans, Health Scrutiny Officer, who can be contacted on 
07717 868930 or by e-mail at Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 403

mailto:Simon.Evans@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire meeting held on 18 May 2022
	6 Chairman's Announcements
	7 Reconfiguration of Four NHS Services in Lincolnshire: Orthopaedics; Urgent and Emergency Care; Acute Medicine; and Stroke Services
	07A Communications and Consultation Activity Report
	07B CCG Board 25-5-22 Work Completed to Inform Recommendations on Four NHS Services
	1- 12a Work completed to inform recommendations on four NHS services  FINAL
	2 -12b App1 - NHS Lincolnshire Public Consultation 2021 Feedback - ORS Report May 2022

	07C CCG Board 25-5-22 Decision Report - Four Lincolnshire NHS Services
	07D CCG Board 25-2-22 Appendix 1 to Decision Report DMBC

	8 Engagement by the NHS in Lincolnshire on Lincolnshire's Second Community Diagnostic Centre
	08A Community Diagnostic Centre Presentation

	9 NHS Dental Services in Lincolnshire
	10 Lincolnshire Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment - Response of the Committee to the Consultation Draft
	11 Health Scrutiny Committee for Lincolnshire - Work Programme

